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Who we are

Rexam is a leading global 
consumer packaging company. 
Our customers include many  
of the world’s favourite and 
most famous brands.
Employees (continuing operations)

8,000
(2012 restated: 7,800) For more details of employees, see page 100.

Three year reduction in carbon intensity

6%
(2013 vs 2010). For more details see page 37.

What we do

We make beverage cans.
Our job is to make them  
as efficiently, profitably  
and sustainably as possible, 
all the while ensuring the 
safety and wellbeing of  
our people and meeting  
the needs of our customers.
In 2013, we also made 
Healthcare packaging in  
the US, Europe and India.  
We are in the process of  
selling this business.

l Beverage can plants

 Joint venture/associate

l Head office in London, UK

At a glance

Our plants across the globe  
(including joint ventures and associates)
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The beauty of the can
 
Beverage cans are a popular form of 
beverage packaging throughout the 
world. They are used for carbonated 
soft drinks, beers and other categories 
such as energy drinks, iced tea and  
a range of new drinks. They deliver 
benefits for brand owners and 
consumers alike. They are also key  
in helping to create sustainable supply 
chains as they are robust and light and 
because they are the most recycled 
beverage container in the world.

Find out more online
On our website you will find an interactive version 
of the annual report 2013. You will also find annual 
reports from previous years (dating back to 1999) 
as well as investor presentations, publications and 
other material on Rexam, its markets and business. 
www.rexam.com

Disclosure
The annual report 2013 may contain statements which 
are not based on current or historical fact and which 
are forward looking in nature. These forward looking 
statements reflect knowledge and information available 
at the date of preparation of this annual report 2013 
and the Company undertakes no obligation to update 
these forward looking statements. Such forward looking 
statements are subject to known and unknown risks 
and uncertainties facing the Group including, without 
limitation, those risks described in this annual report 
2013, and other unknown future events and circumstances 
which can cause results and developments to differ 
materially from those anticipated. Nothing in this annual 
report 2013 should be construed as a profit forecast.

Rexam PLC is registered and domiciled in England  
and Wales: company number 191285.

Beverage Cans volumes  
split by region

Financial highlights

Sales (continuing operations) 

£3,943m
(2012 restated: £3,885m)

Underlying operating profit 
(continuing operations) 

£449m
(2012 restated: £448m)

Statutory operating profit 

£417m
(2012 restated: £429m)
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Beverage Cans operating 
profit split by region

Restated: figures restated for the reclassification of Healthcare to discontinued 
operations and the adoption of IAS19 (Revised).

Sales (restated)  
(£m)

Underlying operating profit 
(restated) (£m)

Underlying earnings 
per share

35.3p
(2012 restated: 31.2p)

Total dividend 
for the year

17.4p
(2012: 15.2p)
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Four years ago, we set  
out a plan to strengthen 
the foundations of this 
company and create  
a solid platform for  
the future. 
We highlighted three areas that were fundamental 
to achieving our aims: managing costs, optimising 
cash and improving our return on capital employed 
(ROCE). For the latter, we set ourselves a target 
of achieving a 15% ROCE by the end of 2013, 
and I am delighted to say that we have hit this 
target. During the period since 2010, we have 
also generated almost £940m in free cash flow 
and made restructuring and efficiency savings 
of c £195m. These notable achievements were 
due in no small measure to the application and 
initiative of our executive leadership team as 
well as the resilience and commitment of our 
people in what has been a challenging economic 
period. The proposed sale of the majority of the 
Healthcare business (see page 42) was further 
testament to the strength of the organisation.

On page 8 Graham Chipchase, the chief 
executive, sets out our plans for the Company  
as we seek to balance growth and returns. The 
board and I will continue to work closely with 
him in delivering on those plans.

The skills and determination of our people and the 
quality of our assets give us a great advantage, 
and we are committed to being the best beverage 
can maker in the world. Over the year I once 
again met many of our employees around the 
world and am reassured that the depth of their 
knowledge and their professionalism will help  
us to be the best.

The safety, health and wellbeing of all our 
employees is vital and an area the board follows 
closely. We remain one of the leaders in our 
industry in safety but it was disappointing that 
we made little progress in 2013 on reducing 
accidents and incidents at our workplaces. We 
have a concrete plan of action to re-establish 
momentum in this key area which, as a board, 
we will follow closely. 

NEW TO THE REPORT
Our annual report covers all aspects of our 
financial and non financial performance and aims 
to provide a fair, balanced and understandable 
assessment of the Company’s position and 
prospects. In addition to a section on how we 
identify, monitor and mitigate risks, we include  
a section on our business model, which explains 
how we create value. We demonstrate how  
key enablers of our strategy – manufacturing 
excellence; customer relationships; innovation; 
sustainability and our people – are supporting the 
development of the Company. We also provide 
you with an overview of factors driving our 
business and an understanding of how  
we are responding to them.

RIGHT BLEND OF  
SKILLS AND ATTRIBUTES
One of my key responsibilities as chairman is  
to promote good governance which is critical  
in ensuring that we remain a successful and 
sustainable company. Integrity and trust are 
more important than ever in today’s business 
world and during the year we believe we have 
maintained the high standards expected of us. 

The board has continued to focus on ensuring that 
the UK Corporate Governance Code’s principles 
on leadership and board effectiveness are applied. 
In 2013, we conducted an external evaluation of 
the board and its committees and all directors 
received a formal annual performance evaluation. 
The experience was positive and our external 
reviewer reported that all directors had made 
reference to the board’s open and transparent 
culture. Such a culture encourages a high quality 
debate and sophisticated levels of enquiry as well 
as an environment which is both challenging 
and constructive. Further details of the board 
evaluation can be found on page 51. 

Our board members bring important skills  
and experience to our organisation and this 
complements the skills of our executive team. 
Key to board success is ensuring that it has the 
right mix of non executive directors with a variety 
of experience and expertise to constructively 
challenge and support the executive team. The 
board was enhanced in June 2013 by the addition 
of Ros Rivaz. Her considerable technology 
experience and expertise in driving efficiencies 
in manufacturing processes and procurement in 
global organisations are of real value to Rexam. 

In May 2014, Jean-Pierre Rodier will step down 
from the board after eight years of dedicated 
service. His industry experience has been valuable 
in the progress we have made and I would like to 
thank him for his wise counsel and commitment. 
We expect to be in a position to announce a 
new non executive director at the AGM 2014, 
by which time we will also have appointed a 
new chairman of the remuneration committee.

My ambitions for the composition of the board are 
to broaden the range of expertise, experience 
and diversity to maintain the gender balance of 
at least 25% of board members being women.

Before I move to other matters, I would like to 
pay tribute to Rexam’s former chief executive, 
Lars Emilson, who passed away in June 2013. 
Lars had a long and successful career in our  
can business culminating in his tenure as chief 
executive from 2004 to 2007. He was a person of 
great integrity and a much respected and valued 
member of an industry to which he dedicated his 
working life. He will be remembered as one of 
the architects of Rexam and the modern global 
drinks can industry.

Chairman’s statement

Stuart Chambers 
Chairman

Dividend
The board is proposing a final 
dividend of 11.7p per share, making  
a total dividend of 17.4p for the year. 
This 14% increase is in line with our 
dividend policy to have a dividend 
cover in the range 2.0 to 2.5 times 
underlying earnings, and reflects the 
board’s continuing confidence in the 
Group. Subject to shareholder 
approval at the annual general 
meeting on 2 May 2014, the final 
dividend will be paid on 3 June 2014 
to shareholders on the register at 
close of business on 9 May 2014.

Final dividend

11.7p per share

to be paid on 3 June 2014

Total dividend

17.4p per share

(+14% vs 2012)
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ALIGNING INTERESTS
We plan for long term success at Rexam and the 
principles of our management incentive schemes 
(detailed on page 62) reflect this. While the 
variable elements of executive remuneration are 
centred on the transparent measures of profit and 
cash generation as well as personal performance 
objectives, the bias is towards long term, share 
based plans to prioritise longer term investment 
decisions and align management’s interests with 
those of shareholders. We have strengthened 
this alignment over the years by introducing 
shareholding requirements for the executive 
leadership team.

REMUNERATION PRINCIPLES
The remit of the remuneration committee, 
chaired by Jean-Pierre Rodier, is to ensure that 
remuneration remains aligned with our strategy. 
(See page 62.) In particular, we continue to focus 
on long term value creation and this requires that 
we reconsider regularly the detailed structure  
of remuneration and directors’ pay. During the 
year the remuneration committee conducted an 
externally facilitated review of our remuneration 
principles and policies and we are satisfied that, in 
volatile economic conditions, the current structure 
provides appropriate incentives for our senior 
management to balance growth with returns 
and achieve best value for shareholders.

RETURNS TO SHAREHOLDERS
We have demonstrated a disciplined approach to 
capital allocation and will continue to manage 
our business in the best interests of shareholders. 
Returns to shareholders are an established priority 
for Rexam and the dividend is a core element of 
total shareholder returns. This year we raised our 
dividend per share by 14%. This increase reflects 
the board’s confidence in the Group’s future and is 
in line with our dividend policy to have a cover in 
the range 2.0 to 2.5 times underlying earnings.

We have consistently stated that if we cannot 
invest in projects with good returns then we are 
committed to returning excess cash to shareholders. 
In January 2013, following the sale of our Personal 
Care business, we completed a return of cash of 
45p per existing ordinary share. (See page 81 
and note 28 to the financial statements.) The return 
of cash was accompanied by a consolidation of 
the existing ordinary shares in the ratio of nine 
new ordinary shares for every ten existing 
ordinary shares held.

Taking into account ordinary dividends and  
the return of cash in 2013, total cash returns  
to shareholders have been c £0.9bn over the 
last four years. (See page 76 for development of 
total shareholder returns.) In 2014, we plan to 
return a further £450m following the sale of the 
major part of our Healthcare business, which we 
expect to complete in the second quarter of 2014.

SUPPORTING OUR  
CUSTOMERS’ AMBITIONS
Packaging is an integral part of modern day 
living. It protects and preserves. It enables 
efficient distribution and reduces waste from 
spoilage. Many aspects of the lifestyle that 
many of us take for granted is predicated,  
in part, on the availability of a sustainable 
packaging supply chain. Packaging has always 
been under scrutiny and many of our customers 
are committing to ambitious targets in the 
sustainability of their packaging. As one of their 
core suppliers, we are supporting them in these 
endeavours. It is important that they know they 
have a partner who can drive change and who 
will collaborate with them on their journey as 
they seek sustainable transformation within  
their supply chains.

OUTLOOK
Following the sale of our Healthcare business, 
we will be a focused global beverage can 
maker. We have a strong balance sheet, a clear 
focus on the fundamentals of the business and 
skilled and committed people. I am confident 
that, even in a tough economic environment, we 
are in good shape to continue to make progress 
in delivering value to our shareholders and  
other stakeholders.

Stuart Chambers 
Chairman

20 February 2014

1 2

The skills and 
determination of our 
people and the quality  
of our assets give us a 
great advantage, and we 
are committed to being 
the best beverage can 
maker in the world.
1  Employees at our Cairo 

plant (which the board 
visited in June 2013)  
were undeterred by the 
civil unrest that affected 
the country. Staying in 
hotels close to the plant 
and taking other beyond 
the call of duty measures, 
they kept the plant up  
and running safely to 
ensure can supplies  
to our customers.

2  In 2013 we produced  
our first beverage cans at 
the new plant in Belém in 
northern Brazil. The plant 
has an installed capacity 
of 0.8bn cans per year. 
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CSD

3% 6% 9% 12%0

Energy drinks
Still drinks

Iced tea
Packaged water

Sports drinks
Spirits (incl FABs)

Iced coffee
Beer & cider

Juice & nectars
Wine

Squash & fruit powders

10%
9%

8%
7%

6%
5%

4%
3%

2%
2%
2%
2%

2013 35% 30% 21% 9% 5%

l Packaged water 18%
l CSD 12%
l Beer & cider 11%
l Juice drinks 5%
l Iced tea & coffee 3%
l Spirits (incl FABs) 2%
l Squash & fruit powders 2%
l Wine 1%
l Sports & energy drinks 1%
l Milk & dairy drinks 15%
l Hot drinks 30%

l Glass 33%
l PET 31%
l Cans 21%
l Other 15%

l Rexam
l Ball
l Crown
l CanPack
l MCC
l Other

l Beer
l CSD
l Iced tea & coffee
l  Juice, nectars  

& still drinks
l Sports & energy drinks
l FABs

l North America
l Asia
l Europe
l South & Central America
l  Middle East & Africa

THE GLOBAL MARKET FOR BEvERAGES
Around 1.9 trillion litres of packaged beverages 
were consumed across the world in 2013, an 
increase of 3% on 2012. This figure equates to 
the average consumer drinking 264 litres a year.

Consumption levels and growth rates differ widely 
by beverage category and region. North America 
remains the largest market for beverages, with 
consumption at 582 litres per capita while 
average rates in Africa, the Middle East and 
Asia fall well below the global average, thus 
highlighting the potential that is as yet unexploited. 
The low consumption regions are expected to 
achieve the strongest growth in the coming 
years, especially in Asia.

Carbonated soft drinks (CSD) and beer are 
significant categories in terms of consumption. 
Within packaged drinks, the strongest growth 
over the next three years is expected to come 
from energy drinks, still drinks, iced tea and 
packaged water. See charts 1 and 2 below. 

THE GLOBAL PACKAGING MARKET
Globally, more than 1.4 trillion beverage packs 
were sold in 2013, an increase of 4% in volume 
on 2012. Glass accounts for the biggest share of 
the market followed by PET and beverage cans, 
with the remainder packaged in a mix of cartons, 
pouches, sachets and other pack types. PET is 
the fastest growing of the three main pack types 
and has been growing on average 7% a year 
since 2007. Cans have been growing on 
average by 3% while glass has been losing 
share and growing at just 2% a year.  
See chart 4 below.

THE GLOBAL BEvERAGE CAN MARKET
The beverage can market comprises about  
90% aluminium cans and 10% steel cans. In the 
US, beverage cans are made exclusively from 
aluminium, but steel is still used in some parts of 
Europe, Africa and Asia. Nearly all of the beverage 
cans used in North America and Europe are two 
piece but some three piece steel beverage cans 
are still used in China and south east Asia. 

The can market can be divided into standard 
cans (defined 33cl, 35.5cl and 50cl cans) and 
specialty cans. The demand for specialty cans 
has been increasing in recent years as drinks 
producers respond to consumer demand for 
different can sizes to meet various consumption 
needs. In a market such as North America, 
where volumes of standard cans are declining, 
ensuring supply and demand are in balance 
entails converting capacity from standard to 
specialty or removing capacity altogether.

Rexam estimates that around 300bn beverage 
cans were consumed globally in 2013. Beer  
and CSD account for the vast majority of 
consumption, but an increasing number  
of consumers are drinking other beverage 
categories (such as energy drinks) in a can.  
See chart 3 below.

North America remains the largest can region 
accounting for 35% of the beverage can market 
followed by Asia, Europe, South & Central 
America and the Middle East and Africa.  
See chart 5 below.

While there is a tendency to equate growth with 
emerging markets, we continue to see strong can 
growth in a number of mature beverage markets 
as cans replace glass packaging, notably in the 
Nordic countries and some parts of Eastern 
Europe. We see this trend continuing in Europe 
and expect to see the same pattern in emerging 
markets as the expansion of modern retail 
channels support can growth. 

COMPETITIvE ENvIRONMENT
The global beverage can market has three  
major global players, Rexam, Ball and Crown 
who account for over 60% of the global supply 
of beverage cans. CanPack has emerged as a 
strong regional player in recent years but only 
accounts for some 4% of global supply. The 
consolidated nature of the industry provides  
the foundation for good discipline around 
supply and demand. This is important given  
the significant differences in regional growth 
rates around the world.  
See chart 6 below.

Beverage cans also have to compete with other 
pack types, in particular glass and PET bottles. 
The advantages of the can are well documented: 
they are unbreakable, light and quick to chill. They 
are also convenient for the retailer and consumer 
as well as 100% and infinitely recyclable.

1.  2013 Global consumption  
by beverage category  
1.9 trillion litres

3.  2013 What’s in a can2.  2013-2016(e) Global beverage 
volume growth CAGR 
Soft drinks and alcoholic drinks

4.  2013 Global beverage pack mix 
1.4 trillion units

6.  2013 Can makers’ market share 
Market c 300bn cans

5.  2013 Global can volumes by region

Market review 
The global beverage market is large and growing. 
The can is playing its part in that growth.
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KEy CUSTOMERS
As seen in the table here, Rexam’s customers 
include large global and regional beverage 
companies in CSD, beer and energy drinks  
with a diverse geographic footprint.

They are all looking to reduce their costs and 
differentiate their products. One of their key 
challenges is profitable growth in what is today 
a world growing at a slower pace than previously. 
The slowdown in mature markets appears to 
have put pressure on prices and margins, and 
emerging markets seem to be proving no less 
competitive as local champions and 
multinationals fight for position.

In developed markets, the trend is towards 
finding ways for customers to achieve higher 
prices through, for example, novelty and stand 
out products using size and decoration as  
a differentiator.

In emerging markets the challenge is more 
around different pack types to access different 
consumer segments, price points, beverage 
categories and channels.

Our customers are increasingly focused on 
innovation to differentiate their products in  
a crowded and lower growth marketplace. 
Innovation is taking place in many areas such  
as beverage categories, consumer segments, 
occasions and channels. 

To address customers’ priorities Rexam has 
increased its focus on innovation, developing 
partnerships with existing and new suppliers  
to focus on new technologies with potential for 
creating competitive advantage. See more on 
page 20.

Key market drivers

The key market drivers  
in packaging are:
•	Expanding global economy 

•	Changing demographics and 
changing lifestyles

•	Health and safety

•	Sustainability 

Expanding global economy
•	as middle classes grow and a greater 

disposable income becomes available at all 
socio-economic levels, desire for and access  
to premium products grow.

•	economic development and globalisation also 
create unprecedented but unevenly distributed 
wealth. The needs of low income consumers 
create a demand for affordable products 
which itself presents a scaleable opportunity.

•	growing wealth increases demand for novel, 
fun and personalised packaging which helps 
consumers express individuality through their 
purchases and choice of brand.

Changing demographics  
and changing lifestyles
•	the growth in urbanisation means that society 

is moving away from traditional household 
and family structures. It is also moving to more 
modern retail outlets such as supermarkets and 
discount stores which are the ‘home’ of the can.

•	ageing populations are leading to more single 
person households and greater reliance on 
home delivery. As they represent a higher 
proportion of the total population, they are 
expected to shape demand cycles.

•	time scarcity and enhanced mobility lead  
to less conventional consumption occasions 
requiring easy to consume and on the  
go products. 

•	shifting consumption occasions and reasons  
to drink (stress relief, nutritional aid, status 
enhancing) are creating the need for new 
formats and pack sizes for every lifestyle  
and occasion.

•	consumers have become accustomed  
to treating themselves and this sense of 
entitlement ensures indulgence is an enduring 
behaviour, irrespective of financial pressures.

Health and safety
•	declining health, evidenced by growing 

obesity rates and related lifestyle diseases 
such as diabetes, is serving as a wake up  
call for consumers.

•	nutrition increasingly is being recognised as a 
way to improve public health and some food 
and drink companies are looking to provide  
a more holistic approach to health through 
nutritious food and beverage choices.

•	closely related to health is the growing public 
concern about product safety and the need  
for packaging that prevents counterfeiting, 
tampering and contamination.

Sustainability
•	the modern world is heavily influenced by 

resource scarcity, climate change and loss  
of biodiversity.

•	many see the current patterns of development 
as unsustainable and are demanding a complete 
rethink regarding the production and consumption 
of goods.

•	socially conscious consumers are asking who 
or what is behind the brand and final product. 
A sizeable segment of consumers feel a desire 
‘to do the right thing’.

Sales to top 10 customers

78%
ABInBev Arizona
Carlsberg Group Coca-Cola
Heineken Kirin
Monster Oettinger
Pepsi Red Bull

O
verview

Stra
teg

ic rep
o
rt

G
overn

a
n
ce

Fin
a
n
cia

l sta
tem

en
ts

Rexam Annual Report 2013 05



Market review
The pace of change is growing.  
Here are a number of consumer trends  
and how the beverage can is addressing them.
Consumer trend How the can is addressing these trends Rexam’s response

Sustainability Customers and consumers expect packaging to be 
lightweight, recyclable and to keep products fresh. 
Cans are unbeatable across these areas and they 
help create sustainable supply chains between 
manufacture and consumption.

The metals from which cans are made (aluminium  
and steel) exist in abundance and are both 100%  
and infinitely recyclable with no loss of physical 
properties. The economic value of these materials  
has helped create an established global recycling 
infrastructure that achieves a higher recycling rate 
than any other beverage packaging material.

Rexam supports markets with low 
recycling rates, establishing and 
enhancing collection mechanisms  
and helping to foster a recycling  
culture among consumers.

Rexam has a proven track record in 
lightweighting; a 33cl can is 22%  
lighter than it was 20 years ago,  
and in 2013 we reduced our own 
aluminium usage by 5,600t.

Energy efficiency programmes over  
the past three years in our operations 
have reduced our CO2 footprint per can  
by 6%. (For more detail, see page 35.)

 

Health & 
Wellbeing

Cans are now available in many different sizes 
including a variety of smaller can options which 
support portion control. The can, as a single serve, 
can contribute to monitoring consumption.

Cans have a large surface area for printing  
nutritional labels.

The can is a safe, secure and hygienic pack;  
it is also tamper proof.

The can protects products from two of its greatest 
enemies, light and oxygen, keeping the product  
fresh and safe to drink.

To support portion control Rexam offers 
a range of cans and FUSION bottles of 
250ml or less to suit a variety of beverage 
categories and consumer needs.

 

Easy, Convenient 
& Simple

There is a wide range of can sizes and configurations 
(standard, SleekTM, slim, ‘king size’ cans as well as 
aluminium bottles) available as single units and 
multipacks for outdoor as well as home consumption.

Cans are easy to chill and easy to store in the fridge.

Thermochromic ink acts as a temperature indicator  
on cans to let consumers know when the drink is at  
its optimum temperature.

Rexam’s wide range of can sizes, 
including resealable FUSIONTM bottles 
and CapCan varieties, offers the perfect 
solution for on the go and at home 
consumption.

 

Individualism/ 
Customisation

Cans can be personalised with individual print 
designs, for example, personal names, city names, 
soccer team names, etc.

Cans are perfect for special events and limited edition 
runs, especially using high definition printing.

With 360o branding, the can amplifies the brand  
on the supermarket shelf and acts as a potent 
marketing vehicle.

Rexam supports promotional activities 
with printing capabilities as well as 
special inks and finishes.

Rexam’s own EditionsTM (patent pending)
technology allows us to produce between 
8 and 24 designs of the same label 
simultaneously on a single pallet.  
This printing innovation enables our 
customers to improve filling efficiency 
and create new marketing opportunities 
for brands using beverage cans.

The next generation of this technology 
EditionsTM Super Premium was 
successfully launched in 2013.  
See also page 21.
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Consumer trend How the can is addressing these trends Rexam’s response

Premium & 
Affordable

Cans achieve a premium look through high  
definition printing with the same detail and  
impact as a photograph.

The can is made of metal, a durable, shiny and  
long lasting material that enhances the perception  
of quality and authenticity.

A variety of special can ends/tabs (coloured,  
laser engraved, cut out tabs) are suitable for  
limited editions, brand revitalisation or  
attracting new customers.

Cans retail in multipacks and smaller pack  
sizes for affordability.

Rexam’s FUSIONTM aluminium bottle 
(250 and 330 ml) is a perfect pack for 
premium products.

We continue to work with customers  
to enhance brand touch points with,  
for example, cut out tabs.

Our EditionsTM (mixed design on a pallet 
technology) means that the designs, 
such as personalised names, cities, etc, 
can be packed in multipacks or used on 
single cans direct from the filling line.

Sensory & 
Indulgence

Cans use a combination of inks and varnish to 
enhance the look and feel of the can.

360o debossing provides a physically different feel  
to the can.

Luminous (‘glow in the dark’) inks create a sense of fun 
and are ideal for shelf stand out in bars and nightclubs.

Thermochromic inks change colour when beverages 
reach their optimum drinking temperature.

Sparkle effects provide additional shelf stand out  
and branding opportunities.

Rexam offers a full range of can  
finishes (including tactile, debossing, 
thermochromic, photochromic inks)  
to enhance the design of the can.

We are now applying our 
thermochromic inks to can ends.

Changing 
Demographics

Cans are moving into other beverage categories  
and occasions such as juice drinks, dairy drinks  
(for breakfast), wine, water, pre mixed spirits, etc.

Smaller can sizes are suitable for children and  
lunch boxes.

Can designs are suitable to address the needs of 
‘adult soft drinks’ and next generation products  
such as ‘functional’ beverages.

Cans are suitable for distribution through vending 
machines and food service channels as well as 
traditional routes such as supermarkets and 
convenience stores.

Rexam offers a full range of can  
sizes for a range of categories and  
of occasions from single serve, for on  
the go consumption, right through to 
large sizes for sharing.

Smart & 
Connected

Cans have a large surface area for providing  
data, website information, etc to an information 
hungry generation.

Cans are ideal for enabling social media interaction 
as it is easy to include QR codes and augmented 
reality (AR) features on a can.

Rexam has the capability to enhance  
the drinking occasion and connectivity 
with QR codes and/or AR.
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In 2013 the business 
delivered a good 
operational performance, 
and I am encouraged by  
the way we managed  
the challenge of a tough 
macroeconomic climate and 
higher aluminium premium 
and conversion costs. 
The highlight of the year was the achievement  
of our target of 15% ROCE which we set in 2011. 
It was a great team effort. We also made good 
progress on our other strategic priorities (see 
pages 14 to 15). While maintaining strict capital 
discipline, we continued to invest for the future  
in markets where we are established and we 
strengthened our capabilities in emerging 
markets to support the sustainable growth of the 
business. We delivered another year of operational 
efficiency savings consistent with our target. We 
increased our focus on innovation in both products 
and processes, and now have a much stronger 
innovation capability. And at the start of 2014, 
in line with our strategy to create a company 
that maximises return on capital employed, we 
announced that we had signed an agreement to 
divest the majority of the Healthcare packaging 
business and intend to return £450m of the 
proceeds to shareholders. The fact that we could 
deliver all of this and keep our focus on our 
strategic priorities in such challenging times 
speaks volumes for the commitment and 
dedication of our people. 

FINANCIAL SUMMARy OF THE yEAR 
The full financial results and commentary on  
our financial position can be found on pages  
38 to 44. In summary, our Group’s trading 
performance was slightly below our initial 
expectations. Total sales (which includes 
Healthcare) were £4,391m and total underlying 
operating profit was £513m. Total underlying 
profit before tax was £434m while total 
underlying earnings per share was 40.6p.

In Beverage Cans volume growth was 1% driven 
by the recovery of market share in the US and 
some growth in Europe. This, combined with the 
benefits of foreign exchange translation from the 
stronger US dollar and euro, saw sales grow to 
£3,943m (2012 restated: £3,885m). Organic 
sales, which adjust for the impact of foreign 
currency translation, were down 1% primarily 
due to the pass through of lower aluminium costs 
which were around 10% lower than in 2012.

We did not achieve our target of growing 
operating profit ahead of sales. Reported 
underlying operating profit was £449m (2012 
restated: £448m) while organic operating profit 
declined 1% as higher metal conversion and 
aluminium premium costs offset the volume 
growth and foreign currency translation benefits. 
Underlying profit before tax was £372m (2012 
restated: £358m), due largely to lower interest 
costs. Underlying earnings per share rose 13% 
to 35.3p driven by growth in adjusted operating 
profit and a lower share count reflecting the 
share consolidation at the start of the year.

ADDRESSING CUSTOMER NEEDS  
WITH OPERATIONAL ExCELLENCE 
I am encouraged by the strong platform  
we are building for the Company’s future.  
The overwhelming majority of the value we 
create comes from the products we make, and 
manufacturing excellence lies at the heart of our 
strategy to achieve sustainable profit growth. 
Operational and efficiency improvements make 
an important contribution to our profit growth 
each year and we use lean enterprise and six 
sigma principles and best practice sharing to 
continually drive efficiency and innovation in our 
can making process. These are complemented 
by sustainability measures to reduce emissions, 
material usage and waste. This year we delivered 
some £20m of savings in line with our expectations 
(see page 18). I am also hugely encouraged by 
the further recognition from the Shingo Institute 
(see page 9) in early 2014 for another two of 
our facilities (the Enzesfeld can plant in Austria 
and our regional head office in Rio de Janeiro) 
to add to the five already accredited in South 
America. The Rio office is the first corporate office 
anywhere in the world to receive a Shingo award.

Our customers look at every option in their search 
for profitable growth. We have to ensure that the 
beverage can remains central to their marketing 
efforts. Where once we were mostly a relatively 
‘high volume: standard product’ industry, the 
demand is now for more flexibility and shorter 
runs, all the while retaining low costs. We will 
naturally continue our focus on technologies  
that lower cost. However, addressing the cost  
of flexibility and working on viable solutions to 
meet the need for lower capacity production 
units in smaller markets are both an important 
part of our innovation platform (see below  
and page 20).

INNOvATION IS A PRIORITy 
Innovation is an area we have consistently 
highlighted as important to our future, and 
during 2013 we made good progress establishing 
the internal structures, governance and areas of 
activity to address this strategic priority. (See also 
page 20.) We took the decision to participate 
earlier in the technology value chain and are 
now allocating part of our innovation funds to 
earlier stage development to help academic 
ideas come to commercial fruition.

As new beverage types are launched 
(exemplified here with a US ‘appetite 
control’ drink), the can and the 
aluminium bottle can be critical 
elements of the overall demand 
profile and can be a strong platform 
for consumer communication.

Chief executive’s review

Graham Chipchase 
Chief executive

08 Rexam Annual Report 2013



During the year, we invested to further our 
knowledge and understanding of the technology 
involved in aluminium smelting and rolling. In 
February 2014, we took an equity stake in 
Magnaparva Packaging, which draws on 
specialist expertise in the aerospace and 
defence sectors, to investigate disruptive 
technologies in metal forming to drive can 
lightweighting and reduce energy consumption. 

SUSTAINABILITy IS A CORE PLATFORM
Sustainability continues to be an important 
platform of our strategy and a key element in 
reducing our costs and supporting our customers. 
It is about doing the right thing for our business, 
our people and the environment over the longer 
term. At the start of 2011 we set ourselves 20 
ambitious sustainability targets for 2013 covering 
our products, operations and people. I am proud 

to say that we achieved 16 of those targets and 
made considerable progress on the other four. 
As you will see on page 36, our progress has had 
a major positive impact on our business in terms of 
reduced material usage and on the environment. 
We are now embarking on a new phase. At the 
start of 2014, we will be undertaking a new 
materiality study to confirm the main sustainability 
issues relevant to us and our key stakeholders and 
from this we will develop further our sustainability 
framework and set challenging targets. 

OUR PEOPLE DELIvER 
Our drive for operational excellence extends  
to our people. In the face of a tough operating 
environment this year they have continued to do 
the Company proud. (See also page 22.) They 
play a vital role in the success of our business 
and we value their safety and wellbeing above 

everything else. So I am disappointed that, while 
our safety performance has improved in recent 
years and remains by industry standards high, 
we made little progress in 2013. We value the 
safety of our people and we have a concrete plan 
of action with a major Group safety programme, 
LIFE, (see caption above) to get us back on track to 
reducing the number of accidents and incidents.

On a more positive note it was very encouraging 
to see a high response rate to our most recent 
employment engagement survey. Our employee 
engagement index, which provides a picture of 
how satisfied and proud we are as a team, was 
72% favourable. The corresponding figure in 
2010 was 62%, so we have made good progress 
over the last three years with almost all items in 
the survey showing improvement.

1

2 3

The overwhelming 
majority of the value  
we create comes from the 
products we make, and 
manufacturing excellence 
lies at the heart of our 
strategy to achieve 
sustainable profit growth.
1  For the second year in a row we have been recognised  

by The Shingo Institute – the global review of operational 
excellence. In 2013, our South American plants Manaus 
and Extrema were awarded a silver medal each, and 
Cuiabá was recognised with bronze. In 2014, our can 
plant in Enzesfeld, Austria, became our first accredited 
European plant, while our office in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, 
became the first corporate office in the world to be 
recognised by The Shingo Institute.

2  The proliferation of can sizes and the increased number of 
label changes puts new demands on the can manufacturing 
process. The plant in Fosie, Sweden, for example, 
managed more than 4,500 label changes during the year 
but kept their high levels of service and delivered record 
volumes along the way.

3  Our Lost Time Accident Rate (LTAR) performance in 2013 
did not improve on 2012. More than half of the accidents 
were caused by unsafe behaviour rather than poor 
processes or equipment and we are challenging paradigms 
and expectations with a new three year world class safety 
plan from 2014, called LIFE, as we reinvigorate our efforts 
to remove accidents from our sites and sustain that level.
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OPERATIONAL REvIEW OF THE yEAR
Beverage Cans global volumes increased 1%  
on 2012. North America continued to perform 
strongly as it recovered market share but volumes 
in Western Europe and South America proved 
disappointing, especially in the first half of the 
year. Organic sales were down 1% as volume 
growth was offset by the pass through of lower 
aluminium prices.

Organic operating profit was down 1% at 
£449m mainly due to higher metal conversion 
and premium costs in both Europe and South 
America. The effect was compounded by a 
weaker mix of products as the share recovery in 
lower margin standard cans in North America 
was offset by the negative mix impact of weaker 
volumes in Europe (especially Russia).

Beverage Can Europe 
The beverage can market in Europe comprises 
about 58bn cans, making it the third largest in 
the world, after North America and Asia. Rexam 
is the leading can maker with some 40% market 
share. The market has been growing at 3% pa 
since 2008 in a period of very low or non existent 
macroeconomic growth across the region. Growth 
has been driven largely by beer and carbonated 
soft drinks (CSD). Despite a c 2% pa decline in 
beer consumption and little growth in the amount 
of CSD consumed in the last five years, the 
beverage can market has continued to grow in 
both categories as the pack mix shifts towards 
cans. Energy drinks have grown at a rate of  
13% pa in the same period and, as the can is  
the container of choice in this beverage category, 
it has been a major driver of can growth.

In 2013, the weak macroeconomic backdrop in 
Europe made for challenging trading. In Western 
Europe, after a particularly cold winter and spring 
we had a strong second half, with volume in 
standard cans growing 6%. There was particularly 
strong growth in the Nordic countries and the UK, 
partly offset by some weakness in Spain. As a 
result standard cans were up 4% for the full year.

Specialty cans were 3% lower due to some share 
loss in the Benelux region but overall growth in 
energy drinks remained good.

In Russia, regulatory changes banning the sale 
of beer in kiosks resulted in an 8% decline in  
the market for beer cans and although this was 
partially offset by strong growth in CSD in cans, 
the overall can market declined by 2%. Even 
though absolute volumes for beer cans were 
down, we estimate that they captured a greater 
proportion of the pack mix. In 2013, the expected 
new competitor capacity came on stream and  
as a result we lost market share. We now have 
around 70% of the Russian beverage can market 
and expect our share to stabilise. We remain 
confident about the prospects and potential  
of this market.

Innovation in Europe has focused largely on  
our award winning FUSIONTM bottle which our 
customers see as an important package for the 
future. During the year, we ramped up production 
at our plant in the Czech Republic and in 2014 
we will continue to invest in line speed up as well 
as value adding contouring technologies. The 
specific technology we use will ultimately allow 
us to make the bottles with less material and, as 
the only manufacturer in Europe with access to 
this technology, we expect to gain competitive 
advantage. We also completed the conversion 
to new lighter weight ends.

We were vigorous in defending our market share 
in key markets in western Europe. In the first half 
we started production of standard cans at a new 
plant in Finland to serve the growing Nordic 
market. We opened a fourth line at our Ludesch 
plant in Austria to add an extra 0.7bn cans to 
the plant’s capacity and also announced that we 
are to build a new can plant dedicated to energy 
drinks in Widnau, Switzerland. The latter will 
represent a total investment of some £115m over 
three years and will provide an extra 2.2bn cans 
when all three lines are completed. The first line 
is expected to come on stream in 2015.

Beverage Can North America
After peaking in 1994 at more than 100bn cans, 
the North American market has slowly reduced to 
its current c 94bn can market. Can consumption 
remains the highest in the world at more than 
330 cans per capita per year. Rexam has more 
than 20% of the North American market. Following 
contract negotiations in 2010 we lost market share 
which we have now regained over the last three 
years. As a result we have a more diversified 
customer base and we do not expect significant 
changes in market share in the next few years, 
except for normal marginal movements. 

In 2013, the North American beverage can market 
overall declined 3% led by a drop in sales of CSD. 
Our North American can business, however, 
traded well and our own volumes grew 7% as 
we regained market share. Standard cans were 
up 11% but, although there was some good growth 
in certain specialty can sizes, overall our specialty 
can volumes were down 3% against a very strong 
2012 performance following the successful launch 
of SleekTM cans.

We maintained a strong focus on operations and 
during the year all our plants in the US were Safe 
Quality Food (SQF) certified. Our cost reduction 
efforts continued apace with further improvement 
in efficiencies and material usage.

Chief executive’s review 
continued

An increase of 1% for 
cans in the pack mix  
in Europe equates to  
an extra 2.7bn cans  
per year.

In North America, we have supported 
more than 40 new beer customers in 
recent years with a range of beverage 
can options from standard 12oz, 
through SleekTM to 24oz to help launch 
and differentiate their products.
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There was further progress in product innovation. 
We launched, for example, a new 25oz can to 
meet customer demand and to complement the 
already popular 24oz size, and we completed 
the creation of a new liner for the Rexam CapCan, 
a leading resealable package choice for many 
energy drink customers. This means that CapCan 
can now be used to package beer, dairy and 
spirits. The craft beer market, where the can is 
the packaging of choice, showed continued 
strong growth albeit from a small base. We have 
supported more than 40 new beer customers  
in recent years with a range of beverage can 
options from standard 12oz, through SleekTM  
to 24oz to help launch and differentiate  
their products.

Outside the US, we see significant potential for 
further growth in Mexico and Central America 
with their increasing populations and improving 
GDP. We are participating in this growth through 
our own plant in Queretaro, Mexico, where we 
have seen specialty can growth of around 30% 
since 2010, and through a joint venture in 
Guatemala, which has doubled its volume since 
2006. We continue to strengthen our relationships 
with regional customers and provide technical 
support to other local can manufacturers as we 
continue to explore additional opportunities. 

Beverage Can South America
Brazil, Chile and Argentina are the three main 
markets we serve in South America. In total they 
consume c 23bn cans. Our largest market is 
Brazil where we are market leader with more 
than 50% market share. In Chile and Argentina 
we are the sole can makers.

In 2013, trading in South America was volatile. 
GDP growth in Brazil slowed to 2% and inflation 
was around 6%. In response to the weakening 
macroeconomic environment and declining 
disposable incomes, our customers prioritised 
specialty cans to differentiate their products  
and provide attractive price points with  
different can sizes. 

The overall market in Brazil was up 4% driven  
by a 32% increase in specialty size volumes  
with standard cans volumes declining 5%.

Our volumes in South America were down 1%. 
The market weakness in standard cans drove most 
of the 8% decline in our standard can volumes. 
This was partly offset by a 22% increase in 
specialty cans. We were constrained in terms  
of specialty can capacity in the first half of the 
year but we converted our line in Belém to make 
specialty cans, and are in the process of converting 
another line in Brasilia. With our footprint adjusted 
to meet customer needs, we started to see a 
significant improvement in our performance and 
our volumes were up 5% in the seasonally strong 
final quarter. We continue to monitor the market 
closely and will convert more capacity if needed to 
ensure we can meet the market growth in 2014.

There was growth in Argentina while in Chile 
volumes improved significantly, driven by the 
additional demand for energy drinks in 
specialty cans and by customers’ strategies to 
promote single serve packages. We are adding 
a new specialty can line in Chile to satisfy the 
increasing demand for these types of cans. 

Preparations in Brazil are well advanced for both 
the 2014 World Cup and the 2016 Olympics and 
the work on infrastructure and public transport  
in major cities is creating jobs and helping to 
stimulate the economy. Our customers are 
continuing to invest as planned, adding significant 
filling capacity in Brazil over the next three years.

Beverage Can Africa, Middle East & Asia
Historically our emerging market growth has been 
largely confined to Russia and Brazil where we 
are the leading player in both countries. We are 
now looking to develop new markets in Africa, 
Middle East & Asia (AMEA) which account for 
75% of the world’s population and one third of 
total global beverage can volumes. They also 
represent significant proportions of our customers’ 
sales, and as they are now investing more in these 
markets, there is an opportunity not only for us to 
grow our business in line with theirs but also to 
seek alliances with local beverage producers.

We established our own AMEA organisation  
at the start of 2013 in Dubai: it is a suitable hub 
from which to manage the existing footprint and 
explore new opportunities. Operations consist of 
plants in Turkey, Egypt and India, the latter which 
we successfully converted from steel to aluminium. 
There is also a long standing joint venture in South 
Korea which mostly supplies the local market. 
We also have technical licences in Iran, China 
and Australia.

In February 2014, we announced the acquisition 
of a majority holding in United Arab Can (UAC), 
Saudi Arabia, with an annual capacity of 1.8bn 
cans in both standard and specialty sizes. Upon 
completion of the deal later in 2014, the plant 
will provide another bridgehead into growing 
markets and we plan to work together with our 
partners in UAC to expand in the region.

In 2013, volumes declined slightly in the AMEA 
region. Although volumes almost doubled in India, 
albeit from a low base, sales were disrupted by 
social unrest in Egypt and Turkey in the latter part 
of the year and we remain watchful of trading 
conditions in those regions.

LOOKING AHEAD AS A FOCUSED 
BEvERAGE CAN MAKER
Rexam is now a focused beverage can maker. 
Our aim is to be the best in the industry and we 
have refined our strategy accordingly. Our intent, 
as ever, is to win, as we achieve a balance 
between growth and returns to create sustainable 
value for all our stakeholders. (See page 13.)

We are committed to maintaining ROCE at 
around 15% as we grow the Company. It is a 
level of returns we deem appropriate given our 
asset base and geographic exposure. We have 
learnt valuable lessons over the last three years 
around managing costs, optimising cash and the 
disciplined employment of capital, and we will 
continue to keep these under close watch.

There are five main themes directing the strategy:

•	We will invest to capture growth opportunities 
and to protect our core business, all the while 
maintaining the strict capital discipline of 
recent years and a focus on returns.

•	We will strengthen our customer relationships, 
not simply by providing best in class quality and 
customer service at the right cost but also by 
working with them strategically and proactively. 
We will strengthen ties through commercial 
excellence and marketing capability and 
innovating to meet the challenge of profitable 
growth in a lower growth world.

•	We will pursue continuous improvement in 
operational excellence with special emphasis 
on delivering first class products at cost at or 
below those of our competitors.

•	We will shape our future by innovating  
and continuing to improve our sustainability 
performance to underpin our licence to operate 
and to support our customers as they face 
increasing consumer and legislative pressures.

•	Finally, we will continue to build a winning 
organisation with the right structure and  
talent to support delivery of our strategy. 

Next year we will be reporting against these  
five areas.

The work that we have done to restructure our 
Company means that we are in good shape 
operationally. In 2014, despite an uncertain 
macroeconomic environment and some 
continued cost volatility, we expect to make 
further progress on a constant currency basis. 
We remain committed to managing what we 
can control and focusing on cash, cost and 
return on capital employed as we pursue our 
strategy of balancing growth and returns.
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Business model 

value creation opportunities

Recycled cans

Cash returns to
shareholders Taxes Supplier payments Sustainable 

development

Salaries and 
employment and 

people development

•	Financial capital

•	Human capital

•	Well invested  
asset base 
–  Careful capital 

allocation

•	Understanding  
user trends

•	Supply and demand 
in balance

•	Strong supplier 
relationships 
– Aluminium 
– Inks 
– Freight

•	Sustainability 
– Licence to operate 
–  Community 

engagement

Strategic inputs

•	Water
•	Energy
•	Aluminium sheet
•	Recyclate

Materials and 
resources

•	62bn cans annually
•	Right can at right 

price in right place
•	Innovative solutions 

(sizes, finishes, 
closures)

•	Strong relationships
•	Interdependence

Customers

•	Support recovery 
and recycling of 
beverage cans

Consumers

Rexam operations 55 
plants in five continents
•	Manufacturing 

excellence
•	Process and  

product innovation
•	Lean principles
•	Cost management
•	Inventory 

management
•	Shipping/freight
•	Sustainable practices

Can and end 
making

Enterprise risk management

Stakeholder value

Business model

Rexam is a global 
manufacturer of beverage 
cans, the vast majority  
of which are made of 
aluminium. We make  
a broad range of can  
sizes for products such  
as carbonated soft drinks, 
beer, energy drinks and 
other drinks categories. 
We make approximately 62bn cans a year at 
55 plants in five continents. We are part of a 
supply chain that stretches from ore mining to the 
consumption of beverages from cans (and their 
recycling) by the consumer. Within that chain, 
we have direct control over the manufacture of 
beverage cans and ends and the financial, human 
and intellectual capital to make this viable. Our 
business model (below) is underpinned by clear and 
consistently applied frameworks for enterprise 
risk management, including governance and 
sustainable development.

MANUFACTURING
The core manufacturing skills around converting 
sheet metal into beverage cans lie at the heart of 
our Company. That is where we create the vast 
majority of our value and generate sustainable 
competitive advantage. We assume the risk of 
converting aluminium ingot into coil and of 

investing in assets to convert metal sheet into cans 
for our customers. 

Over time, we expect a reward commensurate with 
this risk. Key to our success and to creating value, 
therefore, is ensuring a high utilisation of our asset 
base and our ability to convert aluminium/steel 
sheet into finished beverage cans and ends at 
the lowest delivered cost, and as sustainably as 
possible. We focus on operational excellence 
using six sigma and lean principles across our 
operations and processes to reduce cost and 
material usage (especially aluminium), all the while 
ensuring the safety and wellbeing of our people.

SUPPLIERS
Our aim is to be a key strategic partner for most of 
our major suppliers who include aluminium, energy, 
chemical, machinery and freight companies. 
Aluminium represents almost 50% of our annual 
cost base: some £2bn annually. We source our 
metal from well established global aluminium 
suppliers. We have largely derisked the 
procurement of aluminium ingot with pass through 
clauses in customer contracts or long term supply 
agreements backed by appropriate hedging.

We work closely with all our suppliers to 
co-develop innovative processes and products. 
With aluminium, for example, we expect to 
benefit from developments in aluminium sheet 
manufacture to help reduce our material usage. 
With capital equipment suppliers we expect to 
take advantage of the advances that they make 
in can making technology to enhance the work 
we are already doing in this area.

CUSTOMERS
Fundamental to our success is the establishment of 
strong and lasting relationships with our customers 
to ensure that we are the preferred can supplier. 
Total lowest cost over time is a crucial element of 
our offering as is our ability to combine our insights, 
resources and experience to understand our 
customers’ markets and to provide innovative 
solutions to their needs. Our customer base is 
increasingly consolidated and while beverage 
can making is regional, the larger customers are 
moving to global procurement models. We are 
pursuing a key account strategy, including global 
management of our core global customers, to 
further align ourselves with them. The location of 
our can making plants relative to customers’ filling 
locations is important in minimising logistics and 
freight costs to ensure low cost supply. 

PEOPLE AND CAPABILITIES
We have a highly skilled and motivated workforce, 
most of whom work in plants, and we develop our 
people to build a winning organisation and to 
the requirements of our industry. The complexity 
of our business is growing with the proliferation 
of different can sizes and finishes, and shorter 
product runs. The ability to deliver at low cost  
in such an environment will become a prime 
capability. Innovation in products and processes, 
and our close understanding of the trends affecting 
our customers, are also critical differentiating 
factors in shaping our future, as is our constant 
support and promotion of the beverage can as  
a viable and sustainable alternative to other 
drinks packaging.
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Create shareholder  
value by growing  
while maintaining  

ROCE at c 15%

•	Returned to shareholders

Surplus cash

•	Dividend cover 2.0 – 2.5x

Dividend

•	Working capital management

•	Strong balance sheet

•	Investment grade credit rating

Cash generation

•	Protect our strong market positions

•	Capture growth, focus on returns

•	Organic investment c 1.0x – 1.5x 
depreciation underpins GDP + growth 

•	 Bolt-on acquisitions 

Investment

•	Efficiencies and pricing offset cost inflation 
over time

•	Good drop through from increased volume 
and utilisation

Profit growth GDP ++

•	Pack mix change

•	New category growth

•	Emerging markets growth

Sales growth GDP +

Our aim is to balance 
growth and returns 
(measured in return on 
capital employed: ROCE). 
In a high investment year, or 
if we make an acquisition, 
ROCE may drop slightly, 
and in a low investment 
year it may go up: but 15% 
is the centre of gravity 
through the cycle.
Graham Chipchase 
Chief executive

SHARED vALUE
Our business follows a circle of revenue and 
profit generation, efficient cash conversion and 
reinvestment in the business. We share the value 
we generate with our shareholders through  
the dividend (see page 80) and with the wider 
community through employment, salaries,  
the payment of taxes and supplier payments.

Our aim is to balance growth and returns 
(measured in return on capital employed: 
ROCE). In a high investment year, or if we make 
an acquisition, ROCE may drop slightly, and in 
a low investment year it may go up: but 15% is 
the centre of gravity through the cycle. Sales 
growth is expected to be slightly above the GDP 
of the countries in which we operate as beverage 
markets grow and cans take a greater share of 
the pack mix (as beverage packaging shifts  
from glass to aluminium and plastic in line with 
consumer preference and retailer logistics).

We plan for operating efficiencies and pricing to 
offset cost inflation over time, thereby expecting 
profits to grow slightly faster than sales. This will 
translate into strong cash generation which supports 
a healthy balance sheet and helps maintain an 
investment grade rating. To underpin sales growth 
and to protect our business, we will continue to 
invest at a rate of 1 to 1.5 times depreciation. Any 
investment in organic growth or bolt-on acquisitions 
will be determined by where we see the best 
opportunities to grow with good returns over time. 
The disciplined allocation of capital is a crucial 
competency in this respect and, consequently,  
a source of advantage. 

We consider the dividend to be the core element 
of shareholder remuneration and something on 
which they should be able to depend. We aim to 
continue to pay the dividend in line with our policy 
of 2.0 to 2.5 times cover and return surplus cash 
to shareholders.

Balancing growth and returns
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Delivering our strategy
Our focus in the last three year period has been  
to optimise cash, manage costs and drive return on 
capital employed to 15%. In this, we have succeeded. 
Our vision

Our vision is to be the 
best beverage can maker 
in the world. 
Our strategy

Our strategic priorities  
up to the end of 2013  
and how we performed 
against them can be seen 
in the table to the right.

We have reviewed our 
strategy (see page 11)  
to reflect our focus on 
beverage cans and will 
be reporting against 
those priorities going 
forward.
Our values

Continuous improvement
However well we do today, we are determined 
to do better tomorrow. This is the key to customer 
satisfaction, operational excellence and 
business success. We set ourselves ambitious 
targets and, in making us the benchmark for 
quality and safety in our industry, become  
a beacon of best business practice.

Recognition
We believe in recognising every contribution 
to our business and we celebrate outstanding 
achievement. We reward and promote people 
on merit, through fair and open performance 
management and career development systems. 
We should all feel that our work is an enjoyable 
and fulfilling part of our lives.

Teamwork
We are at our best when we work together as 
a united group. We deliver the greatest possible 
benefit to customers, shareholders, colleagues 
and communities when we pool our talents 
and pull together. The differences between  
us make us stronger: we respect and value the 
diversity of our people and we are committed 
to fair play and meritocracy.

Trust
Open and honest communication is essential to 
business efficiency but it is also a fundamental 
condition for a positive working environment. 
We encourage people to say what they think, 
we avoid politics and if we promise we will  
do something, we deliver. We will earn and 
deserve the trust of everyone who comes into 
contact with us.

Our strategic priorities Activity in 2013 Our challenges What we did in 2013

•	Achieved ROCE target of 15%.

•	Profitable revenue growth year on year  
at GDP+.

•	Cost mitigation plans swiftly implemented.

•	Portfolio focused on beverage cans.

•	Maintain ROCE at or around 15% in tough 
macroeconomic times.

•	Pricing pressures.
13%
Underlying earnings per share from continuing 
operations grew 13% in 2013, a result of an increase 
in earnings and share consolidation, consistent 
with our strategy to balance growth and returns.

See also page 42.

Achieve best performance
By leveraging operational and business best  
practices across the Group we enhance our  
financial performance year on year.

•	Commercial capability strengethened.

•	Key account management  
framework established.

•	Customer satisfaction survey above. 
industry benchmark.

•	Innovation integral part of our offer.

•	To interact with our customers globally and  
continue to act locally. £115m

Planned investment in first can plant in 
Switzerland strengthens partnership  
with Red Bull.

See also page 10.

Customer expectations
By understanding, anticipating and responding  
to customer needs we build secure, sustainable  
and mutually valuable partnerships and create 
enduring customer satisfaction.

•	Establishment of AMEA business.

•	Delivery of targets and external recognition 
for sustainability work.

•	Governance in and around  
innovation embedded.

•	Emergence of new risks as we enter new markets.

•	Changes in legislation that disadvantage  
certain products or packaging.

DJSI
Rexam selected to join Dow Jones Sustainability 
Index (DJSI) whose members represent leading 
companies around the world. We remain a 
member of FTSE4GOOD.

See also page 34.

Ensure our future
By embedding longer term thinking when  
identifying opportunities and implementing  
leading practices in sustainability, innovation  
and risk management we will support the  
long term prosperity of the business.

•	Delivered £20m operational excellence 
savings to offset increased costs.

•	Leveraged scale and best practice to deliver 
more than twice budgeted procurement savings.

•	Continued focus on improving safety but less 
progression in performance.

•	Maintain cost reduction performance.

•	Higher complexity due to proliferation  
of can sizes.

7
Seven beverage can operations in total 
accredited by Shingo Institute which  
recognises excellence in organisations.

See also page 8.

Drive operational excellence
Operational excellence is core to the safety  
of our people as well as low cost manufacture.  
Our aim is to be the preferred supplier to our 
customers by driving excellence throughout  
our core business processes.

•	Regained North American volumes.

•	Opening of Finland plant secures volumes  
in Nordic region.

•	Conversion of Belém plant defends  
north east Brazil.

•	Value enhancing investment opportunities.

•	Changing market dynamics and need to  
protect profits.

92%
Can volumes in India grew more than 90%  
in 2013. We have about 50% market share.

See also page 11.

Invest for value
We will continue to invest in order to support  
growth. Investment in organic growth or  
acquisitions will be determined by a structured  
and responsive approach to meeting customer 
expectations and where we see the best 
opportunities to grow with good returns over time.

 
•	External safety benchmarking and action plan 

to drive own safety performance to next level.

•	Organisation adapted to changes and proved 
resilient in tough trading environment.

•	2013 employee engagement survey provided 
further insights to drive engagement and 
performance.

•	Increased executive engagement: plant visits 
and live ‘on-the-job’ experience at plants.

•	Attract and retain talent in an increasingly 
competitive world.

•	Maximise benefits of working as one  
global company.

•	Eliminate life threatening incidents.

771
We run a company wide recognition scheme 
called ’Blue Chip’. It is an on the spot means to 
recognise individuals who demonstrate our 
values and leadership practices. We awarded 
over 279 Blue Chips in 2013 bringing the total  
to 771 since its inception in 2011.

See also page 23.

Build a winning organisation
The achievement of our strategy is contingent  
on us having a strong, world class organisation 
where everyone is engaged to achieve our goals 
and has the right tools, incentives and motivation  
to be the best. 
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The priorities listed in the left hand column in the 
table below help us focus on what is important 
to deliver on our strategy, to align and mobilise 
our organisation and to optimise time to execution.

In short, with a winning organisation we will 
generate the operational excellence in all our 
processes to deliver on customer expectations, 
which is vital to achieving best performance.

Our strategic priorities Activity in 2013 Our challenges What we did in 2013

•	Achieved ROCE target of 15%.

•	Profitable revenue growth year on year  
at GDP+.

•	Cost mitigation plans swiftly implemented.

•	Portfolio focused on beverage cans.

•	Maintain ROCE at or around 15% in tough 
macroeconomic times.

•	Pricing pressures.
13%
Underlying earnings per share from continuing 
operations grew 13% in 2013, a result of an increase 
in earnings and share consolidation, consistent 
with our strategy to balance growth and returns.

See also page 42.

Achieve best performance
By leveraging operational and business best  
practices across the Group we enhance our  
financial performance year on year.

•	Commercial capability strengethened.

•	Key account management  
framework established.

•	Customer satisfaction survey above. 
industry benchmark.

•	Innovation integral part of our offer.

•	To interact with our customers globally and  
continue to act locally. £115m

Planned investment in first can plant in 
Switzerland strengthens partnership  
with Red Bull.

See also page 10.

Customer expectations
By understanding, anticipating and responding  
to customer needs we build secure, sustainable  
and mutually valuable partnerships and create 
enduring customer satisfaction.

•	Establishment of AMEA business.

•	Delivery of targets and external recognition 
for sustainability work.

•	Governance in and around  
innovation embedded.

•	Emergence of new risks as we enter new markets.

•	Changes in legislation that disadvantage  
certain products or packaging.

DJSI
Rexam selected to join Dow Jones Sustainability 
Index (DJSI) whose members represent leading 
companies around the world. We remain a 
member of FTSE4GOOD.

See also page 34.

Ensure our future
By embedding longer term thinking when  
identifying opportunities and implementing  
leading practices in sustainability, innovation  
and risk management we will support the  
long term prosperity of the business.

•	Delivered £20m operational excellence 
savings to offset increased costs.

•	Leveraged scale and best practice to deliver 
more than twice budgeted procurement savings.

•	Continued focus on improving safety but less 
progression in performance.

•	Maintain cost reduction performance.

•	Higher complexity due to proliferation  
of can sizes.

7
Seven beverage can operations in total 
accredited by Shingo Institute which  
recognises excellence in organisations.

See also page 8.

Drive operational excellence
Operational excellence is core to the safety  
of our people as well as low cost manufacture.  
Our aim is to be the preferred supplier to our 
customers by driving excellence throughout  
our core business processes.

•	Regained North American volumes.

•	Opening of Finland plant secures volumes  
in Nordic region.

•	Conversion of Belém plant defends  
north east Brazil.

•	Value enhancing investment opportunities.

•	Changing market dynamics and need to  
protect profits.

92%
Can volumes in India grew more than 90%  
in 2013. We have about 50% market share.

See also page 11.

Invest for value
We will continue to invest in order to support  
growth. Investment in organic growth or  
acquisitions will be determined by a structured  
and responsive approach to meeting customer 
expectations and where we see the best 
opportunities to grow with good returns over time.

 
•	External safety benchmarking and action plan 

to drive own safety performance to next level.

•	Organisation adapted to changes and proved 
resilient in tough trading environment.

•	2013 employee engagement survey provided 
further insights to drive engagement and 
performance.

•	Increased executive engagement: plant visits 
and live ‘on-the-job’ experience at plants.

•	Attract and retain talent in an increasingly 
competitive world.

•	Maximise benefits of working as one  
global company.

•	Eliminate life threatening incidents.

771
We run a company wide recognition scheme 
called ’Blue Chip’. It is an on the spot means to 
recognise individuals who demonstrate our 
values and leadership practices. We awarded 
over 279 Blue Chips in 2013 bringing the total  
to 771 since its inception in 2011.

See also page 23.

Build a winning organisation
The achievement of our strategy is contingent  
on us having a strong, world class organisation 
where everyone is engaged to achieve our goals 
and has the right tools, incentives and motivation  
to be the best. 
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20132011 2012

1%

3% 3%

20132011 2012

4%

37%

10%

20132011 2012

£185m

£245m

£193m

20132011 2012

15.5%

13.5%

14.5%

2010/2011 2012 2013

69%

62%

72%

2010/2011 2012 2013

61%

53%

63%

Key performance indicators
We use the following key performance indicators 
(KPIs) to measure and track performance. 

KPI Definition Performance Target

            Achieve best performance 

Sales growth Sales growth is based on underlying business 
performance from continuing operations. 

GDP+

We expect to grow 
our sales at GDP+ of 
the countries/regions 
in which we operate.

Turn to page 13.

Underlying  
profit growth

Underlying profit before tax growth is as 
reported in the financial review for the relevant 
years and represents continuing operations.

GDP++

As efficiencies and 
pricing offset cost 
inflation over time,  
we expect profit to 
grow at a faster  
rate than sales.

Turn to page 13.

Free cash flow The cash generated from the total operations  
of the business less capital expenditure,  
interest and tax.

In the range 
£150–200m 

Will vary according 
to investment plans 
including capital 
expenditure.

Turn to page 43.

Return on  
capital employed

Underlying operating profit from total 
operations plus share of post tax profits of 
associates and joint ventures divided by the 
average of opening and closing shareholders’ 
equity after adding back retirement benefit 
obligations (net of tax) and net borrowings.

Around 15%

In years of high 
organic investment  
or an acquisition,  
it may fall slightly  
and in a year of low 
organic investment  
it may rise slightly.

Turn to page 43.

            Build a winning organisation

Employee 
engagement index 
favourable score

Measures the extent to which employees  
are motivated to contribute to organisational 
success and are willing to apply discretionary 
effort to accomplishing tasks important to the 
achievement of organisational goals. 

Continuous 
improvement

Based on the Group 
global employee 
survey conducted  
at approximately  
18 month intervals.

Turn to page 23.

values & leadership 
practices favourable 
score

Measures how leaders at all levels of the 
organisation demonstrate our core values  
(see page 14) in their everyday work. 

Continuous 
improvement

Based on the Group 
global employee 
survey conducted  
at approximately  
18 month intervals. 

Turn to page 6.
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20132011 2012

£21m
£22m

£19m

20132011 2012

£6m
£5m £5m

2011 2012 2013

37% 37%

35%

2011 2012 2013

7.8 8.1 8.1

2011 2012 2013

0.41

0.19

0.31

2011 2012 2013

0.83 0.79 0.81

OvERvIEW
Each KPI relates directly to our strategic 
priorities. Additional information on each  
of them is contained in the various sections  
of this report.

The figures (where appropriate) have been 
restated for the reclassification of Healthcare  
to discontinued operations and the adoption  
of IAS19 (revised).

KPI Definition Performance Target

            Customer expectations

Customer 
satisfaction score

Measured in annual survey to determine our 
ability to service our customers, including 
quality, number of complaints, on time in  
full deliveries.

7.5 (out of 10)

To improve on the 
global benchmark  
of similar companies.

Emerging  
market sales

Percentage of Group sales from markets such 
as Brazil, Russia, Latin America, India and 
other AMEA countries on a continuing 
operations basis.

Approximately 
40% over time

Turn to page 24.

Research and  
new product 
development

The amount spent in continuing operations  
on research and development is the statutory 
figure and includes design, construction and 
testing of preproduction prototypes, models 
and processes. (New product and process 
initiatives in our operations are not captured  
in the statutory figure.)

Depends on number 
of projects in the 
innovation pipeline.

Turn to page 20.

           Drive operational excellence

Annual cost  
savings and  
efficiencies

Financial benefits of improvements in  
our processes and systems efficiency  
for continuing operations. 

£20m pa

The aim is to maintain 
our savings at £20m. 
Efficiencies (and 
pricing) will help 
offset inflation  
over time.

Turn to page 18.

Lost time  
accident rate

The number of lost time accidents multiplied  
by 200,000/total hours worked. 

0 (long term)

The long term target  
is zero accidents pa 
with a near term 
target of 10% 
reduction pa.

Turn to page 36.

Carbon intensity Kilogram of carbon per kilogram  
of production.

10% reduction  
by 2013 vs 2010

New target to be  
set in 2014 for the 
period 2014–2016.

Turn to page 37 
for greenhouse 
gas emissions.
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Strategy in action:
Operational excellence

LEAN IS KEy
Efficient and sustainable manufacturing is 
critical to our economic and environmental 
performance and so improving our manufacturing 
has a significant impact on our business. To ensure 
that we can continue to deliver and sustain our 
financial results and to support our vision of being 
the best can maker in the world, we continue to 
embed the principles of lean enterprise and to 
increase the engagement of our people in 
continuous improvement. The award of the Shingo 
prizes in 2013 and 2014 are testament to the 
success of our journey so far (see page 8).

REDUCING MATERIAL AND RESOURCES
The consistent reduction in material usage, and 
the lowering of our carbon footprint and water 
usage (see page 35) are direct outcomes of  
the continuous improvement that drives our 
manufacturing ethos. Lightweighting has historically 
been the most important component of these 
savings. In 2013, we continued to lightweight 
the can. However, there is more to go in terms  
of lightweighting the ends, the bottom of the  
can and different specialty can sizes to help 
deliver continued material savings.

SUPPLy CHAIN MANAGEMENT
In 2013, we set up a centrally led procurement 
function supported by global category directors. 
The aim was to take full advantage of our size and 
global spread to manage more efficiently not just 
our metal cost but also our other direct material 
costs and capital equipment expenditure. The 2013 
savings (see right) exceeded our expectations. 
We also invested further in supplier relationship 
management to drive closer collaboration and 
thereby improve quality, innovation and 
payment terms. 

Efficiency savings

£21m
In 2013 we delivered £21m of 
efficiency savings, and going 
forward we aim to continue  
to deliver a similar amount of 
savings each year. (For our recent 
performance in annual cost savings 
and efficiencies, see also page 17.) 

Different can sizes

17
When drinks can making  
started out 75 years ago there  
was essentially one size: 12oz (33cl). 
Today we manufacture 17 different 
sizes – the broadest range in the 
industry. We are actively managing 
the operational complexity of  
this increase in sizes without 
compromising the efficiency  
of our asset base.

Supply chain success

Doubled
Increasingly our customers are 
moving to a global procurement 
model. As a 100% beverage can 
business, we are too. Our global 
procurement function doubled its 
budgeted savings in 2013 using 
the power and input of the entire 
procurement organisation.

At Rexam we manufacture more than 62bn 
beverage cans a year. Operational excellence 
lies at the heart of our approach to low cost 
manufacturing and sustainable value creation.
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Better safety, better 
employee engagement, 
better costs.

‘Zero Loss’ means zero accidents, zero 
spoilage and zero breakdowns. In 2013, our 
can plants in Milton Keynes, UK, and Extrema, 
Brazil, began piloting the concept of ‘Zero 
Loss’ in their day to day work, applying and 
embedding total productive maintenance (TPM) 
techniques and tools as “the way they work”.

The expected outcomes are better safety, better 
employee engagement, and better costs.

“Achieving zero in any of these three is  
very hard,” says Anderson Pereira, regional 
production director responsible for Extrema. 
“The value is in the outcome of putting in 
place a structured approach. We are already 
realising improvements in our hard KPIs such 
as efficiency and spoilage and benefiting from 
the involvement that the TPM structure creates.”

“I am sure that the increased team initiatives 
and the way we are involving our people  
in the things that affect them directly have 
played a part in raising our engagement 
score in the recent survey,” says Ian Clayton, 
plant manager at Milton Keynes, UK.

Going forward, we will identify and transfer 
the vital few best practices and continue the 
work towards ‘Zero Loss’.
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INNOvATION READy 
Two years ago we increased our focus on 
innovation and created a global organisation 
and governance structure built around the 
highest level of the business. It includes the 
Innovation Board (including the chief executive 
and finance director, Group marketing and 
operations directors and the four sector directors) 
and the Innovation Council consisting of our 
various technology directors. Our innovation 
activity now brings together the best of our 
regional innovation to drive it globally. 

EARLy PARTICIPATION 
As we pulled together our innovation activity 
across the organisation, we decided to balance 
our activity across the short, medium and longer 
term horizons. Recognising the challenges in 
innovation between the academic ideas and 
commercialisation, but also the potential value 
creation, we actively seek to participate earlier 
in the technology value chain. Our joint venture 
with UK based advanced engineering company 
Magna Parva (see also page 9) is testament  
to our intent. We have been awarded public 
funding to support this higher risk activity and 
we work collaboratively with other partners, 
from universities and SMEs to global suppliers, 
on new technologies.

THREE AREAS OF FOCUS 
We run a set of key account processes in which 
we engage with our customers to understand 
and address their needs. We have drawn on  
our customer understanding and our own 
research on the wider market trends to develop 
a technology roadmap with three broad areas 
of activity. The first, Pack of the Future, focuses 
on product innovation to meet our customers’ 
needs for differentiation. The second is Core 
Process, where we are looking to build on our 
foundation of lean enterprise with new 
technologies in advanced manufacturing to 
meet productivity requirements. Finally, Plant  
of the Future pulls together different technology 
building blocks into a range of next generation 
plant designs with highly sustainable operations 
to help our customers access new markets.

Can as launch pad

New
Cans provide a platform for new 
segments with a range of sizes to 
match on shelf price aspirations 
and consumption occasions as  
well as 360 degree visual impact 
through design and shape (see  
our award winning FUSIONTM 
aluminium bottle on page 7), to 
underpin premium brand values 
and high end routes to market.

Lightweighting

12oz
Our engineers use finite element 
analysis and CAD software to 
continuously lightweight our 
products towards the ultimate 
design. We are investing in  
new technologies to enable our 
lightweighting journey to continue. 

Customer partnerships

No 1
Our aim is to be the No 1 partner 
of choice for our customers in 
achieving their brand ambitions  
by provoking new thinking and 
scoping collaboration for  
shared success.

Strategy in action:
Innovation

Innovation contributes to our customers’  
growth and our own. We are geared to  
provide a variety of innovation platforms  
to help customers create greater value  
across their product offerings.
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Consumer demand for 
‘made for me’ packaging 
continues to grow and 
our Editions™ technology, 
where up to 24 different 
designs can be produced 
on a single pallet, has 
been developed further 
to provide customers 
with the perfect blend of 
variety and collectability.

Following last year’s successful launch in Brazil, 
our patent pending Editions™ technology has 
been rolled out globally during 2013 with a 
number of our customers as well as achieving 
industry recognition with a prestigious 
Embalagem Marca award in Brazil.

Interest continues to be high and our  
specialist teams are exploring new ways to 
adapt the innovation for our customers. The 
next generation of this print technology – 
Editions™ Super Premium – was launched  
in 2013 with South American beer brand 
Eisenbahn. This latest development expands 
the design window to allow variable printing 
of more complex photographic images and 
increases the level of customisation our 
customers can achieve with their brands.
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Our ‘I Care’ safety 
campaign in South 
America encourages 
employees to extend  
the concept of caring 
about themselves  
and their team to 
encompass caring  
about the communities  
in which they work.

HUMAN RIGHTS
As a company with operations in many 
countries across the globe, we understand  
and welcome the focus on the debate on the 
role of business and human rights.

We are committed fully to conducting our 
business in the right way. Our four core values 
(see page 14) and our Code of Conduct, which 
sets out clear standards of behaviour, underpin our 
social, ethical and environmental commitments and 
send a clear message to all of our stakeholders.

A respect for human rights is implicit in our 
employment practices across all our operations 
as well as in the high standards we expect from 
our suppliers (see page 35) wherever we source 
their products.

We are often important employers in the 
communities in which we operate, and we take 
into consideration their concerns, using our 
presence responsibly to contribute to the 
promotion of their wellbeing.
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Strategy in action:
People

MEASURING EMPLOyEE ENGAGEMENT
Engagement stems from motivated people 
understanding how their role and the work they 
do fit into and contribute to the delivery of our 
strategy. In September 2013, we carried out a 
global employee engagement survey – the third 
in four years – and more than 90% of employees 
responded. The survey measured levels of 
satisfaction, pride, advocacy and motivation 
and our overall employee engagement score was 
72% favourable. We are now close, in terms of 
engagement, to the very best organisations in 
our survey partner’s external benchmark. In the 
first survey, held in 2010, our score was 62%  
so we have made good progress. 

ENSURING HIGHER PERFORMANCE 
We have values and leadership practices which 
define how we should behave, how we perform 
and how we can act as one Company. The values 
and leadership practices are part of leaders’ 
performance objectives and help us to differentiate 
ourselves in the eyes of customers, shareholders 
and employees. We maintain a clear consistent 
approach to rewarding our people with base 
salaries linked to their role, contribution and 
performance. Global short term incentive plans 
aligned to business strategy and our shareholder 
interests are offered to the majority of our 
employees. Company and individual performance 
measures give the opportunity to reward 
exceptional performance. It is not just about 
reward, however: one of our values is recognition 
and as such we celebrate success in various ways.

LEARNING AND DEvELOPMENT
We are committed to helping our people 
achieve their full potential through training  
and development. Our internal appointment 
rate for senior leadership levels is 84% which 
demonstrates that we can offer careers rather 
than jobs. Development objectives are agreed 
during annual performance evaluations and  
our people are encouraged to learn proactively 
through our online resources and formal training 
sessions as well as on the job learning and 
mentoring. During 2013 we continued to invest 
in various training programmes with leading 
business schools, specialist consultancies and 
vocational training organisations to build our 
people’s skills and performance levels.

FIT FOR THE FUTURE
It is the sum of our engagement, performance 
and learning and development that ultimately 
determines whether we are fit for the future. 
Organisational effectiveness also plays an 
important role. Now, as a focused beverage  
can company, we are reviewing our structure 
and processes to ensure they reflect the new 
reality and longer term customer needs. 

Our business is conducted to deliver sustainable 
success through environmental management, 
upholding human and labour rights, ethical 
business practices and supply chain labour 
standards. (See page 34 for external 
accreditations.) Disabled people are given full 
consideration for employment and subsequent 
training (including, if needed, retraining for 
alternative work where employees have become 
disabled), career development and promotion 
on the basis of their aptitudes and abilities. We 
promote the importance of treating employees 
and suppliers in a non discriminatory way,  
and decisions regarding selection, terms of 
employment, advancement, retention and 
termination will be made without regard to  
race, religion, colour, national origin, age, sex, 
marital status, sexual orientation or physical  
or mental disability. We provide online legal 
compliance training to ensure familiarity with 
Rexam’s Code of Conduct so that those making 
decisions promote non discriminatory actions.

Building a winning organisation is a key element of our 
strategy. The talent, passion and commitment of our people are 
vital to the success of our business. Ensuring our people’s safety, 
wellbeing and development will help secure a sustainable 
future for our business, our customers and our shareholders. 

Percentage of females  
in senior positions

14.6%
We value both gender and other 
types of diversity. We provide equal 
opportunity for men and women  
in the Group and are aware there 
is more to do in encouraging  
and supporting gender diversity 
throughout the Group. At year end 
2013, the gender balance at board 
level was six males (75%) and two 
females (25%) (2012: 75%:25%). 
In senior management roles for 
continuing operations there were 
164 males, (85.4%) and 28 females 
(14.6%) (2012: 83.7% male and 
16.3% female). Throughout the 
Group, 88.6% of our workforce 
(7,014) is male and 11.4% female 
(905) (2012: 88.1% and 11.9% 
respectively). Such imbalance is 
typical of many manufacturing 
industries. See also page 53.

Understanding  
our contribution

84%
In the 2013 employee engagement 
survey, 84% of the respondents 
understood how their work 
contributed to the vision, goals  
or objectives of Rexam. Employee 
communication is a key responsibility 
for all managers, and employees 
are encouraged to participate and 
give their views on any aspect of 
the Group’s business including the 
annual and half year financial results 
and the economic factors affecting 
the Group’s performance. Rexam also 
has well established employee share 
schemes to promote share ownership.
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Strategy in action:
Emerging markets

ExPANDING FOOTPRINT
We have spoken for some time about the 
opportunities in emerging markets. In early 
2014 we saw our strategy to target profitable 
growth opportunities bear fruit with the acquisition 
of a controlling stake in United Arab Can (UAC), 
a Saudi Arabian company which makes both 
beverage cans and can ends. The beverage  
can market in the Middle East (including Iran 
and Iraq) is large (17 to 18bn cans) and recent 
market growth has been around 6%. This is 
forecast to continue in the medium term. We 
expect the venture to lead to further expansion 
in the region. Given our own size and global 
access to technical expertise, we see the potential 
for significant synergy opportunities. 

NEED FOR FLExIBILITy 
The demand for flexibility in can type is  
high in emerging markets. Our challenge lies  
in providing different pack types to enable  
our customers to access different consumer 
segments, categories and channels. They seek 
lower price products to access consumer segments 
with lower incomes to introduce them to the 
product and the brand. They also want lower 
volume manufacturing solutions to access markets 
where demand is growing fast but has not yet 
achieved the levels of developed markets.

ExPLORING OTHER OPPORTUNITIES
An increasing population and a growing 
economy, two important drivers of beverage 
can growth, saw beverage can consumption 
grow by 15% in Mexico and Central America  
in 2013. We are participating in this growth 
through our joint venture plant in Guatemala, 
which has doubled its volume since 2006. We 
have a plant in Queretaro, Mexico, where we 
have good growth in standard cans and 30% 
growth in specialty cans since 2010.

We continue to explore additional opportunities 
as we strengthen our relationships with customers 
throughout the region. 

AMEA share of world cans 

30%
The regions of Africa, the Middle 
East and Asia present considerable 
potential for us. These markets today 
account for some 75% of the world’s 
population and around one third of 
total global beverage can volumes.

Annual can consumption  
Mexico

90
Mexico’s can consumption per 
capita is around 90 cans per 
person per year while the average 
in Central America is still under 40.

India can consumption 

<1
Per capita beverage can 
consumption in India is still very 
low, less than one can per capita 
per year. We invested ahead of  
the demand curve in order to take 
advantage of the enormous growth 
potential and, today, we have a 50% 
share of a growing billion can market.

Emerging markets generally have higher  
GDP growth rates. Their growing middle class 
populations, the expansion of modern retail 
channels and improving infrastructure all help 
support our customers’ growth and offer some 
of the best opportunities for beverage can 
growth. They are set to play an important  
role in creating sustainable value for us. 
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Beyond pure 
manufacturing.

RIO-Fusion launched itself as India’s first  
fruit flavoured carbonated drink in 2013.  
The company chose to partner with Rexam  
as the brand shifted from glass bottle to the 
aluminium can. 

The 330ml SleekTM can was made at the 
Taloja plant which opened its new aluminium 
line in November 2012.

Rexam also worked closely with the RIO 
brand to establish effective filling facilities 
and ensure a smooth transition from bottles  
to cans.

Rahul Sangoi, director of sales and marketing 
at Silver Ice Beverages (parent company of 
RIO-Fusion Drinks), said: ”Rexam’s way of 
working goes beyond the pure manufacturing 
of cans. Their team approached us with a 
design proposal and worked closely with  
us to create a new look brand that is both 
youthful and full of energy. Rexam was also 
able to set us up with appropriate can filling 
facilities, making the transition to aluminium 
cans a smooth one.”

The switch to aluminium cans was supported 
by regional initiatives to promote the 
sustainability benefits of the can.

O
verview

Stra
teg

ic rep
o
rt

G
overn

a
n
ce

Fin
a
n
cia

l sta
tem

en
ts

Rexam Annual Report 2013 25



INFINITELy RECyCLABLE MATERIAL
Beverage cans are made entirely from metal, 
principally aluminium and some steel. Both 
materials are classed as ‘permanent’. That 
means the metal is both fully recoverable and 
recyclable as an infinitely reusable material. 
Making the can lighter and continuous 
improvement in manufacturing both make  
a valuable contribution to its sustainability. 
Independent life cycle studies, however, 
consistently confirm that promoting and 
supporting an increase in recycling rates is the 
most valuable contribution that beverage can 
producers can make to sustainability. As the  
life cycle of a drinks can may be as short as six 
weeks, it could be recycled eight times a year.

SUPPORTING A RECyCLING CULTURE
Many countries in which we operate have well 
established recycling infrastructures that function 
efficiently. No other packaging material has a 
stronger or more firmly established global recycling 
infrastructure than metal, largely due to the 
economic value of the materials. The materials 
are deemed so valuable that in developing 
countries thousands of people make a living from 
collecting and trading empty cans. For example, 
in Brazil, Egypt and India it is estimated that the 
recycling rate for cans is more than 90%.

We are proactive in supporting the can in a 
number of countries through industry initiatives 
such as ‘Every Can Counts’ in Europe, America 
Recycles in the US and ‘Metalmatters’ in the UK. 
We run our own programmes such as the Can 
Community Challenge and also fund billboards and 
trucks to promote more widely the recyclability 
of the can.

Strategy in action:
Sustainability

Energy saved 

95%
Recycling a can saves 95% of  
the energy required to make  
a can from virgin material.

Understanding  
our contribution

98%
Brazil has a recycling rate of 98%. 
The latest figures for Europe and 
North America, our two other  
main markets, are 71% and 67% 
respectively. In both cases, the 
recycling rates continue to improve.

Scrap collected 

200kt
The can making process generates 
scrap metal, all of which is collected, 
baled and recycled to the tune of 
200,000 tonnes a year.

We have an industry leading commitment to 
promote and support post consumer recycling 
systems. Many countries in which we operate 
have well established recycling infrastructures 
for beverage cans and achieve recycling rates 
above 90%. Those markets with recycling rates 
below the average require long term support to 
establish and enhance collection mechanisms 
and build a recycling culture with consumers.
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The ASI initiative is  
unique in that it brings 
together key players  
in the whole aluminium 
value chain to ensure  
that the industry works  
in a sustainability focused 
and transparent way.
Julia Marton-Lefèvre,  
IUCN Director General

The Aluminium Stewardship Initiative (ASI), 
launched at the end of 2012 by key players  
in the aluminium industry, is supported today  
by 14 major companies including Rexam.

These companies share a common goal:  
the development of principles and criteria  
for aluminium stewardship that would drive 
environmental, social and governance 
performance across the aluminium value chain.

The ASI’s aim is to devise a standard that  
can act as a tool for responsible sourcing of 
aluminium, as well as a material stewardship 
collaborative framework to improve the overall 
sustainability performance of the entire value 
chain of products containing aluminium.
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Risk management process

Effective management  
of risk is essential to  
the achievement of our 
business objectives and  
to the protection of our 
people, assets and 
reputation.

RISK OvERvIEW
We have continued to develop and improve our 
approach to business risk management during 
the course of 2013 in response to changes in the 
business and operating environment. We ensure 
that all key risks are fully defined and mitigating 
actions are in place to manage these risks. We 
maintain close working relationships between 
Group functions and business units to understand 
and address risks.

We strive to ensure that risk management is 
embedded into day to day business processes 
and operations such that it is effective at all levels 
of the organisation; this ensures that potential risks 
are identified at an early stage and mitigations 
are put in place to manage such risks. Through the 
risk management process and communication, 
there is a robust, periodic risk review involving all 
functions at Group level and individual business 
units. Awareness of risk and of the risk escalation 
process has increased among key employees, 
and we will continue to cultivate an appropriate 
risk awareness culture in our businesses.

Senior executive management formally review 
risks and mitigations for the Group and each of 
the business units biannually. The review focuses on 
identifying potential risks that could significantly 
impact the business and considers in detail the 
various impacts of the risks and the mitigations 
in place. The Audit and Risk Committee (see page 
55) continue to review the overall risk process  
of the business and validate the risk register, to 
ensure that the Committee remain effective in 
discharging its responsibility to the board. Three 
of the four business sectors, Europe, AMEA and 
North America, presented their risks and mitigation 
plans to the Audit and Risk Committee during the 
year. We also regularly assess the risks and monitor 
the key risk indicators in the light of changes and 
development around the Group’s operating and 
external environment, and this is reported to the 
board each month.

Risk assessment

Risk identification

Risk mitigation action & monitoring

Bi-annual ARC process review
(with senior management and Audit & Risk Committee)

Rexam risk management process

Suppliers, 
competitors 
& customers’ 
behaviour

Functions &  
business units 

review & 
monitoring

Macroeconomics  
& other external  

risk analysis

Strategic planning, 
forecasting & 

budgeting process

Audit assessments, 
external input & 
benchmarking

Functions & business units  
review & quantification

Risk capture and 
risk mitigation forms

Global functions & committees 
involvement & inputs

Risk leadership 
team
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Key activities during 2013
 
2013 was a challenging year with lower volume growth in a difficult trading 
environment in Europe and South America. The North American beverage 
can operations continued to experience strong growth as we recovered 
market share. The market, however, remained competitive with pressure 
from both competitors and customer activities. These risks were assessed 
and mitigating actions were put in place to address and respond to the 
risk events.

Our new risk management software system went live at the start of the year. 
All risk registers are maintained in the system to ensure improved reporting 
and easier analysis of risk information across Rexam businesses to support 
review and best practice sharing.

The 2013–2015 Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) roadmap was 
approved by the Audit and Risk Committee, covering developments to 
risk management around process and infrastructure, risk identification and 
management, risk communication, operational and commodity risks, this 
involved third party input and external benchmarking. Focus of the risk 
programme in 2013 has included the roll-out of risk based auditing, formal 
sharing of best practice across the business units, benchmark on world 
class safety and the roll-out of a commodity exposure system. 

During the year, the Group ERM team participated in the Commercial and 
Supply Chain functional meetings to review the common risk themes in 
these areas with the objective to achieve consistency in risk and mitigating 
actions. This will be rolled out to other Group functional teams in 2014.

2014 focus
 
The focus for Group ERM in 2014 includes the evaluation of cost and 
benefits tradeoffs of risk and mitigations, improving the risk management 
system to drive efficiency in risk reporting, and continue to focus on business 
continuity management to ensure resilience. Following the world class 
benchmarking on safety risks in 2013, we plan to embed a world class 
approach to our plants in 2014. A risk survey will be carried out to assess 
the risk management awareness within Rexam.

Our approach to business risk management will continue to evolve to meet 
the needs of our business and the changing environment that we operate 
in. The principles of risk management are well embedded and there is a 
wide and effective recognition of the need to identify and mitigate risks 
at all levels of the organisation.

In addition, Internal Audit is increasing its scope and remit to ensure the 
effectiveness of our risk mitigation plans and actions.

Rexam risk management tool – heat map matrix (Risks represented after mitigating actions)

2013 risk description

1 Continued economic slowdown

2 Financial impact from country  
based instability

3 Competitive environment trends

4 Cyber attack and data security

5 Aluminium and other input cost increases

6 Business interruption

7 Changes in packaging legislation and 
regulatory environment

8 Changes in consumer tastes, nutritional 
preferences, health related concerns  
and environment related concerns 

9 Counterparty default

10 Tax risks

11 Pension deficit

12 Fraud, bribery and internal control failure

13 Funding

14 Environmental, fire, health and safety

15 Insufficient talent and knowledge capital

1 2 3 4 5

Rare Unlikely Moderate Likely Almost certain

Probability

Risk
Impact

Major 
impact 5

Significant 
impact 4

Moderate 
impact 3

Minor 
impact 2

Insignificant 
impact 1
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Risk and description Key mitigation Assessment Trend

Continued economic slowdown
The risk of economic slow down and sluggish 
recovery in Rexam’s key markets and its impact 
upon demand for consumer packaging. This 
remains one of the key risks for the Group.

Rexam continues to manage capital investment closely and is 
focused on maximising utilisation of assets to ensure we align 
volume demand by our customers and our capacity.

We use scenario planning and modelling based on potential 
upside and downside risk analysis within our budgeting and 
forecasting processes to identify mitigating actions which would  
be implemented should this risk increase further. Continued cost 
improvement measures were implemented during 2013.

High

Financial impact from  
country based instability
The risk of political, socio-economic and  
legal uncertainties within a country or region 
that Rexam operates in and its impact on our 
performance. Our expansion in emerging 
markets means that this is a risk area to  
which we will continue to be exposed. 

Emerging market risks are assessed in detail by management 
when considering investment opportunities and in due diligence 
reviews prior to investment. We ensure that the Rexam Code of 
Conduct is communicated and adhered to and that financial 
policies and procedures are in place and regularly appraised.

This risk can manifest itself in several different ways: currency 
exposure, political and operational risks etc. These risks are 
regularly reviewed as part of the ongoing management of our 
business. We also take external advice on specific matters  
and use local external advisors. We will continue to carry  
out reviews of key risk areas both internally and with the  
support of external experts.

High

Competitive environment trends
The risk of adverse commercial impact on 
Rexam from customer and competitor activities. 
This risk can be driven by dependency on key 
customers, competitor activities and behaviours, 
price and volume pressure or contract negotiations. 

We have developed long term relationships with our customers 
where a strong interdependency and a sense of partnership have 
been built over the years. We continue to invest in our production 
capacity to strengthen those ties and our capabilities. We continue 
to focus on providing competitive performance as well  
as value adding service and innovation which are key parts of  
our strategic focus of strengthening our customer relationships.  
See also page 5.

High

Cyber attack and data security
Risks of a data security incident which could  
be driven by, for example, cyber attack, virus,  
data loss or technology failure.

Rexam’s IT security procedures and processes ensure that all 
servers and computers have up to date antivirus software. Backups 
are made regularly and we perform regular access control checks, 
system penetration and vulnerability tests along with disaster 
recovery tests. Also, in the case of a disaster or technology failure, 
clear responsibilities have been set between IT and business units  
to ensure operations can continue during the down time and this  
is regularly tested.

Rexam’s controls to counter cyber attack are checked and aligned 
with external best practice. Security improvements have been and 
will continue to be made to mobile devices and Cloud services.

High

Summary of principal risks  
and uncertainties
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Risk and description Key mitigation Assessment Trend

Aluminium and other  
input costs increase
Aluminium represents our most significant  
raw material cost. We also purchase steel  
for our European beverage can operation.  
High volatility and uncontrollable input costs 
may have a material impact on our results. 
Substantial rise in cost could adversely impact 
the demand of our packaging product as 
customers adjust their packaging mix and the 
materials they use.

In beverage cans, almost all of our aluminium ingot costs are 
charged to our customers on a pass through or back-to-back 
hedged pass through basis. For the remaining aluminium 
exposure, we hedge the aluminium cost and associated currency 
requirements. The pass through and hedge strategy only applies to 
LME costs, whilst the conversion cost to aluminium coil is covered 
by long term supply contracts.

Aluminium premium cost has remained stable through 2013 and 
we hedged a proportion of our premium exposure during the year. 
With new LME rules coming into effect in April 2014, premiums 
were expected to gradually decline as metal queues at warehouses 
reduced. New market developments, however, have led to further 
spikes in premiums, the full year impact of which remains unclear 
for 2014.

We purchase aluminium and steel from a small number of regional 
and global suppliers with whom we have long term relationships 
and contracts. We continue to identify new aluminium supply 
sources in some geographies.

Medium

Business interruption
Every business faces the potential risk of its 
operations being impacted by disruption due  
to loss of supply, industrial disputes, failure with 
technology, unplanned outages and physical 
damage as a result of fire or other such event.

Rexam has established protocols and procedures across the 
Group such that plans are in place to ensure business continuity in 
our operations in the case of business interruption. We continue to 
further enhance the principles of business continuity management 
and ensure that there is clarity on responsibilities between Group 
functions and business units in the event of disaster. We continue  
to roll out business continuity workshops to business units.

Strong relationships with customers and suppliers enable us to 
make arrangements on alternative sources of supply or production 
for critical product lines if required. Rexam also has insurance in 
place to cover losses associated with business interruption for a 
stipulated period as a result of property damage or supply failure. 
We review our insurance programme on an ongoing basis to 
ensure there continues to be appropriate level of coverage.

Medium

Changes in packaging legislation  
and regulatory environment
The risk of changing legislation impacting the 
markets in which Rexam operates. Packaging 
will continue to be a focus for government 
legislators working within the sustainability 
agenda. Changes in packaging legislation and 
regulation affecting producer responsibility for 
recycling, recycled content, carbon footprint 
and landfill taxation represent an increasing 
trend risk. 

Rexam continually monitors changes or proposed changes in  
laws or regulations that may affect our business. This is done 
through established and effective membership of relevant trade 
associations, by direct collaboration with governmental and 
non-governmental organisations and through our own efforts 
which include our legislative risk monitoring tool. This ensures  
the best possible chance of shaping a constructive outcome  
which is not detrimental to Rexam or its stakeholders.

Rexam also focuses on investment in new innovation  
and technology programmes to ensure continuous  
improvements and enhancements in our packaging  
products and manufacturing processes.

Medium

Changes in consumer tastes, nutritional 
preferences, health related concerns 
and environment related concerns
The risk of changing consumer trends resulting  
in a shift in demand away from beverage cans 
or from our customers’ products for which Rexam 
manufactures packaging. Drivers of this risk can 
include lifestyle and taste change, nutrition and 
health considerations or environmental concerns.

We continue to monitor market and consumer trends as well as 
political developments through our own and external business 
intelligence services and through our involvement in national  
and international packaging and environmental associations  
in the countries and regions where we operate. Medium
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Risk and description Key mitigation Assessment Trend

Counterparty default
Risk of counterparty failure including, for 
example, bank, insurer, customer or supplier, 
resulting in financial exposure for Rexam.  
The continued challenging macro-economic 
environment in certain regions or countries  
in which Rexam operates requires focus  
in this area.

A range of financial counterparties are used and strict limits on our 
exposure are applied to each of them. These limits are determined by 
a range of qualitative and quantitative measures that are embedded 
into our treasury procedures and systems such that any breaches are 
automatically reported, independently reviewed and approved. 
The limits are automatically updated by factors such as credit 
rating change and also reviewed regularly for any qualitative 
changes. During the year, enhancement to the treasury system for 
further defining bank counterparty limits by geography has been 
implemented to increase effectiveness of Rexam’s limits methodology. 
The risk of insurer failure is monitored by our insurance broker and 
reported to Rexam immediately if an issue arises. Customer credit 
limits are imposed and their credit risk, as well as suppliers’, is 
reviewed and monitored. In addition, we have implemented 
procedures across the business to manage working capital  
tightly, including customers’ overdue debts reporting.

Medium

Tax risks
In an increasingly complex international tax 
environment, some uncertainties are inevitable 
in estimating our tax liabilities.

We seek to plan and manage our tax affairs efficiently, in the 
jurisdictions in which we operate. Tax planning will complement 
and be based around the needs of our operating businesses. 
Using internal tax experts and external tax advisors where 
required, we exercise our judgement in assessing the required 
level of provision for tax risk and allocate resources appropriately 
to protect our position. 

Medium

Pension deficit
Risk relates to cash contributions, charges to the 
income statement and balance sheet volatility.

Rexam’s retirement benefit risk management is overseen by  
the Retirement Benefits Committee (RBC) which is chaired by the 
finance director. The RBC reviews all proposed new undertakings 
and improvements to retirement benefits. Managing pension 
deficit volatility on the balance sheet and general de-risking of 
funded plans, which includes equity, interest rate and inflation 
risks, are undertaken by pension plan fiduciaries in consultation 
with the RBC. Cash contributions are paid to the respective  
plans to ensure that there are adequate assets to meet the  
plans’ obligations. 

Medium

Fraud, bribery and  
internal control failure
The risk of an internal control failure such as a 
Rexam employee committing fraud or bribery 
due to lack of integrity or awareness could  
result in both financial loss and reputational 
damage to the business. 

The Rexam Code of Conduct provides a framework for all of our 
policies at Group, sector and individual businesses. During the 
year, improvements on compliance training were implemented to 
ensure and increase employees’ awareness of their responsibilities. 
A Group control framework, setting out key financial controls to be 
applied across the Group, is in place to ensure consistency and 
further enhance the control environment. Rexam’s Raise Your 
Concern hotline also allows employees to raise any concerns 
regarding behaviour that does not conform to Rexam policies. 

Medium

Summary of principal risks  
and uncertainties  
continued
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Risk and description Key mitigation Assessment Trend

Funding and other financial risks
Risks related to the cost and availability of  
funds to meet our business needs, movements  
in interest rates, foreign currency exchange 
rates as well as commodity prices.

Rexam’s financial risk management is based upon sound economic 
objectives and good corporate practice. Rexam negotiates funding 
requirements in a timely manner ensuring appropriate headroom 
is secured to mitigate the risk of lack of availability. Derivative and 
other financial instruments are used to manage exposures under 
conditions agreed by the board. During the year, a new commodity 
exposure system has been implemented across the Group to enhance 
the review of exposure and enable better management of risk in 
this area. Further details of our financial risks and the way in which 
we mitigate them are set out in note 25 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

Medium

Environmental, fire, health and safety
The risk of a significant environmental 
contamination, fire or health and safety issue at 
one of our locations which can have an impact 
on the safety of our employees, or on our 
financial situation or our reputation. 

We continue to carry out regular environment, health and safety 
(EHS) audits in cooperation with internal and external specialists 
to drive best practice. The audit approach was developed to 
provide the basis for delivering a more sustainable and robust 
improvement of EHS management systems and performance at  
all sites and strive for continuous improvement in our key health 
and safety KPI measures.

In addition, we continue with our fire safety and property 
protection audit supported and performed by an independent 
provider. We continued to have capital investment in fire safety 
and property protection during the year. In 2013, we invested 
£5m in 15 plants. 

Medium

Insufficient talent and  
knowledge capital
Risk of insufficient talent and high quality 
knowledge capital could potentially result in 
performance declines due to lack of bench 
strengths, for example, we are unable to  
place best candidates in key positions.

As part of our continued strategic focus on building a winning 
organisation, we continue to invest in active talent management, 
succession planning and the development needs of our employees. 
We also carry out an employee survey across the Group every  
18 months and review the outcome of the survey to address  
areas that require improvement. See also page 23.

Low
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Products 
 

Operations 
 

People

12 commitments 20 measures

1

Sustainability 
Key performance indicators

We have an established 
sustainability framework 
which encompasses the 
lifecycle of our products, 
our operations and our 
employees as well as the 
communities in which we 
do business. 

This framework helps to 
guide our business and is 
an assurance for our 
customers as they seek to 
reduce the environmental 
impacts of the products 
they market and to ensure 
an ethical supply chain.
In 2010, Rexam completed a business wide 
process to assess the key material issues that 
would increasingly impact business performance 
and influence decisions within our organisation. 
The assessment identified the following strategic 
issues; policymaker pressure, resource usage, 
product and process innovation, recycling, 
employee engagement and corporate citizenship. 
These formed the basis for Rexam’s 12 sustainability 
commitments and 20 measures.

We established an ambitious three year plan 
with 20 key targets. With the announced sale of 
Healthcare, all sustainability measures have been 
restated to reflect our beverage can business. 
Sixteen of the targets were met and we made 
very good progress on the remaining four. 

In 2014 we will undertake a new materiality 
study using independent consultants. The study 
will take in a broad range of internal and external 
stakeholders. The result will help us validate our 
sustainability framework with updated measures 
and targets.

External accreditation
Rexam continues to be a member of the London 
Stock Exchange FTSE4Good index (an international 
responsibility performance benchmark), the Carbon 
Disclosure Project and Sedex, the Supplier Ethical 
Data Exchange. 

In 2013, we received ‘gold’ (top award) rating  
by Ecovadis, a comprehensive system used by 
several of Rexam’s largest customers to monitor  
the sustainability performance of suppliers.

Also last year, Rexam joined the Dow Jones 
Sustainability Index. Launched in 1999, the  
Dow Jones Sustainability Indices were the first 
global sustainability benchmark. The indices 
serve as benchmarks for investors who integrate 
sustainability considerations into their portfolio 
management, and provide an effective 
engagement platform for companies who  
want to adopt sustainable best practices.

2015 target201220102009 2011

98% 98%98% 98%98%

75% 75%75%

68%
71%70%

67%

57%
65%58%

75%

We will promote and support recycling systems for our products

Beverage cans are made entirely from metal; 
most of them are made from aluminium but 
some are made from steel. Independent lifecyle 
studies confirm that actively increasing 
recycling rates is the most valuable contribution 
to product sustainability, far more than industry 
efforts to lightweight or improving plant  
energy efficiency.

The graph below exemplifies how recycling 
rates are increasing or have been maintained 
in recent years across our four sectors (data 
covers most recent year published). See page 
26 for more information on Rexam’s support for 
and participation in recycling initiatives.

Key: — Brazil — Europe

 — Turkey — US

We have 12 specific commitments and 20 measures. These enable us to monitor and report on our 
progress in our three main areas of focus: products, operations and people. Our range of targets 
and stretching goals ensure we improve continuously. In 2013 we achieved 16 out of 20 targets, an 
analysis of which is outlined in the following pages.

OUR SUSTAINABILITy FRAMEWORK
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57

80
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Target2012 20132011

8.0

n/a

7.07.1

Target2012 20132011

2.902.91

2.61

2.87

Target2012 20132011

0.810.83

0.75
0.79

Target2012 20132011

6.84

n/a n/a

➔
➔

➔
➔

➔

We will engage with our customers and the supply chain to minimise the 
environmental impact of packaging and packaged goods 

Supplier Carbon Disclosure Project 
(CDP) compliance 
(% of key suppliers responding)
Our 83% response rate places Rexam among 
the top 15 of all CDP members.

Having achieved the 80% target we set 
ourselves for 2015, Rexam is now reviewing 
future measures. 

Customer satisfaction survey 
(referral rating out of 10 )
People responsible for sustainability at our key 
customers raised their satisfaction score which 
is in line with the improvement in customers’ 
overall satisfaction score of 8.0 out of a 
maximum of 10.0.

We will improve our carbon efficiency and reduce the water and energy we use 

Energy intensity 
(MWh/tonne production)
Rexam missed its ambitious target of a  
10% reduction over three years due to 
increased production of specialty cans.

Carbon intensity 
(kg carbon/kg production)
Rexam achieved a 6% reduction over three 
years but missed its ambitious target of 10%. 
This reduction of 6% has saved 44,000 tonnes  
of CO2e per year.

Water efficiency 
(m3/tonne production)
Rexam is reporting its water consumption  
for the first time, in line with our commitment. 
Our target is to reduce consumption intensity 
over time.

We will work with policy makers to 
ensure packaging makes a positive 
contribution to sustainability

Legislation risk register

100%
of risks had robust mitigation plans in place

Rexam is actively contributing to major policy 
discussions in Europe (Packaging & Packaging 
Waste Directive), in US (soda taxes) and on 
Bisphenol A which we maintain is a safe 
packaging choice for beverages, as confirmed 
by EU, US, Canadian and Japanese authorities. 

We will meet long term environmental 
and regulatory trends with innovative 
new products

Innovation

7
Group technology projects progressing on time

Rexam targets at least five projects to support 
the three inhouse streams of innovation: Pack 
of the Future; Core processes and Plant of  
the Future. 
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Target2012 20132011

100
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100
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2012 20132011

12,139

9,876

n/a

12,345

Sustainability 
Key performance indicators

We will improve our material efficiency 
 

Conversion efficiency 
(tonne of raw material per tonne  
of production)
We continue to make small improvements 
thanks to the ongoing application of  
six sigma and lean enterprise tools.

Lightweighting 
(mT)
We continue to roll out our lightweight  
can end which, combined with many other 
downgauging and lightweighting programmes, 
achieved 5,600 tonnes of aluminium savings.

We will reduce our waste to landfill 
 

Waste to landfill 
(mT)
We are reporting for the first time our waste  
to landfill and have set ourselves the target  
of a 20% reduction over three years using 
2012 as a baseline.

We will make sure our people work in a safe and healthy environment 
 

Health & Safety 
(Lost Time Accident Rate)
Our goal of a 10% Group reduction was  
not achieved despite the strong commitment  
to achieve zero accidents across the business. 
LTAR increased in one sector which offset the 
achievement of the 10% reduction in the other 
three sectors. 

Employee wellness programmes 
(% particpating sites)
100% of our sites offer some sort of wellness 
programme (eg subsidised gym, health checks, 
healthy eating possibilities and advice).

We will improve the environmental 
performance of our sites 

Environmental Management Systems 
(EMS)

100%
ISO 14001 certification (or equivalent) 
achieved in 100% of manufacturing sites

All of our sites have robust EMS in place and 
we encourage verification where appropriate. 
 

Uncontrolled emissions

0
Rexam had zero significant uncontrolled or 
abnormal releases in 2013

Rexam has not had a significant uncontrolled 
or abnormal release in a beverage can plant 
since 2007.

36 Rexam Annual Report 2013



SOURCES
Associação Brasileira dos Fabricantes de Latas de Alta 

Reciclabilidade, Association of European Producers of Steel for 
Packaging, Beverage Can Makers Europe, Can Manufacturers 

Institute, Consumer Goods Forum, DEFRA, European  
Aluminium Association and Metal Packaging Europe.
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Target2012 20132010

63

53

61 61

We will ensure our actions and interactions are guided by fairness, respect, 
integrity and honesty 

Code of Conduct training  
(% training completed)
Our online training system is operated to ensure 
all appropriate employees are aware of their 
responsibilities and are in compliance with our 
worldwide Code of Conduct policy. See page 59 
for more information on Code of Conduct (CoC).

Whistle blower 
(% responses within 5 days)
Rexam seeks to respond to at least 85%  
of concerns raised through our Raise Your 
Concern (RYC) helpline within five working 
days. See page 59 for more information  
on RYC. 

We will encourage all teams to  
be constructive members of  
our local communities

Community engagement 
(% of sites participating)
All of our sectors contribute to positive impact 
in local communities. Rexam’s total charitable 
donations (including cash and in kind 
donations) during 2013 were £856,029 
(2012: £767,000).

We will continue to build a winning organisation 
 

Employee engagement 
(%)
Our most recent survey (conducted about every 
18 months) shows a clear picture of how we 
are progressing with more than 9 out of 10 
employees responding. See page 23 for  
more information.

Values & Leadership practices 
(%)
The continuous improvement of this score  
from our employees (survey conducted about 
every 18 months) shows that Rexam is 
committed to promoting strong business 
integrity from our business leaders.

GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS 
Rexam total greenhouse gas emissions were 
686,024 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 
(CO2e), see table below.

This includes material emissions from natural gas 
and electricity used to convert metal sheet into  
cans but not emissions from other minor sources 
such as propane and diesel for forklift trucks.

Rexam greenhouse gas emissions  
(tonnes CO2e)

GHG emissions by
Scope Tonnes CO2e

Gas combustion Scope 1 211,555
Electricity Scope 2 474,469

Rexam reports its carbon intensity as a business 
KPI (see page 17).

(1) Emissions are calculated using the 
Greenhouse Gas Protocol Corporate 
Standard and UK government guidelines  
for conversion of grid electricity based on 
DEFRA guidelines and conversion factors. 

(2) The data reported here is verified internally.
(3) We report our emissions data using an 

operational control approach to define our 
organisational boundary which meets the 
definitional requirements of the regulations  
in respect of those emissions for which we 
are responsible.
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We achieved our 15% ROCE target, despite 
a challenging growth environment. We 
generated £180m of continuing free cash 
flow after investing 1.3 times depreciation 
in attractive opportunities to support the 
long term growth of the business. Going 
forward, we remain focused on costs and 
efficiencies, and will maintain strict capital 
discipline to balance growth and returns.
This financial review of our results is principally based on what we term the 
underlying business performance, as shown in the tables below. This excludes 
exceptional items, the amortisation of certain acquired intangible assets 
and fair value changes on certain operating and financing derivatives 
(together ‘exceptional and other items’). We feel that the underlying figures 
aid comparison and understanding of the Group’s financial performance.

The Healthcare business was identified for disposal in 2013 and reclassified 
to discontinued operations. Discontinued operations in 2013 comprise the 
Healthcare business and in 2012 also include the Personal Care business 
which was sold in that year. Further details of the trading results of these 
businesses, together with the background and accounting impact of the 
disposal of Healthcare, are set out in ‘Discontinued operations’ below.

2013

Continuing 
operations 

£m

Discontinued 
operations 

(Healthcare) 
£m

Total 
operations 

£m

Underlying business performance1:

Total sales 3,943 448 4,391

Underlying operating profit 449 64 513

Share of associates and  
joint ventures profit after tax 9 – 9

Underlying total  
net finance cost2 (86) (2) (88)

Underlying profit before tax 372 62 434

Underlying profit after tax 279 42 321

Exceptional and other items 
after tax (26) (200) (226)

Profit/(loss) for the year 253 (158) 95

Underlying earnings  
per share (p) 35.3 40.6

Basic earnings per share (p) 32.0 12.0

Interim dividend  
per share (p) 5.7

Proposed3 final  
dividend per share (p) 11.7

Financial review

David Robbie 
Finance director
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2012 
restated for the reclassification 
of Healthcare to discontinued 
operations and the adoption  
of IAS19 (Revised)

Continuing 
operations 

£m

Discontinued 
operations 

(Healthcare 
and Personal 

Care) 
£m

Total 
operations 

£m

Underlying business performance1:

Total sales 3,885 875 4,760

Underlying operating profit 448 81 529

Share of associates and joint 
ventures profit after tax 9 – 9

Underlying total net  
finance cost2 (99) (2) (101)

Underlying profit before tax 358 79 437

Underlying profit after tax 271 47 318

Exceptional and other items 
after tax (29) (83) (112)

Profit/(loss) for the year 242 (36) 206

Underlying earnings  
per share (p) 31.2 36.6

Basic earnings per share (p) 27.8 23.7

Interim dividend  
per share (p) 5.0

Final dividend per share (p) 10.2

1 Underlying business performance is the primary performance measure used by 
management who believe that the exclusion of exceptional and other items aids 
comparison of underlying performance of continuing operations. Exceptional 
items include the restructuring and integration of businesses, significant changes  
to retirement benefit obligations, gains or losses on the disposal of businesses, 
goodwill impairments, major asset impairments and disposals and significant 
litigation and tax claims. Other items comprise the amortisation of certain acquired 
intangible assets (customer contracts and relationships and technology and patents) 
and fair value changes on certain operating and financing derivatives.

2 Underlying total net finance cost for total operations of £88m (2012 restated: £101m) 
comprises net interest of £72m (2012: £82m) and retirement benefit obligations 
net interest cost of £16m (2012 restated: £19m).

3 Subject to approval at the AGM 2014 and payable on 3 June 2014.

SUMMARy OF THE STATUTORy PERFORMANCE

2013 
£m

2012 
restated 

£m

Continuing operations:

Sales 3,943 3,885

Profit before tax 339 319

Profit after tax 253 242

Discontinued operations – loss for the year: (158) (36)

Profit for the year attributable to Rexam PLC 95 206

Basic earnings per share (p) 12.0 23.7

Results on a statutory basis include disposed businesses, currency translation, 
exceptional and other items and discontinued operations. The exceptional 
and other items and the results of discontinued operations are described in 
more detail on pages 41 to 42. For continuing operations, sales were £3,943m 
(2012 restated: £3,885m) and profit before tax including exceptional  
and other items was £339m (2012 restated: £319m). Total profit after tax, 
including the results of discontinued operations, was £95m (2012 restated: 
£206m) and basic earnings per share was 12.0p (2012 restated: 23.7p).

RECONCILIATION OF UNDERLyING  
TO STATUTORy PERFORMANCE

Operating 
profit 

£m

Profit 
before tax 

£m

Underlying 449 372

Exceptional items (6) (6)

Amortisation of certain acquired intangibles (2) (2)

Fair value changes on certain operating 
derivatives (24) (24)

Fair value changes on financing derivatives – (1)

Statutory 417 339

The following tables, showing sales and underlying operating profit, compare 
the continuing operations on a consistent basis to demonstrate ‘like for like’ 
trading performance. This basis excludes discontinued operations. Organic 
change is the year on year change arising on continuing operations at 
constant exchange rates. 

ANALySIS OF SALES MOvEMENT

Total 
£m

Total sales reported 2012 4,760

Personal Care classified as discontinued operations in 2012 (448)

Healthcare classified as discontinued operations in 2013 (427)

Continuing operations 2012 reported in 2013 3,885

Currency fluctuations 78

Continuing operations 2012 pro forma basis 3,963

Organic change in Beverage Cans sales (20)

Sales reported 2013 3,943

Organic sales, which exclude the impact of discontinued operations and 
currency, decreased by £20m. This was driven mainly by the negative pass 
through of lower aluminium costs (£63m). Excluding this and the 2012 sales 
from our divested Chinese beverage can business, sales were £50m higher 
than prior year reflecting overall volume growth of 1%. Volumes improved 
significantly in North America due to the recovery of contracted standard 
can volumes. In Western Europe volumes were 1% ahead of last year driven 
by growth in the Nordic region. In Russia volumes were below last year, 
reflecting softening market demand and some expected loss of market share. 
Volumes in South America improved in the second half as specialty can 
volumes increased with additional capacity coming online.
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ANALySIS OF UNDERLyING OPERATING PROFIT MOvEMENT

Total 
£m

Total underlying operating profit reported 2012 537

Restatement for the adoption of IAS19 (Revised) (8)

Total underlying operating profit 2012 restated  
for IAS19 (Revised) 529

Personal Care classified as discontinued operations in 2012 (33)

Healthcare classified as discontinued operations in 2013 (48)

Continuing operations 2012 reported in 2013 448

Currency fluctuations 8

Continuing operations 2012 pro forma basis 456

Organic change in Beverage Cans underlying  
operating profit (7)

Underlying operating profit reported 2013 449

A further analysis of the organic change in Beverage Cans underlying 
operating profit is set out below.

Total 
£m

Sales price and cost changes (37)

Volume and mix changes 9

Efficiency and other savings 21

Organic change in underlying operating profit (7)

Underlying operating profit, after adjusting for the impact of discontinued 
operations, disposals and currency, decreased by £7m or 1%. Sales price 
and cost changes were adverse in aggregate, predominantly from higher 
aluminium premium and conversion costs, partly offset by cost mitigation 
plans. Volume growth in North America due to share recovery in standard 
cans was offset by the negative mix impact of weaker volumes in Russia. 
Efficiency savings totalled £21m and comprised predominantly metal 
savings and energy cost reductions. 

ExCHANGE RATES
The main exchange rates used to translate the consolidated income statement 
and balance sheet are set out below: 

2013 2012

Average:

Euro 1.18 1.23

US dollar 1.56 1.59

Russian rouble 49.87 49.24

Closing:

Euro 1.20 1.23

US dollar 1.65 1.62

Russian rouble 54.48 49.27

Analysis of currency in the consolidated income statement
The principal currencies that impact our results are the US dollar, the euro and 
the Russian rouble. The euro and the US dollar strengthened against sterling 
in the year while the Russian rouble weakened. The net effect of currency 
translation caused sales and underlying operating profit from ongoing 
operations to increase by £78m and £8m respectively compared with 
2012 as shown below. 

Sales 
£m

Underlying 
operating 

profit 
£m

US dollar 42 5

Russian rouble (4) (1)

Euro 37 5

Other currencies 3 (1)

78 8

If we retranslated the 2013 underlying operating profit at closing exchange 
rates, it would be c £25m lower. 

In addition to the translation exposure, the Group is also exposed to 
movements in exchange rates on certain of its transactions. These are 
principally movements in the US dollar/euro and the US dollar and euro/
Russian rouble on the European operations and the US dollar/Brazilian 
real on the South American beverage can operations. These exposures are 
largely hedged and therefore did not significantly impact underlying profit. 

The current political situation in Egypt has led to the devaluation of the 
Egyptian Pound (EGP) by circa 10% against the US dollar since the beginning 
of 2013, although the foreign exchange rate stabilised during the second half. 
This resulted in a £2m foreign currency transaction loss in the year. The 
exposure arises as it is not currently possible to hedge our EGP sales receipts.

Analysis of currency on the consolidated balance sheet
Most of the Group’s borrowings and net assets are denominated in US 
dollars and euros. Currency movements had no impact on net borrowings 
and reduced net equity by £38m. 

UNDERLyING TOTAL NET FINANCE COST

2013 
£m

2012 
restated 

£m

Net interest (70) (80)

Retirement benefit obligations net interest cost (16) (19)

Underlying total net finance cost (86) (99)

The underlying total net finance cost for continuing operations was £13m 
lower than 2012. The £10m reduction in net interest is primarily due to lower 
interest rates. The change in retirement benefits net interest cost is explained 
in ‘Retirement benefits’ below. The overall average interest rate for the year was 
around 5%, down from 6% in 2012. Based on underlying operating profit 
from continuing operations, interest cover was 6.4 times (2012 restated: 
5.6 times). Interest cover is based on underlying operating profit from 
continuing operations and underlying net interest expense excluding 
charges in respect of retirement benefit obligations.

Financial review
continued
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TAx 
The tax charge on profit before exceptional and other items for the year on 
total operations was £113m (26%) (2012: £119m, 27%). 

The tax charge applicable to underlying profit from continuing operations 
before exceptional and other items is £93m (25%) (2012 restated: £87m, 24%) 
which is at a lower rate than total operations as the Healthcare operations 
included in discontinued operations are generally in more highly taxed 
territories. We anticipate the sustainable rate on continuing operations 
going forward will be around 26%, reflecting the mix of territories in which we 
operate, offset in part by the availability of tax incentives in some jurisdictions. 
The charge in 2013 has benefited from credits arising from the recognition 
of additional deferred tax assets, though at a lower level than similar items 
in last year’s charge. 

Tax cash payments in the year for continuing operations were £70m compared 
with £60m last year with an additional £7m (2012 restated: £34m) being 
borne by discontinued operations. Cash taxes can vary from the charge in 
the income statement for a number of reasons, including the utilisation of 
deferred tax assets such as tax losses, local laws governing the timing of 
certain tax deductions, and payments of taxes sometimes falling outside  
of the year to which they relate. We anticipate cash tax to continue to be 
lower than the charge to the income statement for the foreseeable future.

ExCEPTIONAL AND OTHER ITEMS
The exceptional and other items arising in 2013 in respect of total operations 
were as follows:

Continuing  
operations 

£m

Discontinued  
operations 

£m

Total 
operations 

£m

Exceptional and other items included in operating profit:

Impairment of Healthcare – (233) (233)

Restructuring of businesses (6) (1) (7)

Amortisation of certain 
acquired intangible assets (2) (8) (10)

Fair value changes on 
certain operating 
derivatives (24) – (24)

Total exceptional and 
other items included  
in operating profit (32) (242) (274)

Fair value changes on 
financing derivatives (1) – (1)

Total exceptional and 
other items before tax (33) (242) (275)

Tax on exceptional  
and other items 7 34 41

Disposal of business – 
Personal Care (net of tax) – 8 8

Exceptional and  
other items after tax (26) (200) (226)

Disposal of businesses and goodwill impairment
The gain of £8m relates to the completion of the disposal of Personal Care. 
The impairment of Healthcare of £233m, recorded in the second half,  
is described in ‘Discontinued operations’ below.

Restructuring of businesses 
The restructuring charge of £6m includes £4m related to asset impairments, 
including the restructuring of IM post the Healthcare disposal.

OTHER ITEMS

Amortisation of certain acquired intangible assets
Intangible assets, such as technology patents and customer contracts, are 
required to be recognised on the acquisition of businesses and amortised 
over their useful life. The board consider that separate disclosure, within 
exceptional and other items, of the amortisation of such acquired intangibles 
relating to total operations amounting to £10m (2012: £21m) aids comparison 
of organic change in underlying profit. 

Operating derivatives fair value changes 
Fair value changes on operating derivatives relate to changes in the value 
of commodity hedges for the forward purchase of aluminium and the fair 
value movements on non hedge accounted forward exchange contracts. 
Accounting rules require that the effectiveness of our commodity hedges is 
tested at each reporting date. Where a hedge is deemed to be effective 
the fair value change is recorded in the relevant hedge reserve and where 
it is ineffective or there is over hedging, the relevant proportion of the fair 
value is charged or credited to the consolidated income statement. 

Effectiveness on our aluminium forward deals is calculated by comparing 
the value of the forward deals to the value of our underlying hedged item; 
for Rexam this is principally aluminium coil. Current accounting rules require 
that the ingot conversion cost and metal premium of our aluminium coil is 
included when calculating the effectiveness of our underlying hedged item, 
despite the fact that we only hedge the underlying LME portion of the 
aluminium coils. Revised accounting standards are being drafted which will 
address this particular anomaly but they are not currently expected to be 
implemented before 2017. 

In 2013, the effect of the movement in conversion costs against the movement 
in the aluminium price resulted in aluminium hedges failing the effectiveness 
test. Once a hedge has failed an effectiveness test, accounting standards do 
not allow for it to be retrospectively re-designated and therefore fair value 
movements continue to be recorded in the income statement. The decrease in 
aluminium prices on these failed aluminium hedges has given rise to a charge 
of £23m (2012: gain of £11m). There was also a charge of £1m (2012: charge 
of £4m) relating to fair value changes on certain non hedged accounted 
foreign exchange contracts.

This accounting treatment can give rise to income statement volatility up to the 
date the hedge matures and management believe that it is more appropriate 
to exclude any such movements from underlying profit. As the hedge matures, 
at which point the cost will be substantially passed onto our customers, any 
realised gain or loss on the hedge is reversed in full from fair value changes 
on operating derivatives and recognised within underlying profit.

Fair value changes on financing derivatives
The fair value of the derivatives arising on financing activities directly relates 
to changes in interest rates and foreign exchange rates. The fair value will 
change as the transactions to which they relate mature, as new derivatives 
are transacted and due to the passage of time. The fair value change on 
financing derivatives for the year was a net loss of £1m (2012: net loss £20m). 
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DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS –  
HEALTHCARE AND PERSONAL CARE 
During the year the Group decided to market the Healthcare business for 
disposal. The business was therefore reclassified as a discontinued operation 
and consequently its results are disclosed separately from those of the 
continuing operations. The 2012 comparisons also include Personal Care 
which was sold in that year.

Healthcare  
2013 

£m

Healthcare 
and Personal 

Care 
2012 

£m

Sales:

Healthcare 448 427

Personal Care – 448

Total 448 875

Underlying operating profit:

Healthcare 64 48

Personal Care – 33

Total 64 81

Underlying profit before tax 62 79

Underlying profit after tax 42 47

Exceptional and other items: 

Impairment (233) (181)

Amortisation of certain acquired 
intangible assets (8) (20)

Restructuring and other items (1) (19)

Tax on exceptional and other items 34 12

Exceptional and other items after tax (208) (208)

Profit on disposal:

Personal Care (net of tax) 8 125

Loss for the year after tax (158) (36)

Healthcare underlying operating profit in 2013 benefited from the cessation 
of depreciation since June 2013 when the business was classified as an asset 
held for sale. The remaining improvement in underlying operating profit 
resulted from sales growth in insulin pens and prescription containers, 
partly offset by a weaker performance in Primary Packaging.

The decision to market the Healthcare business for disposal required its 
carrying value to be subject to an impairment review. This review gave  
rise to an impairment charge before tax of £233m. 

EARNINGS PER SHARE

2013
2012  

restated

Underlying earnings per share: 

Continuing operations (pence) 35.3 31.2

Total operations (pence) 40.6 36.6

Basic earnings per share total operations 
(pence) 12.0 23.7

Average number of shares in issue (millions) 791.3 869.9

Year end number of shares in issue (millions) 792.0 878.4

Underlying earnings per share from continuing operations was 13% higher 
at 35.3p compared with 31.2p in 2012. Basic earnings per share from 
total operations, which includes exceptional and other items, was 12.0p 
(2012 restated: 23.7p).

RETIREMENT BENEFITS 
Retirement benefit obligations (net of tax) as at 31 December 2013 were £288m, 
a decrease of £67m compared with £355m reported at 31 December 2012. 
This change was principally due to cash contributions and actuarial gains 
arising from higher discount rates. These actuarial gains are included in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

The retirement benefit obligations net interest cost is analysed as follows:

2013 
£m

2012 
£m

Defined benefit plans1 12 9

Retiree medical – interest on liabilities1 4 5

16 14

Restatement for IAS19 (Revised) – 5

Retirement benefit obligations net interest cost 16 19

1 As previously reported in 2012.

The accounting standard, IAS19 (Revised) ‘Employee benefits’, was adopted 
by the Group from 1 January 2013 and the comparative figures have been 
restated accordingly. 

The overall retirement benefit obligations net interest cost, which is a non 
cash accounting charge, reduced to £16m from £19m in 2012, due mainly 
to a reduction in the discount rates and a lower net deficit at 31 December 
2012 compared to 31 December 2011. 

The total cash payments in respect of retirement benefits are as follows:

2013 
£m

2012 
£m

Defined benefit pension plans 46 51

Other pension plans 7 9

Retiree medical 9 10

Total cash payments 62 70

As part of the 31 March 2011 UK valuation, Rexam PLC and the trustees to the 
UK defined benefit plan agreed a six year escrow investment with contributions 
of £10m in 2012 and £15m for each of the following five years. At each 
subsequent valuation date, the assets in escrow will either be allocated to 
the plan, to Rexam PLC or remain in escrow subject to the funding position 
of the plan. As at 31 December 2013 £25m had been paid into the escrow 
investment account.

Based on current actuarial projections, it is expected that total cash payments 
in 2014 will be broadly in line with 2013.

Financial review
continued
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CASH FLOW
Total free cash flow for the year from continuing operations resulted in  
an inflow of £180m compared with £207m for 2012. This lower inflow 
primarily reflects an outflow in working capital, partly offset by lower 
capital expenditure. Net cash flow was £37m (2012: £474m), including 
free cash flow from discontinued businesses and is after paying dividends. 
The return of cash to shareholders (£393m) resulting from the sale of 
Personal Care is reported separately. 

2013 
£m

2012  
restated  

£m

Continuing operations:

Underlying operating profit 449 448

Depreciation and amortisation1 143 134

Retirement benefit obligations (32) (36)

Change in working capital (49) (7)

Restructuring costs (6) (6)

Other movements 1 16

Cash generated 506 549

Capital expenditure (net) (186) (215)

Net interest and tax paid (140) (132)

Loan from joint venture – 5

Free cash flow from continuing operations 180 207

Free cash flow from discontinued operations 5 (14)

Free cash flow 185 193

Equity dividends (125) (128)

Business cash flow 60 65

Disposals2 (23) 409

Cash flow including borrowings disposed 37 474

Return of cash to shareholders (393) –

Other share capital changes (17) 4

Pension escrow investment (25) –

Exchange differences – 77

Other non cash movements 8 (24)

Net borrowings at the beginning of the year (781) (1,312)

Net borrowings at the end of the year (1,171) (781)

1 Excludes amortisation of certain acquired intangibles amounting to £2m  
(2012 restated: £1m).

2 Disposal proceeds include £nil in respect of borrowings disposed (2012: £14m).

CAPITAL ExPENDITURE – CONTINUING OPERATIONS

2013
2012  

restated

Capital expenditure (gross)1 (£m) 187 216

Depreciation and amortisation2 (£m) 143 134

Ratio (times) 1.3 1.6

1 Capital expenditure is on a cash basis and includes computer software that has 
been capitalised.

2 Amortisation excludes £2m amortised on patents, customer contracts and 
intangibles other than computer software (2012 restated: £1m).

Gross capital expenditure by continuing operations was £187m, around 
1.3 times depreciation and amortisation, of which approximately 60%  
was attributable to strategic and growth projects. The principal projects in 
Beverage Cans were to support market growth in Europe, India and South 
America, lightweighting projects in North America and the development  
of specialty can products globally. 

It is expected that capital expenditure from continuing operations in 2014 
will be around £200m, 1.3 times depreciation and amortisation.

BALANCE SHEET AND BORROWINGS

As at  
31.12.13  

£m

As at  
31.12.12  

£m

Goodwill and other intangible assets 1,266 1,813

Property, plant and equipment 1,257 1,459

Retirement benefits (net of tax) (288) (355)

Net assets classified as held for sale 533 3

Other net assets 272 148

3,040 3,068

Total equity 1,869 2,287

Net borrowings1 1,171 781

3,040 3,068

Restated for the adoption of IAS19 (Revised):

Return on capital employed2 (%) 15.5 14.5

Net borrowings/EBITDA3 (times) 1.8 1.2

Interest cover4 (times) 6.4 5.6

Gearing5 (%) 63 34

1 Net borrowings comprise borrowings, cash and cash equivalents, financing 
derivatives and in 2012 the pension escrow investment. 

2 Underlying operating profit plus share of associates and joint ventures profit  
after tax from total operations divided by the average of opening and closing 
shareholders’ equity after adding back retirement benefit obligations (net of tax) 
and net borrowings. 

3 Based on net borrowings divided by underlying operating profit plus depreciation 
and amortisation, excluding amortisation of certain acquired intangible assets, 
from total operations (2012: continuing operations and Healthcare).

4 Based on underlying operating profit of continuing operations divided by 
underlying total net interest expense from continuing operations.

5 Based on net borrowings divided by total equity.

The level of net borrowings at 31 December 2013, increased by £390m 
compared with the previous year, primarily reflecting £393m returned  
to shareholders.
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Net borrowings, which include interest accruals and certain financing 
derivatives, are set out below:

As at  
31.12.13  

£m

As at  
31.12.12  

£m

Borrowings 1,480 2,212

Cash and cash equivalents (211) (1,307)

Pension escrow investment – (10)

Financing derivatives (98) (114)

Net borrowings 1,171 781

Our 2013 net borrowings/EBITDA based on total operations was 1.8 times; 
consistent with 2012 if the £393m return of capital, following the sale of 
Personal Care, is taken into account. Interest cover is over 6 times and  
we remain comfortably within our debt covenants. Our liquidity is  
strong with committed debt facilities of £2.1bn at the year end.

The Group’s current principal committed loan and bank facilities are 
detailed below:

Currency Maturity
Facility 

£m

Subordinated bond US$ and euro 2067 621

US private placement US$ 2024 106

US private placement US$ 2022 330

US private placement Euro 2022 21

Revolving credit facility Multi currency 2018 602

Bilateral credit facilities Multi currency 2018 205

Bilateral credit facility Multi currency 2016 10

Bilateral credit facility Sterling 2014 250

Total committed loan and bank facilities 2,145

For the management of foreign currency asset matching and interest rate 
risk, the profile of gross borrowings is approximately 68% (2012: 64%)  
in US dollars and 32% (2012: 36%) in euros.

Derivative financial instruments comprise instruments relating to net 
borrowings (cross currency, interest rate swaps and forward foreign 
exchange contracts) and those related to other business transactions 
(forward commodity contracts and forward foreign exchange contracts). 
Total derivative financial instruments are set out below:

As at  
31.12.13  

£m

As at  
31.12.12  

£m

Cross currency swaps 105 117

Interest rate swaps (8) (3)

Forward foreign exchange contracts 1 –

Derivative financial instruments  
included in net borrowings 98 114

Other derivative financial instruments (37) (16)

Total derivative financial instruments 61 98

The decrease in the value of cross currency swaps can be mainly attributed to 
fair value losses resulting from an increase in the longer term forward interest 
rates, which were partially offset by gains resulting from the weakening of 
the US dollar against sterling. The reduction in the value of interest rate swaps 
is attributable to interest rate swaps in asset positions maturing in the year. 
The decrease in the value of other derivatives was due mainly to the decrease 
in aluminium prices combined with the weakening of the US dollar against 
the euro.

Our Strategic report 2013, from page 
2 to page 44 has been reviewed and 
approved by the board of directors.

On behalf of the board

Graham Chipchase 
Chief executive

20 February 2014
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Governance
Chairman’s Letter

In my statement on page 2, I said  
that one of my key responsibilities as 
chairman of the Company is to promote 
good governance, which is critical in 
ensuring that we remain a successful  
and sustainable company.
The board sets the tone for the Company by the way in which it conducts itself, 
its definition of success and its attitude to the assessment of appropriate risk 
and ethical matters. The board believes that good corporate governance is 
compliance with codes of practice together with a strong sense of value and 
desire to do what is right for employees, shareholders and all other stakeholders.

A key strength of our board lies in its diversity, across a range of measures, 
including skills, experience, gender and nationality and this diversity has been 
further reinforced by the appointment during the year of Ros Rivaz as a non 
executive director. Ros’ experience in technology, sustainability and IT systems, 
and her expertise in driving efficiencies in manufacturing processes and 
procurement will be of real value to Rexam.

During the year, the board spent time reviewing the Company’s longer 
term strategy and direction and approved the divestment of the Company’s 
Healthcare business as discussed in the Strategic report. The divestment of 
this business will allow the Company to focus on being the best beverage can 
maker in the world, which the board is committed to achieve through its 
business model (see page 12). The board also continued its programme of 
visiting its overseas businesses and travelled to Egypt and Turkey to meet with 
local management and deepen the non executive directors’ understanding of 
the day to day functioning of the beverage can business. We also continued 
to actively engage with our shareholders to explain our business model and 
strategy, and the steps we are taking to deliver value to our shareholders 
and other stakeholders.

I am pleased to be able to report that we made good progress against the 
number of actions agreed following the 2012 board evaluation. Our 2013 
externally facilitated board evaluation by Dr Tracy Long of Boardroom Review 
provided much positive and constructive feedback and we were able to 
identify focus areas to ensure that the board continues to operate in an open 
and transparent way and constructively challenges and supports the executive 
team. The board evaluation process and outcomes are more fully described 
on pages 51 and 52.

The board delegates certain responsibilities to its committees to assist  
it in carrying out its functions. During 2013 our remuneration committee 
commissioned a strategic review of the Company’s remuneration arrangements 
to evaluate the remuneration policy in anticipation of shareholders being asked 
to approve it at the annual general meeting (AGM) 2014. Our audit and risk 
committee has considered the Group’s significant financial and business 
matters during the year; the completion of the sale of the Personal Care 
business and the subsequent return of cash and share consolidation earlier in 
2013; and the financial and accounting impact of the sale of our Healthcare 
business. Our nomination committee has considered talent and succession with 
regard to the board and senior management, and agreed an action plan as 
to how diversity within senior management will be developed and delivered.

Integrity and trust are more important than ever in today’s business world 
and I would like to give you my commitment that during 2014 the board will 
continue to provide leadership to the business as a whole and build upon the 
high standards of good governance that have been implemented to date.

 
Stuart Chambers 
Chairman

 
 

CORPORATE GOvERnAnCE REPORT And dIRECTORs’ REPORT
This corporate governance report and other statutory disclosures set out on 
pages 45 to 82 make up the directors’ report.

UK CORPORATE GOvERnAnCE COdE COMPLIAnCE
This corporate governance report has been prepared in accordance with 
the UK Corporate Governance Code published September 2012 (the Code). 
The Code issued by the Financial Reporting Council (FRC) can be viewed 
on the www.frc.org.uk website. This report, together with the remuneration 
report, describes how we have applied the main principles of the Code.

It is the board’s view that throughout the year 1 January 2013 to 
31 December 2013 the Company has complied with the Code.

stuart Chambers 
Chairman
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The board

non executive director 

Jean-Pierre Rodier (66)
Appointed 7 June 2006 
and will retire from the 
board at the conclusion of 
the AGM on 2 May 2014.

Committees
Remuneration (chairman), 
audit and risk, nomination.

skills and business 
experience
Significant international 
business experience and 
an extensive knowledge  
of the packaging and 
aluminium industries. 
Previous appointments 
include chairman and chief 
executive of Pechiney until its 
merger with Alcan in 2003, 
chief executive of Union 
Minière and chairman  
and chief executive of 
MetalEurop France.

Other directorships
Supervisory board 
chairman of HIME SAS 
and advisor to Corporate 
Value Associates.

Executive director 

Graham Chipchase (51) 
Chief executive
Appointed 1 January 2010 
as chief executive. Joined the 
board as finance director 
on 10 February 2003 and 
was Group director plastic 
packaging from 2005.

skills and business 
experience
Comprehensive financial  
and operational knowledge, 
proven leadership skills and 
a detailed understanding 
of Rexam’s businesses  
and markets. Previous 
appointments include 
finance director of GKN plc’s 
aerospace services business 
and various positions 
within the European and 
US subsidiaries of BOC 
Group plc. Operational 
experience as Group 
director of Rexam’s plastic 
packaging business.

Other directorships
Non executive director  
of AstraZeneca PLC.

senior independent 
director

Johanna Waterous 
CBE (56)
Appointed 4 May 2012 as 
a non executive director and 
senior independent director.

Committees
Audit and risk, nomination, 
remuneration.

skills and business 
experience
A leading expert in retail 
and customer relationship 
management with wide 
knowledge of the global 
retail world. Johanna was 
awarded a CBE in 2013 for 
her services to supporting 
business growth. A former 
director of McKinsey, the 
global management 
consulting firm.

Other directorships
Non executive director of 
RSA Insurance Group plc, 
Wm Morrison Supermarkets 
PLC and Shoppers Drug 
Mart Corporation, chairman 
of Sandpiper CI Limited, 
and a director of the  
RBG Kew Foundation.

non executive director 

Leo Oosterveer (54)
Appointed 1 September 
2011.

Committees
Nomination.

skills and business 
experience
Strong operational leader 
with global management 
experience and a track 
record in marketing, sales 
and strategy development 
gained both in Europe and 
Asia. Currently leads the 
global food service division 
of Unilever PLC. From 2002 
to 2006 he was chairman/
chief executive of Unilever 
in Thailand and Indochina.

Company secretary

david Gibson (51)
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Board experience

Manufacturing

100%
Consumer

63%
Finance

38%
Marketing

38%
Board diversity

International

Women on  
the board

25%
Board balance

Executive

25%
non executive

75%
Board tenure

0–1 year

12%
2–4 years

38%
5–8 years

38%
9–12 years

12%

Executive director 

david Robbie (50)
Finance director
Appointed 3 October 
2005.

skills and business 
experience
Strong financial, accounting, 
strategic and corporate 
finance experience and 
skills. Previous appointments 
include chief financial officer 
of Royal P&O Nedlloyd NV 
and finance director of 
CMG plc.

Other directorships
Trustee of Aldeburgh Music 
and the St John’s Smith 
Square Charitable Trust. 
Previously a non executive 
director of the BBC.

Chairman 

stuart Chambers (57)
Appointed 1 February 
2012 as a non executive 
director and chairman  
on 23 February 2012.

Committees
Nomination (chairman).

skills and business 
experience
Extensive breadth of business 
experience, including 
experience of global 
business to business markets. 
Previous appointments 
include group chief 
executive of NSG Group, 
the Tokyo based global 
glass company, until 2009, 
and chief executive of 
Pilkington PLC until its 
acquisition by NSG Group 
in 2006. Also held senior 
positions at Mars Inc and  
a variety of European roles 
at Royal Dutch Shell plc. 

Other directorships
Chairman designate of  
ARM Holdings plc and a 
non executive director of  
Tesco PLC.

non executive director 

John Langston (64)
Appointed 30 October 
2008. Acting senior 
independent director from 
24 November 2011 to 
3 May 2012.

Committees
Audit and risk (chairman), 
nomination, remuneration.

skills and business 
experience
A chartered accountant with 
international, commercial 
and corporate finance 
experience. Previous 
appointments include a 
director of TI Group plc 
prior to its acquisition  
by Smiths Group and 
operational roles on the 
board of Smiths Group plc, 
and as finance director from 
2006 until his retirement  
in May 2010.

Other directorships
Non executive director  
of Inchcape plc.

non executive director 

Ros Rivaz (58) 
Appointed 12 June 2013.

Committees
Nomination, remuneration.

skills and business 
experience 
Experience in technology, 
sustainability and IT systems, 
and expertise in driving 
efficiencies in manufacturing 
processes and procurement 
in global organisations. 
Currently chief technology 
officer for Smith & Nephew 
plc. Previous appointments 
include senior management 
positions in ExxonMobil, ICI, 
Tate & Lyle and Diageo.

Other directorships
A member of the Council  
of the University of 
Southampton.

Figures above as at the date  
of this report.
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HOW THE BOARd OPERATEs
The board brings leadership to the Group. It does this through the development, 
monitoring and review of the Group’s strategy, guided by the executive 
directors to whom the board delegates the operational management of  
the business. It ensures that risks are effectively managed through robust 
policies and procedures, supported by the right values and culture. The 
board’s primary focus is the sustainable long term success of the Group to 
deliver value for shareholders, taking into account other stakeholders. The 
board does not routinely involve itself in day to day business decisions but 
there is a formal schedule of matters that require the board’s specific approval, 
as well as those which can be delegated to committees of the board or senior 
management. The board retains responsibility for all such delegated matters. 

The fundamental matters reserved to the board are:

•	board appointments and removals 

•	the Group’s strategy

•	acquisition and disposal of businesses 

•	material financial decisions relating to equity, marketable securities, 
borrowing facilities, guarantees or indemnities and changes in 
accounting policies or practice 

•	all capital expenditure projects over £20m or any capital expenditure 
project which, regardless of the amount, does not meet the Group’s 
financial criteria

•	significant contract approvals 

•	changes to the Group’s management and control structures 

•	matters relating to the Company’s share listing 

•	the appointment and removal of principal advisors and external auditors.

The board considers all matters in an open and transparent environment 
whereby all directors have unrestricted access to information and management. 
The board works as a team but independence of thought and approach as 
well as constructive debate are encouraged. This collective vision of the 
Company’s purpose, its values, culture and the behaviours the board 
promotes, forms the foundation of strong corporate governance.

BOARd MEMBERsHIP And MEETInGs 2013

Attendance1 

Stuart Chambers (chairman) 7/7

Graham Chipchase 7/7

John Langston 7/7

Leo Oosterveer 7/7

Ros Rivaz2 5/5

David Robbie 7/7

Jean-Pierre Rodier 7/7

Johanna Waterous 7/7

David Gibson (company secretary) 7/7

1 Number of scheduled meetings attended/maximum number of meetings that the 
director could have attended.

2 Appointed to the board on 12 June 2013.

CHAIRMAn And CHIEF ExECUTIvE 
The roles of the chairman and chief executive are separate with each having 
clearly defined responsibilities. Nonetheless, they maintain a close working 
relationship to ensure the integrity of the board’s decision making process 
and the successful delivery of the Group’s strategy. 

Stuart Chambers is the chairman of the Company. The chairman creates and 
manages a constructive dialogue between the executive and non executive 
directors. He works with the company secretary to ensure that appropriate 
matters are discussed during board meetings.

Graham Chipchase is the chief executive of the Company. He has responsibility 
for leading the executive directors and the senior executive team in the day 
to day management and ensures effective implementation of board decisions. 
The key responsibilities of both the chairman and the chief executive are 
more fully described on page 49.

The written job specifications for the roles of chairman and chief executive 
are approved by the nomination committee.

nOn ExECUTIvE dIRECTORs 
At the date of this annual report, Rexam has a non executive chairman and 
five other non executive directors, including a senior independent director, 
all of whom are considered to be independent. Their collective role is to 
understand the business and its markets, consider proposals on strategy and 
constructively challenge management. The non executive directors hold or 
have held senior positions in industry and commerce, and contribute a wide 
range of international experience and objective perspective to the board. 
Through the board committees, the non executive directors bring focus and 
independence on governance and succession planning, internal controls, 
risk management and remuneration policies. 

Johanna Waterous is the senior independent director and, if required, will 
deputise for the chairman. She is available to talk to shareholders if they 
have any issues or concerns or if there are any unresolved matters that 
shareholders believe should be brought to her attention. 

The chairman schedules meetings with the non executive directors in 
addition to the planned board and committee meetings to discuss, on  
a less formal basis, the Group’s performance, governance, strategy and 
board succession plans. The executive directors are not in attendance at 
these meetings.

Non executive directors serve the Company under contracts for services 
which are generally for an initial three year term. On appointment, an 
undertaking is requested confirming that the non executive director has 
sufficient time to fulfil his or her role on the board and any new directorships 
are subject to approval and notification to the board.

Leadership
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Remuneration committee
Key objectives: to determine the 
policy on executive remuneration, 
the remuneration arrangements 
for the directors and senior 
management and policy for the 
Group’s annual and long term 
incentives. For further details  
see pages 62 to 79.

shareholders

The chairman – key responsibilities 

•	leads the board

•	promotes a culture of openness, challenge and debate

•	monitors progress towards the timely and effective implementation and 
achievement of the objectives, policies and strategies set by the board

•	ensures that the board has the appropriate balance of skills, experience 
and diversity, and gives consideration to succession planning

•	reviews the effectiveness of the board

•	ensures compliance with Group policies concerning the conduct  
of the business

•	provides guidance to the executive directors and senior management

•	safeguards the interests of shareholders.

The board – key responsibilities

•	overall direction of the Group’s strategy and the long term success of the Group’s business. For the board’s discussions during 2013 see page 50.

Audit and risk committee
Key objectives: to monitor the 
integrity and the effectiveness of 
the Group’s financial and business 
reporting, the performance of  
the internal and external audit 
functions, internal control policies 
and the Group’s procedures for 
identification, assessment and 
reporting of risk. For further 
details see pages 54 to 59.

nomination committee
Key objectives: to ensure the 
board is effective and comprises 
individuals with a diverse balance 
of skills, knowledge and experience, 
and to develop succession plans 
for the refreshment of the board. 
For further details see pages  
52 and 53. 

Chief executive –  
key responsibilities 
•	enhances long term 

shareholder value

•	develops and manages the Group 
and its trading performance 
within the authorities delegated 
by the board

•	develops and delivers the 
Group’s strategic plan as 
agreed by the board

•	ensures the timely and effective 
implementation of the objectives, 
policies and strategies set by 
the board

•	leads executive management 
and ensures that management 
has the appropriate balance of 
skills and experience

•	oversees the Group’s 
performance in safety, health 
and environmental matters

•	is the primary interface  
with shareholders

•	promotes high standards of 
ethical business conduct.

Executive leadership team (ELT) 

The ELT comprises 10 members  
being the Group’s most senior  
business and functional executives.

Key objectives: to focus on the 
implementation of the Group’s 
strategy, financial structure  
and planning, organisational 
development and policies and  
to review the Group’s financial  
and competitive performance.

GOvERnAnCE FRAMEWORK
The Company operates through the board and its main board committees, namely the audit and risk, the nomination and the remuneration committees. 
The board evaluates the membership of its individual board committees on an annual basis and aims to ensure that the committees have a different non 
executive director as their chairman. The board committees are governed by terms of reference which detail the matters delegated to each committee  
and for which they have authority to make decisions. The terms of reference for the board committees can be found on the Rexam website. 

Graham Chipchase
Chief executive

david Gibson
Legal

Oliver Graham
Marketing

Rich Grimley
Beverage Can North 
America

Marc Hämel
Healthcare

Craig Jones
Beverage Can Africa,  
Middle East & Asia 

Carlos Medeiros
Beverage Can South 
America

Iain Percival
Beverage Can Europe

david Robbie
Finance director

nikki Rolfe
Human resources
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Leadership
continued

Board discussions 2013 – to achieve our strategic priorities

strategy
•	discussed the strategy for each business sector with a focus on emerging markets 
•	discussed and approved the marketing of the Healthcare business for sale to 

support the strategic focus on beverage cans
•	discussed and agreed to acquire a controlling interest in beverage can maker 

United Arab Can Manufacturing Limited
•	approved the capital expenditure for new beverage can lines in Chile and India, 

and line conversions in Brazil, Egypt and Turkey
•	approved the build of a new beverage can plant in Switzerland to meet the 

growth demands of a key customer
•	held a board strategy day to consider the focus of a beverage can business  

of the future
•	considered research, development  

and innovation in relation to the  
strategic agenda to create and  
maximise value.

Risk and governance
•	considered the reports on matters discussed at audit and risk committee meetings 

•	reviewed the legal compliance arrangements, Code of Conduct and anti bribery 
and corruption policies presented by the Group and business sectors

•	discussed the Group risk management process, risk tracking and mitigation

•	reviewed the Group and business procedures and controls. 

External environment
•	considered reports on the 

benchmarking of aluminium  
for supply and costs

•	assessed the key issues affecting  
the business and the industry trends

•	discussed the developing 
macroeconomic environment  
in regions of operation.

People, culture and values
•	held board meeting with the Beverage Can Africa, Middle East & Asia 

leadership team and visited the plants in Izmir and Cairo

•	reviewed key management hires as part of organisation restructuring

•	reviewed health and safety arrangements to ensure the safety of our 
employees and customers

•	approved the appointment of a new independent non executive director 

•	assessed the outcomes and action points from the 2013 employee 
engagement survey 

•	considered reports on matters discussed at nomination committee and 
remuneration committee meetings

•	focused on the effectiveness of the board following an externally facilitated 
boardroom evaluation.

stakeholder engagement
•	engaged with private shareholders at the AGM

•	considered annual investor audit and feedback 

•	reviewed Rexam’s sustainability arrangements and programmes  
(incorporating all aspects of corporate social responsibility) 

•	engaged with institutional shareholders and investor bodies 

•	received reports on meetings with customers and suppliers.

Budget and performance
•	approved the Group’s budget for  

2014 and the strategic plan  
to 2016

•	discussed plans to return cash to 
shareholders following completion  
of the sale of the pharmaceutical 
devices and prescription retail 
packaging divisions of the 
Healthcare business

•	maintained oversight of the  
financial position of the Group  
and its performance against budget, 
forecast and market expectations

•	approved the Group’s full year and 
half year results and dividend policy

•	reviewed the performance  
of business segments

•	reviewed the Group’s long term  
debt refinancing proposals. 

delivering
our strategy

Achieve best 
performance

Build a 
winning

organisation

Customer
expectations

drive operational 
excellence

Invest  
for value

Ensure  
our future
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Our board members bring important 
skills and experience to our organisation 
and this complements the skills of our 
executive team.

HOW Is THE BOARd EFFECTIvE?
The board acts in the best interests of the Company, making well informed 
and high quality decisions within a framework of prudent risk management. 
Matters are discussed cohesively by the board as a whole, with challenge 
and debate encouraged, and no one individual has unrestricted power of 
decision making. 

The composition of the board and its committees facilitates the effective 
discharge of its duties and responsibilities. Rexam has a board of directors 
with international business backgrounds and a range of diverse skills, 
experience and nationalities. Their diversity and knowledge are invaluable 
in challenging and developing the Group’s strategy and enable the board 
to govern the global business effectively. 

Throughout 2013 and up to the date of this annual report the Company 
had a majority of independent non executive directors on the board. 

The board is aware of the other commitments of the directors and considers 
that these commitments do not conflict with their duties as directors of the 
Company. Stuart Chambers’ recent appointment as chairman designate of 
ARM Holdings plc was reported to the board. He confirmed that no conflict 
arose from that role and that the appointment will have no adverse impact 
on his time commitment to Rexam. A biography of each member of the board, 
including details of their business experience and other directorships, is given 
on pages 46 and 47. 

BOARd PERFORMAnCE EvALUATIOn 
The directors recognise that the evaluation process is an important annual 
opportunity to review the practices and performance of the board and its 
committees, and implement actions to improve the board’s focus, effectiveness 
and ability to contribute to the Company’s success. In 2013, Dr Tracy Long 
of Boardroom Review Limited was engaged to conduct an independently 
facilitated review of the board and its committees. Dr Long does not have any 
other connection with the Group. The chairman and company secretary 
agreed the scope of the review with Dr Long to include one to one interviews 
with each board member and with the company secretary and the Group 
director, human resources, to obtain open and constructive feedback.

Our board evaluation process

Interviews, board attendance, review of papers

Analysis of strengths and challenges, recommendations

discussion document

Individual feedback meetings

Collective board discussion

The review explored three key aspects of board effectiveness: the board 
environment (culture, dynamics, composition and tenure of directors), the work 
of the board (strategy and operations, risk and control, and performance 
management), and the use of time and process (planning and allocation). 
Dr Long noted that all directors believe that the board has an open and 
transparent culture which encourages high quality debate and a sophisticated 
level of enquiry. The review highlighted a number of strengths and the 
board shared the view that the board and its committees continue to 
operate effectively. 

A number of challenges and opportunities were identified and the board 
agreed to focus on the following areas during 2014:

Challenges 2014 actions following 2013 evaluation

Strategic  
objectives 

To continue to refine the strategic review process 
and promote discussion on non financial drivers  
to evaluate strategy.

Talent management 
and succession 
planning 

To focus on the connection between strategic 
objectives and executive succession planning, 
including the chief executive’s plans for the 
development of executive and senior management 
diversity; and allowing time for interaction and 
debate between the board and senior management. 

Board and 
committee 
development

To continue to structure the board and its committees  
in a way that encourages the board to work 
together as a unit, facilitates good cross referencing  
between committees, and develops individual 
knowledge and involvement.

Customers  
and suppliers

To develop a more comprehensive understanding  
of the longer term impact of changing customer  
and competitor dynamics.

Effectiveness

stuart Chambers 
nomination committee chairman
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The board made progress during 2013 against the areas for development 
identified in the 2012 internal evaluation. In particular:

Areas for 
development 2013 progress following 2012 evaluation 

Strategic planning The directors considered the 2013 strategic  
review process engaging, with high quality  
pre reading material and board presentations,  
and a combination of formal and informal  
debate facilitated by the chairman. 

Risk management Board briefings and presentations on supply  
chain risk related topical issues, such as aluminium 
procurement, enabled the board to consider and 
discuss in more depth. 

Non financial 
monitoring

The balanced scorecard has been further integrated  
into the Group’s processes and measures and is 
reported periodically to the board. 

Talent management 
and succession 
planning 

Continued progress to be made in engagement 
around executive leadership development and 
succession planning. A non executive director with 
expertise in technology, manufacturing processes 
and procurement was recruited during the year. 

Board development Board meetings facilitate an even contribution  
from executive and non executive directors, the  
non executive directors drawing on their areas  
of expertise, in an environment which is both 
challenging and constructive. 

Customers  
and suppliers

Customer and supplier presentations made to the 
board during the year with further progress required  
on the longer term strategic impact of changing 
customer and competitor dynamics.

A full performance evaluation of the board and its committees will continue 
to be conducted annually.

dEvELOPMEnT, InFORMATIOn And sUPPORT
Formal board meetings are held during the year and the chairman and the 
company secretary ensure that, prior to each meeting, the directors receive 
accurate, clear and timely information which helps them to discharge their 
duties. In the months with no scheduled board meeting, the directors receive 
the prior month and cumulative financial and operating information relating 
to the Group and its businesses. The directors receive their board papers 
through an electronic portal and are able to reference and mark the 
electronic papers in the board meeting. 

All newly appointed directors participate in an internal induction 
programme that introduces the director to the Group and includes visiting 
Group businesses. This programme is tailored to each director’s needs, 
taking into account individual qualifications and experience. If required, 
an overview of the role and responsibilities of a director can be facilitated 
by an external consultant. The company secretary gives guidance on 
board procedures and corporate governance. 

Ros Rivaz joined the board as a non executive director in June 2013.  
Ros met with functional and operational management for an overview  
of the corporate and business aspects of the Group, and visited the 
beverage can operations in Milton Keynes, UK, Chicago, US and Cairo, 
Egypt. She also met with the Group’s external auditors, legal advisors of 
the Company’s brokers and capital markets advisors. Governance and 
board related matters were discussed with the company secretary.

The chairman is responsible for, and reviews and agrees with each director 
their training and development needs. Members of the committees receive 
specific updates on matters that are relevant to their role. The chairman 
arranges for the board to visit at least one of the Group’s business locations 
each year to ensure that the directors’ knowledge of and familiarity with 
the businesses are updated and maintained.

During 2013, the board visited the beverage can plants in Izmir, Turkey 
and Cairo, Egypt where they met with local management and toured the 
manufacturing facilities.

Members of the senior management team with responsibility for the 
Group’s businesses and those with corporate and service centre functional 
responsibilities make periodic presentations at board meetings about their 
businesses, functions, performance, suppliers, customers, markets and strategy.

The company secretary, who is appointed by the board, is responsible for 
ensuring compliance with board procedures. This includes taking minutes 
of the board meetings and recording any concerns relating to the running 
of the Company or proposed actions arising therefrom that are expressed 
by a director in a board meeting. The company secretary is also secretary 
to the audit and risk, nomination and remuneration committees. 

Under the direction of the chairman, the company secretary is responsible for 
the communication of relevant information between the board, its committees 
and the senior management team. He also advises the board, through the 
chairman, on all governance and regulatory compliance matters. 

Should a director reasonably request independent professional advice to 
carry out their duties, such advice is made available at the Company’s expense. 

nOMInATIOn COMMITTEE MEMBERsHIP And MEETInGs 2013
The board has approved the terms of reference delegating certain 
responsibilities to the committee. The terms of reference are reviewed 
annually and are available on the Company’s website.

The nomination committee is chaired by the chairman of the board. The 
other members of the committee during 2013 were all independent non 
executive directors.

Committee membership Attendance¹

Stuart Chambers (committee chairman) 2/2

John Langston 2/2

Leo Oosterveer 2/2

Ros Rivaz2 1/1

Jean-Pierre Rodier 2/2

Johanna Waterous 2/2

1 Number of scheduled meetings attended/maximum number of meetings that the 
director could have attended.

2 Appointed to the committee on 12 June 2013.

THE ROLE OF THE nOMInATIOn COMMITTEE
The appointment and replacement of directors is governed by the Company’s 
articles of association, which may only be amended with shareholders’ 
approval in accordance with relevant legislation. Recommendations for 
appointments to the board are the responsibility of the nomination 
committee which acts in accordance with its terms of reference and the 
articles of association.

All board appointments are conducted through a formal, rigorous and 
transparent procedure involving the nomination committee and the board. 
The performance and effectiveness of the nomination committee are reviewed 
as part of the main performance evaluation of the board and all its committees. 

The main responsibilities of the nomination committee are to:

•	review the structure, size and composition of the board (including the 
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity, including gender diversity);

•	give full consideration to succession planning and ensure that processes 
and planning are in place with regard to both the board and senior 
executive appointments; 

•	identify and consider candidates on merit against objective criteria and 
make recommendations to the board on appointments to the board and 
board committees, and on the appointment of the company secretary;

Effectiveness
continued
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•	assess the time needed to fulfil the roles of chairman, senior independent 
director and non executive director; 

•	keep up to date on strategic issues and commercial changes affecting the 
Company and its markets; and

•	assist the chairman with the annual board performance evaluation 
process to assess the overall performance and effectiveness of the board 
and each board committee, and the individual performance of directors.

nOMInATIOn COMMITTEE AREAs OF FOCUs 2013
During 2013 the nomination committee carried out its duties by focusing on 
its key activities and ensuring the long term effectiveness of the board. 

Reviewed the board and committee composition following retirements 
from the board in 2012.

Discussed the range of skills on the board and its diversity to ensure an 
adequate balance of skills and experience for effective medium and long 
term decision making.

Conducted an appointment process for the recommendation of Ros Rivaz 
as non executive director.

Reviewed succession planning and development for executive directors 
and non executive directors.

Oversight of a thorough board performance evaluation.

BOARd APPOInTMEnTs And dIvERsITy
The board appreciates the benefits of greater board diversity, including gender 
diversity. They recognise a diverse and inclusive culture, and policies that 
promote diversity are key to creating a breadth of perspective among 
directors and effective balance in the boardroom. 

The nomination committee has a policy of working alongside recruitment 
consultants who adhere to a voluntary code of conduct to ensure that when 
seeking new candidates for the board, at least 30% of the candidates on 
their initial list of candidates are women (the Voluntary Code of Conduct) 
and are independent in that they have no other connection with the Company. 
For executive director appointments the recruitment consultants evaluate and 
consider prospective external candidates and review internal candidates. In 
all cases the nomination committee then meets with and considers prospective 
candidates and, if appropriate, recommendations are made to the board 
for approval. 

The Group’s gender balance at board level is currently six males, 75% and 
two females, 25% (2012: 85% male and 15% female). It is the board’s intention 
to maintain that at least 25% of the board are women. Diversity is one of the 
important factors in the specification given by the nomination committee  
to recruitment consultants when appointing new directors. The nomination 
committee ensures that, with the assistance of recruitment consultants who 
adhere to the Voluntary Code of Conduct, female candidates are considered 
routinely as part of the recruitment process to bring the most effective balance 
within the boardroom. The overriding objective is that board appointments 
will continue to be on merit and that the most appropriate candidates are 
identified and appointed. 

In 2014 the nomination committee will continue to assess the board’s 
composition and how it can be enhanced and will consider diversity as 
part of this process to ensure it continues to draw candidates from the widest 
possible range of talent. Further details on diversity throughout the Group 
can be found on page 23.

During the year the nomination committee asked Odgers Berndtson to 
commence a search for a new non executive director to join the board. 
Odgers Berndtson is an independent executive search firm which has no 
other connection with the Company. Ros Rivaz was interviewed by the 
nomination committee as part of the external search process and was 
recommended to the board for appointment on the basis that she 
brought the required skills and experience to the board and had 
confirmed that she had sufficient time to discharge the role.

sUCCEssIOn PLAnnInG 
The nomination committee develops succession plans for the board, mindful 
of the need for progressive refreshment of the board, and a balance of skills, 
experience and diversity. 

In view of Jean-Pierre Rodier’s forthcoming retirement from the board, the 
committee has prepared a briefing for recruitment consultants to commence 
a search for a new non executive director.

The board’s responsibility for succession planning means that it is actively 
involved in the Group’s talent processes to identify internal candidates for 
promotion and develop senior managers to give them every opportunity  
to progress their careers. The nomination committee identifies through the 
management review process any internal people whose skills, experience 
and contribution to the Group would add value to the board. The board 
periodically discusses current senior management positions within the 
organisational structure and, led by the chief executive, considers potential 
successors to meet the Group’s leadership needs over time. 

ELECTIOn And RE-ELECTIOn OF dIRECTORs 
To promote good governance and in accordance with the Code, the board 
has recommended that all directors should submit themselves for election 
or re-election on an annual basis. 

Directors in office as at the date of this report to be proposed for election 
or re-election at the AGM 2014

Stuart Chambers Chairman 

Graham Chipchase Chief executive 

David Robbie Finance director 

John Langston Non executive director 

Leo Oosterveer Non executive director 

Ros Rivaz Non executive director

Johanna Waterous Senior independent director 

Jean-Pierre Rodier is not being proposed for re-election as he will retire  
as a non executive director at the conclusion of the AGM 2014.

Following a rigorous evaluation of the performance of each director  
and on the recommendation of the nomination committee, the board is 
recommending that Ros Rivaz, who was appointed as a non executive 
director since the date of the last AGM, stand for election and that the 
other directors named above stand for re-election at the AGM 2014. 

Ros Rivaz is considered by the board to be independent. She is being 
recommended for election as the board believes that her experience in 
technology, sustainability and IT systems, and her expertise in driving 
efficiencies in manufacturing processes and procurement is of value  
to Rexam. 

Graham Chipchase is being recommended for re-election as the board 
believes his leadership and insight into the Group and its markets will 
continue to help to develop Rexam and create shareholder value. 

David Robbie is being recommended for re-election as the board believes 
his strong financial and corporate finance experience and his financial and 
strategic skills are important to the board and to the maintenance of tight 
financial controls. 

John Langston, Leo Oosterveer and Johanna Waterous are being 
recommended for re-election as, in the board’s view, they remain 
independent and, following their formal performance evaluation, the 
chairman of the board has confirmed that they continue to be effective  
and demonstrate their commitment to the board. 

On the recommendation of the nomination committee, Stuart Chambers, who 
was considered independent on appointment as chairman of the Company, 
is being recommended for re-election, as the board believes he continues 
to be effective and demonstrates commitment to the role. 

A biography of each member of the board can be found on pages  
46 and 47.
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Throughout 2013 the audit and risk 
committee carried out its duties by 
focusing on the key activities associated 
with and complementary to its core 
internal financial control responsibilities. 
•	Year end results 2012 reviewed with external auditors and recommended 

for approval to the board; internal audit update Q4 2012 presented; 
internal audit plan for 2013 approved; review of whistle blowing calls.

•	External audit plan for 2013 year end approved; early warnings report 
presented by external auditors for half year 2013; internal audit update 
Q1 2013 presented; update on Group risks and risk register reviewed 
and approved; risk presentation by Beverage Can North America sector 
management team.

•	Half year results 2013 reviewed with external auditors and recommended 
for approval by the board; internal audit update Q2 2013.

•	Early warnings report presented by external auditors for year end 2013; 
detailed review of Group risks including presentation by Beverage Can 
Europe and Beverage Can Africa, Middle East & Asia sector management 
teams; presentation by chief information officer of the information technology 
risks with emphasis on cyber risks; internal audit update Q3 2013; review 
of effectiveness of external and internal auditors.

The committee recognises its role in supporting the board by ensuring that 
appropriate internal controls and risk management processes are in place 
to maintain good corporate governance for the Company. 

The board recognises its responsibility for ensuring the implementation and 
maintenance of effective systems of risk management and internal control, 
and presenting a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s 
position and prospects. The systems and controls in place include policies 
and procedures which provide reasonable assurance that transactions are 
recorded as necessary to facilitate the financial reporting process and the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Representatives of the 
businesses complete bi annual representation letters formally confirming 
that their businesses comply with the Group’s financial reporting policies 
and other Group policies and procedures. To discharge its responsibilities 
the board works closely with the audit and risk committee. 

After taking account of the detailed work of the audit and risk committee, the 
board confirms that it carried out a review of the effectiveness of the system 
of internal control which operated within the Group during 2013 and up to 
the date of this annual report in accordance with the requirements of the 
revised Guidance on Internal Control published by the FRC (formerly known 
as the Turnbull Guidance). This review covered the effectiveness of internal 
controls, namely financial, operational, compliance and risk management. 

No significant failings or weaknesses were identified in the review for 2013. 
The board is satisfied that, where areas for improvement were identified, 
processes are in place to ensure that the necessary action is taken and that 
progress is monitored. The board will continue to carry out such reviews on 
an annual basis. Details of the specific actions taken during 2013 to review 
the control environment and continue to improve controls are set under risk 
management and internal control on page 56. 
 
John Langston 
Audit and risk committee chairman

Accountability

John Langston 
Audit and risk committee chairman
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AUdIT And RIsK COMMITTEE MEMBERsHIP And MEETInGs 2013
The audit and risk committee members comprise independent non executive 
directors. John Langston is the chairman of the audit and risk committee. As a 
qualified chartered accountant and former finance director he is considered 
to have recent and relevant financial experience and is well placed to lead 
the audit and risk committee to enable it to carry out its responsibilities.

Committee membership Attendance¹

John Langston (committee chairman) 4/4

Jean-Pierre Rodier 4/4

Johanna Waterous 4/4

1 Number of scheduled meetings attended/maximum number of meetings that the 
director could have attended.

THE ROLE OF THE AUdIT And RIsK COMMITTEE 
The board has approved the terms of reference delegating certain 
responsibilities to the committee. The terms of reference are reviewed 
annually and are available on the Company’s website. The main 
responsibilities of the audit and risk committee are to: 

•	oversee and review the financial and operational risks, policies  
and management; 

•	assist the board in meeting its responsibilities by ensuring an effective 
system of internal control and compliance and accurate external  
financial reporting; 

•	assist the board in managing the relationship with the Company’s external 
auditors, to review and monitor their independence, and in particular the 
provision of any non audit services provided by them to the Group; 

•	keep under review the effectiveness of the process for the identification, 
assessment, mitigation, reporting and monitoring of risks facing the business; 

•	approve the appointment of the director internal audit and review and 
approve the annual programme of internal audit assignments; and 

•	ensure the annual report, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and 
understandable and provides the information necessary for shareholders 
to assess the Company’s business model, strategy and performance.

The audit and risk committee meets four times a year. At the request of the 
audit and risk committee chairman, the chairman of the board, the chief 
executive, the finance director, the director of Group finance, the director 
internal audit and the external auditors are invited to attend each meeting.

Should it be requested, the audit and risk committee has access to independent 
expert advice at the Company’s expense. The performance and effectiveness 
of the audit and risk committee are reviewed as part of the performance 
evaluation of the board and all its committees. 

AUdIT And RIsK COMMITTEE AREAs OF FOCUs 2013

Reviewing the financial results of the Group for the half and full year.

Confirming the accounting process for the sale of Personal Care and the 
return of cash to shareholders. 

Reviewing the progress of the sale of the Healthcare business.

Commencement of a new external lead audit partner.

Reviews of effectiveness of both external and internal audit.

Conducting a detailed review of risks for the business including presentations 
by the management teams of the Beverage Can Europe, Beverage Can 
North America and Beverage Can Africa, Middle East & Asia sectors.

Reviewing updates from the director internal audit on the controls within 
the businesses, focus on IT risks and controls, and reviewing reports of 
whistle blowing calls.

Audit and risk committee chairman attended a finance conference of the 
Group in May and addressed attendees from Group and the sector 
businesses. He also met the internal audit team at its December 2013 
meeting following the review of internal audit effectiveness.

FInAnCIAL And BUsInEss REPORTInG 
The audit and risk committee shares responsibility with the board for reviewing 
in detail the annual report and half year results announcement, which provide 
a clear assessment of the performance and prospects of the Group through 
the business model, strategy, and a review of strategic risks and financial and 
non financial performance. Also included in the annual report is the external 
auditors’ report to the members providing an independent opinion on the 
truth and fairness of the Group’s financial statements. The half year results 
announcement includes the external auditors’ review report to the Company. 

Other published financial information is reviewed by the audit and risk 
committee for statutory and regulatory compliance and is submitted to the 
board with a recommendation for approval.

significant issues considered by the committee
As part of the reporting and review process, the committee has regular 
discussions with both management and the external auditors relating to 
significant issues. During the year the committee considered the following 
key risks, accounting issues and judgements in relation to the Group’s 
financial statements and disclosures:

Healthcare business disposal
The accounting treatment following the disposal of the Healthcare 
business, together with judgements on the assessment of the carrying 
value of goodwill and other intangible assets. The committee considered 
external advice and agreed the accounting treatment in consultation 
with the external auditors.

significant contracts
The accounting implications of significant contracts that had been reviewed 
and approved by the board, and have been entered into by the Group. 
The committee considered the external auditors’ report on the Group’s 
contract review process and the treatment of up front payments, take  
or pay obligations and potential embedded derivatives.

Tax
The director of Group tax presented the Group’s assessment of its  
tax position, exposures and provisions. The committee considered 
benchmark data from other similar multinational corporates, the advice 
of specialist advisors and the external auditors to assist in formalising its 
accounting position.
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Metal premium costs
A report on the increase in metal premium costs and the delay in getting 
metal from third party warehouses to the Group’s business locations was 
presented by the director of commodity risk. The committee considered 
the impact on the business and any mitigating measures that could be 
put in place.

Internal controls
Progress in implementing the Group control framework was presented 
by the director of Group finance with independent assurance provided 
by the director internal audit on how each business assesses its own 
control environment and how the outcome is matched against internal 
audit’s assessment. The committee considered the outcome of testing 
done by the external auditors relating to the timing of revenue recognition 
to minimise the risk of fraud and assessment of the overall control 
environment of the Group, including the Raise Your Concern whistle 
blowing arrangements. 

Goodwill
Assessment of the carrying value of goodwill and other intangible  
assets in connection with the annual impairment review. The committee 
considered the annual budget approved by the board together with 
management’s key assumptions for discount and long term growth  
rates in the budget forecasts.

RIsK MAnAGEMEnT And InTERnAL COnTROL 
The Group has well established risk management and internal control systems. 
While all elements of risk cannot be eliminated, the processes and systems 
aim to identify, assess, prioritise and, where possible, mitigate the Group’s 
risks. Although no system can provide absolute assurance against material 
misstatement or loss, the Group’s systems are designed to provide the board 
with reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded, transactions are 
properly authorised and recorded and that material errors and irregularities 
are either prevented or detected within a timely period. 

The enterprise risk management function is led by the director of Group 
finance and has brought an increased focus and emphasis on global risk 
management, providing leadership and co-ordination across the Group’s 
business and operational risk activities. Operational risk which includes 
health and safety, environment, fire and property protection, security, 
business continuity and crisis management is the responsibility of senior 
functional management.

There is an ongoing process for identifying, assessing, mitigating, reporting 
and monitoring the risks faced by the Group with a formal audit and risk 
process (known as the ARC process) led by the director of Group finance 
together with the chief executive, finance director, the director internal 
audit and other senior management representatives. Meetings are held 
with businesses and functional managers who present their risk registers, 
enabling discussion of the risks identified, the management of those risks 
and the mitigation measures as well as the effectiveness of the systems of 
internal control. The process ensures that risks are not just the product of a 
bottom up approach but are also examined from a top down perspective 
and closely aligned with the Group’s strategy. 

The enterprise risk management function chairs the risk leadership team with 
representatives from internal audit and senior management from each of the 
sectors. The team meets regularly to focus on key Group risk themes and to 
refine the ARC process. 

During 2013, a number of refinements were made including: 

•	further risk assessment and mitigation actions in respect of the competitive 
trading environment in North America 

•	use of a new risk management software system providing enhanced 
reporting and improved analysis of information across the businesses

•	implementation of risk based auditing and a commodity exposure 
system, in addition to formal sharing of best practice across the business 
units and benchmarking on world class safety

•	review of the common risk themes within the commercial and supply chain 
functions with the aim of achieving consistency in risk and mitigating actions.

The results of the ARC process are reported to the audit and risk committee 
and provide an opportunity for the audit and risk committee to discuss and 
analyse the risks reported. In addition to reviewing the risks, as presented 
by management, the audit and risk committee also receives presentations 
from the Group’s businesses or functional managers to assess at first hand 
the effectiveness of the process, consider whether the risks identified are 
being managed successfully and to challenge management on the mitigation 
measures in place. The audit and risk committee reports its conclusions to 
the board for review. Details of the key risks to which the Group is exposed 
and additional information on risk processes and management are 
included in the strategic report and can be found on pages 28 to 33. 

The framework which the board has established to provide effective 
internal control for both the Group and its associates and joint ventures  
is supported by the key areas set out in the table on pages 57 and 58.

Accountability
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Activity in 2013

Financial reporting The Group has a comprehensive system for reporting 
financial results to the board. An annual budget and 
strategic review are prepared for each business and 
are consolidated for review by the board before 
being formally adopted. During the year, monthly 
management accounts, including cash flow and 
capital expenditure reporting, are prepared with a 
comparison against budget and prior year. Forecasts 
are revised in light of this comparison and are also 
reviewed by the board.

Regular reviews took place to ensure businesses were performing  
in line with budget and strategy. The chief executive and the finance 
director met regularly with operational management to ensure 
businesses were performing as expected and reporting in accordance 
with the Group’s standards. Following those meetings the chief 
executive and the finance director reported back to the board.

delegated authority There are clearly defined lines of responsibility and 
levels of authority in operation throughout the Group, 
with specific matters reserved to the board. Businesses 
are decentralised with operating autonomy and 
financial responsibility delegated to corporate and 
local management to the extent that they have approval 
to operate within defined levels of authority and risk.

The Group authority levels and related financial limits, which include 
information on those matters that are specifically reserved for the 
board’s consideration, were reviewed and updated.

Procedures  
and controls

There are formal written Group financial procedures 
and controls in operation, including specific procedures 
for treasury matters, capital investment and the 
approval of significant contracts. Corporate and local 
management are required to complete bi annual 
representation letters formally confirming that their 
businesses comply with the Group’s financial reporting 
policies and other Group policies and procedures.

Improvements were made to access and security controls along with  
a detailed review of the consistency of the Group’s computerised 
management systems and controls operating around the Group.
A Group control framework has been developed and implemented  
to ensure that controls are operated consistently and in line with  
best practice.
Online legal compliance training system developed to ensure 
employees’ familiarity and compliance with the Group’s Code of 
Conduct also includes specific training on Financial Integrity, 
Combating Bribery in Business and Competition and Anti Trust Law, 
and was completed by all appropriate employees during the year.

Internal audit The internal audit function monitors financial and 
other risks faced throughout the Group and the 
control systems in operation to manage those risks. 
All significant internal audit findings are reported  
to the audit and risk committee.

The annual internal audit plan, produced from an assessment of the 
risks following the ARC process review, was approved by the audit 
and risk committee.
Meetings were held regularly between internal audit management, 
the finance director and the director of Group finance, together with 
business management, to review progress on implementing audit 
recommendations and to ensure any significant issues identified were 
addressed. Updates on performance were provided to the audit and 
risk committee by the director internal audit, including details of 
progress against the audit plan, audit report opinions given and 
progress in implementing audit recommendations.
A new set of key performance indicators for the internal audit function 
were introduced measuring completeness of the audit plan, timeliness 
of internal audit reports, coverage of businesses, key projects 
supported and development of internal audit staff.
The internal audit function enhanced its approach to the audit  
of business risks by focusing on a number of the key Group risks 
identified from the ARC process and carried out a detailed review  
of the risk mitigations management had put in place to address these 
risks. Areas reviewed included commercial sales and metal controls  
in Beverage Can Europe, the tax process and metal controls in 
Beverage Can South America, metal controls in Beverage Can  
North America as well as the Group treasury and information 
management functions of Rexam PLC.
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Activity in 2013

Operational  
risk management  

Operational risk management, part of the enterprise 
risk function, provides the leadership to develop and 
monitor processes which identify, assess and manage 
risks associated with health and safety, environment, 
business continuity and crisis management, fire and 
loss prevention, security and asset protection. 
Purpose built audit programmes allow for businesses 
to be evaluated against Rexam’s and external best 
practice standards in these areas, and provide the 
basis for continuous improvement action plans. In 
addition, many Rexam businesses are accredited to 
external internationally recognised standards. The 
function also manages Rexam’s global insurance 
programme. Periodic updates including any 
significant findings and issues are reported  
to the audit and risk committee.

In line with the Rexam values, a system of awards was introduced  
to recognise businesses receiving high scores based on the audits. 
An enhanced global environment, health and safety (EHS) audit 
approach was developed to provide the basis of challenge for a  
more sustainable and robust improvement of EHS management 
systems and performance at all sites. In addition, we introduced a 
high standard fire safety and property protection audit supported  
and performed by AXA Matrix. Further details can be found in the  
key risks section of this annual report on page 33. 

InTERnAL AUdIT 
The internal audit function plans and undertakes audits to ensure that  
the controls operating in the businesses conform with Group controls and 
procedures, and reviews the effectiveness of the risk management process. 

The director internal audit provides quarterly updates to the audit and risk 
committee and reports on all significant audit findings. He also has separate 
meetings with the chairman of the audit and risk committee without any 
other member of management being present. 

In 2013 the audit and risk committee reviewed and approved the annual 
internal audit plan including the proposed audit approach, coverage and 
allocation of resources. It also reviewed the results of the audits undertaken, 
with particular emphasis on the recommendations made and management’s 
response to the matters raised. Following a restructuring of the audit team 
in early 2012, to reflect changes in the Group’s structure and to ensure 
greater consistency in audit and output, an externally led review of the 
function’s effectiveness was undertaken by Independent Audit Limited  
to assess the progress made since the last external review in 2010. The 
review was presented to the committee in November and reported that 
significant progress had been made and that Rexam’s internal audit function 
compared favourably with other internal audit functions that had been 
externally reviewed.

ExTERnAL AUdITORs 
The audit and risk committee has primary responsibility for and advises  
the board on the appointment, reappointment and the remuneration of the 
Company’s external auditors. Any recommendation for the reappointment 
of the external auditors is subject to their continued satisfactory performance. 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC) have been the Company’s external 
auditors since 2003 with the lead audit partner changing by rotation in 
2008 and in 2013. The board has reviewed the recent guidance on audit 
tendering and rotation, and the audit and risk committee has indicated that 
it plans to consider, in 2016, a review of the current external audit service 
provider in conjunction with the subsequent formal rotation of the lead 
audit partner. The committee is also aware the Competition Commission’s 
recommendations on audit re tendering and the review in 2016 may 
include a re tender process if considered necessary. 

The external auditors attend all audit and risk committee meetings and 
annual ARC meetings with each of the business sectors. The audit and risk 
committee chairman also has separate meetings with the external auditors 
to discuss relevant matters. The external auditors work with Group and sector 
management and discuss their findings and recommendations with the audit 
and risk committee. 

During 2013, the audit and risk committee reviewed the effectiveness of  
the external auditors and recommended to the board that a resolution to 
reappoint PwC be proposed at the AGM 2014. The effectiveness review in 
2013 was conducted by the director internal audit surveying both the audit 
and risk committee and Group management to establish their respective 
views on a number of areas including audit scope, delivery and audit team. 
A further review of PwC’s effectiveness will be undertaken in 2014 following 
completion of the 2013 audit and will include sector and business management 
following the change in lead audit partner at the beginning of 2013. The audit 
and risk committee will continue to keep under review the independence 
and objectivity of the external auditors.

Non audit services are provided by PwC to the Group only in accordance 
with Rexam’s policy on the provision of such services, which assesses the 
type of service to be provided and the associated fees. Any request for non 
audit services above a fee threshold of £25,000 is presented to the finance 
director for approval prior to commencement of the work. The finance director 
will also obtain the prior authorisation of the chairman of the audit and risk 
committee for services deemed “restricted” above a threshold of £50,000 
and above £150,000 for services deemed “unrestricted”. PwC are prohibited 
from providing services to the Group that would be considered to jeopardise 
their independence, such as financial systems design and implementation, 
actuarial services, internal audit outsourcing and investment services. The 
policy on non audit services was reviewed during 2013 to ensure it continues 
to be in line with best practice. 

The audit and risk committee bi annually reviews the level of non audit  
fees to ensure that the provision of non audit services does not impair 
PwC’s independence or objectivity. Non audit fees in 2013 relate mainly 
to assurance reporting on historic financial information required for business 
disposals and global tax advisory services. The fees for non audit services 
are disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements. Other audit 
firms were engaged to provide expatriate and specialist tax advisory 
services as well as to advise on business disposals. 

Accountability
continued

THE InTERnAL COnTROL FRAMEWORK (COnTInUEd)
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dIRECTORs’ COnFLICTs OF InTEREsT 
The board has a formal system in place for directors to review regularly 
their interests and to deal with situations where a director reports any 
conflicts of interest. Any conflict situation reported to the chairman and  
the company secretary is considered by the board based on its particular 
facts. Any authorisations given to a director who has a conflict situation are 
recorded in the board minutes and in a register of directors’ conflicts which 
is reviewed annually by the board. No conflict situations were reported to 
the board during 2013 and up to the date of this annual report. 

COdE OF COndUCT 
A Code of Conduct, which applies to all Company employees worldwide, 
has been approved by the board and provides a clear statement for the 
benefit of stakeholders involved with or impacted by Rexam’s activities. It  
is communicated through an induction process for new employees, as part 
of the team briefings in the Group’s businesses and on the Group’s intranet 
and website. The board is kept informed regarding the maintenance of  
the Code of Conduct and any breaches of it. An online training system is 
operated to ensure all appropriate employees are aware of their responsibilities 
and are in compliance with the Code of Conduct. Further details can be 
found on page 37.

The Group’s policies and procedures relating to bribery and corruption were 
kept under review by the executive leadership team and the audit and risk 
committee during 2013. There were no material breaches of the Code of 
Conduct during 2013. 

During 2013 we took steps to increase the scope and impact of our online 
compliance training programme. The training is now tightly linked to our 
onboarding process to reinforce the messages contained in the Code of 
Conduct. We designed and are in the process of implementing an annual 
recertification module so that all appropriate employees will be reminded 
of the requirements of the Code and their obligations.
The content of the Code of Conduct captures the key compliance 
messages that are relevant for all employees, whether working in our 
plants or in office based functions. During 2013, we undertook to build  
a strong platform to enable training to be delivered to all of our people 
that do not have access to the online environment as part of their day to 
day role. This will be conducted by a mixture of classroom based training 
and by giving employees access to computer kiosks to enable them to 
complete the training.

WHIsTLE BLOWInG POLICy 
Rexam has an open door policy whereby employees are encouraged to 
share concerns, raise issues and provide ideas for improvement with all 
levels of management in the business. It is recognised, however, that there 
will be times when an employee might be uncomfortable raising concerns 
directly with local management and, in such cases, communication with 
business and Group management is encouraged.

The Company operates a whistle blowing policy which is supported by an 
external confidential telephone helpline, available to all employees to raise 
any concerns, including those of a financial nature. The helpline is provided 
by one of the leading providers of whistle blowing services in the UK, who 
have a significant number of other FTSE clients. The Raise Your Concern 
policy (RYC) is highlighted to employees when they commence employment 
with the Group and in team meetings to ensure the policy is understood by, 
and available to all employees. Employees are encouraged to use the service 
only when other internal reporting lines have not adequately dealt with their 
concerns, or if the matter is too serious or confidential to discuss with local 
or sector management.

During 2013, 45 calls were received by the helpline provider (2012: 47 calls) 
and there have been on average 42 calls per year since the policy was 
introduced in 2006. The majority of calls received tend to be related to 
human resources issues and practices. All reports of calls are taken by 
internal audit or the company secretary’s office and an initial feedback 
response is available to the caller within five working days. 

All calls are investigated by the director internal audit, in conjunction with 
the company secretary or deputy company secretary, and, if appropriate, 
by management of the respective business. Any significant concerns are 
reported directly to the chairman of the audit and risk committee as well as 
to Group management. Group management and the audit and risk committee 
receive a quarterly report on calls received and how they have been resolved. 

The audit and risk committee reviews the whistle blowing policy and the RYC 
process annually. The service provided by the externally operated helpline 
is currently being reviewed and will be benchmarked against other similar 
providers to ensure that it is meeting the needs of the Group.

GOInG COnCERn 
The Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its 
future development, performance and position are set out in the strategic 
report on pages 2 to 44. The financial position of the Group, its cash flows, 
liquidity position and borrowing facilities are detailed in the financial review 
on pages 38 to 44. In addition, notes 23, 24 and 25 to the consolidated 
financial statements include the Group’s objectives and policies for managing 
its capital, its financial risk management objectives, details of its financial 
instruments and hedging activities, and its exposures to credit risk and 
liquidity risk.

The Group has considerable financial resources together with established 
agreements with a number of key customers and suppliers across different 
geographic areas and markets. The financial resources include £2.1bn of 
debt facilities, of which £0.8bn are undrawn, with the next significant maturity 
due in November 2018 (£0.8bn). The Group also has a cash and cash 
equivalent balances at 31 December 2013 of £0.2bn. As a consequence, 
the directors believe that the Group is well placed to manage its business 
despite the economic environment which increases risks and uncertainties.

The directors, having made appropriate enquiries, are satisfied that the 
Company and the Group have adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt 
the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated and Company 
financial statements.

REMUnERATIOn POLICy 
The remuneration committee is responsible for making recommendations to 
the board on the Group’s remuneration policy and setting the remuneration 
arrangements appropriate for the directors within the terms of the policy 
approved by shareholders. The directors’ remuneration report, which includes 
the proposed remuneration policy for approval by shareholders at the 
AGM 2014, is on pages 62 to 79 of this annual report. 
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The board fully supports the principle of the Code which seeks to 
encourage more active interest and contribution from shareholders.

sHAREHOLdER EnGAGEMEnT CyCLE 2013
•	presentations and conference calls for half year and full year results,  

and interim management statements

•	briefing meetings with major institutional shareholders in the UK,  
US and Europe

•	attendance of all of the directors at the AGM

•	attendance by senior executives from across the business at relevant 
meetings and conferences throughout the year

•	hosting investor and analyst meetings to address a variety of business 
areas (see below for more details)

•	dialogue between the remuneration committee and shareholders  
(see page 70 for more details)

•	responding to enquiries from shareholders and analysts through our 
investor relations and company secretariat teams

•	providing information through the investor section on the Company’s 
website www.rexam.com and Rexam investor ‘app’

InsTITUTIOnAL InvEsTORs 
Meetings are held in the UK, US and Europe following the announcement 
of the half and full year results to discuss the Group’s operating and 
financial performance, including corporate governance related matters, 
and the Group’s longer term strategy. The presentation slides shown to 
representatives of the investment community are available on the 
Company’s website, as is a live webcast of the related results presentation. 
Contact is made with major institutional shareholders periodically and in 
advance of the AGM each year in order to understand their views on the 
Company and to ensure that their views are communicated to the board.

In November 2013, institutional investors were invited to an Investor 
Seminar hosted by the chief executive. The senior management of Rexam’s 
businesses and Group marketing and innovation made presentations on 
their areas of business and answered questions. The seminar was webcast 
and a replay, together with presentation slides and transcripts, is available 
online on the investors section of www.rexam.com 

The non executive directors are given regular updates as to the views of 
institutional shareholders. After the investor meetings held following the 
announcement of the half and full year results, a summary report on investor 
responses is prepared for the board, normally by the Company’s corporate 
brokers. The board also commissions periodic assessments of major investors’ 
views on Company management and performance, based on results of 
surveys and extensive interviews. This survey also helps to plan the investor 
relations programme for the following year.

PRIvATE InvEsTORs 
Communication with private investors is largely through the AGM, which  
is held at a central London location. The notice of the AGM is posted to 
shareholders with, if requested, a hard copy of the annual report and any 
related papers at least 20 working days before the date of the AGM to 
ensure that shareholders have sufficient time in which to consider the items 
of business to be voted upon. An electronic and paper proxy appointment 
service is offered to enable those who cannot attend in person to vote on 
the business being proposed at the meeting. 

A presentation is made at the AGM to update shareholders on the Group’s 
activities. Shareholders are given the opportunity to ask questions of the 
chairman, the board and the chairman of each board committee during 
the AGM and to meet all the directors informally. Separate resolutions  
are proposed at the AGM on a poll for each item of business and an 
announcement confirming whether each resolution was passed at the AGM 
is made through the London Stock Exchange and on the Rexam website.

Rexam’s ADR investors receive details of the AGM and are entitled to instruct 
the depositary, The Bank of New York Mellon, to vote on the resolutions to 
be proposed at the AGM. 

The total number of shares voted for the AGM 2013 increased compared 
to the previous year to 69.5% (2012: 66.3%). A summary of the number of 
votes cast in respect of each resolution can be found on the Rexam website 
together with the presentation slides shown at the AGM. All members of the 
board normally attend the AGM and the board receives a written report after 
the AGM giving details of the voting and any concerns raised by shareholders. 

An event for private investors was held during the year, in conjunction with 
the UK Shareholders’ Association (UKSA). A group of 30 private investors 
from the UKSA listened to presentations from the head of investor relations on 
Rexam’s half year results and business strategy. The event enabled investors 
to ask questions and the Company to receive direct private investor feedback. 

shareholder engagement
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Worldwide Europe

Number
of holdings

Number
of shares

Number
of holdings

Number
of shares

sHAREHOLdERs By PROFILE, sIzE OF HOLdInG And GEOGRAPHy

% total by 
European country

l Norway 2.5
l France 1.2
l Netherlands 1.1
l Germany 0.7
l Sweden 0.5
l Ireland 0.4
l Denmark 0.3
l Switzerland 0.4
l Unidentified 0.7
l Other 0.3

% total issued 
shares held

l Individuals 2.05
l Institutions 97.95

l 1 – 2,000 1.23
l  2,001 – 20,000 2.26
l  20,001 – 100,000 2.08
l  100,001 and above 94.43

An analysis of Rexam ordinary share 
holdings by category and size is  
as follows:

% holdings number 
by size of holding

l Individuals 67.22
l Institutions 32.78

l 1 – 2,000 74.28
l  2,001 – 20,000 21.55
l  20,001 – 100,000 1.90
l  100,001 and above 2.27

An analysis of Rexam ordinary share 
holdings by geography is as follows:

% total by region
l UK 48.4
l North America 39.8
l Europe 8.1
l Rest of world 3.7
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dear shareholders 
On behalf of the board, I present  
the directors’ remuneration report  
for the year ended 31 december 2013.  
The report is in two sections:

•  The proposed directors’ remuneration 
policy, which describes the approach to 
remuneration applicable from the annual 
general meeting on 2 May 2014 (AGM 
2014). This proposed policy will be subject 
to a binding vote at the AGM 2014.

•  The annual report on directors’ 
remuneration which sets out how our 
remuneration policy was implemented 
in 2013 and how we intend the policy to 
apply for 2014. This report will be subject 
to an advisory vote at the AGM 2014.

During the year we completed our strategic review of the Company’s 
remuneration arrangements giving consideration to the Company’s strategy 
and structure. The Remuneration committee (the committee) believes that the 
existing remuneration policy is appropriate and effective in driving the right 
behaviours and in motivating and rewarding our senior executives. The incentive 
performance measures have been slightly realigned to reflect our improved 
capital efficiency and to encourage sustainable growth and cash generation. 

CHAnGEs TO REMUnERATIOn
The overall structure and measures for our annual incentive plan remain 
unchanged, rewarding performance against profit growth (50%), cash 
delivery (30%) and personal objectives (20%). For annual incentive awards 
in 2014, one quarter of the cash element will be based on cash conversion 
to encourage sustainable cash generation and a proportion of the personal 
objectives element will be aligned to our strategy for growth.

In relation to our long term incentive plan, we have made a change to the 
balance of measures, again linked to our growth strategy. Over recent years, 
a successful focus on return on capital employed (ROCE) as part of the long 
term incentive has seen a steady increase in ROCE from 9.4% in 2009 to 
15.5% in 2013. We believe that this represents an important milestone for 
Rexam. The board remains committed to strong capital discipline and believes 
that the focus should be on maintaining a healthy level of ROCE, while 
ensuring that the target is not set at such a level that it might penalise 
management for investing to secure future growth.

About this remuneration report
This report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of  
the Companies Act 2006 and Schedule 8 of the Large and Medium 
sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2013. It also meets the requirements of the UK Listing 
Authority’s Listing Rules.

The following parts of the remuneration report 2013 are audited:  
the single total figure of remuneration for directors, including annual 
incentive and long term incentive outcomes for the financial year ended 
31 December 2013; long term incentives awarded during 2013; total 
pension entitlements; payments to past directors and payments for  
loss of office; and, directors’ shareholdings and share interests.

Remuneration report
driving the right behaviours and  
motivating and rewarding our executives

Jean-Pierre Rodier 
Remuneration committee chairman

Therefore, the committee has introduced a ROCE underpin, whereby the 
earnings per share (EPS) element will only vest if, over the performance 
period, ROCE is in excess of the average cost of capital and averages at 
least 12%. We have therefore adjusted the weighting of the performance 
measures to 75% EPS (subject to ROCE underpin) and 25% to relative total 
shareholder return (TSR). 

In December 2013 I wrote to the Company’s major institutional shareholders 
to share the proposed changes to the remuneration policy for 2014. The 
responses received were supportive of the remuneration policy.

ACHIEvEMEnTs And REWARds FOR 2013
Details of the remuneration decisions for 2013 are set out in the annual 
remuneration report on pages 71 to 79. The chairman’s statement and the 
chief executive’s review provide a clear picture of a tough year but also one 
of further progress. The committee has considered very carefully the targets 
that were established for annual and long term incentives and the level of 
payout for the 2013 annual incentive.

The committee has set the chief executive’s salary at £784,380 for 2014  
(a 2% increase over 2013) and the finance director’s salary at £473,790 
(a 2% increase), in line with the average increase comparable to the 
United Kingdom employees. The new salaries become effective from 
1 May 2014. 

The actions of the executive leadership team continue to demonstrate very 
effective leadership and a commitment to the Company’s values. Following 
a review of the outcomes of the annual incentive and taking into account 
the overall Company performance, the annual incentive will pay out at 
50% of base salary for both the chief executive and the finance director. 

The 2010 LTIP grant for executive directors vested at just over 93% in March 
2013 in respect of the 2010–2012 performance period. We are expecting 
that in March 2014 the long term incentive awards granted in 2011 will vest 
at 86.4% for executive directors and I am pleased that all participants will 
again be rewarded for their achievements.

The committee will continue to maintain Rexam’s remuneration policies such 
that they continue to be aligned to shareholders’ interests and provide the 
right framework to attract, retain and motivate the executives that the 
Company needs to meet its objectives.

I am pleased to welcome Ros Rivaz who joined the committee on 11 December 
2013 following her appointment to the board on 12 June 2013. For me, after 
eight years as a non executive director of the Company and more recently 
as remuneration committee chairman, I will be retiring from the board at 
the conclusion of the AGM 2014. I thank my fellow directors for their 
support and wish them every success for the future. 

 
Jean-Pierre Rodier 
Remuneration committee chairman 
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Our current remuneration principles are as follows:

•	Attracting, retaining and motivating highly qualified and talented 
people, providing competitive remuneration to all employees 
appropriate to the countries in which we are based.

•	Ensuring that a significant portion of the remuneration package of  
an executive director is weighted towards variable performance 
related pay which rewards higher achievement.

•	Promoting a consistent, clear and transparent link between business 
strategy and individual motivation to achieve performance and to 
create shareholder value.

•	Providing a meaningful reward opportunity for achievement of 
stretching targets linked to delivery of our business strategy and 
achievement of personal performance objectives.

•	Providing transparency and simplicity in the reward strategy  
and complying with regulation.

REMUnERATIOn POLICy OvERvIEW
The Group’s main objective is to create value for our shareholders and 
other stakeholders through our vision of becoming the best beverage can 
maker in the world. This means balancing profitable revenue growth, cash 
generation and the risk profile for the Group to deliver a strong return on 
capital employed. It is essential that the remuneration principles underpin 
these objectives and that achievement of the corporate strategy is reinforced 
through appropriate performance and management incentives. Rewards 
are aligned with the Company’s performance so that executive directors 
are incentivised to achieve demanding results but within an appropriate 
risk profile for the Group.

salary, benefits and retirement benefits

•	Salaries are reviewed annually taking 
account of both internal and external 
comparators 

•	Benefits offered are competitive and  
cost effective

•	Executive  
directors  
participate  
in retirement  
benefit plans  
in their home 
country 

•	Incentive metrics reflect  key aspects of 
 budgeted profit and cash, and personal 
performance objectives reflect strategy for 
growth

•	25% of annual cash incentive is deferred 
into share awards. Awards  are subject to a 
three year holding period and are subject 
to clawback 

deferred bonus incentivesLong term incentives

Linking reward to 
business strategy

see pages 14 and 15

Long term incentives designed to align  
the interests of management with those  
of shareholders with a bias towards the  
longer term

Short term capital discipline and creation  
of shareholder value in annual incentives

Linking annual incentives to a balance  
of growth and return measures, including 
personal objectives, to align with strategy

Key performance indicators
See pages 16 and 17

Annual cash incentives

•	Awards are granted with performance 
targets that are measured over three years 
and reflect the Company’s strategy. Awards 
are subject to clawback 

The remuneration policy
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PROPOsEd dIRECTORs’ REMUnERATIOn POLICy 
It is intended that this remuneration policy shall take binding effect, subject to shareholder approval, from the date of the AGM 2014.

Policy table – executive directors’ fixed pay

Element, purpose  
and link to strategy Operation Opportunity Performance measures

Base salary

To attract and retain  
high performing talent  
by setting base salaries  
at rates comparable with 
what would be paid in  
an equivalent position 
elsewhere.

Salaries are reviewed annually taking 
account of our remuneration policy, personal 
performance and the experience of the 
executive director. Other factors considered 
are the levels of base salary provided for the 
broader employee base, prevailing market 
and economic conditions, and market data 
from companies of similar market 
capitalisation and revenue to Rexam with 
consideration of sector relevance.

Annual salary increases for executive 
directors will not normally exceed the 
average percentage increase 
awarded to other employees in the 
United Kingdom. Increases may be 
above this level; for example if there 
is an increase in the scope, scale, 
market comparability or 
responsibility of the role.

The overall performance of the 
individual is considered by the 
committee when reviewing salary.

Benefits

To provide competitive  
and cost effective benefits 
to assist executive directors 
to carry out their duties 
effectively.

The Company provides private healthcare 
insurance, permanent health insurance, a  
car benefit (or cash equivalent), travel, 
accommodation and meals whilst on  
Company business. The policy allows us  
to provide any other benefits that are deemed 
to be an employment benefit by the relevant  
tax authority, or in certain circumstances are 
considered appropriate and reasonable by  
the committee. Such benefits may include 
relocation expenses and education  
allowances.

Set at a level which the committee 
considers will provide a sufficient 
level of benefit based on the role and 
individual circumstances, such as 
relocation, and which are comparable 
with benefits offered by companies of 
similar size and complexity. 

None.

Retirement and other 
related benefits

To provide market 
competitive retirement  
and other related 
benefits.

Executive directors who commenced UK 
based employment prior to 6 April 2011, 
participate in the Rexam Pension Plan, a 
career average revalued earnings defined 
benefit plan (the Plan). Members select a 
pensionable salary for the year and receive  
a salary supplement on pension eligible  
base salary not pensioned. 
Executive directors who commence UK based 
employment after 6 April 2011 are entitled  
to membership of a defined contribution 
pension arrangement.

Current executive directors receive a 
pension entitlement equal to 1/30th 
of their selected pensionable salary 
with an optional cash supplement  
of 44% of eligible base salary not 
pensioned. In the event of death in 
service of a member of the Plan with 
dependants, an age related amount 
of between 11 and 15 times salary  
is provided.
In the event of ill health and subject  
to meeting eligibility criteria a benefit 
may be provided through the Plan in 
accordance with the Plan rules.
A newly appointed executive director 
who is an internal recruit and already 
a member of the Plan is entitled to 
continue to participate in the Plan.
Executive directors who are newly 
recruited may opt for a retirement 
plan contribution of 25% of base 
salary, or alternatively elect for a 
cash supplement of 22% of base 
salary. Death in service life cover of 
four times base salary and a Group 
income replacement plan, providing 
continuing income for two years at 
50% of base salary after short term 
sickness benefit expires, with a lump 
sum of two times base salary payable 
on cessation of service if there is no 
return to work, is also provided.

None.

Proposed policy
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Policy table – executive directors’ performance based pay 

Element, purpose  
and link to strategy Operation Opportunity Performance measures

Annual incentives

To incentivise the 
executive directors  
and senior executives  
to achieve profitable 
growth and to sustain  
the Group’s cash 
performance.

Financial and personal objectives are set at 
the start of the year and are aligned to strategic 
objectives. Following the end of the year, the 
committee considers the extent to which these 
have been achieved and sets the award level.
Annual payments are subject to overall 
committee discretion taking into consideration 
both the attainment of the financial measures 
and achievement against personal objectives.

Annual incentive opportunity as  
a percentage of base salary:
Maximum performance 180%
Target performance 90% 
Threshold performance 45% 
Annual incentive payments are  
not pensionable.

The annual incentive is based on 
annual financial performance, 
usually profit and cash which 
accounts for 80% of the overall 
incentive, and also on achievement 
of personal performance objectives 
which accounts for 20% of the 
overall incentive. Details of measures 
for 2014 are included on page 78.

Deferred bonus shares

To add long term 
sustainability and 
shareholder alignment  
to short term performance 
achievement.

A proportion of the annual incentive as 
determined by the committee is paid in Rexam 
shares and deferred for three years. Dividend 
equivalents are awarded in shares or cash equal 
to the dividends paid during the period between 
the date of grant and the date of transfer of 
the shares on the number of shares that vest.

A part of any earned annual incentive 
is to be deferred into Rexam shares, 
the current mandated amount being 
25% of total incentive earned.

All deferred shares vest after  
three years (subject to clawback 
provisions as detailed in the notes 
to the policy table below).

Long term incentives

To motivate and reward 
longer term performance, 
linked to key strategic 
objectives.

The Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) is used for 
the long term incentive arrangement. Awards 
which may be granted as nil cost options or 
conditional share awards vest to the extent that 
performance conditions have been achieved 
over a three year measurement period. Dividend 
equivalents are awarded in shares or cash 
equal to the dividends paid during the period 
between the date of grant and the date of 
vesting on the number of shares that vest.

The maximum value that can be 
granted in a given year is 220%  
of base salary. 
Under each measure, threshold 
performance will result in 25% of 
maximum vesting for that element, 
rising on a straight line basis to  
full vesting. 

The LTIP performance measures for 
awards from 2014 are relative total 
shareholder return (TSR) performance 
and earnings per share (EPS) growth 
weighted 25% on TSR and 75% on 
EPS. The EPS portion will only vest if 
a certain minimum average return 
on capital employed (ROCE) is 
achieved. TSR targets are set with 
threshold being median ranking in 
the relative TSR versus the largest 150 
companies (excluding investment 
trusts) by market capitalisation within 
the FTSE All Share Index; maximum 
vesting is for upper quartile ranking. 
EPS targets are set at the start of each 
three year measurement period 
having regard to a number of internal 
and external reference points. The 
ROCE underpin is set above the cost 
of capital and applies to grants to be 
made in 2014. Details of measures 
for 2014 are included on page 78. 
Details of prior year share awards 
granted to existing executive 
directors are set out on page 75. 
These remain eligible to vest based 
on their original award terms with 
performance measures being TSR 
(33%), EPS (33%) and ROCE (33%). 
Unvested LTIP awards are subject 
to clawback (see notes to the 
policy table below).

All employee share plans

To encourage voluntary 
participation in share 
ownership throughout  
the Group where share 
plans are appropriate.

Under the current all employee share plan  
UK based executive directors are entitled to 
participate in the UK tax approved Savings 
Related Share Option Scheme (SAYE).
Participants make monthly contributions from 
salary for either three or five years linked to 
the grant of an option to buy Rexam shares  
at the end of the savings period at an option 
price which can be discounted by up to 20% 
of the market price on the invitation date. 

Savings limits and the maximum 
discount for the option price are set 
by the UK tax authorities. The current 
maximum monthly saving limit is 
£250 which will increase to £500 on 
6 April 2014. The current maximum 
discount for the option price is 20% 
of the market price of a share on the 
invitation date. 

None.
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notes to the policy table

Use of discretion
The committee will operate the annual incentive, deferred bonus plan, LTIP and, where relevant, the SAYE scheme, according to their respective rules (or relevant 
documents) and in accordance with the Listing Rules where relevant. The committee retains discretion, consistent with market practice, in a number of regards 
to the operation and administration of these plans. These include, but are not limited to, the following:

•	selecting participants;

•	reviewing performance measures, their weighting and targets, from year to year;

•	determining the timing of an annual incentive payment or share grant;

•	deciding the amount of annual incentive or share awards, as well as the proportion of an award vesting or paying out, upwards or downwards,  
within the individual limits specified on page 65;

•	deciding how to treat leavers, depending on their leaving circumstances, as detailed on page 69;

•	deciding the adjustments required in certain major corporate events such as rights issues, share buybacks, special dividends or corporate restructurings;

•	taking the necessary decisions in the event of a change of control as detailed on page 70.

In exercising judgment and discretion, the committee will ensure at all times that any adjustment will be made on a neutral basis, ie the intention of any adjustment 
will be that the event is not to the benefit or detriment of participants. Adjustments due to underlying performance may be made in exceptional circumstances 
to ensure outcomes are fair both to shareholders and participants. 

Any use of the above discretions would, where relevant, be explained in the annual report on remuneration in the following year’s annual report and may, 
as appropriate, be the subject of consultation with the Company’s major institutional shareholders. The use of discretion in relation to the Company’s SAYE 
and share incentive plans will be as permitted under HMRC rules and the Listing Rules. 

Clawback
The Company can reduce the number of unvested deferred bonus shares or LTIP awards in whole or in part in the event that the financial statements or results 
for the Group are materially restated (other than restatement due to a change in accounting policy or to rectify a minor error); or if a participant has made 
a deliberate misstatement to the management of the Company, the market, or the Company’s shareholders regarding the financial performance of the Group; 
or a participant’s actions have caused the Group reputational damage; or a participant’s actions amount to serious misconduct or conduct which causes 
significant financial loss for the Group. For the deferred bonus plan, awards may be forfeited if the committee believes that an executive director’s 
restrictive covenants have not been respected.

Remuneration policy for other employees
The following differences exist between the policy set out above and the approach to the remuneration of employees generally.

•	executive directors’ annual incentive measures are set at Group level; other incentive plan participants are incentivised on a mix of sector and Group  
level measures.

•	only executive directors are required to defer 25% of their annual incentive into Rexam shares.

•	the LTIP as described above applies to executive directors and the executive leadership team (currently 10 participants in total). Similar arrangements 
apply for all other participants although the performance measure components may vary.

•	from time to time specific incentives may exist that relate to a specific sector or country, the terms of which are similar to other Group incentives.

Performance measure selection and approach to target setting
Measures and weightings for the annual incentive are reviewed and selected by the committee at the start of the year to align with the Company’s priorities 
for the year. Targets are set by reference to both financial and non financial priorities; related profit and cash flow with threshold and maximum for cash 
determined by reference to profit and personal performance measures (see page 78). The measures used under the share incentive plans are selected annually 
and reflect the Group’s main key performance indicators for the year (see page 78). The performance measures proposed for 2014 are set out below.

Incentive plans Performance measure Reasons for selection

Annual incentive plan Profit before tax (or operating 
profit at business or sector level) 

Key driver of shareholder value.
Captures growth as well as Rexam’s ability to manage costs.

Cash flow Encourages operational cash discipline and responsible and well timed investments. 
Encourages the ability to link to specific strategic annual objectives.

Personal objectives Alignment of behaviours to strategic annual objectives.

Long term incentive 
plan

Earnings per share Captures long term growth and drives shareholder value creation.

Relative total shareholder return Captures creation of shareholder value and rewards management for outperformance.

ROCE underpin for earnings  
per share measure

Rexam is committed to maintaining strong capital discipline and balance growth and returns. 

The committee believes that EPS, with the ROCE underpin, and TSR provide strong alignment with shareholder interests and our longer term strategy.  
They also strike a good balance between growth and returns, as well as between internal and external perspectives on the Company’s performance.
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Policy table – non executive directors’ fees

Element, purpose  
and link to strategy Operation Opportunity

Non executive directors’ fees

To attract and retain non executive 
directors of the highest calibre with 
broad commercial and other 
experience relevant to the 
Company.

The fees of the chairman, the senior independent 
director and the other non executive directors are 
reviewed annually. Fee levels are benchmarked  
against FTSE listed companies of similar size and 
complexity and sector comparators.
The chairman is paid a single, consolidated fee and  
non executive directors are paid a basic fee, plus an 
additional fee to the senior independent director and  
to the chair of the board committees.
If revised, the effective date of any fee change  
is 1 January.

An annual fee will be paid monthly to the chairman and 
non executive directors which will be set at a sufficient 
level to attract, motivate and retain non executive directors 
proportionate to the requirements, time commitment of 
the role and the contribution that is expected from the 
chairman and non executive directors. An additional 
fee is paid to the senior independent director and to 
the committee chairs.
The maximum fee that the non executive directors 
(including the chairman) shall be paid by way of 
remuneration for their services as directors of the 
Company is set taking account of the relevant comparator 
group. The aggregate fee that can be paid as stated in 
the Company’s articles of association is £1,000,000 pa.

Benefits

To provide benefits in a cost efficient 
way to assist non executive directors 
to carry out their duties effectively.

The chairman and the non executive directors may be 
eligible for benefits to assist them to carry out their duties 
effectively. The Company reimburses travel, accommodation 
and meals to the chairman and the non executive directors 
whilst on Company business and provides secretarial 
support to the chairman of the Company. The policy 
allows us to provide any other benefits that are deemed 
to be a benefit by the relevant tax authority, or in certain 
circumstances are considered appropriate and reasonable 
by the committee, such as financial advice. 

Set at a level which the committee considers will provide 
a sufficient level of benefit based on the role and are 
comparable with benefits offered by companies of 
similar size and complexity.
The non executive directors do not participate in the 
Company’s incentive plans or receive retirement 
related benefits.

Approach to remuneration upon the appointment of a new executive director
In the cases of hiring or promoting from within Rexam an executive director, the committee will typically align the remuneration package with the stated 
remuneration policy, as described in the table below. In determining the appropriate remuneration, the committee will take into consideration all relevant 
factors to ensure that arrangements are in the best interests of both Rexam and its shareholders. 

Item Approach Maximum

Base salary The base salary will be determined by reference to  
relevant market data, experience and skills of the 
individual, internal relativities and their current basic 
salary. Where new appointees have initial base salaries 
set below market, any shortfall may be managed with 
phased increases over a period of two to three years.

Set at a level appropriate to attract talent, taking into 
account market conditions.

Retirement and other  
related benefits

As outlined under Retirement and other related benefits in 
the table on page 64. Externally recruited executives can 
opt for a retirement plan pension contribution or an 
equivalent cash supplement.

Maximum contributions are as outlined under  
Retirement and other related benefits in the table  
on page 64.

Benefits Eligible to receive benefits outlined under Benefits in the 
table on page 64 and may include any appropriate 
relocation expenses. 

Benefits should be in line with those offered to other 
executive directors.

Annual incentives The structure described in the policy table on page 65 will 
apply pro rated to reflect the proportion of employment 
over the year. 

The maximum opportunity is 180% of base salary.

Long term incentives Will be granted awards under the LTIP as described in the 
policy table on page 65 at the next scheduled grant date.

The maximum award size is 220% of base salary at 
date of grant.

External recruitment
The Company’s policy is that all executive directors serve under contracts terminable by the Company or the executive director on one year’s notice. However, 
in circumstances which the committee considers exceptional and believes it appropriate to do so, the policy allows for an externally recruited executive 
director to be offered a contract terminable by the Company on two years’ notice if, for reasons other than poor performance, the contract is terminated in 
the first year of appointment. Thereafter the contract would become terminable on one year’s notice. If circumstances are such that it is not possible to make 
awards under the incentive arrangements in the remuneration policy, the committee may make an award in respect of a new external appointment to ‘buy out’ 
incentive arrangements forfeited on leaving a previous employer. In doing so, the committee will take account of relevant factors including (i) any performance 
conditions attaching to those awards, (ii) the likelihood of those conditions being met and (iii) the proportion of the vesting period remaining. Under exceptional 
circumstances, the committee may consider it appropriate to grant a buy out award under a structure not included in the policy, exercising the discretion 
available in the Listing Rules of the UK Listing Authority. Awards will not be of a materially greater fair value (as assessed by the committee) than the fair 
value of awards that the appointee is giving up.
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Graham Chipchase, chief executive

maximum target

£4,500

£4,000

£000s

£3,500

£3,000

£2,500

£2,000

£1,500

£1,000

£500

£0

£1,172

£2,740

£4,308

£705

£1,653

£2,601

18% 67%29%

9%

32%

14%

0%

1%

0%

25%
19%

8%

6%

40%

67%

32%
1%

29%

14%
0%

19%

6%

32%

32%

18%

9%
0%

25%

8%

40%

David Robbie, �nance director

target minimumminimum maximum

l LTIP
l Annual incentive: shares
l Annual incentive: cash
l Other benefits
l Retirement related benefits
l Base salary

Internal recruitment
In cases of appointing a new executive director by way of an internal promotion, the committee will follow the approach in the table on page 67. Where an 
individual has contractual commitments made prior to their promotion to executive director level, the Company may honour these arrangements; however, 
with the exception of retirement and life assurance benefits, these arrangements would be expected to transition to the arrangements as stated in the table.

Employment contracts for executive directors

Executive director
date of appointment  
to the board

date of  
current contract

notice period 
(Company)

notice period  
(director)

Graham Chipchase 10 February 2003 30 November 2009 12 months 12 months

David Robbie 3 October 2005 20 October 2010 12 months 12 months

External directorships
The Company’s policy is to permit executive directors to have non executive directorships with other companies, subject to the approval of the chairman of 
the board. Any fees payable will be retained by the executive director unless otherwise agreed.

Graham Chipchase has been a non executive director of AstraZeneca PLC since 26 April 2012. His director fees in 2013 which he retained were £95,000 
(2012: £64,700).

Illustrative pay for performance scenarios 

Assumptions

Fixed remuneration

•	base	salary	2014 Chief executive £784,380, finance director £473,790

•	retirement	related	benefits 48.2% of base salary, including death in service cover and less an offset where applicable

•	other	benefits Value of benefits based on those received in 2013: chief executive £10,000; finance director £3,000 

Annual incentive maximum target minimum

•	annual	incentive:	cash 135% of salary 67.5% of salary 0% of salary

•	annual	incentive:	shares 45% of salary 22.5% of salary 0% of salary

Long term incentive maximum target minimum

•	LTIP 220% of salary
(100% vesting)

110% of salary
(50% vesting)

0% of salary
(0% vesting)
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Contracts for services for non executive directors
Non executive directors do not have contracts of employment but serve under contracts for services and are generally appointed for an initial three year term 
renewable thereafter, at the discretion of the board, for a maximum of two further three year terms, subject to election or re-election by shareholders at the 
Company’s AGM. Appointments of non executive directors are terminable without compensation in the event that the director is not elected or re-elected 
by shareholders, or by either the Company or the non executive director giving one month’s written notice or, in the case of the chairman of the Company 
and the senior independent director, by either the Company or the chairman or senior independent director giving three months’ written notice.

non executive director date of appointment
date of original  
letter of appointment

Effective date of current 
letter of appointment

Expiry of  
current term

Stuart Chambers 1 February 2012 15 November 2011 1 February 2012 31 January 2015

John Langston 30 October 2008 30 October 2008 30 October 2011 29 October 2014

Leo Oosterveer 1 September 2011 10 August 2011 1 September 2011 31 August 2014

Ros Rivaz 12 June 2013 12 June 2013 12 June 2013 11 June 2016

Jean-Pierre Rodier 7 June 2006 6 June 2006 7 June 2012 2 May 2014

Johanna Waterous 4 May 2012 3 April 2012 4 May 2012 3 May 2015

Termination of contracts and exit payment policy
The Company has the right to terminate an employment contract immediately, even where termination is without cause. In such circumstances, the contract 
provides for a payment in lieu of notice to be made and calculated by reference to base salary, prorated annual incentive to the period on which employment 
terminates, retirement benefits and other benefits, and there is no entitlement under the employment contract to payment of any annual incentive in respect 
of the termination notice period. When considering termination payments, the committee reviews all potential incentive outcomes to ensure they are fair both 
to shareholders and participants. If employment is terminated by the Company, the departing executive director may have a legal entitlement (our policy  
is to comply with any applicable legal requirements under relevant legislations) to additional amounts, which would need to be met. The committee retains 
discretion to settle any other amounts reasonably due to the executive, for example to meet the legal fees incurred by the executive in connection with the 
termination of employment, where the Company wishes to enter into a settlement agreement (as provided for below) and the individual must seek independent 
legal advice. As part of its policy, the committee also has discretion to meet reasonable relocation costs if the executive director had relocated to perform 
their duties. The table below summarises how different elements of remuneration are typically treated in specific circumstances, with the final treatment 
remaining subject to the committee’s discretion which will take into account the executive director’s personal performance. 

Item Approach

Pay in lieu of notice The Company will make any termination payment in monthly instalments over what would have been the notice period until the earlier 
of the director commencing in a new position or the notice period expiring. The executive has a duty to mitigate his or her loss of 
office and actively seek alternative comparable employment at the earliest opportunity, thereby reducing the need for compensation. 
The committee may decide to waive the requirement to mitigate in exceptional circumstances, for example compassionate reasons.

Retirement and  
other related  
benefits

Retirement and other benefits continue to be provided during the notice period but cease on the termination date. Executive directors 
who leave in circumstances approved by the committee, for example, incapacity retirement, may have a favourable actuarial 
reduction applied to their pension or may receive a pension related enhancement under the rules of the Plan. 

Benefits May be eligible to receive limited benefits, such as untaken holiday pay, relocation and, for a certain period of time, private health 
insurance, permanent health insurance, and financial and legal advice. 

Annual incentives Annual incentives may be paid on a prorated basis dependent on the circumstances under which the executive is leaving the Company, 
for example redundancy, retirement, death, injury or ill health, to the extent that financial and individual objectives set at the beginning  
of the relevant year have been met. Any resulting bonus will be prorated for time served during the year. 

Long term incentives Outstanding share based awards will generally vest at the end of their original measurement period (to the extent performance 
conditions are met) on a time prorated basis, in the event of serious ill health, injury or disability and retirement (with employer consent) 
and in any other circumstances where the committee would decide, in its sole discretion, to allow the awards to vest. The committee 
has discretion to allow the awards to vest immediately on cessation of employment (eg in the event of death or other compassionate 
circumstances) and, in very exceptional circumstances, without applying time prorating if it thinks this is appropriate. More specific 
provisions relating to change of control are given below.

SAYE Participants in the SAYE schemes who leave because of injury, disability, redundancy, retirement or the sale of a business will have 
the option to buy a reduced number of Rexam shares with their savings within six months from the date of leaving. The option to buy 
shares lapses at the end of six months. Options held by participants leaving for other reasons will lapse except if the contract has 
been held for at least three years from the date of grant in which case the option to buy shares continues for six months from the  
date of leaving employment.

Deferred shares The proportion of the annual incentive paid in deferred shares will vest on the date of termination of employment (subject to the 
executive director’s restrictive covenants, and the Company’s right to initiate clawback) if the participant leaves because of death,  
ill health, injury, retirement (with employer consent), redundancy, sale of business, voluntary resignation, or for any other reason 
which the committee considers appropriate.
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Item Approach

Takeover In the event of a takeover or other major corporate event (but excluding an internal corporate reorganisation of the Company),  
all outstanding awards granted under the LTIP and the deferred bonus plan would vest and in the case of the LTIP, subject to the 
achievement of any performance conditions as determined by the committee and taking into account any pro rata reduction to 
reflect the unexpired part of the performance period. The committee has discretion to disapply time pro rating if it considers it 
appropriate to do so. In the event of an internal corporate reorganisation or a takeover, the committee may determine, with the 
agreement of the acquiring company, that outstanding awards should be exchanged for equivalent awards in another company.
Options granted under the Company’s Savings Related Share Option Schemes would become exercisable in accordance with  
the prescribed legislation.

Consideration of employment conditions elsewhere in the Group
The Company encourages each of its businesses to engage with its employees in the form of team briefings, ‘town hall’ meetings or through the employee 
engagement survey to discuss and answer questions, or give feedback, on matters of relevance to them. However, the Company does not formally consult 
with employees on remuneration policy or framework. When making decisions on executive director remuneration, the committee considers pay and conditions 
across the broader employee base. Prior to the annual salary review, the committee considers the proposed level of increase for overall employee pay. An 
exception to this may be considered where new appointees have initial base salaries set below market, and where there is an intention for any shortfall to 
be managed with phased increases over a period of two to three years or where the role of the executive director has increased substantially due to a change 
in the scope of the position or organisational change.

Consideration of shareholder views 
In December 2013 the remuneration committee chairman wrote to the Company’s major institutional shareholders to share the proposed changes to the 
remuneration policy for 2014 and the committee’s considerations for such changes. Some shareholders took the opportunity to discuss the measures and 
targets for the 2014 LTIP award with management and responses were supportive.

Proposed policy 
continued

70 Rexam Annual Report 2013



AnnUAL REMUnERATIOn REPORT 2013

single total figure for executive directors’ remuneration (audited information)
The table below sets out a single figure for the total remuneration due, or which will become due, to each executive director for the year ended 31 December 
2013 and the prior reported year.

Base salary 
£000

Retirement
related benefits 

£000
Other benefits 

£000

Total fixed 
remuneration 

£000

Annual 
incentive cash 

£000

Annual 
incentive deferred 

share payment 
£000

LTIP value 
2011 

award 
(est) 

£000

LTIP value 
2010 

award 
(actual) 

£000
Total 

£000

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Graham 
Chipchase 763 738 407 356 10 31 1,180 1,125 289 791 96 264 1,907 2,551 3,472 4,731

David 
Robbie 461 449 252 214 3 4 716 667 174 484 58 161 1,181 1,550 2,129 2,862

Total 1,224 1,187 659 570 13 35 1,896 1,792 463 1,275 154 425 3,088 4,101 5,601 7,593

1 The table does not include the fees that Graham Chipchase received as a non executive director of AstraZeneca PLC.

2 The total emoluments due to the executive directors and the non executive directors in respect of the year ended 31 December 2013 calculated in accordance with  
Schedule 5 of the Companies Act 2006 is £3,007,000 (2012: £4,109,000). 

The figures in the table have been calculated as follows:
•	Base salary: the actual salary earned.

•	Retirement related benefits: for 2013, the value of the salary supplement paid equal to 44% of base salary, together with the value of the net increase in 
pension accrual which represents the incremental value to the director of the benefit accrued up to 31 December and 4.2% of base salary which represents 
the cost of providing life assurance and incapacity benefits. Both Graham Chipchase and David Robbie chose that none of their base salary would be 
pensionable in 2013 and made no employee contributions. For 2012, the retirement related benefits were calculated and disclosed in accordance with 
the regulations applicable at that time and have not been restated in the table above. 

•	Other benefits: the value of annual benefits received in the year which comprise one or more of healthcare, accommodation, meals and, for 2013, the 
value of the discount on the shares under option and exercisable at the end of 2014 through the SAYE Scheme.

•	Annual incentive cash payment: the value on 31 December of the cash incentive payable in the following March for achievement of targets.

•	Annual incentive deferred share element: the value on 31 December of the deferred share award representing 25% of the total annual incentive payable 
in the following March for achievement of targets.

•	Long term incentive plan (LTIP): for 2012, the actual value of the 2010 award paid on the date of vesting in 2013 at a market price of £5.2492 per share. The LTIP 
value of the 2010 award disclosed in the remuneration report 2012 was the estimated value as the award had not reached its vesting date which was 11 March 2013. 
For 2013, the estimated value of the 2011 award at the actual vesting percentage and an average share price of £4.993 for the three months to 31 December 
2013, together with the cash value of the dividend equivalent that will be paid on the vested shares. The actual vesting date is not until 10 March 2014.

Annual incentive outcome 2013 (audited information)
To incentivise management to achieve profitable growth and sustainable cash flow, the annual cash incentive financial targets in 2013 depended upon the 
realisation of targets for Group underlying profit before tax and free cash flow as well as personal performance. At target, the annual incentive achievement 
was 90% of base salary and the maximum incentive opportunity was 180% of base salary for achieving demanding financial targets and exceeding personal 
performance objectives. Personal performance was measured against personal objectives and Rexam specific leadership practices. The executive directors 
receive 25% of any annual incentive as a deferred award over Rexam shares, with no additional performance conditions save that such shares must be 
held for a period of not less than three years and are subject to clawback. The policy relating to clawback is described in the policy section of this report.

The financial targets for 2013 were partially achieved and resulted in the executive directors being entitled to an annual incentive of 47.3% of base salary in 
respect of financial targets. In addition, the committee assessed the achievement by each executive director of their personal objectives set at the beginning 
of 2013 and agreed attainment levels as indicated in the table below.

Annual incentive outcomes for Graham Chipchase 2013

Performance achieved relative to targets¹ Incentive payout

Performance measure Weighting %
Maximum % 

of salary
Below 

threshold
Threshold 

to target
Target to 

maximum
Above 

maximum

Actual 
performance

achieved2

% of 
salary

achieved

Underlying profit before tax 50% 90% ✓ £421m 0%

Free cash flow 30% 54% ✓ £186m 47.3%

Personal objectives 20% 36%  ✓ 22.5%

Total 180% 69.8%*

1 The actual targets are not disclosed as the board considered that their disclosure would provide an unfair advantage to the Company’s competitors.  
The 2013 targets will be disclosed in the Directors’ remuneration report 2014.

2 Adjusted for items not subject to bonus.

*  Having reviewed these outcomes and taking the actual profit performance compared to the original target, the committee reduced the total incentive 
payment to 50% of base salary amounting to £384,500 for Graham Chipchase.
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Annual incentive outcomes for david Robbie 2013

Performance achieved relative to targets¹ Incentive payout

Performance measure Weighting %
Maximum % 

of salary
Below 

threshold
Threshold 

to target
Target to 

maximum
Above 

maximum

Actual 
performance

achieved2

% of 
salary

achieved

Underlying profit before tax 50% 90% ✓ £421m 0%

Free cash flow 30% 54% ✓ £186m 47.3%

Personal objectives 20% 36% ✓ 23.4%

Total 180% 70.7%*

1 The actual targets are not disclosed as the board considered that their disclosure would provide an unfair advantage to the Company’s competitors.  
The 2013 targets will be disclosed in the Directors’ remuneration report 2014. 

2 Adjusted for items not subject to bonus.

*  Having reviewed these outcomes and taking the actual profit performance compared to the original target, the committee reduced the total incentive 
payment to 50% of base salary amounting to £232,250 for David Robbie.

Long term incentive outcome 2013 (audited information)
Long term incentive awards granted in 2011 through the LTIP completed their measurement period on 31 December 2013. Vesting of the awards was dependent 
on three equally weighted measures over a three year performance period; EPS growth, relative TSR versus the largest 150 companies (excluding investment 
trusts) by market capitalisation within the FTSE All Share Index, and ROCE. There is no retest provision. The awards were granted with the right to the payment 
in cash of a dividend equivalent on the number of shares that vest based on the notional value of the dividends paid between the date of grant and the date 
of transfer of the shares. Further details, including vesting schedules and performance against each of the measures is provided in the table below.

Measure Weighting

Threshold 
(vesting 

25%)

Maximum 
(vesting 
100%) Outcome Vesting

EPS growth 33% 3% pa 12% pa 8.2% pa 22.3%

Relative TSR 33% Median
Upper 

quartile
33rd in 
ranking 33.3%

ROCE1 33% 11% 15% 14.6% 30.8%

Overall LTIP vesting 86.4%

1 The outcome reflects three year average ROCE achievement. 

For each of the three performance measures, the vesting below threshold is nil. Between threshold and maximum, the vesting is calculated on a straight 
line basis between 25% and 100%, and the vesting is capped at 100% for achievements at or above maximum.

Each executive director’s award will vest on 10 March 2014, the first business day after the third anniversary of the date of grant. For the purpose of single 
total figure for remuneration, the value of the LTIP vesting in 2014 has been estimated as set out below.

Executive director
Interests 

held Vesting

Dividend 
equivalent 
per share

Interests 
vesting

Date 
vesting

Assumed 
market 

price
Dividend 

equivalent
Estimated 
total value

Graham Chipchase 406,715 86.4% 43.3p 351,401 10.03.14 £4.993 £152,157 £1,906,702

David Robbie 251,982 86.4% 43.3p 217,712 10.03.14 £4.993 £94,269 £1,181,305

As the market price on the date of vesting is unknown at the time of reporting, the value is estimated using the average market value over the last three months 
of 2013 of £4.993 per share. The actual value at vesting will be notified in the Directors’ remuneration report 2014.

LTIP awards to executive directors in 2013 (audited information)
In April 2013, executive directors were granted nil cost options under the LTIP. The three year performance period over which performance will be measured 
commenced on 1 January 2013 and will end on 31 December 2015. The awards vest on 3 April 2016, the third anniversary of the date of grant and,  
if performance targets are achieved, executive directors can exercise their options to the extent vested at any time before 3 April 2023.

Executive director Date of grant

Earliest 
date of 

exercise

Award value as 
a percentage 

of salary1

Award value as 
a percentage 

of threshold 
vesting

Shares over 
which awards

granted2

Average price 
at date of

award3

Face value at 
date awards 

granted

Graham Chipchase 03.04.13 03.04.16 220% 25% 312,027 £5.288 £1,649,999

David Robbie 03.04.13 03.04.16 220% 25% 188,464 £5.288 £996,598

1 Based on annual salary at date of grant.

2 The number of shares over which awards were granted represent the maximum number of shares which would vest if the performance conditions are achieved in full. 

3 The awards were granted using the average of the middle market quotations of a share during the five dealing days immediately preceding the date of grant.

Annual remuneration report 2013 
continued

72 Rexam Annual Report 2013



For the LTIP awards granted in 2011, 2012 and 2013, executive directors were granted conditional awards as nil cost options. The vesting of the LTIP awards 
on the third anniversary from the date of grant is dependent on three equally weighted measures over a three calendar year performance period; EPS growth, 
relative TSR versus the largest 150 companies (excluding investment trusts) by market capitalisation within the FTSE All Share Index, and ROCE. There is no 
retest provision. The table below sets out the performance ranges for each measure over the past three years. The ROCE performance range was increased 
in 2012 then again in 2013, the EPS threshold was increased in 2013, reflecting the Group’s improving performance.

2013 grant 2012 grant 2011 grant

Performance measures Weight Performance ranges1 Target Target Target

Compound earnings per share  
(EPS) growth per annum 

33.3% threshold 5% pa 3% pa 3% pa

maximum 12% pa 12% pa 12% pa

Relative total shareholder return  
(TSR) performance  

33.3% threshold median median median

maximum2 25th 25th 25th

Return on capital employed  
(ROCE) 

33.3% threshold 14% 12% 11%

maximum 16% 16% 15%

1 Between the threshold and maximum targets, vesting will be calculated on a straight line basis between 25% and 100% of maximum.

2 Maximum vesting is at or above the 25th percentile of the comparator group. 

single total figure for non executive directors’ fees (audited information)
The table below sets out a single figure for the total fees due, or which will become due, to each non executive director for the year ended 31 December 
2013 and the prior reported year. 

2013
Fees

2012 
Fees

2013
Benefits2

2012
Benefits2

2013
Total

2012
Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Chairman

Stuart Chambers1 (appointed 1 February 2012) 320 277 1 1 321 278

Sir Peter Ellwood (retired 22 February 2012) – 46 – 3 – 49

Non executive directors

Noreen Doyle (retired 31 December 2012) – 65 – 1 – 66

John Langston 70 65 1 2 71 67

Wolfgang Meusburger (retired 31 August 2012) – 37 – – – 37

Leo Oosterveer 55 55 – – 55 55

Ros Rivaz (appointed 12 June 2013) 30 – – – 30 –

Jean-Pierre Rodier 70 65 – – 70 65

Johanna Waterous (appointed 4 May 2012) 70 43 1 – 71 43

Total 615 653 3 7 618 660

1 Stuart Chambers was appointed to the Board on 1 February 2012 as a non executive director and succeeded Sir Peter Ellwood as chairman on 23 February 2012.

2 The benefits in kind related to events to which the directors were invited. 

Payments made in the year to former directors (audited information)
No former directors have received any payment from Rexam in 2013 (2012: nil).

Payments made in the year for loss of office (audited information)
No payments were made by Rexam to any director in respect of loss of office in 2013 (2012: nil).

directors’ shareholding, share interests and shareholding requirements (audited information)
In order to forge a closer community of interest with shareholders, executive directors are required to accumulate over time and retain a shareholding in 
the Company. Shares can be purchased in the market or acquired on the vesting of share incentives. Shares awarded through the deferred bonus plan  
are included for the purpose of assessing the minimum shareholding requirement.
The current minimum shareholding requirement is 320,000 shares for the chief executive and 130,000 shares for the finance director. Other executive 
directors have a requirement of 130,000 shares. The share ownership guidelines for the chief executive and the other executive directors are reviewed 
annually. The committee has reviewed the guidelines during 2013 and considers that the current minimum shareholding requirement remains relevant. 
Graham Chipchase and David Robbie exceeded their minimum shareholding requirement during 2013. The majority of the ELT members (see page 49) 
have met their minimum 50,000 shareholding requirement. Those that have not met their minimum shareholding requirement were not eligible to 
participate in the 2010 LTIP award or their award was insufficient to fully cover their requirement. 
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The table below shows the shareholding of each director against their respective shareholding requirement as at 31 December 2013, including those 
interests of connected persons where applicable.

Shareholding requirement
Shares beneficially 

owned3
Deferred bonus shares

subject to holding period

LTIP shares
subject to performance 

conditions4 

SAYE options
in savings period and can 

not be exercised 

Shares

Equivalent
% of 2013

salary2

 
1 Jan

 20131
31 Dec 

2013
1 Jan
 2013

31 Dec 
2013

1 Jan 
2013

31 Dec
2013

1 Jan
2013

 
31 Dec

2013

Share-
holding 

requirement 
met?

Executive directors

Graham Chipchase 320,000 222 168,441 384,241 55,257 107,301 1,301,076 1,093,873 7,334 7,334 Yes

David Robbie 130,000 150 74,436 214,535 33,290 65,126 798,215 671,295 7,334 7,334 Yes

Chairman and non executive directors

Stuart Chambers 30,000 47,000 –

John Langston 4,090 3,681 –

Leo Oosterveer 4,000 3,600 –

Ros Rivaz – 4,000 –

Jean-Pierre Rodier 8,181 7,362 –

Johanna Waterous 10,000 11,500 –

1 Or date of appointment, if later. Ros Rivaz was appointed as a non executive director on 12 June 2013.

2 The value of each executive director’s shareholding requirement was calculated using the 31 December 2013 mid market price of £5.305 per share. 

3 Following the share consolidation on 25 January 2013, all shareholders received nine new shares for every 10 existing shares held on that date. The variation between the 
shares beneficially owned on 1 January 2013 and 31 December 2013 includes that consolidation.

4 The value of the LTIP awarded in 2010 and which vested in March 2013 is given in the notes to the table on page 75.

The above interests in awards and options over shares at 31 December 2013 remain unchanged at the date of this report.

deferred Bonus Incentive Plan (dBIP)
The number of shares to which the participant is entitled is reflected in the ‘outstanding’ columns of the table. Executive directors held the following awards 
over shares which represents 25% of their annual incentive entitlement in respect of 2011 and 2012.

Market 
value per 
share on 

date of 
grant

£ Grant date

Exercise  
price per  
holding  

£
 

Release date

Outstanding  
01.01.13  
Number

Granted  
during  

the year  
number

Outstanding  
31.12.13  
Number

Graham Chipchase 4.16 28.02.12 nil 28.02.15 55,257 – 55,257

5.069 28.02.13 nil 28.02.16 – 52,044 52,044

Total 55,257 52,044 107,301

David Robbie 4.16 28.02.12 nil 28.02.15 33,290 – 33,290

5.069 28.02.13 nil 28.02.16 – 31,836 31,836

Total 33,290 31,836 65,126

Annual remuneration report 2013 
continued
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Long Term Incentive Plan 2009 (LTIP)
The maximum number of shares to which the participant is entitled is reflected in the ‘outstanding’ columns of the table. Executive directors held the following 
awards over shares.

notes

Market 
value per 
share on 

date of 
grant

£ Grant date

Exercise  
price per  
holding  

£

Vesting  
date  

(note 1)

Outstanding  
01.01.13  
number

Granted  
during  

the year  
number

Exercised  
during  

the year  
number

Lapsed  
during  

the year  
number

Outstanding  
31.12.13  
Number

Graham Chipchase 2 2.8600 11.03.10 nil 11.03.13 519,230 – 485,999 33,231 –

3 3.6512 08.03.11 nil 08.03.14 406,715 – – – 406,715

3 4.1930 15.03.12 nil 15.03.15 375,131 – – – 375,131

3 5.2880 03.04.13 nil 03.04.16 – 312,027 – – 312,027

Total 1,301,076 312,027 485,999 33,231 1,093,873

David Robbie 2 2.8600 11.03.10 nil 11.03.13 315,384 – 295,199 20,185 –

3 3.6512 08.03.11 nil 08.03.14 251,982 – – – 251,982

3 4.1930 15.03.12 nil 15.03.15 230,849 – – – 230,849

3 5.2880 03.04.13 nil 03.04.16 – 188,464 – – 188,464

Total 798,215 188,464 295,199 20,185 671,295

1 The vesting date for the 2011 awards is 10.03.14 as 08.03.14 is not a business day. The vesting date is subject to performance conditions being met at the relevant time.

2 The award was subject to performance measures over a three year period which commenced on 1 January 2010 and ended on 31 December 2012. The award vested at 93.6% 
on 11 March 2013. The market value of the award on this date was £5.2492 per share resulting in a gain of £2.55m for Graham Chipchase and £1.55m for David Robbie.

3 The awards are subject to the performance measures shown on page 73, measured over a three year period which commenced on 1 January in the year of grant. The measurement 
period for the awards granted in 2011 ended on 31 December 2013.

savings Related share Option scheme (sAyE)
Executive directors held the following options over shares through the SAYE. The number of shares which the participant is entitled to buy when the exercise 
period commences is shown in the ‘outstanding’ column of the table. 

Grant  
date

Exercise price  
per share  

£

Exercise  
period  

commences
Expiry  

date

Outstanding  
01.01.13  
Number 

Outstanding  
31.12.13  
Number

Graham Chipchase 15.10.09 2.12 01.12.14 31.05.15 7,334 7,334

David Robbie 15.10.09 2.12 01.12.14 31.05.15 7,334 7,334

1 No options were granted to, exercised by or lapsed by executive directors during the year.

During the year, the Company remained within the issued share capital headroom limits as set out in the rules of its share incentive arrangements for the 
issue of new shares. 

Headroom limits
% of issued share capital  

as at 31.12.13
% of issued share capital  

as at 31.12.12

5% in 10 years for executive share schemes 0.4 0.8

10% in 10 years for all of the Company’s share schemes 0.7 1.2
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Review of performance 
The following graph charts the Total Shareholder Return of the Company and the FTSE 100 Index over the five year period from 31 December 2008 to  
31 December 2013. The FTSE 100 was selected as the Company is a constituent member and it is considered to be the most appropriate broad equity market 
index against which the Company’s performance should be measured. The graph shows the value at each year end to 31 December 2013, assuming that 
dividends have been reinvested, of £100 invested in Rexam shares on 31 December 2008 compared with the value of £100 invested over the same period 
in the FTSE 100 share index. The Rexam share price for the period preceding the rights issue in 2009 has been adjusted for the bonus element inherent in 
that rights issue. Total shareholder return reflected in the graph is not an indication of the likely vesting of awards granted under the LTIP which is based on 
a different comparator group, as explained on page 65.

Comparison of five year cumulative total  Comparison of three year cumulative total 
shareholder return  shareholder return

Chief executive total remuneration 2009 to 2013 

20091 2010 2011 20122 20133

Chief executive single figure of remuneration (£000) 1,622 1,703 1,911 4,731  3,472

Short term incentive award received against maximum opportunity % 69 100 71 78 28

Long term incentive award received against maximum opportunity % – – –  94  86

1  Leslie Van de Walle retired as chief executive on 31 December 2009 and Graham Chipchase was appointed as chief executive on 1 January 2010.

2 The value of the 2010 LTIP award is reflected in the chief executive’s single total figure remuneration for 2012.

3 The estimated value of the 2011 LTIP award is reflected in the chief executive’s single total figure remuneration for 2013.

Annual remuneration report 2013 
continued
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Percentage change in chief executive remuneration
The table below shows the percentage change in the chief executive’s remuneration between 2012 and 2013 compared to the average percentage change 
in remuneration for all other UK salaried employees. As the chief executive is based in the UK, it is considered that the UK salaried employees provide an 
appropriate comparator group. 

Chief executive UK salaried employees

Change
%

Change1

%

Salary 3 5

Taxable benefits (68) (14)

Annual incentive payable (64) (60)

Total (37)  (5)

1 Change in the percentage of the average remuneration for UK salaried employees between 2012 and 2013.

Relative importance of spend on pay 
The table below shows the total pay for all of Rexam’s employees in continuing operations compared to other key financial indicators such as shareholder 
distributions (ie dividends and share buybacks), sales and profit before tax for continuing operations for the financial years ended 31 December 2012 and 
31 December 2013, along with the percentage change in both. 

Year ended 31 December 2013 Year ended 31 December 2012 Change %

Employee remuneration (£m)1 494 482 2

Distribution to shareholders:

Dividends paid (£m) 125 128 (2)

Return of cash (£m) 393 – n/a

Total shareholder distributions 518 128 305

Average number of employees1 8,000 7,800 3

Sales (£m)1 3,943 3,885 1

Profit before tax (£m)1 339 319 6

1 Continuing operations.
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Annual remuneration report 2013 
continued

IMPLEMEnTATIOn OF PROPOsEd REMUnERATIOn POLICy TO BE APPROvEd In 2014
It is intended that this remuneration policy shall take binding effect, subject to shareholder approval, from the date of the annual general meeting of the 
Company on 2 May 2014.

Base salary
The committee approved the following base salary increases with effect from 1 May 2014 taking account of our proposed remuneration policy, personal 
performance and the experience of the executive director.

Executive director
Base salary 

01.05.14
Base salary 

01.05.13
Percentage 

increase

Graham Chipchase £784,380 £769,000 2%

David Robbie £473,790 £464,500 2%

Retirement benefits
Executive directors will continue to receive a cash supplement of 44% on salary not elected to be pensioned which has been actuarially calculated and is 
the value of providing the benefit accrual to the member through the Rexam Pension Plan.

Annual incentive
For 2014 the committee approved a maximum annual incentive opportunity for executive directors of 180% of base salary, this is unchanged from the opportunity 
in 2012 and 2013. In addition, 25% of any annual incentive earned will be received as a deferred award over Rexam shares, with no further performance 
conditions save that such shares must be held for a period of not less than three years and are subject to clawback. The following performance conditions 
will apply, with focus on growth through personal objectives and the introduction of cash conversion to the cash element.

Performance measure Weighting Targets

Underlying profit before tax 50% The actual profit and cash targets are 
considered commercially sensitive as they are 
linked to annual projections for 2014. 
Achievement against targets will be disclosed in 
the Directors’ remuneration report 2014.

Cash: 75% free cash flow/25% cash conversion 30%

Growth related personal objectives (eg revenue growth or market share) and other 
personal objectives 20%

Long term incentives
Following shareholder consultation, LTIP awards to be granted in 2014 will be calculated on 220% of base salary at date of grant and be based on a different 
mix of performance measures with reduced focus on ROCE. Rexam has made good progress on ROCE with 15.5% achieved in 2013, and the committee is 
keen to maintain a ROCE element in the LTIP, while refocusing on other considerations for performance, including growth. The 2014 award will focus on EPS, 
with a ROCE underpin, and TSR. The EPS range for the LTIP 2013 award was increased from a target range of 3% –12% to a target range of 5%–12%.  
This range is unchanged for the awards to be granted in 2014.

Performance measure Weighting Targets

Earnings per Share (EPS) growth 
CAGR of EPS from 2014 to 2016

75% Threshold (vesting 25%): 5% pa growth
Maximum: 12% pa growth
Vesting for performance between threshold and  
maximum is calculated on a straight line basis. 
Will only pay out if three year average ROCE  
(2014–2016) is at or above 12% (and above  
the three year average cost of capital).

Relative total shareholder return (TSR)
Rexam three year TSR compared to the three year TSR of the largest 150 companies 
(excluding investment trusts) by market capitalisation within the FTSE All Share Index

25% Threshold (vesting 25%): median
Maximum: upper quartile
Vesting for performance between threshold and  
maximum is calculated on a straight line basis. 

non executive director fees 
The fee basis for 2014 remains the same as in 2013.

Role Annual fee

Chairman £320,000

Non executive director base fee £55,000

Senior independent director fee £15,000

Chair of board committee fee £15,000
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REMUnERATIOn COMMITTEE

Remuneration committee membership 2013
The board has approved the terms of reference delegating certain responsibilities to the committee. The terms of reference are reviewed annually and are 
available on the Company’s website.

The members of the committee during 2013 were all independent non executive directors.

Committee membership Attendance¹

Jean-Pierre Rodier (committee chairman) 5/5

John Langston 5/5

Ros Rivaz (appointed 11 December 2013) 1/1

Johanna Waterous 5/5

1 Number of scheduled meetings attended/maximum number of meetings that the director could have attended.

The committee invites the chairman of the Company to attend its meetings and normally also invites Graham Chipchase, the chief executive, Nikki Rolfe, 
the Group director human resources, and Kate Grant, the Group rewards director. David Gibson, the company secretary, attends in his capacity as secretary 
to the committee and as Group general counsel. None of them attends the part of the meeting where his or her own remuneration is being discussed. 
Other directors and senior managers are invited to attend meetings where their expertise is requested by the committee for specific agenda items.

Remuneration committee areas of focus 2013

Strategy and policy Directors’ remuneration report, remuneration policy strategic review, committee operation, committee evaluation.

Executive directors and ELT Salary reviews, personal performance objectives and achievement.

Annual incentives Assess performance, consider achievement against targets for 2012 annual incentive and 2013 payments, agree 
measures and targets for annual incentive 2014. For deferred bonus plan, review of policy, grant of awards.

Long term incentives For LTIP, vesting of 2010 LTIP award, general parameters and measures and targets for 2013 LTIP awards, review  
of achievement to date against targets for 2011 LTIP and 2012 LTIP awards, amendments to incentive plan rules;  
and grant of awards/options. 

Other items Chairman’s fees, review minimum shareholding requirements, termination arrangements and other general matters. 

Advisers
Kepler Associates (Kepler) is the independent remuneration consultant to the committee and, following a market review, was appointed by the Company  
in 2010 to provide executive remuneration advice and market data for salaries and incentive programmes. Representatives of Kepler attended committee 
meetings when requested to do so and provided advice to the committee on remuneration strategy, compliance with regulations and remuneration 
benchmarking during the financial year. The committee considered the relationship with Kepler and is satisfied that Kepler provide independent and 
objective advice to the committee. Consultancy fees of £82,920 were paid to Kepler based on time and materials during 2013 in respect of their support 
to the committee. Kepler do not provide any other services to the Company. 

Aon Hewitt Limited and Mercer Limited provide retirement benefits advice to the committee when requested and, in addition to their services to the committee, 
they provide pension consultancy and retirement benefits accounting advice to the Group. No consultancy fees were paid to Aon Hewitt and Mercer during 
2013 in respect of services to the committee. 

Allen & Overy LLP provides legal advice on the operation of cash and share incentive schemes, and employment and retirement benefits matters to the 
committee and is also the Group’s principal UK legal advisor. 

summary of shareholder’s votes on the remuneration report 2012 at the AGM 2013 
The following table shows the results of the advisory vote on the Remuneration Report approved at the AGM 2013. 

Vote Number of votes
% of votes cast  

(excluding withheld votes )
% of votes cast 

(including withheld votes)

For 535,592,269 97.79 97.39

Against 12,094,961 2.21 2.20

Votes withheld 2,267,612 – 0.41

Total 549,954,842 100 100

On behalf of the board 
Jean-Pierre Rodier 
Remuneration committee chairman 
20 February 2014
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The directors present their report for the financial year ended 31 December 
2013. This directors’ report incorporates the corporate governance information 
on pages 45 to 61. The annual report has been prepared for, and only for, 
the members of the Company, as a body, and no other persons. The Company, 
its directors, employees, agents and advisors do not accept or assume 
responsibility to any other person to whom this document is shown or into 
whose hands it may come and any such responsibility or liability is expressly 
disclaimed. This annual report may contain statements which are not based 
on current or historical fact and which are forward looking in nature. These 
forward looking statements reflect knowledge and information available at 
the date of preparation of this annual report and the Company undertakes 
no obligation to update these forward looking statements. Such forward 
looking statements are subject to known and unknown risks and uncertainties 
facing the Group including, without limitation, those risks described in this 
annual report, and other unknown future events and circumstances which 
can cause results and developments to differ materially from those anticipated. 
Nothing in this annual report should be construed as a profit forecast.

sTATEMEnT OF dIRECTORs’ REsPOnsIBILITIEs
The current directors of the Company are responsible for preparing the 
annual report, the remuneration report and the financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and regulations. 

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements  
for each financial year. Under that law the directors have prepared  
the consolidated financial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union 
and the parent company financial statements in accordance with UK 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (UK Accounting Standards and 
applicable law). Under company law the directors must not approve the 
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company and of the profit 
or loss of the Group for that year. In preparing these financial statements, 
the directors are required to:

•	select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

•	make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable  
and prudent;

•	state whether IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and applicable 
UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the consolidated and parent 
company financial statements respectively; and

•	prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it  
is inappropriate to presume that the Group and the Company will 
continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records 
that are sufficient to show and explain the Group’s and the Company’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the Company and the Group and enable them to ensure that the 
financial statements and the remuneration report comply with the Companies 
Act 2006 and, as regards the consolidated financial statements, Article 4 
of the IAS Regulation. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets 
of the Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for 
the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities, and responsible 
for the maintenance and integrity of the Group’s website. Legislation in the 
UK governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements 
may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 

The directors consider that the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, 
is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the information necessary 
for shareholders to assess the Company’s and the Group’s performance, 
business model and strategy.

Each of the current directors, whose names are listed on pages 46 and 47  
of the annual report, confirms that, to the best of his or her knowledge:

•	the consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in 
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, give a true and fair view  
of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit of the Group; and

•	the strategic report includes a fair review of the development and 
performance of the business and the position of the Group, together  
with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that it faces.

dIvIdEnds
Subject to shareholder approval, the directors have proposed a 2013  
final dividend of 11.7p per share. The total dividend for the year ended 
31 December 2013 is 17.4p per share (2012: 15.2p).

Dividend 
per share 

(p)

Ex 
dividend 

date
Record 

date
Payment 

date

2013 interim 5.7 14.08.13 16.08.13 11.09.13

2013 final 11.7 07.05.14 09.05.14 29.05.14

PRInCIPAL ACqUIsITIOns And dIsPOsALs
As reported in the annual report 2012, the disposal of the Group’s Personal 
Care business completed on 31 December 2012 for a total consideration 
of £430m. 

On 3 February 2014, Rexam announced the proposed sale of the 
pharmaceutical devices and prescription retail packaging divisions of its 
Healthcare business to Montagu Private Equity for US$805m in cash. The 
transaction is subject to consultation with various European works councils 
and is conditional on the necessary regulatory approvals and subject to 
certain adjustments at completion. The transaction is expected to complete 
around the middle of 2014.

On 13 February 2014, Rexam announced that it has signed an agreement to 
acquire a 51% controlling interest in beverage can maker United Arab Can 
Manufacturing Limited (UAC) for US$122m. The transaction is subject to 
regulatory approvals and is expected to complete in the third quarter of 2014. 

dIRECTORs And dIRECTORs’ InTEREsTs
The board of directors during the year ended 31 December 2013 and at the 
date of this annual report is set out on pages 46 and 47. The appointment 
of Ros Rivaz is discussed on page 53. There were no other changes to the 
board during 2013 and up until the date of this annual report. 

None of the directors had any interest during or at the end of the year in  
any contract of significance in relation to the business of the Company  
or its subsidiary undertakings. 

Full details of the interests in the share capital of the Company of those directors 
holding office on 31 December 2013, including any interest of a connected 
person, are set out in the remuneration report.

sHARE CAPITAL
At 31 December 2013, the Company had 791,961,072 ordinary shares  
of 713/7p each in issue as shown in note 28 to the consolidated  
financial statements.

There are no restrictions on the transfer of the Company’s ordinary shares 
other than certain restrictions which may be imposed by law, for example, 
insider trading law.

directors’ report
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RETURn OF CAsH And sHARE COnsOLIdATIOn
As reported in the annual report 2012, shareholders approved a return of 
cash to shareholders of 45p per existing ordinary share by way of one new 
B share for each existing ordinary share on 24 January 2013. In addition, 
the return of cash was accompanied by a consolidation of the existing 
ordinary shares in the ratio of nine new ordinary shares for every ten existing 
ordinary shares held. On 11 February 2013 a dividend of 45p per share 
was paid on 585,302,440 B shares and these shares were reclassified as 
deferred shares, and a further 284,810,974 B shares were redeemed for 
45p per share. On 8 April 2013, the remaining 8,271,056 B shares were 
redeemed for 45p per share. Further details can be found in note 28 to the 
consolidated financial statements and on our website.

POWERs GIvEn TO dIRECTORs
The powers given to the directors are contained in the articles of association 
(the Articles) and are subject to relevant legislation and, in certain circumstances, 
(including in relation to the issuing or buying back by the Company of its 
shares) subject to authority being given to the directors by shareholders in 
general meeting. The Articles also govern the appointment and replacement 
of directors. The Articles, which may only be amended with shareholders’ 
approval in accordance with relevant legislation, can be found on our website.

PURCHAsE OF OWn sHAREs
At the AGM 2013, shareholders passed a special resolution in accordance 
with the Companies Act 2006 and relevant institutional guidelines, to authorise 
the Company to purchase, should it wish to do so, a maximum of 79.08m 
shares in the market.

No shares were purchased in the market using this authority, nor has  
any contract been made to purchase shares under the previous or existing 
authorities from 1 January 2013 to the date of this report. The directors are 
seeking a renewal of the authority at the AGM 2014. Further details can be 
found in the notice of AGM 2014.

Share purchase authority
AGM 
2013

AGM 
2014

approved proposed

10% of issued share capital 79.08m 79.1m

sUBsTAnTIAL sHAREHOLdInGs
In accordance with the Disclosure and Transparency Rules (DTR) of the Financial 
Conduct Authority, the Company was advised of the following significant 
direct and indirect interests in the issued ordinary share capital of the 
Company as at 31 December 2013 and the date of this report.

Name of shareholder

Number of 
shares 

disclosed

% interest 
in issued 

share 
capital

BlackRock Inc1 44,138,256 5.03

Lazard Asset Management LLC 39,633,001 5.00

1 The information disclosed above relating to BlackRock Inc was notified to the 
Company prior to the share consolidation and no further notifications had been 
received at the date of this report.

Information provided to the Company pursuant to the DTR is publicly available 
via the regulatory information services and on the Company’s website.

REsEARCH And dEvELOPMEnT
The Group’s expenditure on research and development during the year 
amounted to £6m from continuing operations and £3m from discontinued 
operations (2012: £5m and £10m restated). Following our focus on innovation, 
the innovation board has commissioned research into three broad areas  
of activity; our Pack of the Future programme, Core Process initiatives from 
new technologies and our Plant of the Future programme. Further details 
can be found on pages 20 and 21.

sIGnIFICAnT AGREEMEnTs
The Company is required to disclose any significant agreements that take 
effect, alter or terminate on a change of control of the Company following 
a takeover bid. Some commercial agreements allow the counterparties to 
alter or terminate the arrangements in these circumstances. The Company 
also has committed debt facilities all of which are directly or indirectly subject 
to change of control provisions, albeit the facilities do not necessarily require 
mandatory prepayment on a change of control.

At 31 December 2013 the debt facilities subject to these provisions were:

Debt facilities1 Amount Maturity

Subordinated bond €750m June 2067

US private placement US$175m December 2024

US private placement US$395m December 2022

US private placement US$150m December 2022

US private placement €25m December 2022

Revolving credit facility £602m November 2018

Bilateral credit facility £45m November 2018

Bilateral credit facility £20m November 2018

Bilateral credit facility £20m November 2018

Bilateral credit facility £20m November 2018

Bilateral credit facility £20m November 2018

Bilateral credit facility £20m November 2018

Bilateral credit facility £20m November 2018

Bilateral credit facility £20m November 2018

Bilateral credit facility £20m November 2018

Bilateral credit facility £10m January 2016

GBP bilateral credit facility2 £250m May 2014

1 All of the bilateral credit facilities and the revolving credit facility are multi currency 
other than the £250m GBP bilateral credit facility.

2 Includes an option to extend the final maturity from May 2014 to May 2015 
subject to the agreement of the bank.

The service contracts of the executive directors do not contain a change of 
control provision.

The trustee of the Rexam Employee Share Trust (the Trust) holds shares in 
order to satisfy awards under the Rexam employee share incentive plans.  
If an offer is made to acquire the Company’s shares, the trustee is not obliged 
to accept or reject any such offer in respect of any shares which are intended 
to satisfy awards which are outstanding. However, the trustee shall have 
regard to the interests of the beneficiaries and shall have the power to consult 
them to obtain their views on such offer and, subject to the foregoing, may 
consider any recommendations made to it by the Company but shall not be 
obliged to comply with such recommendations.

The Company has granted a qualifying pension scheme indemnity in the 
form permitted by the Companies Act 2006 to the directors of Rexam Pension 
Trustees Limited, the Trustee to the Rexam Pension Plan. The indemnity remains 
in force at the date of this report.

IndEMnITIEs
The Company granted indemnities to Leo Oosterveer, Stuart Chambers, 
Johanna Waterous and Ros Rivaz on their appointments to the board. The 
indemnities relate to certain losses and liabilities which they may incur in 
the course of their duties and are in force as at the date of this report. Insurance 
cover also remains in place to protect all directors and senior management in 
the event of a claim being brought against them in their capacity as directors 
or officers of the Company and its subsidiaries. Similar indemnities will be 
offered to current and any new directors joining the board.
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BRAnCH OFFICE
During the year, the Company established, through one of its UK subsidiary 
companies, a branch office in Dubai for its Beverage Can Africa, Middle 
East & Asia sector. Further details relating to this sector can be found on 
page 11 of the annual report.

CORPORATE GOvERnAnCE sTATEMEnT
The information that fulfils the requirements of the corporate governance 
statement in accordance with rule 7.2 of the DTR can be found in this directors’ 
report and in the corporate governance information on pages 45 to 61 which 
is incorporated into this directors’ report by reference.

FInAnCIAL InsTRUMEnTs
The information relating to the Group’s financial assets and its financial risk 
management can be found in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements. 

InFORMATIOn InCLUdEd In sTRATEGIC REPORT
The information that fulfils the reporting requirements relating to the 
following matters can be found on the pages identified.

Subject matter Page reference

Likely future developments  11

Greenhouse gas emissions 37 

Employment of disabled persons  23

Employee involvement 23 

AUdITORs

disclosure of information to the auditors
Each person who is a director of the Company at the date of approval  
of this annual report confirms that:

•	so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information  
of which the Company’s auditors are unaware; and

•	each director individually has taken all the steps that he or she ought to 
have taken as a director to make him or herself aware of any relevant 
audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are  
aware of that information.

Reappointment of auditors
As disclosed on page 58 of the governance section, the audit  
and risk committee has considered the role and performance of 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the Company’s auditors. After such 
consideration, the audit and risk committee has recommended that 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP be proposed for reappointment at the  
AGM 2014.

AnnUAL GEnERAL MEETInG 2014
The AGM of the Company, details of which can be found in the notice  
of AGM 2014, will be held at 11.30am on 2 May 2014 at Church House, 
Dean’s Yard, London SW1. The notice of AGM 2014 is available on the 
Company’s website www.rexam.com. The directors consider that each  
of the resolutions to be proposed at the AGM 2014 is in the best interests  
of the Company and the shareholders as a whole and recommend that 
shareholders vote in favour of all of the resolutions. Shareholders may  
vote in person at the AGM 2014 or by proxy (the deadline for proxy  
votes to be received is 11.30am on 30 April 2014).

On behalf of the board

David Gibson 
Company secretary

20 February 2014

directors’ report
continued
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OuR OpiniOn  
In our opinion the Group financial statements, defined below:

•	give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2013 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended.

•	have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union.

•	have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

This opinion is to be read in the context of what we say in the remainder of this report.

WhAt We hAve Audited
The Group financial statements, which are prepared by Rexam PLC, comprise:

•	The consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2013.

•	The consolidated income statement for the year then ended.

•	The consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended.

•	The consolidated statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

•	The notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a summary of principal accounting policies and other explanatory information.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation comprises applicable law and IFRS as adopted by the European Union.

Certain disclosures required by the financial reporting framework have been presented elsewhere in the annual report, rather than in the notes to the 
financial statements. These are cross referenced from the financial statements and are marked as audited. 

WhAt An Audit Of finAnCiAl stAtements invOlves 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs (UK & Ireland”)). An audit involves obtaining evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of:

•	whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed;

•	the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and 

•	the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

In addition, we read all the financial and non financial information in the annual report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial 
statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in 
the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

OveRvieW Of OuR Audit AppROACh

materiality
We set certain thresholds for materiality. These helped us to determine the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of 
misstatement, both individually and on the financial statements as a whole. 

Based on our professional judgement, we set materiality for the Group financial statements as a whole at £20 million. In arriving at this judgement we 
have had regard to profit before tax, adjusted for exceptional items, amortisation of intangible assets, and the fair value adjustment on derivatives. 
Materiality was calculated as 5% of this performance measure.

We agreed with the audit and risk committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above £1m, as well as misstatements 
below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.

Overview of the scope of our audit
The Group is structured along five sectors: Beverage Can North America, Beverage Can South America, Beverage Can Europe, Beverage Can Africa 
Middle East & Asia (AMEA), and Healthcare. The Group financial statements are a consolidation of these sectors, comprising the Group’s operating 
businesses and centralised functions in these geographic areas. 

In establishing the overall Group audit strategy and plan, we determined the type of work that needed to be performed at each territory within the sectors 
by us, as the Group engagement team, or component auditors within PwC UK and from other PwC network firms operating under our instruction. Where 
the work was performed by component auditors, we determined the level of involvement we needed to have in the audit work at those territories to be able 
to conclude whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence had been obtained as a basis of our opinion on the Group financial statements as a whole. 

Of the Group’s five sectors, we identified four which, in our view, required an audit of their complete financial information, either due to their size or risk 
characteristics. Specific audit procedures on certain account balances and transactions were performed at AMEA, the remaining sector. This, together 
with additional procedures performed at the Group level, gave us the evidence we needed for our opinion on the Group financial statements as a whole.

Areas of particular audit focus
In preparing the financial statements, the directors made a number of subjective judgements, for example in respect of significant accounting estimates 
that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. We primarily focused our work in these areas by assessing 
the directors’ judgements against available evidence, forming our own judgements, and evaluating the disclosures in the financial statements.

In our audit, we tested and examined information, using sampling and other auditing techniques, to the extent we considered necessary to provide a 
reasonable basis for us to draw conclusions. We obtained audit evidence through testing the effectiveness of controls, substantive procedures or a 
combination of both. 

We considered the following areas to be those that required particular focus in the current year. This is not a complete list of all risks or areas of focus 
identified by our audit. We discussed these areas of focus with the audit and risk committee. Their report on those matters that they considered to be 
significant issues in relation to the financial statements is set out on pages 55 and 56.

independent auditors’ report to the members of 
Rexam plC
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Area of focus How the scope of our audit addressed the risk

Impairment assessment

We focused on this area because the assessment of the carrying value of 
goodwill and intangible assets, and the annual impairment review the 
directors are required to perform, requires the directors to make complex 
judgements about the future results of the business. (Refer to note 12 and 
note 13 of the financial statements.)

We evaluated the directors’ future cash flow forecasts, including comparing 
them to the latest Board approved budgets and testing the integrity of the 
underlying calculations. We challenged the directors’ key assumptions for 
discount and long term growth rates in the forecasts. In addition, we 
performed sensitivity analysis around the key drivers of the cash flow 
forecasts, including revenue and trading margin, to determine the extent of 
change in those assumptions that either individually or collectively would be 
required for assets to be impaired and the likelihood of such a change 
arising. For assets held for sale we examined the external offers received as 
the basis of the fair value of the business and the estimated costs to sell.

Significant contracts

We focused on significant contracts entered into by the Group because of 
the complexity of large contracts and the associated accounting 
implications.

We examined significant new contracts, in particular those effective in 
2013, including testing the Group’s own contract review process, and 
focused in particular on the treatment of up front payments, take or pay 
obligations, and potential embedded derivatives.

Provision for tax exposures

We focused on the directors’ assessment of the need for a provision 
relating to challenges by the tax authorities, particularly in Brazil, Russia, 
the US, and the UK because of the inherent uncertainty of the amount of 
provision required. (Refer to note 27 to the financial statements.)

We read the latest correspondence between the Group and the tax 
authorities, held meetings with senior Group management, including the 
Group’s in house tax specialists, and assessed the tax provisions established 
against identified exposures.

Risk of fraud in revenue recognition

ISAs (UK & Ireland) presume there is a risk of fraud in revenue recognition. 
Because of this, we focused on the existence of revenue and timing of 
recognition.

We tested the timing of revenue recognition, and in particular we discussed 
and understood new agreements and trading arrangements and evaluated 
their impact on revenue recognition. We also examined underlying sales 
data and third party evidence and tested non standard manual journal 
entries impacting revenue.

Risk of management override of internal controls

ISAs (UK & Ireland) require that we consider this. We performed detailed testing over manual journal entries. We considered 
whether there was evidence of bias by the directors in the significant 
accounting estimates and judgements relevant to the financial statements. 
We also assessed the overall control environment of the Group, including 
the arrangements for staff to ‘whistle blow’ inappropriate actions, and 
interviewed senior management and the Group’s internal audit function.

GOinG COnCeRn
Under the Listing Rules we are required to review the directors’ statement, set out on page 80, in relation to going concern. We have no exceptions to 
report having performed our review.

As noted in the directors’ statement, the directors have concluded that it is appropriate to prepare the Group’s financial statements using the going concern 
basis of accounting. The going concern basis presumes that the Group has adequate resources to remain in operation and that the directors intend it to do 
so, for at least one year from the date the financial statements were signed. As part of our audit, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going 
concern basis is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, these statements are not a guarantee as to the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern.

OpiniOns On mAtteRs pResCRibed by the COmpAnies ACt 2006
In our opinion the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the Group financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the Group financial statements.
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OtheR mAtteRs On WhiCh We ARe RequiRed tO RepORt by exCeptiOn

directors’ remuneration
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law have not 
been made. We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Corporate Governance statement
Under the Listing Rules we are required to review the part of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to the Company’s compliance with nine 
provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code (‘the Code’). We have no exceptions to report having performed our review.

On page 80 of the annual report, as required by the Code Provision C.1.1, the directors state that they consider the annual report taken as a whole to be 
fair, balanced and understandable and provides the information necessary for members to assess the Group’s performance, business model and strategy. 
On pages 55 and 56, as required by C.3.8 of the Code, the audit and risk committee has set out the significant issues that it considered in relation to the 
financial statements and how they were addressed. Under ISAs (UK & Ireland) we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

•	the statement given by the directors is materially inconsistent with our knowledge of the Group acquired in the course of performing our audit; or

•	the section of the annual report describing the work of the audit and risk committee does not appropriately address matters communicated by us to the 
audit committee.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Other information in the annual report
Under ISAs (UK & Ireland), we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, information in the annual report is:

•	materially inconsistent with the information in the audited Group financial statements; or

•	apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, our knowledge of the Group acquired in the course of performing our audit; or

•	otherwise misleading.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

RespOnsibilities fOR the finAnCiAl stAtements And the Audit

Our responsibilities and those of the directors 
As explained more fully in the statement of directors’ responsibilities set out on page 80, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the Group 
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. 

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the Group financial statements in accordance with applicable law and ISAs (UK & Ireland). Those 
standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other 
person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

OtheR mAtteR
We have reported separately on the Parent Company financial statements of Rexam PLC for the year ended 31 December 2013, and on the information in 
the directors’ remuneration report that is described as having been audited.

Neil Grimes (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
London

20 February 2014

independent auditors’ report to the members of 
Rexam plC  
continued
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For the year ended 31 December notes
2013  

£m

2012 
restated 

£m

Continuing operations

Sales 2 3,943 3,885

Operating expenses 3 (3,526) (3,456)

 Underlying operating profit 2 449 448

 Exceptional items 6 (6) (25)

 Amortisation of certain acquired intangible assets (2) (1)

 Fair value changes on certain operating derivatives (24) 7

Operating profit 417 429

Share of post tax profits of associates and joint ventures 16 9 9

Retirement benefit obligations net interest cost 26 (16) (19)

 Underlying interest expense 7 (76) (88)

 Fair value changes on financing derivatives 7 (1) (20)

Interest expense 7 (77) (108)

Interest income 7 6 8

 Underlying profit before tax 372 358

 Exceptional items (6) (25)

 Amortisation of certain acquired intangible assets (2) (1)

 Fair value changes on derivatives (25) (13)

Profit before tax 339 319

 Tax on underlying profit 8 (93) (87)

 Tax on exceptional items 6 1 7

 Tax on fair value changes on derivatives 6 3

Tax (86) (77)

Profit for the financial year from continuing operations 253 242

Discontinued operations

Loss for the financial year from discontinued operations 10 (158) (36)

Profit for the financial year attributable to equity shareholders of Rexam PLC 95 206

Underlying earnings per share (pence) 9

Continuing operations 35.3 31.2

Discontinued operations 5.3 5.4

Total 40.6 36.6

Basic earnings/(loss) per share (pence) 9

Continuing operations 32.0 27.8

Discontinued operations (20.0) (4.1)

Total 12.0 23.7

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (pence) 9

Continuing operations 31.6 27.5

Discontinued operations (20.0) (4.1)

Total 11.6 23.4

For details of equity dividends paid and proposed see note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

The notes on pages 92 to 133 form part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated income statement
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For the year ended 31 December notes
2013  

£m

2012 
restated 

£m 

Profit for the financial year attributable to equity shareholders of Rexam PLC 95 206

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year:

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:

 Retirement benefits and other: actuarial gains/(losses) 17/26 74 (20)

 Retirement benefits and other: tax on actuarial gains/(losses) 8 (26) 5

Total items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 48 (15)

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:

 Exchange differences before recognition of net investment hedges 29 (37) (86)

 Net investment hedges recognised 29 (1) 24

 Exchange differences recognised in the income statement on the disposal of businesses – (72)

 Cash flow hedges recognised 29 (45) (35)

 Cash flow hedges transferred to inventory 29 54 66

 Cash flow hedges transferred to property, plant and equipment 29 (1) –

 Cash flow hedges transferred to the income statement 29 (7) 1

 Tax on cash flow hedges 8/29 (1) (9)

Total items that may be reclassified to profit or loss (38) (111)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 10 (126)

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to equity shareholders of Rexam PLC 105 80

Continuing operations 272 249

Discontinued operations (167) (169)

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to equity shareholders of Rexam PLC 105 80

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
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As at 31 December notes
2013  

£m
2012  

£m
Assets
Non current assets
Goodwill 12 1,232 1,553
Other intangible assets 13 34 260
Property, plant and equipment 14 1,257 1,459
Investments in associates and joint ventures 16 76 68
Insurance backed assets 17 20 23
Deferred tax assets 8 270 292
Trade and other receivables 19 157 111
Derivative financial instruments 24/25 215 233

3,261 3,999
Current assets
Inventories 18 466 447
Insurance backed assets 17 2 2

Trade and other receivables 19 479 567
Derivative financial instruments 24/25 27 38
Cash and cash equivalents 20 211 1,307

1,185 2,361
Assets classified as held for sale 21 693 3

1,878 2,364
Total assets 5,139 6,363
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Borrowings 23 (299) (1,106)
Derivative financial instruments 24/25 (39) (26)
Current tax (3) (9)
Trade and other payables 22 (702) (834)
Provisions 27 (28) (46)

(1,071) (2,021)
Liabilities classified as held for sale 21 (160) –

(1,231) (2,021)
Non current liabilities
Borrowings 23 (1,181) (1,106)
Derivative financial instruments 24/25 (142) (147)
Retirement benefit obligations 26 (417) (516)
Deferred tax liabilities 8 (54) (59)
Non current tax (78) (85)
Other payables 22 (89) (51)

Provisions 27 (78) (91)

(2,039) (2,055)

Total liabilities (3,270) (4,076)

Net assets 1,869 2,287

Equity
Ordinary share capital 566 565
Share premium account 602 992
Capital redemption reserve 746 351
Retained (loss)/earnings (100) 286
Other reserves 29 55 93
Shareholders’ equity 1,869 2,287

The consolidated financial statements on pages 87 to 133 were authorised for issue by the board of directors on 20 February 2014.

Graham Chipchase, chief executive David Robbie, finance director

Consolidated balance sheet
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For the year ended 31 December
 

notes
2013  

£m
2012  

£m

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations 31 564 646

Interest paid (78) (82)

Tax paid (77) (94)

Net cash flows from operating activities 409 470

Cash flows from investing activities

Capital expenditure (232) (291)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1 1

Disposal of businesses (23) 395

Pension escrow investment payment 26 (15) (10)

Repayment of loan from joint venture – (5)

Dividend from joint venture – 10

Interest received 7 8

Net cash flows from investing activities (262) 108

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings 24 349 401

Repayment of borrowings 24 (1,050) (5)

Return of cash to shareholders (393) –

Proceeds from issue of share capital on exercise of share options 6 4

Purchase of Rexam PLC shares by Employee Share Trust (23) –

Dividends paid to equity shareholders 11 (125) (128)

Other financing items 14 16

Net cash flows from financing activities (1,222) 288

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (1,075) 866

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 1,249 402

Exchange differences 17 (19)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (1,075) 866

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 191 1,249

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

Cash at bank and in hand 20 66 384

Short term bank and money market deposits 20 145 923

Bank overdrafts 24 (20) (58)

191 1,249

Consolidated cash flow statement
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Ordinary  
share  

capital 
£m

Share  
premium 
account 

£m

Capital 
redemption 

reserve 
£m

Retained 
earnings 

£m

Other  
reserves  

£m

Shareholders’ 
equity  

£m

At 1 January 2013 565 992 351 286 93 2,287

Profit for the financial year – – – 95 – 95

 Retirement benefits: actuarial gains – – – 74 – 74

  Retirement benefits: tax on actuarial gains – – – (26) – (26)

  Exchange differences before recognition of net 
investment hedges – – – – (37) (37)

 Net investment hedges recognised – – – – (1) (1)

 Cash flow hedges recognised – – – – (45) (45)

  Cash flow hedges transferred to inventory – – – – 54 54

  Cash flow hedges transferred to property, plant  
and equipment – – – – (1) (1)

  Cash flow hedges transferred to the income statement – – – – (7) (7)

 Tax on cash flow hedges – – – – (1) (1)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year – – – 48 (38) 10

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year – – – 143 (38) 105

 Share options: proceeds from shares issued 1 5 – – – 6

 Share options: value of services provided – – – 8 – 8

 Share options: dividend equivalent – – – (1) – (1)

 Share options: tax – – – 5 – 5

 Purchase of Rexam PLC shares by Employee Share Trust – – – (23) – (23)

 Return of cash to shareholders – (395) 395 (393) – (393)

 Dividends paid – – – (125) – (125)

Total transactions with owners recognised directly in equity 1 (390) 395 (529) – (523)

At 31 December 2013 566 602 746 (100) 55 1,869

At 1 January 2012 564 989 351 211 204 2,319

Profit for the financial year – restated – – – 206 – 206

 Retirement benefits: actuarial losses – restated – – – (20) – (20)

  Retirement benefits: tax on actuarial losses – restated – – – 5 – 5

  Exchange differences before recognition of net 
investment hedges – – – – (86) (86)

 Net investment hedges recognised – – – – 24 24

  Exchange differences recognised in the income 
statement on the disposal of businesses – – – – (72) (72)

 Cash flow hedges recognised – – – – (35) (35)

  Cash flow hedges transferred to inventory – – – – 66 66

  Cash flow hedges transferred to the income statement – – – – 1 1

 Tax on cash flow hedges – – – – (9) (9)

Other comprehensive loss for the year – restated – – – (15) (111) (126)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year – – – 191 (111) 80

 Share options: proceeds from shares issued 1 3 – – – 4

 Share options: value of services provided – – – 11 – 11

 Share options: dividend equivalent – – – (1) – (1)

 Share options: tax – – – 2 – 2

 Dividends paid – – – (128) – (128)

Total transactions with owners recognised directly in equity 1 3 – (116) – (112)

At 31 December 2012 565 992 351 286 93 2,287

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
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1 pRinCipAl ACCOuntinG pOliCies

basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and IFRS Interpretation 
Committee interpretations as adopted by the European Union (EU) and with those parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting 
under IFRS. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of certain 
financial instruments, share based payment and retirement benefit obligations. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, comparative amounts have been restated to reflect the discontinuance of Healthcare. See note 10 for 
further information.

The following accounting standards and amendments to accounting standards have been adopted by the Group for the first time for the financial year 
beginning on 1 January 2013 and have an impact on the Group.

(i) IAS19 (Revised) ‘Employee Benefits’. See note 26(v) for further information.

(ii) The amendment to IAS1 ‘Financial Statement Presentation’, whereby other comprehensive income/(loss) is now grouped on the basis of whether such 
income/(loss) is potentially reclassifiable to profit or loss.

(iii) The amendment to IFRS7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ on financial asset and financial liability offsetting. See note 25(iii) for further information.

(iv) IFRS13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’. This standard provides a single source of fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for use across IFRS. 
The implementation of this standard did not lead to a significant change in the fair value measurement applied by the Group. See note 25(i) for the 
additional fair value hierarchy disclosures provided.

The following accounting standards are effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014 and have not yet been adopted by the 
Group.

(i) IFRS10 ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’. This standard builds on existing principles by identifying the concept of control as the determining factor 
in whether an entity should be included in the consolidated financial statements. The Group has yet to assess the full impact of this standard.

(ii) IFRS9 ‘Financial Instruments’. The standard addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of financial assets and liabilities. The Group 
has yet to assess the full impact of this accounting standard. 

There are no other IFRS’s or IFRS Interpretation Committee interpretations not yet effective that would be expected to have a material impact on the Group.

The Group meets its working capital requirements through its bank facilities. The Group’s forecasts and projections, taking account of reasonably possible 
changes in trading performance, show that the Group should be able to operate within the level of its current facilities. After making enquiries, the 
directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. The Group 
therefore continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Further information on the Group’s borrowings is 
given in notes 23 and 24.

Key estimates and assumptions
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
reporting period. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of the amount, events or actions, actual results may ultimately 
differ from those estimates. The key estimates and assumptions used in these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Goodwill impairment testing
Goodwill is tested at least annually for impairment in accordance with the accounting policy for goodwill. The recoverable amounts of cash generating 
units relating to continuing operations are determined based on value in use calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates which include 
cash flow projections for each cash generating unit and discount rates based on the Group’s weighted average cost of capital, adjusted for specific risks 
associated with particular cash generating units. For details of impairment testing for continuing operations see note 12 to the consolidated financial 
statements. The accounting policies for goodwill and impairment testing are set out below.

Retirement benefits
The consolidated financial statements include costs in relation to, and provision for, retirement benefit obligations. There are two principal funded defined 
benefit pension plans, in the UK and US, and an unfunded retiree medical plan in the US. The costs and present value of any related pension assets and 
liabilities depend on factors such as life expectancy of the members, the salary progression of current employees, the returns that plan assets generate and 
the discount rate used to calculate the present value of the liabilities. The Group uses estimates based on previous experience and external actuarial 
advice in determining these future cash flows and the discount rate. If the discount rates were to fall by 0.5%, the net liabilities of the plans at 31 December 
2013 would rise by approximately £65m (2012: £70m). If equity values were to fall by 10%, then the plan assets at 31 December 2013 would fall by 
approximately £95m (2012: £100m). If life expectancy were to increase by one year, the net liabilities of the plans at 31 December 2013 would rise by 
approximately £100m (2012: £105m). The accounting policy for retirement benefit obligations is set out below and details of the assumptions used for the 
two principal defined benefit pension plans and the retiree medical plan are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

Income taxes
Judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations whose ultimate tax treatment is 
uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes are likely to be due. The Group 
recognises deferred tax assets and liabilities based on estimates of future taxable income and recoverability. Where a change in circumstance occurs, or 
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred 
tax balances in the year in which that change or outcome is known. The accounting policy for income taxes is set out below.

notes to the consolidated financial statements
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1 pRinCipAl ACCOuntinG pOliCies CONTINUED 

non GAAp measures
The Group presents underlying operating profit, underlying profit before tax and underlying earnings per share information as it believes these measures 
provide a helpful indication of its performance and underlying trends. The term underlying refers to the relevant measure being reported before 
exceptional items, the amortisation of certain acquired intangible assets and fair value changes on certain operating derivatives which are not hedge 
accounted and on financing derivatives. These measures are used by the Group for internal performance analysis and as a basis for incentive 
compensation arrangements for employees. The terms underlying and exceptional items are not defined terms under IFRS and may, therefore, not be 
comparable to similarly titled measures reported by other companies. They are not intended to be a substitute for, or be superior to, GAAP measurements 
of performance. 

basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise Rexam PLC and all its subsidiaries, together with the Group’s share of the results of its associates and joint 
ventures. The financial statements of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are prepared at the same reporting date using consistent accounting 
policies. Intercompany balances and transactions, including any unrealised profits arising from intercompany transactions, are eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are entities where the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies, generally accompanied by a share of more than 
50% of the voting rights. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and are included until the date on which 
the Group ceases to control them. Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally accompanied by a 
share of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Joint ventures are entities over which the Group has joint control, whereby the strategic, financial and 
operating decisions relating to the venture require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control and are generally accompanied by an equal 50% 
share of voting rights. Investments in associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. If the Group’s share of losses in an associate 
or joint venture equals or exceeds its investment in the associate or joint venture, the Group does not recognise further losses unless it has incurred 
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

All acquisitions are accounted for by applying the purchase method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the fair values, at the 
acquisition date, of the assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group. The identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities of the acquiree are measured initially at fair value at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any non controlling interests. The 
excess of the cost of the acquisition over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is recognised 
as goodwill.

foreign currencies
The financial statements for each of the Group’s subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are prepared using their functional currency. The functional 
currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in which an entity operates. Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional 
currency using exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Exchange differences resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from 
the translation at exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the functional 
currency are recognised directly in the consolidated income statement. Exceptions to this are where the monetary items form part of the net investment in a 
foreign operation, designated as hedges of a net investment, or designated as cash flow hedges. Such exchange differences are initially recognised in 
equity. 

The presentation currency of the Group is sterling. The balance sheets of foreign operations are translated into sterling using the exchange rate at the 
balance sheet date and the income statements are translated into sterling using the average exchange rate for the year. Where this average is not a 
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rate prevailing on the transaction date, the exchange rate on the transaction date is used. 
Exchange differences on translation into sterling arising since 1 January 2004 are recognised as a separate component of equity. On disposal of a 
subsidiary, any cumulative exchange differences held in equity are transferred to the consolidated income statement.

On the repayment of a quasi equity loan, the proportionate share of the cumulative amount of the exchange differences on the loan recognised in other 
comprehensive income is not reclassified to the consolidated income statement unless the Group loses control over the entity to which the quasi equity loan 
related.

The principal exchange rates against sterling used in these consolidated financial statements are as follows:

Average
2013

Closing
2013

Average
2012

Closing
2012

Euro 1.18 1.20 1.23 1.23

US dollar 1.56 1.65 1.59 1.62

Revenue recognition and other income
Revenue from the sale of goods is measured at the fair value of the consideration, net of rebates and trade discounts. Revenue from the sale of goods is 
recognised when the Group has transferred the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods to the buyer, when the amount of revenue can be 
measured reliably and when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group, typically on delivery of 
goods. The Group makes certain advance payments to customers and suppliers in relation to contracts which are charged against sales in respect of 
customers, and operating expenses in respect of suppliers, over their useful economic lives, typically being the related contract term. Other income 
includes licence income and project management fees for the construction of manufacturing lines and equipment on behalf of customers.

exceptional items
Items which are exceptional, being material in terms of size and/or nature, are presented separately from underlying business performance in the 
consolidated income statement. The principal events which may give rise to exceptional items include the restructuring and integration of businesses, 
significant changes to retirement benefit obligations, gains or losses on the disposal of businesses, goodwill impairments, major asset impairments and 
disposals and significant litigation and tax claims. 
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1 pRinCipAl ACCOuntinG pOliCies CONTINUED 

Retirement benefit obligations
The Group operates defined benefit and defined contribution pension plans. 

A defined benefit pension plan typically specifies the amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent upon one 
or more factors such as age, years of service and compensation. The Group operates both funded defined benefit pension plans, where actuarially 
determined payments are made to trustee administered funds, and unfunded defined benefit pension plans, where no such payments are made. The asset 
or liability recognised in the consolidated balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation 
less, for funded schemes, the fair value of plan assets at the balance sheet date. The defined benefit obligation is calculated, at least triennially, by 
independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method and is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of 
high quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating to the 
terms of the related pension liability. The current service cost and plan administration expenses are recognised as an operating expense in the 
consolidated income statement. Past service costs and credits are recognised immediately as an operating expense in the consolidated income statement. 
The retirement benefits net interest cost is the change during the year in the net defined benefit liability due to the passage of time and is recognised as an 
interest expense in the consolidated income statement. The interest rate is based on the yield on high quality corporate bonds. Actuarial gains and losses 
arising from changes in actuarial assumptions and experience adjustments are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the 
year in which they arise.

A defined contribution plan is one under which fixed contributions are paid to a third party. The Group has no further payment obligations once the 
contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised in the consolidated income statement when they are due. Prepaid contributions are 
recognised in the consolidated balance sheet as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is likely. 

The Group also provides post retirement healthcare benefits (retiree medical) to certain of its current and former employees. The entitlement to these 
benefits is usually conditional on an employee remaining in service up to retirement age and the completion of a minimum service period. The 
consolidated income statement and consolidated balance sheet accounting treatment with respect to retiree medical is similar to that for defined benefit 
pension plans. These obligations are valued by independent actuaries, usually on an annual basis.

share based payment
The Group operates equity and cash settled share option schemes. For equity settled share options, the services received from employees are measured 
by reference to the fair value of the share options. The fair value is calculated at grant date and recognised in the consolidated income statement, together 
with a corresponding increase in equity, on a straight line basis over the vesting period, based on an estimate of the number of options that will eventually 
vest. Vesting conditions, which comprise service conditions and non market performance conditions, are not taken into account when estimating the fair 
value. All market and non vesting conditions are included in the fair value. For cash settled share options, the services received from employees are 
measured at the fair value of the liability and recognised in the consolidated income statement on a straight line basis over the vesting period. The fair 
value of the liability is measured at each balance sheet date and at the date of settlement with changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated income 
statement. The Rexam Employee Share Trust holds ordinary shares in Rexam PLC to satisfy future share option exercises, which are presented in the 
consolidated balance sheet as a deduction from equity.

interest
Interest on cash and cash equivalents and borrowings held at amortised cost is recognised in the consolidated income statement using the effective interest 
method. Interest includes exchange differences arising on cash and cash equivalents and borrowings, where such exchange differences are recognised in 
the consolidated income statement. Interest includes all fair value gains and losses on derivative financial instruments, and corresponding adjustments to 
hedged items under designated fair value hedging relationships, where they relate to financing activities and are recognised in the consolidated income 
statement. Interest relating to payments made over an extended period of development of large capital projects is added to the capital cost and amortised 
over the expected lives of those projects.

Non hedge accounted financing derivative financial instruments fair value changes and hedge ineffectiveness on financing derivative financial 
instruments are disclosed separately, within interest, in the consolidated income statement.

segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker. The chief operating 
decision maker has been identified as the executive leadership team, which comprises the executive directors and certain senior executives. The executive 
leadership team is responsible for assessing the performance of the operating segments for the purpose of making decisions about resources to be 
allocated. Operating segments are combined for external reporting purposes where they have similar economic characteristics, and the nature of 
products and production processes, the type and class of customers and the methods to distribute products are all similar.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the Group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquiree 
at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is tested for impairment at 31 December each year and at any time where there is any indication that goodwill may be 
impaired. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. At the date of acquisition, goodwill is allocated to cash generating units for the 
purpose of impairment testing. Goodwill arising on acquisitions on or before 31 December 1997 has been deducted from equity. Gains and losses on the 
disposal of a business include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the business sold except for any goodwill deducted from equity. Goodwill 
arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries is presented in goodwill and goodwill arising on the acquisition of associates and joint ventures is presented in 
investments in associates and joint ventures. Internally generated goodwill is not recognised as an asset.

notes to the consolidated financial statements 
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1 pRinCipAl ACCOuntinG pOliCies CONTINUED

Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation begins when an asset is 
available for use and is calculated on a straight line basis to allocate the cost of the asset over its estimated useful life as follows:

Computer software acquired 2 to 3 years

Computer software developed Up to 7 years

Customer contracts and relationships acquired 5 to 20 years

Technology and patents acquired 5 to 20 years

Other development projects Up to 5 years

The cost of intangible assets acquired in an acquisition is the fair value at acquisition date. The cost of separately acquired intangible assets, including 
computer software, comprises the purchase price and any directly attributable costs of preparing the asset for use. Computer software development costs 
that are directly associated with the implementation of major business systems are capitalised as intangible assets. Expenditure on research is recognised 
as an expense in the consolidated income statement as incurred. Expenditure incurred on other development projects is capitalised as an intangible asset 
if it is probable that the expenditure will generate future economic benefits and can be measured reliably. 

The amortisation of certain acquired intangible assets, comprising acquired customer contracts and relationships, and technology and patents, is 
disclosed separately within operating profit on the face of the consolidated income statement.

property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Cost comprises purchase price and 
directly attributable costs. Freehold land and assets under construction are not depreciated. For all other property, plant and equipment, depreciation is 
calculated on a straight line basis to allocate cost, less residual value of the assets, over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Freehold buildings Up to 50 years

Leasehold buildings Shorter of 50 years or lease term

Manufacturing machinery 7 to 17 years

Computer hardware Up to 8 years

Fixtures, fittings and vehicles 4 to 10 years

Residual values and useful lives are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

impairment of assets
This policy applies to all assets except inventories, insurance backed assets, deferred tax assets, financial assets and assets classified as held for sale. 
At each balance sheet date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. Where an indicator of impairment exists, 
the Group makes an estimate of recoverable amount. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount the asset is written down to 
its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use and is determined for an individual asset (see also 
accounting policy for assets and liabilities classified as held for sale and discontinued operations below). If the asset does not generate cash inflows that 
are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs is 
determined. Discount rates reflecting the asset specific risks and the time value of money are used for the value in use calculation. When an asset is written 
down to its recoverable amount the impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement in the year in which it is incurred. Impairment 
losses incurred in a cash generating unit or group of cash generating units are applied against the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units. 
Where no goodwill exists, the impairment losses reduce the other non current assets of the cash generating units. Should circumstances change which 
result in a reversal of a previous impairment, the value of the asset is increased and the reversal is recognised in the consolidated income statement in the 
year in which it occurs. The increase in the carrying amount of the asset is limited to the amount which would have been recorded had no impairment been 
recognised in prior years. Impairment losses applied to goodwill are not reversed.

Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale and discontinued operations
Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale are available for immediate sale in their present condition and a sale is highly probable within one year. 
Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale are stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Non current assets classified as 
held for sale are not depreciated or amortised and any write down to fair value less costs to sell is recognised as an impairment loss. Operations are 
classified as discontinued when they are either disposed of or are part of a single coordinated plan to dispose, and represent a major line of business or 
geographical area of operation.

inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a first in first out or weighted average cost basis. Cost 
comprises directly attributable purchase and conversion costs and an allocation of production overheads based on normal operating capacity. Net 
realisable value is the estimated selling price less estimated costs to completion and selling costs. Provisions against the value of inventories are made for 
slow moving or obsolete inventory.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the consolidated cash flow statement comprise cash at bank and in hand, bank and money market deposits 
and other short term highly liquid investments generally with original maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are presented 
in borrowings within current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet.
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1 pRinCipAl ACCOuntinG pOliCies CONTINUED

leases
Leases are classified as finance leases where substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the Group. Finance leases are 
capitalised at the inception of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased asset and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease 
payments are apportioned between the liability and finance charge to produce a constant rate of interest on the finance lease balance outstanding. Assets 
capitalised under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the asset and the lease term. Leases other than finance leases are 
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the consolidated income statement on a straight 
line basis over the lease term. Any incentives to enter into operating leases are recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a 
straight line basis.

income taxes
The tax expense represents the sum of current tax, non current tax and deferred tax.

Current tax and non current tax are based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the consolidated income 
statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable 
or deductible. The current and non current tax charge is calculated on the basis of tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date in 
countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income. Provisions are established on the basis of amount expected to be paid to tax 
authorities.

Deferred tax is recognised in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax base of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. Deferred tax arising from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction, other than an 
acquisition, that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, is not recognised. Deferred tax is measured using tax 
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the asset is realised or the liability is 
settled. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary 
differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, except 
where the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in 
the foreseeable future. Tax is recognised in the consolidated income statement, unless the tax relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case 
the tax is recognised directly in equity through the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

provisions
Provisions are recognised when a present obligation exists in respect of a past event and where the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions for 
restructuring are recognised for direct expenditure on business reorganisations where plans are sufficiently detailed and well advanced, and where 
appropriate communication to those affected has been undertaken on or before the balance sheet date. Provisions are discounted where the time value of 
money is considered to be material.

dividends
Final equity dividends to the shareholders of Rexam PLC are recognised in the period they are approved by the shareholders. Interim equity dividends are 
recognised in the period they are paid.

financial instruments
Financial instruments that are measured at fair value are disclosed in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the following fair value 
measurement hierarchy:

(i) Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

(ii) Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that 
is, derived from prices) (level 2).

(iii) Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques 
maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to 
fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2. 

Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value. Derivative financial instruments utilised by the Group include interest rate swaps, cross currency 
swaps, forward foreign exchange contracts and forward aluminium, iron ore, energy and resin commodity contracts.

Certain derivative financial instruments are designated as hedges in line with the Group’s risk management policies. Hedges are classified  
as follows:

(i) Fair value hedges where they hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability.

(ii) Cash flow hedges where they hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or 
liability or a forecasted transaction.

(iii) Net investment hedges where they hedge exposure to changes in the value of the Group’s interests in the net assets of foreign operations.

For fair value hedges, any gain or loss from remeasuring the hedging instrument at fair value is recognised in the consolidated income statement. Any gain 
or loss on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk is adjusted against the carrying amount of the hedged item and similarly recognised in the 
consolidated income statement.

For cash flow hedges and net investment hedges, the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge is 
recognised in equity, with any ineffective portion recognised in the consolidated income statement. When hedged cash flows result in the recognition of a 
non financial asset or liability, the associated gains or losses previously recognised in equity are included in the initial measurement of the asset or liability. 
For all other cash flow hedges, the gains or losses that are recognised in equity are transferred to the consolidated income statement in the same period in 
which the hedged cash flows affect the consolidated income statement.

notes to the consolidated financial statements 
continued
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Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivative financial instruments not designated as hedges are recognised immediately in the 
consolidated income statement.

Gains and losses on derivative financial instruments related to operating activities are included in operating profit when recognised in the consolidated 
income statement. Gains and losses on derivative financial instruments related to financing activities are included in interest when recognised in the 
consolidated income statement.

Borrowings are measured at amortised cost except where they are hedged by an effective fair value hedge, in which case the carrying value is adjusted to 
reflect the fair value movements associated with the hedged risk. Where borrowings are used to hedge the Group’s interests in the net assets of foreign 
operations, the portion of the exchange gain or loss on the borrowings that is determined to be an effective hedge is recognised in equity.

Upfront fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities and bonds are initially capitalised as transaction costs of the loan and bond and amortised in 
interest over the expected term of the loan and bond. Ongoing commitment fees are expensed in interest as incurred.

Available for sale financial assets are measured at fair value. Unrealised gains and losses are recognised in equity except for impairment losses, interest 
and dividends arising from those assets which are recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Trade and other receivables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost less any provision for impairment. They are 
discounted when the time value of money is considered material. Trade and other payables are measured at cost.

2 seGment AnAlysis
For internal reporting, Rexam is organised into four operating segments for Beverage Cans based on the geographical locations of Europe, AMEA (Africa, 
Middle East & Asia), North America and South America. For external reporting, the four operating segments for Beverage Cans are combined into one 
reportable segment. Beverage Cans comprise aluminium and steel cans for a wide variety of beverages including carbonated soft drinks, beer and 
energy drinks. Healthcare is currently in the process of being sold and has been reported within discontinued operations in the segment analysis set out 
below. Healthcare was previously a separate reportable segment. Healthcare comprises rigid plastic devices and packaging for customers in the 
Healthcare markets. 

(i) Consolidated income statement 

2013  
£m

2012 
restated 

£m

Continuing operations

Sales – Beverage Cans 3,943 3,885

Underlying operating profit1 – Beverage Cans 449 448

Exceptional and other items2 – Beverage Cans (25) 4

Operating profit – Beverage Cans 424 452

Exceptional items not allocated to Beverage Cans (7) (23)

Share of post tax profits of associates and joint ventures3 9 9

Retirement benefit obligations net interest cost (16) (19)

Net interest expense (71) (100)

Profit before tax 339 319

Tax (86) (77)

Profit for the year from continuing operations 253 242

Discontinued operations

Loss for the year from discontinued operations (158) (36)

Total profit for the year 95 206

2013 
%

2012 
restated 

%

Underlying return on sales4 – Beverage Cans 11.4 11.5

Underlying return on net assets5 – Beverage Cans 30.8 32.2

1 Comprises operating profit before exceptional items, the amortisation of certain acquired intangible assets and fair value changes on certain operating derivatives.

2 Other items comprise the amortisation of certain acquired intangible assets and fair value changes on certain operating derivatives.

3 Share of post tax profits of associates and joint ventures are wholly attributable to Beverage Cans.

4 Comprises underlying operating profit divided by sales.

5 Comprises underlying operating profit plus share of associates and joint ventures profit after tax divided by the average of opening and closing net assets after adding back 
retirement benefit obligations (net of tax) and net borrowings and excluding goodwill and certain acquired intangible assets. 
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2 seGment AnAlysis CONTINUED
(ii) Assets and liabilities

2013  
Assets  

£m

2013  
Liabilities  

£m

2012 
Assets 

restated 
£m

2012 
Liabilities 
restated 

£m

Continuing operations

Beverage Cans 3,601 (897) 3,509 (866)

Associates and joint ventures 76 – 68 –

Unallocated assets and liabilities1 773 (2,213) 1,905 (3,054)

Total continuing operations 4,450 (3,110) 5,482 (3,920)

Discontinued operations 689 (160) 881 (156)

5,139 (3,270) 6,363 (4,076)

1 Unallocated assets comprise derivative assets, current tax assets, deferred tax assets, pension escrow investment, insurance backed assets and cash and cash equivalents 
which are used as part of the Group’s financing offset arrangements. Unallocated liabilities comprise borrowings, derivative liabilities, current and non current tax liabilities, 
deferred tax liabilities and retirement benefit obligations. 

Segment assets are disclosed after deducting inter segment assets of £4m (2012: £5m) for Beverage Cans. Segment liabilities are disclosed after 
deducting inter segment liabilities of £7m (2012: £7m) for Beverage Cans. 

(iii) Significant non cash items

2013  
Capital 

expenditure  
£m

2013  
Depreciation 

and 
amortisation 

£m

2012 
Capital 

expenditure 
restated 

£m

2012 
Depreciation 

and 
amortisation 

restated 
£m

Continuing operations

Beverage Cans 173 145 231 135

Discontinued operations 45 20 80 58

218 165 311 193

Discontinued operations also include Healthcare impairment of £233m (2012: Personal Care impairment of £181m). For more details see note 10.
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2 seGment AnAlysis CONTINUED
(iv) Geographic and other information

2013  
Sales  

£m

2013  
Non current  

assets  
£m

2012 
Sales 

restated 
£m

2012 
Non current  

assets  
£m

Continuing operations

US 1,292 612 1,230 1,161

Brazil 658 467 670 468

Austria 337 93 322 86

Russia 242 163 292 189

Spain 212 79 205 82

UK 172 226 165 189

Germany 50 198 71 262

France 15 82 18 240

Other countries 965 811 912 764

3,943 2,731 3,885 3,441

Unallocated non current assets1 – 530 – 558

Total continuing operations 3,943 3,261 3,885 3,999

Discontinued operations 448 – 875 –

4,391 3,261 4,760 3,999

1 Unallocated non current assets comprise derivative assets, deferred tax assets, pension escrow investment and insurance backed assets. 

Sales are stated by external customer location. One Beverage Cans customer contributed sales of £1,109m (2012: £1,144m), and another Beverage Cans 
customer contributed sales of £623m (2012: £610m). 

3 OpeRAtinG expenses

2013 
Continuing 
operations 
underlying  

£m

2013 
Continuing 
operations 

exceptional  
and other  

items1 
£m

2013 
Continuing 
operations 

total 
£m

2013 
Discontinued 

operations 
total 
£m

2012 
Continuing 
operations 
underlying 

restated 
 £m

2012 
Continuing 
operations 

exceptional 
and other 

items1 

restated 
£m

2012 
Continuing 
operations 

total  
restated 

£m

2012 
Discontinued 

operations 
total  

restated 
£m

Raw materials used (2,209) – (2,209) (154) (2,201) – (2,201) (329)
Changes in inventories of WIP 
and finished goods (2) – (2) 1 2 – 2 1
Employee benefit expense (493) (1) (494) (144) (476) (6) (482) (300)
Depreciation of property, plant 
and equipment (137) – (137) (11) (128) – (128) (34)
Amortisation of intangible assets (6) (2) (8) (9) (6) (1) (7) (24)
Impairment of assets and liabilities 
classified as held for sale – (2) (2) (233) – – – –
Impairment of goodwill – – – – – – – (181)
Impairment of intangible assets – (2) (2) – – – – (2)
Impairment of property, plant  
and equipment (net) – – – 1 – – – (4)
Freight costs (207) – (207) (12) (205) – (205) (19)
Operating lease rental expense (22) – (22) (6) (20) – (20) (12)
Operating lease rental income 3 – 3 – 2 – 2 –
Fair value changes on certain 
operating derivatives – (24) (24) – – 7 7 –
Other operating expenses (427) (1) (428) (65) (408) (19) (427) (120)
Other operating income 6 – 6 6 3 – 3 10

(3,494) (32) (3,526) (626) (3,437) (19) (3,456) (1,014)

1 Other items comprise the amortisation of certain acquired intangible assets and fair value changes on certain operating derivatives.
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3 OpeRAtinG expenses CONTINUED
Operating expenses include research and development expenditure of £6m from continuing operations and £3m from discontinued operations (2012: 
£5m and £10m restated); hedge ineffectiveness losses on forward aluminium commodity contracts of £23m from continuing operations (2012: gains 
£11m) and fair value losses on forward foreign exchange contracts not hedge accounted of £1m from continuing operations (2012: £4m).

4 emplOyee COsts And numbeRs
(i) Employee benefit expense

2013  
£m

2012 
restated 

£m

Continuing operations

Wages and salaries (396) (382)

Social security (47) (48)

Share based payment (note 30) (23) (23)

Retirement benefit obligations (note 26) (28) (29)

Total continuing operations (494) (482)

Discontinued operations (144) (300)

(638) (782)

Included as part of employee benefit expense is key management compensation as set out below.

(ii) Key management compensation (including directors of Rexam PLC)

2013  
£m

2012 
£m

Salaries and short term employee benefits (7) (10)

Post employment benefits (1) (2)

Termination payments (1) (2)

Share based payment (4) (5)

(13) (19)

Key management comprises all directors of Rexam PLC, the Executive Leadership Team and band 1 executives. For details of directors’ remuneration see 
the remuneration report.

(iii) Average number of employees

2013  
Number

2012 
restated 
Number

Continuing operations

Beverage Cans 8,000 7,800

Discontinued operations 3,200 10,200

11,200 18,000

 

2013  
Number

2012 
restated 
Number

Continuing operations

US 2,000 1,900

Brazil 1,600 1,500

Germany 700 700

Russia 700 700

UK 600 600

Spain 400 400

Other countries 2,000 2,000

Total continuing operations 8,000 7,800

Discontinued operations 3,200 10,200

11,200 18,000

notes to the consolidated financial statements 
continued

100 Rexam Annual Report 2013



5 AuditORs’ RemuneRAtiOn

2013  
£m

2012  
£m

Fees payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for the audit of the Rexam PLC and consolidated financial statements 0.7 0.8

Fees payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and its associates for the audit of subsidiaries of Rexam PLC 2.0 2.0

Audit related assurance services 0.2 0.2

Other assurance services 1.4 2.1

Tax compliance services 0.3 0.3

Tax advisory services 0.2 0.2

All other non audit services 0.3 0.3

5.1 5.9

Included above are amounts payable to associate members of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for the audit of subsidiaries of Rexam PLC of £0.4m in relation 
to discontinued operations (2012: £0.6m restated). Other assurance services comprise assurance reporting on historic financial information required for 
business disposals. 

6 exCeptiOnAl items fROm COntinuinG OpeRAtiOns

2013  
£m

2012 
restated 

£m

Restructuring (2) (25)

Impairment (4) –

Exceptional items before tax (6) (25)

Tax on exceptional items 1 7

Total exceptional items after tax (5) (18)

The £6m of exceptional items before tax relates to restructuring and impairment of assets that arise as a consequence of the proposed disposal of 
Healthcare and the disposal of Personal Care (2012: Personal Care £25m).

7 inteRest

2013  
£m

2012  
restated 

£m

Interest expense

Continuing operations

Bank overdrafts (4) (5)

Bank loans (6) (5)

US public bond (10) (24)

US private placements (23) (9)

Subordinated bond (45) (41)

Medium term notes (6) (25)

Interest on financing derivatives 25 24

Foreign exchange losses (7) (3)

Underlying interest expense (76) (88)

Fair value losses on financing derivatives (1) (20)

Total continuing operations (77) (108)

Discontinued operations

Bank overdrafts (2) (2)

Total interest expense (79) (110)

Interest income

Continuing operations

Short term bank and money market deposits 6 8
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7 inteRest CONTINUED 
An analysis of fair value gains/(losses) on financing derivatives is set out below.

2013  
£m

2012  
£m

Fair value hedges

Interest rate swaps (1) (4)

Cross currency swaps (22) (4)

Fair value adjustment to borrowings 25 (11)

2 (19)

Not hedge accounted

Interest rate swaps 3 (4)

Cross currency swaps (6) 3

(3) (1)

Fair value losses on financing derivatives (1) (20)

The net gain on fair value hedges of £2m (2012: loss £19m) represents the total hedge ineffectiveness on financing derivatives for the year.

8 tAx
(i) Tax included in the consolidated income statement

2013  
Underlying  

profit  
£m

2013  
Exceptional 

and other
items1

£m

2013  
Total  

£m

2012 
Underlying  

profit  
restated 

£m

2012 
Exceptional  

and other 
items1

restated 
£m

2012 
Total  

restated 
£m

Continuing operations

Current and non current tax (65) 1 (64) (63) 3 (60)

Adjustment in respect of prior years – – – (3) – (3)

Current and non current tax (65) 1 (64) (66) 3 (63)

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (31) 6 (25) (32) 7 (25)

Adjustment in respect of prior years 3 – 3 11 – 11

Deferred tax (28) 6 (22) (21) 7 (14)

Total continuing operations (93) 7 (86) (87) 10 (77)

Discontinued operations (20) 40 20 (32) 24 (8)

(113) 47 (66) (119) 34 (85)

1 Other items comprise the amortisation of certain acquired intangible assets and fair value changes on derivatives. 
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8 tAx CONTINUED 
(ii) Tax reconciliation 

A reconciliation of the tax charge applicable to the Group’s profit before tax on continuing operations at the UK statutory rate of 23.25% (2012: 24.5%) 
with the tax charge on continuing operations based on the Group’s effective rate is set out below. 

2013  
Underlying  

profit/tax  
£m

2013  
Exceptional  

and other
items

£m

2013  
Total  

£m

2012 
Underlying 

profit/tax  
restated 

£m

2012 
Exceptional 

and other 
items 

restated 
£m

2012 
Total 

restated 
£m

Profit/(loss) before tax on continuing operations 372 (33) 339 358 (39) 319

Tax on continuing operations at the UK statutory rate (87) 8 (79) (88) 10 (78)

Non deductible and non taxable items 2 (1) 1 1 (1) –

(Higher)/lower domestic tax rates on overseas earnings (11) – (11) (8) 1 (7)

Adjustment in respect of prior years 3 – 3 8 – 8

Tax in the consolidated income statement (93) 7 (86) (87) 10 (77)

Effective rate of tax on continuing operations 25% 25% 24% 24%

(iii) Tax (charged)/credited in equity

2013  
£m

2012  
restated 

£m

Retirement benefits: actuarial (gains)/losses (26) 5

Cash flow hedges (1) (9)

Share options 5 2

Tax included in equity (22) (2)

(iv) Analysis of deferred tax

2013  
£m

2012  
£m

Deferred tax assets 270 292

Deferred tax liabilities (54) (59)

Net deferred tax assets 216 233
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8 tAx CONTINUED
(iv) Analysis of deferred tax continued

Retirement  
benefit  

obligations  
£m

Tax  
losses  

£m

Accelerated  
tax  

depreciation  
£m

Goodwill  
and other  
intangible 

assets  
£m

Other  
temporary  
differences  

£m
Total  

£m

At 1 January 2013 161 31 (94) 71 64 233

Exchange differences – (2) 2 1 (1) –

(Charge)/credit for the year (6) 28 (5) (17) 2 2

(Charge)/credit to equity (26) – – – 4 (22)

Transfer to assets and liabilities classified as held for sale – – 2 – 1 3

At 31 December 2013 129 57 (95) 55 70 216

At 1 January 2012 169 37 (106) 77 54 231

Exchange differences (8) (3) 4 (4) (2) (13)

(Charge)/credit for the year – restated (5) (2) 5 (31) 22 (11)

Credit/(charge) to equity – restated 5 – – – (7) (2)

Transfer to assets and liabilities classified as held for sale – (1) 3 29 (3) 28

At 31 December 2012 161 31 (94) 71 64 233

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are presented as non current in the consolidated balance sheet. Of the total deferred tax assets, £31m (2012: £39m) are 
recoverable within one year. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are only offset where there is a legally enforceable right of offset and there is an intention to 
settle the balance net. 

Deferred tax assets have been recognised where it is probable that they will be recovered. In recognising deferred tax assets, the Group has considered if 
it is more likely than not that sufficient future profits will be available to absorb tax losses and other temporary differences. Deferred tax assets of £54m 
(2012: £84m) have not been recognised in respect of losses and other temporary differences due to the uncertainty of the availability of suitable profits in 
the foreseeable future. The principal items on which no deferred tax assets have been recognised are tax losses, principally capital losses, of £217m 
(2012: £301m) of which £5m (2012: £84m) expire within five years. 

No deferred tax has been recognised on the unremitted earnings of overseas subsidiaries except where it is probable that the temporary difference will 
reverse in the foreseeable future. If the earnings were remitted in full, tax of £28m (2012: £24m) would be payable. 
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9 eARninGs/(lOss) peR shARe
(i) Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share

Basic 
2013 
Pence

Diluted 
2013 
Pence

Basic 
2012 

restated 
Pence

Diluted 
2012 

restated 
Pence

Continuing operations 32.0 31.6 27.8 27.5

Discontinued operations (20.0) (20.0) (4.1) (4.1)

Total 12.0 11.6 23.7 23.4

2013  
£m

2012  
restated 

£m

Profit/(loss) for the financial year attributable to equity shareholders of Rexam PLC

Continuing operations 253 242

Discontinued operations (158) (36)

Total 95 206

2013 
Millions

2012  
Millions

Weighted average number of shares in issue 791.3 869.9

Dilution on conversion of outstanding share options 9.6 11.0

Weighted average number of shares in issue on a diluted basis 800.9 880.9

(ii) Underlying earnings per share

2013  
Pence

2012 
restated 

Pence

Continuing operations 35.3 31.2

Discontinued operations 5.3 5.4

Total 40.6 36.6

2013  
Continuing 
operations 

£m

2013  
Discontinued 

operations 
£m

2012  
Continuing 
operations 

restated 
£m

2012  
Discontinued 

operations 
restated 

£m

Underlying profit before tax 372 62 358 79

Tax on underlying profit (93) (20) (87) (32)

Underlying profit for the financial year 279 42 271 47

Underlying earnings per share is based on underlying profit for the financial year attributable to shareholders of Rexam PLC divided by the weighted 
average number of shares in issue. Underlying profit for the financial year is profit before exceptional items, the amortisation of certain acquired 
intangible assets and fair value changes on certain derivatives. 
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10 disCOntinued OpeRAtiOns
Healthcare is currently in the process of being sold, in line with the Group’s long term strategy to focus on beverage cans and maximise shareholder value. 
See notes 21 and 34 for further details. In accordance with IFRS5 ‘Non Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations’, Healthcare has been 
classified in the consolidated balance sheet within assets and liabilities classified as held for sale and reported in discontinued operations. The sale of 
Personal Care was completed in 2012. A summary of the consolidated income statement, exceptional items, cash flows and other comprehensive income 
are set out in the tables below. The 2013 column comprises Healthcare and the 2012 column comprises Healthcare and Personal Care.

(i) Consolidated income statement

2013 
£m

2012 
restated 

£m

Sales 448 875

Operating expenses (626) (1,014)

 Underlying operating profit 64 81

 Exceptional items (note ii) (234) (200)

 Amortisation of certain acquired intangible assets (8) (20)

Operating loss (178) (139)

Interest expense (2) (2)

Loss before tax (180) (141)

 Tax on underlying profit (20) (32)

 Tax on exceptional items (note ii) 31 4

 Tax on amortisation of certain acquired intangible assets 3 8

Tax 14 (20)

Loss after tax (166) (161)

Profit on disposal of Personal Care (net of tax) 8 125

Net loss (158) (36)

Sales and underlying operating profit for 2012 includes £448m and £33m respectively, relating to Personal Care.

(ii) Exceptional items

2013 
£m

2012 
restated  

£m

Impairment of Healthcare on remeasurement of assets and liabilities classified as held for sale (233) –

Impairment of Personal Care goodwill – (181)

Other impairment (net of reversals) 1 (6)

Restructuring (2) (13)

Exceptional items before tax (234) (200)

Tax on impairment of businesses 31 3

Tax on other impairment – 1

Exceptional items after tax (203) (196)

At 31 December 2013, the value of the Healthcare business was impaired by £233m, based on its fair value less costs to sell.
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10 disCOntinued OpeRAtiOns CONTINUED
(iii) Cash flows

2013  
£m

2012  
restated 

£m

Net cash flows from operating activities 50 61

Net cash flows from investing activities (45) (75)

Net cash flows from financing activities 5 24

Net cash inflow 10 10

(iv) Other comprehensive income

2013 
£m

2012 
£m

Exchange gains recognised in the income statement on disposal of Personal Care – 72

11 equity dividends

2013  
£m

2012  
£m

Interim dividend for 2013 of 5.7p paid on 11 September 2013 45 –

Final dividend for 2012 of 10.2p paid on 22 May 2013 80 –

Interim dividend for 2012 of 5.0p paid on 4 September 2012 – 44

Final dividend for 2011 of 9.7p paid on 7 June 2012 – 84

125 128

A final dividend per equity share of 11.7p has been proposed for 2013 and, subject to shareholder approval, is payable on 3 June 2014. The proposed 
final dividend has not been accrued in these consolidated financial statements.

12 GOOdWill
(i) Summary

2013  
£m

2012  
£m

Cost

At 1 January 1,556 1,837

Exchange differences 9 (65)

Transfer to assets classified as held for sale (330) (216)

At 31 December 1,235 1,556

Accumulated impairment

At 1 January (3) (3)

Impairment of Personal Care – (181)

Transfer to assets classified as held for sale – 181

At 31 December (3) (3)

Carrying value at 31 December 1,232 1,553
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12 GOOdWill CONTINUED
The carrying value of goodwill at 31 December is allocated to cash generating units or groups of cash generating units (CGUs) as set out below.

2013  
£m

2012  
restated 

£m

Continuing operations

Europe 599 625

US 342 349

Brazil 184 187

Russia 38 42

Turkey1 35 –

Egypt 27 30

Mexico 7 7

Beverage Cans 1,232 1,240

Discontinued operations

Healthcare – 313

Carrying value at 31 December 1,232 1,553

1 As a result of the new AMEA operating segment in 2013, the CGU in Turkey is now separately tested for goodwill impairment. Previously it was included as part of the 
European CGU.

(ii) Impairment testing for continuing operations 

The recoverable amounts of CGUs or groups of CGUs for Beverage Cans were determined based on value in use calculations at 31 December 2013. 
The cash flow projections used in these calculations are based on the Group’s financial budget for 2014, as approved by the board in December 2013, 
and the Group’s financial plans in respect of 2015 and 2016. As highlighted in the principal accounting policies, the calculation of value in use requires 
the use of estimates which, although based on management’s best knowledge, may ultimately differ from actual results. 

Key assumptions
The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are:

(a) Discount rates. The pre tax discount rates used in the value in use calculations are set out in the table below. These discount rates are derived from the 
Group’s pre tax weighted average cost of capital (WACC), as adjusted for the specific risks relating to each region in which the CGUs operate. 

2013  
%

2012  
%

Europe 10 10

US 10 10

Brazil 16 14

Russia 16 15

Turkey 17 –

Egypt 27 23

Mexico 14 15

(b) Growth rates. Cash flows beyond the three year planning horizon have been extrapolated using growth rates of 2.0% for Europe (2012: 1.6%), 2.4% 
for the US (2012: 2.5%), 4.8% for Brazil (2012: 4.7%) and at rates ranging between 3.3% and 6.8% for all other continuing operations’ CGUs (2012: 
3.6% and 6.1%). The growth rates used do not exceed the long term GDP growth rates relating to each region in which the CGUs operate. 

(c) Sales and costs. Forecasts for sales and margins are based on analyses of sales, markets, costs and competitors. Consideration is given to past 
experience and knowledge of future contracts. Forecasts for aluminium costs are based on forward prices and time projections after taking into 
account pass through of costs and hedging. Forecasts for other raw materials and energy costs are based on inflation forecasts and supply and 
demand factors.

Sensitivities
With respect to the Turkey CGU, a comparison of the recoverable amount with the carrying value gave rise to £6m goodwill headroom. A 1% increase in 
discount rates would reduce the recoverable amount by approximately £5m. Similarly, a 1% decrease in either growth rates or operating profit would 
reduce the recoverable amount by approximately £4m and £1m, respectively. With respect to all other CGUs or groups of CGUs, management considers 
that no reasonably possible change in any of the key assumptions would cause the recoverable amount of goodwill to fall below carrying value at  
31 December 2013.
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13 OtheR intAnGible Assets

Computer  
software  
acquired  

£m

Computer  
software  

developed  
£m

Customer  
contracts and  
relationships 

acquired  
£m

Technology  
and patents  

acquired  
£m

Other  
development  

projects  
£m

Total  
£m

Cost

At 1 January 2013 92 18 264 90 13 477

Exchange differences – 1 8 4 (1) 12

Additions 5 – – – – 5

Disposals (1) – – (4) (1) (6)

Transfer from property, plant and equipment 1 – – – – 1

Transfer to assets classified as held for sale (15) (10) (230) (90) (5) (350)

At 31 December 2013 82 9 42 – 6 139

Accumulated amortisation and impairment

At 1 January 2013 (76) (17) (83) (35) (6) (217)

Exchange differences – (1) (2) – 1 (2)

Amortisation for the year (7) – (7) (3) – (17)

Disposals 1 – – 4 1 6

Impairment (2) – – – – (2)

Transfer to assets classified as held for sale 13 9 70 34 1 127

At 31 December 2013 (71) (9) (22) – (3) (105)

Carrying value at 31 December 2013 11 – 20 – 3 34

Cost

At 1 January 2012 96 20 343 126 16 601

Exchange differences (1) (1) (15) (6) – (23)

Additions 6 – – – – 6

Disposals (3) – – – (1) (4)

Other movements (1) – – – 3 2

Transfer to assets classified as held for sale (5) (1) (64) (30) (5) (105)

At 31 December 2012 92 18 264 90 13 477

Accumulated amortisation and impairment

At 1 January 2012 (76) (17) (103) (54) (8) (258)

Exchange differences 4 – 6 2 – 12

Amortisation for the year (8) (1) (15) (6) (1) (31)

Disposals 1 – – – 1 2

Impairment (2) – – – – (2)

Transfer to assets classified as held for sale 5 1 29 23 2 60

At 31 December 2012 (76) (17) (83) (35) (6) (217)

Carrying value at 31 December 2012 16 1 181 55 7 260

The impairment of £2m (2012: £2m) comprised the write off of certain software licenses. 
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14 pROpeRty, plAnt And equipment

Property  
£m

Plant and  
equipment  

£m

Assets under  
construction  

£m
Total  

£m

Cost

At 1 January 2013 494 2,052 227 2,773

Exchange differences (3) (15) 3 (15)

Additions 2 43 137 182

Disposals (1) (29) – (30)

Transfer to other intangible assets – (1) – (1)

Reclassifications 54 157 (211) –

Transfer to assets classified as held for sale (121) (228) (38) (387)

At 31 December 2013 425 1,979 118 2,522

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

At 1 January 2013 (152) (1,162) – (1,314)

Exchange differences – 4 – 4

Depreciation for the year (16) (132) – (148)

Reversal of impairment – 1 – 1

Disposals 1 24 – 25

Reclassifications (2) 2 – –

Transfer to assets classified as held for sale 32 135 – 167

At 31 December 2013 (137) (1,128) – (1,265)

Carrying value at 31 December 2013 288 851 118 1,257

Cost

At 1 January 2012 594 2,407 153 3,154

Exchange differences (23) (83) (8) (114)

Additions 5 19 255 279

Disposals (14) (25) – (39)

Other movements (2) – (2) (4)

Reclassifications 19 128 (147) –

Transfer to assets classified as held for sale (85) (394) (24) (503)

At 31 December 2012 494 2,052 227 2,773

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

At 1 January 2012 (180) (1,384) – (1,564)

Exchange differences 9 46 – 55

Depreciation for the year (19) (143) – (162)

Impairment (5) – – (5)

Reversal of impairment – 1 – 1

Disposals 14 18 – 32

Other movements (1) 2 – 1

Transfer to assets classified as held for sale 30 298 – 328

At 31 December 2012 (152) (1,162) – (1,314)

Carrying value at 31 December 2012 342 890 227 1,459

The carrying value of property, plant and equipment includes finance leased assets of £2m (2012: £4m restated) in respect of property. The impairment of 
£5m in 2012 relates to restructuring following the disposal of Personal Care. The reversal of impairment of £1m (2012: £1m) was in relation to a previous 
over impairment of a closed plant.
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15 investments in subsidiARies
The principal subsidiaries, all of which are wholly owned, are shown below. An asterisk indicates that the capital is directly owned by Rexam PLC. 
Subsidiaries incorporated in the UK are registered in England and Wales. All subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements. A full list 
of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures at 31 December 2013 will be annexed to the Company’s next annual return.

Country of  
incorporation

Principal area  
of operation

Identity of  
capital held

Nature of  
business activities

Rexam Beverage Can Company US US Common stock Consumer packaging

Rexam Beverage Can Naro Fominsk LLC Russia Russia Capital stock Consumer packaging

Rexam Beverage Can South America SA Brazil South America Common stock Consumer packaging

Rexam do Brazil Ltda Brazil South America Quotas Consumer packaging

Rexam European Holdings Limited UK UK Ordinary shares Holding company

Rexam France SA France France Ordinary shares Consumer packaging

Rexam Group Holdings Limited* UK UK Ordinary shares Holding company

Rexam Holdings AB Sweden Continental Europe Ordinary shares Holding company

Rexam Inc US US Common stock Holding company

Rexam Overseas Holdings Limited UK UK Ordinary shares Holding company

Rexam Plastic Packaging Inc US US Common stock Holding company

16 investments in AssOCiAtes And jOint ventuRes
The principal associate and joint venture are set out below.

Country of  
incorporation 
and area of 
operation Issued capital

Group  
share

Hanil Can Company Limited – associate South Korea 1.7m shares of 5,000 won each 40%

Envases Universales Rexam de Centroamerica SA – joint venture Guatemala 378.1m shares of 1 quetzal each 50%

Associates  
£m

Joint ventures  
£m

Total  
£m

At 1 January 2013 44 24 68

Exchange differences – (1) (1)

Share of post tax profits 4 5 9

At 31 December 2013 48 28 76

At 1 January 2012 39 31 70

Exchange differences – (1) (1)

Share of post tax profits 5 4 9

Dividends paid – (10) (10)

At 31 December 2012 44 24 68

There is £3m of goodwill allocated to the joint venture in Guatemala (2012: £3m). There is an outstanding unsecured loan from the joint venture in 
Guatemala to Rexam PLC of £3m (2012: £3m). The loan is interest free and repayable on demand.

The following table sets out summary information on all associates and joint ventures on a 100% basis.

2013  
Associates  

£m

2013  
Joint ventures  

£m

2012  
Associates  

£m

2012  
Joint ventures  

£m

Sales 208 88 184 79

Operating profit 14 13 13 11

Profit before tax 13 13 15 11

Profit after tax 10 10 11 9

Assets 189 70 177 60

Liabilities (71) (13) (66) (12)
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17 insuRAnCe bACKed Assets

2013 
£m

2012 
£m

At 1 January 25 25

Payments in respect of pension obligations (2) (2)

Actuarial (losses)/gains (1) 2

22 25

Non current assets 20 23

Current assets 2 2

At 31 December 22 25

The Group, through its subsidiary Rexam Inc, has a number of non qualified defined benefit pension plans in the US. It also has a number of non qualifying 
insurance policies (insurance backed assets), whereby those policies pay the benefits to the Group as they fall due, and the Group in turn makes the 
payments to the eligible beneficiaries of the non qualified defined benefit pension plans. Although eligible beneficiaries have no vested rights in the 
insurance policies, the policies cannot be used by the Group, and would revert to the benefit of general creditors in the event of Rexam Inc’s bankruptcy. 
The insurance backed assets are recognised in the consolidated balance sheet at the present value of the matching defined benefit pension obligations 
and are accounted for in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for retirement benefit obligations.

18 inventORies

2013  
£m

2012  
£m

Raw materials, stores and consumables 186 174

Work in progress 1 9

Finished goods 279 264

466 447

An analysis of provisions against inventories is set out below.

2013 
£m

2012  
£m

At 1 January (36) (40)

Exchange differences (1) 2

Charge for the year (4) (8)

Released in the year 5 2

Utilised 1 2

Transfer to assets classified as held for sale 17 6

At 31 December (18) (36)
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19 tRAde And OtheR ReCeivAbles

2013 
 £m

2012 
 £m

Non current assets

Trade receivables 2 2

Provision for impairment (2) (2)

Net trade receivables – –

Prepayments 93 65

Taxes 8 9

Pension escrow investment 25 10

Available for sale financial assets 1 1

Other receivables 30 26

157 111

Current assets

Trade receivables 389 449

Provision for impairment (2) (8)

Net trade receivables 387 441

Prepayments 38 36

Taxes 34 43

Other receivables 20 47

479 567

Total trade and other receivables 636 678

An analysis of provisions for impairment of trade and other receivables is set out below.

2013 
£m

2012  
£m

At 1 January (10) (13)

Impairment in the year (1) (5)

Released in the year 3 5

Utilised 3 2

Transfer to assets classified as held for sale 1 1

At 31 December (4) (10)

An analysis of total trade and other receivables including those which are past due but not impaired is set out below.

2013  
£m

2012  
£m

Not yet due 609 649

Past due less than 3 months 24 29

Between 3 and 6 months 1 –

Between 6 and 12 months 1 –

More than 12 months 1 –

636 678
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19 tRAde And OtheR ReCeivAbles CONTINUED 

The maximum amount of credit risk with respect to customers is represented by the carrying amount on the balance sheet. Customer credit facilities for new 
customers must be approved by designated managers at business level or by senior sector management. Credit limits are set with reference to trading 
history and reports from credit rating agencies. Customer credit facilities are reviewed at the sales order entry stage and at the time of shipment so as not 
to exceed customer limits. Overdue accounts are regularly reviewed and impairment provisions are created where necessary. As a matter of policy, all 
outstanding trade balances greater than three months are fully provided except as approved by senior sector management and with due regard to the 
historical risk profile of the customer. The Group has extremely low historical levels of customer credit defaults, due in part to the large multinational nature 
of many of its customers and the long term relationships it has with them. There were no major new customers in 2013 where the Group considered there 
was a risk of significant credit default. There are no trade and other receivables that would otherwise be past due or impaired whose terms have been 
renegotiated.

The carrying amounts of total trade and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies. 

2013  
£m

2012  
£m

Euro 187 221

US dollar 130 175

Brazilian real 191 167

Other 128 115

636 678

Available for sale financial assets comprise investments of £1m (2012: £1m) and are denominated in euros.

20 CAsh And CAsh equivAlents

2013  
£m

2012  
£m

Cash at bank and in hand 66 384

Short term bank and money market deposits 145 923

211 1,307

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2012 included the early refinancing of 2013 debt maturities and receipt of the Personal Care disposal 
proceeds. 

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies.

2013  
£m

2012  
£m

Sterling 63 683

Brazilian real 61 51

Euro 12 80

US dollar 57 463

Other 18 30

211 1,307
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21 Assets And liAbilities ClAssified As held fOR sAle

2013 
Before 

impairment 
£m

2013 
Impairment 

£m

2013  
Total 

£m

2012  
Total 

£m

Healthcare assets and liabilities classified as held for sale

Goodwill 311 (233) 78 –

Other intangible assets 209 – 209 –

Property, plant and equipment 234 – 234 –

Inventories 44 – 44 –

Trade receivables 117 – 117 –

Current tax 3 – 3 –

Cash 4 – 4 –

Total assets 922 (233) 689 –

Trade payables (144) – (144) –

Deferred tax (3) – (3) –

Provisions (1) – (1) –

Retirement benefit obligations (6) – (6) –

External borrowings (6) – (6) –

Total liabilities (160) – (160) –

Total carrying value of Healthcare 762 (233) 529 –

Other assets classified as held for sale 6 (2) 4 3

Total assets and liabilities classified as held for sale 768 (235) 533 3

For more information on the Healthcare impairment see note 10. Other assets classified as held for sale comprise properties in the US and China deemed 
surplus to requirements. The US properties were impaired by £2m in the year.

22 tRAde And OtheR pAyAbles

2013  
£m

2012  
£m

Current liabilities
Trade payables (457) (474)
Social security and other taxes (52) (58)
Accrued expenses (144) (191)
Loan from joint venture (3) (3)
Other payables (46) (108)

(702) (834)
Non current liabilities
Accrued expenses (57) (24)
Other payables (32) (27)

(89) (51)

Total trade and other payables (791) (885)
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22 tRAde And OtheR pAyAbles CONTINUED

The carrying amounts of total trade and other payables are denominated in the following currencies.

2013  
£m

2012  
£m

US dollar (358) (451)
Euro (223) (256)
Brazilian real (130) (64)
Sterling (29) (54)
Other (51) (60)

(791) (885)

23 bORROWinGs

2013 
£m

2012  
£m

Current liabilities
Bank overdrafts (20) (58)
Bank loans (258) (10)
US private placements (1) (140)
Subordinated bond (20) (20)
US public bond – (341)
Medium term notes – (537)

(299) (1,106)
Non current liabilities
Bank loans (22) (25)
US private placements (456) (370)
Subordinated bond (703) (711)

(1,181) (1,106)

Total borrowings (1,480) (2,212)

The Group has a range of bank facilities maturing from 2014 to 2018. These facilities may generally be drawn in a range of freely available currencies 
and are at floating rates of interest. In addition, the Group has a subordinated bond and US private placements in issue. The subordinated bond is 
denominated in euros with a maturity in 2067. It was issued at a fixed rate of interest and has been partially swapped into US dollar floating rates of 
interest until 2017 through the use of cross currency interest rate derivatives. The US private placements total $720m and €25m. They are at fixed rates of 
interest with $545m and €25m maturing in 2022 and $175m maturing in 2024. 

The carrying amounts of total borrowings are denominated in the following currencies.

2013  
£m

2012  
£m

Euro (742) (1,282)

US dollar (434) (894)

Sterling (266) –

Other (38) (36)

(1,480) (2,212)
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24 net bORROWinGs
Net borrowings at 31 December by instrument.

2013  
£m

2012  
£m

Cash and cash equivalents 211 1,307

Bank overdrafts (20) (58)

Bank loans (280) (35)

US private placements (457) (510)

Subordinated bond (723) (731)

US public bond – (341)

Medium term notes – (537)

Pension escrow investment – 10

Financing derivatives 98 114

(1,171) (781)

Movement in net borrowings.

2013  
£m

2012  
£m

At 1 January (781) (1,312)

Exchange differences – 77

Disposal of subsidiaries – 14

Change in cash and cash equivalents (1,075) 866

Proceeds from borrowings (349) (401)

Repayment of borrowings 1,050 5

Pension escrow investment (10) 10

Fair value and other changes (6) (40)

At 31 December (1,171) (781)

Repayment of borrowings for 2013 comprises the repayment of the €700m medium term notes for £549m, the $550m US public bond for £360m and the 
$220m US private placement for £141m. Proceeds from borrowings for 2013 comprise the remaining $150m drawdown of the $720m US private 
placement for £92m, an increase in bank loans of £254m and settlement of financing derivatives of £3m. 

Reconciliation of net borrowings to the consolidated balance sheet.

2013  
£m

2012  
£m

Total derivative financial instruments (net) 61 98

Derivatives not included in net borrowings 37 16

Financing derivatives included in net borrowings 98 114

Cash and cash equivalents 211 1,307

Pension escrow investment – 10

Borrowings included in current liabilities (299) (1,106)

Borrowings included in non current liabilities (1,181) (1,106)

(1,171) (781)

At 31 December 2013, to be consistent with the balance sheet presentation, the pension escrow investment has been treated as a receivable due after 
more than one year and therefore excluded from net borrowings. In 2012, it was treated as cash held on deposit for the purposes of the definitions of net 
borrowings and included in net borrowings.
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25 finAnCiAl instRuments
(i) Carrying amount and fair value of financial assets and liabilities 

Analysis of the carrying values and fair values at 31 December, by category and by class, of financial assets and liabilities.

Derivatives  
used for  
hedging  

£m

Derivatives  
held for  
trading  

£m

Loans  
and  

receivables  
£m

Available  
for sale  
assets 

£m

Other  
financial  
liabilities  

£m

Total  
carrying  
amount  

£m

Total  
fair value  

£m

At 31 December 2013

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents – – 211 – – 211 211

Trade and other receivables1 – – 462 – – 462 462

Available for sale financial assets – – – 1 – 1 1

Derivatives 165 77 – – – 242 242

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables2 – – – – (739) (739) (739)

Bank overdrafts – – – – (20) (20) (20)

Bank loans – – – – (280) (280) (280)

US private placements – – – – (457) (457) (462)

Subordinated bond – – – – (723) (723) (692)

Derivatives (8) (173) – – – (181) (181)

157 (96) 673 1 (2,219) (1,484) (1,458)

At 31 December 2012

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents – – 1,307 – – 1,307 1,307

Trade and other receivables1 – – 524 – – 524 524

Available for sale financial assets – – – 1 – 1 1

Derivatives 189 82 – – – 271 271

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables2 – – – – (827) (827) (827)

Bank overdrafts – – – – (58) (58) (58)

Bank loans – – – – (35) (35) (35)

US public bond – – – – (341) (341) (348)

US private placements – – – – (510) (510) (515)

Subordinated bond – – – – (731) (731) (662)

Medium term notes – – – – (537) (537) (541)

Derivatives (5) (168) – – – (173) (173)

184 (86) 1,831 1 (3,039) (1,109) (1,056)

1 Excludes prepayments and taxes.

2 Excludes social security and other taxes.

Market values have been used to determine the fair values of available for sale financial assets, bank overdrafts and floating rate bank loans. The carrying 
values of trade and other receivables and trade and other payables are assumed to approximate to their fair values due to their short term nature. The fair 
value of the subordinated bond has been determined by reference to quoted market prices at the close of business on 31 December. The fair value of the 
US private placements has been approximated using the market value of similar instruments with similar parameters issued around the same time. The fair 
values of interest rate swaps, cross currency swaps and fixed rate loans have been determined by discounting cash flows at prevailing interest rates. The 
fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts has been determined by marking those contracts to market against prevailing forward foreign exchange 
rates. The fair value of forward commodity contracts has been determined by marking those contracts to market at prevailing forward prices. 

The subordinated bond is categorised as level 1 in the fair value measurement table, as a quoted market price has been used to determine its fair value. In 
both 2013 and 2012, all other financial instruments in the above tables are categorised as level 2 in the fair value measurement hierarchy, whereby the 
fair value is determined by using valuation techniques. The valuation techniques for level 2 instruments use observable market data where it is available 
and rely less on estimates. In accordance with IFRS5, the Healthcare assets and liabilities classified as held for sale have been written down to their fair 
value less costs to sell of £529m. This is a non recurring fair value. As set out in note 34, Rexam has announced the proposed sale of the pharmaceutical 
devices and prescription retail packaging divisions of Healthcare for $805m. These two divisions have been measured using observable inputs, being the 
externally reported price for the business, and are therefore within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. The remaining closures and containers division of 
Healthcare has been measured based on unobservable inputs, being a combination of bids from market participants and financial forecasts developed 
internally, and is therefore within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
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25 finAnCiAl instRuments CONTINUED 
(ii) Financial risk management

The Group bases its financial risk management on sound economic objectives and good corporate practice. Group treasury operations are carried out 
under policies and parameters approved by the Rexam board. 

(a) Market risk: currencies
Currency risks arise from the multi currency cash flows within the Group. These risks arise from exchange rate fluctuations relating to the translation of 
balance sheet items of foreign subsidiaries (translation risk) and from currency flows from sales and purchases (transaction risk).

Although the Group does not directly hedge translation risk it does mitigate the impact by borrowing a proportion of debt, either directly or through the 
use of cross currency swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts, in currencies which match or are correlated to the currencies of the overseas 
businesses. This approach also provides some protection against the foreign exchange translation of overseas earnings as it matches the currency of 
earnings to the currency of the interest expense. These amounts are included in the consolidated financial statements by translation into sterling at the 
balance sheet date and, where hedge accounted, offset in equity against the translation movement in net assets. Some cross currency swaps used to 
manage the Group’s currency exposures, whilst economically effective, are ineligible for hedge accounting treatment.

The policy regarding transaction risk is to hedge the reported net transaction exposure in full less an allowance for variability in forecasting. This is 
generally achieved through the use of forward foreign exchange contracts with amounts hedged being based on the reporting from individual Group 
businesses. None of the foreign exchange derivative instruments at 31 December 2013 related to derivative trading activity, although some fair value 
gains and losses were taken to the consolidated income statement because IAS39 hedge accounting treatment was not applied. Foreign exchange 
derivative instruments are used for hedging general business exposures in foreign currencies such as the purchase and sale of goods, capital expenditure 
and dividend flows. 

Transactional foreign exchange risks are hedged by Group treasury unless it is a legal requirement in the country where the foreign exchange risk arises 
that hedging is carried out locally. In the latter case, hedging is carried out by the individual responsible for treasury within the local business, but still 
operating within the overall Group policy on foreign exchange management. 

The currency denomination of borrowings at 31 December 2013 was 68% in US dollars and 32% in euros (2012: 64% US dollars, 36% euros).

(b) Market risk: interest rates
Changes in interest rates on interest bearing receivables and floating rate debt in different currencies create interest rate risk. The objective of the Group’s 
interest rate risk management is to manage its exposure to the impact of changes in interest rates in the currencies in which debt is borrowed. Group policy 
is normally to keep between 35% and 85% of interest on borrowings at fixed rates although approval may be sought for higher percentages of fixed rate 
debt. Interest rate risk is managed through the issue of fixed rate debt and through the use of interest rate derivatives that are used to manage the overall 
fixed to floating mix of debt, which was 89% fixed and 11% floating at 31 December 2013 (2012: 68% and 32%). Group treasury operates within a broad 
framework in respect of the mix of fixed and floating rate debt, as the optimum blend will vary depending on the mix of currencies and the Group’s view of 
the debt markets at any point in time.

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on bank deposit rates in the relevant currency. Short term deposits are usually made for periods varying 
between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group and earn interest at the respective short term deposit 
rates. Other floating rate financial instruments are at the appropriate LIBOR interest rates as adjusted by variable margins. Interest on floating rate 
financial instruments is repriced at intervals of less than one year. Interest on fixed rate financial instruments is fixed until maturity of the instrument. 

Some interest rate swaps used to manage the Group’s fixed to floating debt mix, whilst economically effective, are ineligible for hedge accounting 
treatment. Fair value gains and losses on these hedges are recognised in the consolidated income statement. 

In 2013, there was a loss of £1m (2012: £20m) on fair value changes on financing derivatives, disclosed separately within interest expense in the 
consolidated income statement.

(c) Market risk: commodity prices
Changes in the market price of commodities used by the Group create commodity risk. Group policy is to manage these risks through both its supply chain 
management and through use of financial derivatives. Where financial derivatives are used, the Group uses mainly over the counter instruments 
transacted with banks, which are themselves priced through a recognised commodity exchange, such as the London Metal Exchange. The Group 
manages the purchase of certain raw materials, including aluminium, resin and energy costs through physical supply contracts which, in the main, relate 
directly to commodity price indices. With regard to aluminium, which represents the Group’s largest commodity exposure, the policy is to eliminate as far 
as possible any market price variability through hedging in tandem with contractual commitments to customers. Where Rexam assumes the aluminium 
price risk on customer contracts, it has defined a risk appetite with a predetermined aggregate consolidated income statement limit arising from any 
related aluminium hedging activities. Its position against this limit is monitored and reported on a monthly basis. For other commodities, the policy is to 
follow an incremental hedge approach over a period of up to three years in order to manage the price year on year and limit uncertainty. None of the 
commodity derivative financial instruments at 31 December 2013 related to derivative trading activity, although fair value gains and losses were taken to 
the consolidated income statement because hedge accounting was not applied or hedges were ineffective. The commodity hedges mainly relate to 
contracted and expected future purchases of aluminium, but also include resin and energy. 

(d) Market risk: euro
In response to the instabilities in the eurozone and the risk of break up of the euro single currency, Rexam created a euro crisis committee in 2012 
comprising members from Group treasury, Group enterprise risk management and relevant businesses. The committee met regularly in 2013 to identify 
key exposures, discuss and monitor developments and develop appropriate mitigation actions. Key actions included limiting cash held in countries at risk, 
confirming that IT systems could cope with a return to multiple currencies, enhanced monitoring of European bank counterparty exposures and a review of 
commercial contracts. 
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25 finAnCiAl instRuments CONTINUED 

(e) Market risk: sensitivities
A sensitivity analysis for financial assets and liabilities affected by market risk is set out below. Each risk is analysed separately and shows the sensitivity of 
financial assets and liabilities when a certain risk is changed. The sensitivity analysis has been performed on balances at 31 December each year. The 
rates used are based on historical trends and, where relevant, projected forecasts.

Key methods and assumptions made when performing the sensitivity analysis (net of hedging):

(a) For the floating rate element of interest rate swaps and borrowings, the sensitivity calculation is performed based on the floating rates 
at 31 December each year.

(b) The translation impact of overseas subsidiaries into sterling is not included in the sensitivity analysis.

(c) The sensitivity analysis ignores any tax implications.

Currencies
The foreign exchange rate sensitivity analysis set out in the table below is based on foreign currency positions, other than each Group entity’s own 
functional currency, on the balance sheet at 31 December. The analysis includes only risks arising from financial instruments and gives the estimated 
impact on profit before tax and equity of a 10% increase and decrease in exchange rates between currency pairs with significant currency positions.

Increase  
%

Impact on 
 profit  

before tax  
£m

Impact  
on equity  

£m
Decrease  

%

Impact on  
profit  

before tax  
£m

Impact  
on equity  

£m

At 31 December 2013

Sterling/US dollar 10 (4) 14 (10) 5 (17)

Sterling/euro 10 – 16 (10) 8 (20)

Euro/US dollar 10 (1) (19) (10) – 20

At 31 December 2012

Sterling/US dollar 10 (13) 36 (10) 16 (45)

Sterling/euro 10 (3) 25 (10) (1) (31)

Euro/US dollar 10 3 (21) (10) (4) 20

The impact of currency risk on net investment hedges is offset by the translation of overseas subsidiaries on consolidation.

The net impact of currency translation resulted in sales and underlying profit from continuing operations increasing/(reducing) as set out below.

2013 
Sales 

£m

2013 
Underlying 
operating 

profit 
£m

2012 
Sales  

£m

2012 
Underlying 
operating 

profit  
£m

US dollar 42 5 15 2

Euro 37 5 (70) (13)

Other currencies (1) (2) (22) (3)

78 8 (77) (14)

Interest rates
At 31 December 2013, if the US dollar interest rate were increased by 1% with all other variables held constant, profit before tax would increase by £7m 
(2012: £15m) as a result of US dollar denominated floating rate debt and interest rate and cross currency derivatives. If euro and sterling interest rates 
were increased by 1% with all other variables held constant, profit before tax would not change (2012: increase by £7m) as a result of floating debt being 
swapped into fixed rate debt and a reduction in cash since 2012. A reduction in interest rates would not have a significant effect on profit before tax. There 
was no significant interest rate risk relating to equity in either year. 

Commodity prices
At 31 December 2013 and at 31 December 2012 all forward aluminium commodity contracts were ineffective from an accounting perspective resulting in 
fair value movements from the date of the last effective test being recognised in the consolidated income statement. If the aluminium price was increased or 
decreased by 10% with all other variables held constant, profit before tax would increase or decrease by £31m (2012: £34m).

Equity prices
The Group is not subject to any significant equity price risk.
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25 finAnCiAl instRuments CONTINUED 

(f) Liquidity risk
An analysis of undiscounted contractual maturities for non derivative financial liabilities, derivative financial instruments and undrawn committed debt 
facilities is set out below.

Within  
1 year  

£m

1 to 2  
years  

£m

2 to 5  
years  

£m

More than  
5 years  

£m

Total  
contractual  

amount  
£m

At 31 December 2013

Non derivative financial liabilities:

Trade and other payables (650) (17) (38) (34) (739)

Bank overdrafts (20) – – – (20)

Bank loans (258) – – (22) (280)

US private placements (19) (19) (58) (544) (640)

Subordinated bond (42) (42) (102) (2,324) (2,510)

Derivative financial instruments:

Derivative contracts – settled gross payments (942) (112) (1,402) – (2,456)

Derivative contracts – settled gross receipts 966 134 1,453 – 2,553

Derivative contracts – net settlements (3) (2) – – (5)

Commodity contracts (23) (3) – – (26)

Undrawn committed debt facilities – – 817 – 817

At 31 December 2012

Non derivative financial liabilities:

Trade and other payables (776) (12) (17) (22) (827)

Bank overdrafts (58) – – – (58)

Bank loans (9) – (1) (26) (36)

US public bond (362) – – – (362)

US private placements (163) (16) (47) (459) (685)

Subordinated bond (41) (41) (733)  – (815)

Medium term notes (541) – – – (541)

Derivative financial instruments:

Derivative contracts – settled gross payments (614) (104) (1,425) – (2,143)

Derivative contracts – settled gross receipts 642 128 1,481 – 2,251

Derivative contracts – net settlements 3 (5) – – (2)

Commodity contracts (13) (1) – – (14)

Undrawn committed debt facilities – – 809 – 809

The subordinated bond has a maturity in 2067 and Rexam has an option to redeem it at par in 2017. For 2013 the above table assumes that the bond will 
be redeemed at maturity, which is Rexam’s current expectation. In previous years the early 2017 redemption date was assumed.

The Group monitors its liquidity to maintain a sufficient level of undrawn committed debt facilities, thereby ensuring financial flexibility. At 31 December 
2013, Rexam had £817m of undrawn committed debt facilities available (2012: £809m). 
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25 finAnCiAl instRuments CONTINUED 

The Group mitigates refinancing risk by raising its debt requirements from a range of different sources. The range of maturity dates arising on committed 
debt facilities is set out below. 

Maturity date
2013  

£m
2012  

£m

2013 – 996

2014 250 –

2016 10 –

2018 807 809

2022 351 264

2024 106 108

2067 621 625

2,145 2,802

(g) Credit risk
The maximum credit risk exposure of the Group’s financial assets at 31 December is represented by the amounts reported under the corresponding 
balance sheet headings. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk associated with financial instruments of the Group. Credit risk arises from 
exposures to external counterparties. In order to manage this risk, the Group has strict credit control quality measures that are applied to counterparty 
institutions and also limits on maximum exposure levels to any one counterparty. 

To manage credit risk, the maximum limits for bank exposures held under Group policy are set out in the table below by individual counterparty credit 
rating category. These limits are used when making investments and for the use of derivative instruments. The table also sets out the Group’s financial asset 
exposure at 31 December for each counterparty credit rating category. 

Credit rating

2013  
Individual 

counterparty  
limit  
£m

2013  
Cash  

and cash 
equivalents  

£m

2013 
Derivatives  

£m

2013 
Total  

£m

2012 
Individual 

counterparty 
limit  
£m

2012 
Cash  

and cash 
equivalents  

£m

2012 
Derivatives 

£m

2012  
Total  

£m

AA– 35 to 175 4 – 4 35 to 175 23 – 23

A+ 28 to 140 66 98 164 28 to 140 86 108 194

A 28 to 140 67 39 106 28 to 140 461 47 508

A– 28 to 140 43 43 86 28 to 140 728 82 810

BBB+ and below 10 to 105 31 62 93 10 to 105 9 34 43

211 242 453 1,307 271 1,578

See note 19 for information on credit risk with respect to customers.

(h) Capital risk management
The Group’s objective is to minimise its cost of capital by optimising the efficiency of its capital structure, being the balance between equity and debt. The 
Group views its ordinary share capital as equity. This objective is always subject to an overriding principle that capital must be managed to ensure the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. The Group is able to adjust 
its capital structure through the issue or redemption of either debt or equity and by adjustment to the dividend paid to equity holders. The Group uses a 
range of financial metrics to monitor the efficiency of its capital structure, including its weighted average cost of capital and net debt to EBITDA and 
ensures that its capital structure provides sufficient financial strength to allow it to secure access to debt finance at reasonable cost.

At 31 December 2013, the Group’s net debt to EBITDA for financial covenant purposes was 1.5 times (2012: 0.7 times). The Group aims to keep this ratio 
below 2.5 times. For this purpose, net debt is broadly net borrowings adjusted to exclude interest accruals, certain derivative financial instruments and an 
equity portion of the subordinated bond and reflects non sterling amounts at average exchange rates. EBITDA is underlying operating profit after adding 
back depreciation and amortisation of computer software and adjusted where appropriate to include acquisitions on a pro forma basis and exclude 
disposed businesses.
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25 finAnCiAl instRuments CONTINUED 
(iii) Derivative financial instruments

The net fair values of the Group’s derivative financial instruments designated as fair value or cash flow hedges and those not designated as hedging 
instruments are set out below.

2013 
Assets 

£m

2013 
Liabilities 

£m

2013 
Total 

£m

2012 
Assets 

£m

2012 
Liabilities 

£m

2012  
Total 

£m

Fair value hedges

Cross currency swaps 164 – 164 175 – 175

Interest rate swaps – – – 6 – 6

164 – 164 181 – 181

Cash flow hedges

Forward foreign exchange contracts 1 (8) (7) 7 (4) 3

Forward gas commodity contracts – – – – (1) (1)

Forward resin commodity contracts – – – 1 – 1

1 (8) (7) 8 (5) 3

Total hedge accounted 165 (8) 157 189 (5) 184

Not hedge accounted

Forward aluminium commodity contracts 3 (31) (28) 6 (21) (15)

Cross currency swaps 70 (129) (59) 75 (133) (58)

Interest rate swaps – (8) (8) – (9) (9)

Forward foreign exchange contracts 4 (5) (1) 1 (5) (4)

Total not hedge accounted 77 (173) (96) 82 (168) (86)

Total net fair value of derivative financial instruments 242 (181) 61 271 (173) 98

For derivatives subject to enforceable master netting arrangements above, each agreement between the Group and the counterparty allows for net 
settlement of the relevant derivatives when both elect to settle on a net basis. In the absence of such an election, derivatives will be settled on a gross basis. 
However, each party to the master netting agreement will have the option to settle all such amounts on an offset basis in the event of default of the other 
party. 

Fair value hedges
At 31 December 2013, the Group has designated cross currency swaps as fair value hedges whereby interest is receivable at fixed interest rates of 6.75% 
and payable at floating rates. These swaps, which mature in 2017, hedge changes in the fair value of the euro subordinated bond which matures in 2067. 
Net ineffectiveness gains of £2m were included in interest in 2013 (2012: losses £19m). The interest rate swaps matured in 2013.

Cash flow hedges
At 31 December 2013, the Group has forward foreign exchange contracts that hedge foreign currency transaction risk. These contracts mature between 
2014 and 2016. The fair value of the outstanding forward gas commodity contracts was not material at 31 December 2013. The forward resin commodity 
contracts matured in 2013. 

Not hedge accounted
Forward aluminium commodity contracts hedge anticipated future purchases of aluminium and mature between 2014 and 2016. At 31 December 2013 
and 31 December 2012, these hedges were ineffective from an accounting perspective and therefore hedge accounting was discontinued with all fair 
value movements from the date of the last effective test being recognised in the consolidated income statement. In addition other derivatives may not 
qualify for hedge accounting, or are specifically not designated as a hedge where natural offset is more appropriate. 
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25 finAnCiAl instRuments CONTINUED 

Net investment hedges
An analysis of the Group’s financial instruments designated as net investment hedges with respect to its subsidiaries, principally in the eurozone and the 
US, is set out below.

US private 
placement 

£m

Subordinated 
bond 

£m

Financing 
derivatives 

£m

Medium  
term notes  

£m

US public  
bond  

£m
Total  

£m

At 1 January 2013 – – – (272) (401) (673)

Net (increase)/decrease in designations (173) (201) (11) 288 414 317

Exchange differences recognised in equity 19 7 2 (16) (13) (1)

At 31 December 2013 (154) (194) (9) – – (357)

At 1 January 2012 – – – (348) – (348)

Net (increase)/decrease in designations – – – 59 (413) (354)

Exchange differences recognised in equity – – – 12 12 24

Exchange differences recognised in the income statement 
on the disposal of businesses – – – 5 – 5

At 31 December 2012 – – – (272) (401) (673)

An analysis of the notional amounts and maturity dates for derivative financial instruments is set out below.

Currency
Maturity 
date

2013 
Notional  
amounts  

£m

2012  
Notional  
amounts  

£m

Fair value hedges

Cross currency swaps Euro 2017 438 427

Cross currency swaps Sterling 2017 (354) (354)

Interest rate swaps Euro – – 163

Cash flow hedges

Forward foreign exchange contracts US dollar 2014 to 2016 163 188

Forward foreign exchange contracts Sterling 2014 (30) 3

Forward gas commodity contracts US dollar 2014 to 2015 4 5

Forward resin commodity contracts US dollar – – 8

Not hedge accounted

Cross currency swaps Sterling 2017 354 354

Cross currency swaps US dollar 2017 (427) (435)

Cross currency swaps Euro 2017 (7) (7)

Interest rate swaps US dollar 2015 409 417

Interest rate swaps Euro 2015 167 163

Forward foreign exchange contracts US dollar 2014 to 2016 360 55

Forward foreign exchange contracts Euro 2014 182 (190)

Forward foreign exchange contracts Sterling 2014 6 2

Forward aluminium commodity contracts US dollar 2014 to 2016 472 (345)

Forward iron ore commodity contracts US dollar 2014 3 6

Forward diesel commodity contracts US dollar 2014 5 –

Net investment hedges

Forward foreign exchange contracts Euro 2014 (8) –

For forward foreign exchange contracts, there are other currencies traded which have been excluded as the fair values for these contracts were 
immaterial.
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26 RetiRement benefit ObliGAtiOns
(i) Summary

UK  
defined  
benefit 

pensions  
£m

US  
defined  
benefit 

pensions  
£m

Other  
defined  
benefit 

pensions  
£m

Total  
defined  
benefit 

pensions  
£m

Other 
pensions  

£m

Total  
pensions  

£m

Retiree 
medical  

£m

Gross 
retirement 

benefit 
obligations  

£m

At 1 January 2013 (20) (323) (50) (393) (16) (409) (107) (516)

Exchange differences – 3 (2) 1 (1) – 2 2

Service (cost)/credit – continuing operations (12) (10) 1 (21) (5) (26) (2) (28)

Service cost – discontinued operations – (1) – (1) (2) (3) – (3)

Net interest cost (1) (11) – (12) – (12) (4) (16)

Actuarial gains 15 55 1 71 – 71 4 75

Cash contributions and benefits paid 8 34 4 46 7 53 9 62

Other movements – 2 – 2 – 2 – 2

Transfer to liabilities classified as held for sale – – – – 5 5 – 5

At 31 December 2013 (10) (251) (46) (307) (12) (319) (98) (417)

Restated:

At 1 January 2012 (13) (350) (44) (407) (19) (426) (114) (540)

Exchange differences – 17 1 18 1 19 6 25

Service cost – continuing operations (11) (9) (1) (21) (5) (26) (3) (29)

Service cost – discontinued operations – (1) – (1) (5) (6) – (6)

Net interest cost – (13) (2) (15) – (15) (4) (19)

Actuarial losses (10) (3) (7) (20) – (20) (2) (22)

Cash contributions and benefits paid 14 34 3 51 9 60 10 70

Other movements – 2 – 2 – 2 – 2

Transfer to liabilities classified as held for sale – – – – 3 3 – 3

At 31 December 2012 (20) (323) (50) (393) (16) (409) (107) (516)

2013  
£m

2012  
£m

Gross retirement benefit obligations (417) (516)

Tax 129 161

Net retirement benefit obligations (288) (355)

(ii) Defined benefit pension plans
The Group sponsors various defined benefit pension plans, the largest being the funded plans in the UK and the US. There are also unfunded defined 
benefit plans in the US, Sweden and Germany and a funded defined benefit plan in Ireland. 

UK defined benefit plan
The UK defined benefit plan is based on revalued career average earnings for members. It is governed by a board of trustees which is responsible for the 
management, administration, funding and investment strategy. The plan was closed to new entrants in 2011. The duration of the plan’s liabilities is 
approximately 18 years.

The trustees are drawn partly from nominees of Rexam PLC, which also appoint the chairman, and partly from the plan’s membership, as member 
nominated trustees. It is Rexam’s expectation that the composition of the trustees will remain at 50% member nominated, excluding the chairman of the 
trustees. 

The plan is subject to a statutory funding objective, as set out in UK pension legislation. The trustees must obtain regular actuarial valuations to check 
whether the statutory funding objective is met, and whether a recovery plan is needed to restore funding to the level of the technical provisions. A full 
actuarial valuation by a qualified actuary was carried out as at 31 March 2011. The next full actuarial valuation will be carried out no later than 31 March 
2014. The last valuation gave rise to a 20% company contribution rate with no deficit recovery contributions payable. However, in 2012 the trustees 
agreed a six year escrow investment with contributions of £10m in 2012 and £15m for each of the following five years. At each subsequent valuation date, 
the assets in escrow will either be allocated to the plan, to Rexam PLC or remain in escrow depending on the funding position of the plan. If there is a 
change of control with a subsequent material decline in Rexam’s credit rating or a material deterioration in Rexam’s financial covenant, the escrow would 
be paid into the plan. On an IAS19 accounting basis at 31 December 2013 the plan was 99% funded (2012: 99%).
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26 RetiRement benefit ObliGAtiOns CONTINUED 
In 2009, Rexam PLC entered into a security agreement with the trustees, granting the plan a charge over the beverage can UK facilities and machinery at 
Milton Keynes and Wakefield which is enforceable up to 31 December 2017 in the event of a contribution default or a material decline in Rexam’s 
financial covenant. 

Investment strategy is the responsibility of the trustees, with implementation powers delegated to an investment committee. This investment committee 
includes employer representatives. A strategy has been agreed to reduce the mismatch between the assets and liabilities, with planned regular switches 
from growth assets into bonds. The switches may be accelerated under certain market conditions and triggers apply based on both funding level and 
market indices. A hedging strategy covering 80% of interest rate risk and 70% of inflation risk is currently in place as is an option protecting against a 
material fall in developed equity markets, the cost of which is met by surrendering any excess rises in those markets. 

The plan has been gender equalised following the European ‘Barber’ equalisation regulations in 1990, although Guaranteed Minimum Pensions (GMPs) 
held in the plan in respect of members contracted out of the State Earnings Related Pension Scheme between 1978 and 1997 have not themselves been 
equalised, as the UK government is yet to confirm how GMP equalisation is to be achieved.

US defined benefit plan
The US defined benefit plan is based on final average pay or flat dollar benefits to union and non-union hourly members. Benefits were frozen for salaried 
members at the end of 2006. The duration of the plan’s liabilities is approximately 10 years.

Plan oversight is provided by the US pension and benefits committee and the US investment committee, which are responsible for its management, 
administration, funding and investment strategy. Both committees consist entirely of employees of the group, nominated by Rexam Inc, a subsidiary of 
Rexam PLC.

A full actuarial valuation by a qualified actuary is carried out annually, the latest being as at 1 January 2013. This valuation determines the plan’s funding 
ratio and calculates the minimum required contributions for the year ahead based on US government requirements. The minimum contributions reflect the 
normal cost for benefits expected to be earned in the upcoming year, expected plan expenses including premiums to the Pension Benefit Guaranty 
Corporation, and additional contributions required to bring plan funding to 100%, typically over a seven year period. The calculations reflect the fair 
value of plan assets and actuarial liabilities based on government prescribed discount rates and mortality assumptions. At 1 January 2013, the ratio of 
plan assets to actuarial liabilities on the government funding basis equalled 107% (2012: 104%). The minimum required contributions for the 2013 plan 
year were $nil (2012: $nil). In 2013, $50m was paid into the plan (2012: $50m) and it is expected that this level of funding will continue in the medium 
term. On an IAS19 accounting basis at 31 December 2013 the plan was 83% funded (2012: 80%).

The US investment committee has been designated by Rexam Inc as a named fiduciary of the trust assets. It adopted a strategy to minimise funded status 
volatility by matching at least 90% of the movement in the plan liabilities due to interest rate and credit spread fluctuations while generating returns 
consistent with the liability growth rate. As part of the strategy, in 2013 the plan achieved a 15% equity exposure (2012: 15%), mainly through derivatives. 
The multiple fixed income managers employed by the investment committee invest predominantly in corporate and government bonds as their primary 
objective is to avoid securities that will be downgraded or will default, with a secondary objective of outperforming their mutually agreed benchmarks.

Other defined benefit plans
The Group also operates unfunded plans in the US, Sweden and Germany and a funded plan in Ireland. Their legal status and control varies depending 
on the conditions and practices in the countries concerned. At 31 December 2013, the net liability of all these plans on an IAS19 accounting basis was 
£91m (2012: £100m).

The past service credit of £2m in 2013 is in respect of the Irish plan and resulted from conversion from a final salary to a career average plan.

Risk management
The Group’s retirement benefit risk management for defined benefit pension plans is overseen by the Rexam retirement benefits committee. This committee 
manages pension deficit volatility on the balance sheet and general risks within the plans, including equity, interest rate and inflation risk. In general, 
trustees or similar bodies manage the defined benefit plans and set the required contribution rates based on independent actuarial advice in accordance 
with local regulations. The Group seeks to actively mitigate the risks associated with its plans. The Group seeks a good working relationship with the 
trustees through regular meetings and pension matters are regularly reported to the Rexam Board. The trustees cannot unilaterally wind up the plans nor 
do they have unilateral power to demand contributions or set contribution rates without employer consent. There are no significant risks of immediate debt 
payments to the plans and there is no self investment. 

There is a risk that changes in discount rates, price inflation, asset returns or mortality assumptions could lead to a material deficit. Given the long term time 
horizon of the pension plan cash flows, the assumptions used are uncertain. The assumptions can also be volatile from year to year due to changes in 
investment market conditions. A higher pension deficit could directly impact the Group’s equity valuation, credit rating and may lead to additional funding 
requirements in future years. Any deficit relative to the actuarial liability for funding purposes, which may differ from the funding position under IAS19, will 
generally be financed over a period that ensures the contributions are reasonably affordable to Rexam PLC and in line with local regulations. Contingent 
contribution payment commitments from the escrow account may also become more likely.
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26 RetiRement benefit ObliGAtiOns CONTINUED

UK 
2013 

£m

US 
2013 

£m

Other  
2013  

£m

Total 
2013 

£m

UK 
2012 

restated 
£m

US 
2012 

restated 
£m

Other  
2012 

restated 
£m

Total 
2012 

restated 
£m

Amounts recognised in the consolidated  
balance sheet
Fair value of plan assets 1,893 987 19 2,899 1,834 1,092 15 2,941
Present value of funded obligations (1,903) (1,193) (24) (3,120) (1,854) (1,365) (23) (3,242)
Funded defined benefit pension plans (10) (206) (5) (221) (20) (273) (8) (301)
Present value of unfunded obligations – (45) (41) (86) – (50) (42) (92)
Net liability (10) (251) (46) (307) (20) (323) (50) (393)

Changes in the fair value of plan assets
At 1 January 1,834 1,092 15 2,941 1,719 1,079 13 2,811
Exchange differences – (14) (1) (15) – (54) – (54)
Plan administration expenses (3) (4) – (7) (3) (4) – (7)
Interest on plan assets 79 36 2 117 80 41 – 121
Actuarial changes arising on plan assets 43 (58) 1 (14) 86 95 1 182
Employer contributions 8 32 2 42 14 31 2 47
Plan participant contributions 2 – – 2 2 – – 2
Benefits paid (70) (97) – (167) (64) (96) (1) (161)
At 31 December 1,893 987 19 2,899 1,834 1,092 15 2,941

Changes in the present value of defined benefit 
pension obligations
At 1 January (1,854) (1,415) (65) (3,334) (1,732) (1,429) (57) (3,218)
Exchange differences – 17 (1) 16 – 71 1 72
Current service cost – continuing operations (9) (6) (1) (16) (8) (5) (1) (14)
Current service cost – discontinued operations – (1) – (1) – (1) – (1)
Past service credit – – 2 2 – – – –
Interest on plan liabilities (80) (47) (2) (129) (80) (54) (2) (136)
Actuarial changes arising from financial assumptions (28) 137 1 110 (96) (94) (8) (198)
Actuarial changes arising from demographic  
and experience assumptions – (24) (1) (25) – (4) – (4)
Plan participant contributions (2) – – (2) (2) – – (2)
Benefits paid 70 99 2 171 64 99 2 165
Other movements – 2 – 2 – 2 – 2
At 31 December (1,903) (1,238) (65) (3,206) (1,854) (1,415) (65) (3,334)

Major categories of plan assets
Quoted equities 398 – – 398 391 – – 391
 Government bonds 600 12 5 617 489 6 3 498
 Corporate bonds – 531 – 531 – 589 – 589
 Other bonds – 27 – 27 – 30 – 30
Total bonds 600 570 5 1,175 489 625 3 1,117
 Equities 380 38 13 431 396 33 11 440
 Corporate and government bonds 432 317 – 749 433 354 – 787
 Other 97 45 – 142 52 66 – 118
Total held in managed funds 909 400 13 1,322 881 453 11 1,345
Derivatives (48) – – (48) 10 – – 10
Cash and cash equivalents 34 17 1 52 63 14 1 78

1,893 987 19 2,899 1,834 1,092 15 2,941
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26 RetiRement benefit ObliGAtiOns CONTINUED 

Principal actuarial assumptions

UK  
2013  

%

US  
2013  

%

Other  
2013  

%

UK  
2012  

%

US  
2012  

%

Other  
2012  

%

Discount rate 4.50 4.30 3.93 4.40 3.30 3.76

Future pension increases 3.50 – 1.26 3.10 – 1.27

Future salary increases 5.00 4.00 2.82 4.60 4.00 2.84

Inflation rate 3.50 2.50 2.00 3.10 2.50 2.00

The mortality assumptions used in valuing the liabilities of the UK pension plan are based on the standard tables S1NA as published by the Institute and 
Faculty of Actuaries, projected using the CMI 2009 model with a 1.25% per annum long term rate of improvement. These tables are adjusted to reflect the 
circumstances of the plan membership. The life expectancy assumed for a 65 year old pensioner is 87.1 years (2012: 87.0 years) for a male and 89.3 
years (2012: 89.2 years) for a female. The life expectancy for a non pensioner currently aged 45 is 88.9 years (2012: 88.8 years) for a male and 91.1 
years (2012: 91.0 years) for a female. 

The mortality assumptions used in valuing the liabilities of the US pension plans are based on the RP2000 combined active and retiree mortality table 
projected to 2023 (2012: 2017), weighted 70% blue collar and 30% white collar. The life expectancy assumed for a 65 year old pensioner is 84.1 years 
(2012: 83.6 years) for a male and 86.0 years (2012: 85.7 years) for a female.

The Group expects to contribute £44m in cash to its defined benefit pension plans in 2014, excluding any amounts paid into escrow.

IFRIC 14 ’IAS19 – The limit on a defined benefit asset, minimum funding requirements and their interaction’ had no impact on the Group in 2013 or 2012.

(iii) Other pension plans
The Group operates defined contribution plans in the UK and US, included as part of other pensions in (i) above, for which the charge in the consolidated 
income statement for the year was £4m for continuing operations and £2m for discontinued operations (2012: £3m and £4m, restated) and total cash 
contributions were £6m (2012: £7m).

(iv) Retiree medical
The Group operates a defined benefit retiree medical and life insurance plan in the US for certain segments of the retiree population. Plan oversight is 
provided by the US pension and benefits committee. Before reaching Medicare eligibility (generally age 65), the plan provides benefits similar to medical 
coverage as for active employees, but generally with a higher level of participant contributions. After Medicare eligibility is reached, most retirees receive 
a flat dollar allowance to help with the cost of privately purchased benefits or with government Medicare contributions. 

There is a risk that changes in discount rates and life expectancy assumptions could lead to a material increase in liabilities for plan benefits. These 
unfunded benefits are assessed with the advice of a qualified actuary.

2013  
£m

2012  
restated 

£m

Changes in the present value of the retiree medical obligation

At 1 January (107) (114)

Exchange differences 2 6

Current service cost (including administration costs of £1m (2012: £1m)) (2) (3)

Interest cost (4) (4)

Actuarial changes arising from financial assumptions 9 (7)

Actuarial changes arising from demographic and experience assumptions (5) 5

Benefits paid 9 10

At 31 December (98) (107)

Principal actuarial assumptions

2013  
%

2012  
%

Discount rate 4.30 3.30

The mortality assumptions used in valuing the liabilities for retiree medical are based on the RP2000 combined active and retiree mortality table projected 
to 2023 (2012: 2017), weighted 85% blue collar and 15% white collar. The life expectancy assumed for a 65 year old pensioner is 83.9 years (2012: 
83.4 years) for a male and 85.8 years (2012: 85.5 years) for a female.

Healthcare cost trend rates do not have a significant impact on the Group with respect to retiree medical.
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26 RetiRement benefit ObliGAtiOns CONTINUED 
(v) IAS19 (Revised) ’Employee Benefits’

With effect from 1 January 2013, the Group adopted IAS19 (Revised) ‘Employee Benefits’. Under this accounting standard, plan administration expenses 
are included in service cost and investment management fees are included in other comprehensive income. Previously, all administration costs were 
included in net finance cost. In addition, net interest cost (based on interest on total retirement benefit obligations) has replaced net finance cost (based on 
expected return on plan assets less interest on present benefit obligations). The interest rate is based on the yield on high quality corporate bonds. 

The impact of adopting IAS19 (Revised) on 2012 previously reported amounts is set out below.

£m

Income statement

Operating profit (8)

Retirement benefit obligations net interest cost (5)

Tax 5

Net income statement (8)

Other comprehensive income 8

27 pROvisiOns

Environmental 
compliance  

£m

Restructuring  
of businesses  

£m

Indirect tax 
exposures  

£m

Regulatory 
and other  

claims 
£m

Share 
based 

payment
£m

Total  
£m

At 1 January 2013 (22) (39) (31) (8) (37) (137)

Exchange differences – (1) 3 1 – 3

Charge for the year – (4) (7) – (19) (30)

Release for the year – 2 6 4 – 12

Utilised 3 10 – – 30 43

Other movements – – – – (1) (1)

Transfer to liabilities classified as held for sale – 4 – – – 4

At 31 December 2013 (19) (28) (29) (3) (27) (106)

Current liabilities (3) (5) – – (20) (28)

Non current liabilities (16) (23) (29) (3) (7) (78)

At 31 December 2013 (19) (28) (29) (3) (27) (106)

Current liabilities (3) (16) – (3) (24) (46)

Non current liabilities (19) (23) (31) (5) (13) (91)

At 31 December 2012 (22) (39) (31) (8) (37) (137)

Environmental compliance relates to the US and France and is long term in nature with the timing of utilisation unknown due to the need to complete 
remedial investigations, to negotiate remedial plans with relevant authorities and to implement agreed plans. The provision for restructuring of businesses 
comprises £25m relating to the proposed disposal of Healthcare and the disposal of Personal Care (including £21m for onerous leases) and £3m relating 
to Beverage Cans for previously announced plant closures. The timing of restructuring payments is dependent on various contractual arrangements arising 
from the proposed disposal of Healthcare, the disposal of Personal Care and on lease payment schedules together with related carrying costs and 
sublease income, if any. Indirect tax exposures relate to Brazil and are long term in nature, with the timing of payment, if any, dependent upon the outcome 
of tax cases and exposures. Regulatory and other claims relate to various proceedings where the timing of payment, if any, is dependent upon the 
outcome of those proceedings. Share based payment relates mainly to cash settled share option schemes which, dependent upon various performance 
criteria being met, will vest over the period to September 2023. 
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28 shARe CApitAl

Number of issued and fully paid shares (000’s)

2013 
Ordinary 
shares of 

713⁄7p

2013 
Ordinary 
shares of 

642⁄7p

2013 
B shares of 

45p

2013 
Deferred 
shares of 

45p

2012 
Ordinary 
shares of 

642⁄7p
At 1 January – 878,379 – – 877,031
B shares issued from share premium account – – 878,384 – –
Nine for ten share consolidation 790,546 (878,384) – – –
Reclassification of B shares to deferred shares – – (585,302) 585,302 –
Initial redemption of B shares – – (284,811) – –
Redemption of deferred shares – – – (585,302) –
Final redemption of B shares – – (8,271) – –
Shares issued under share option schemes 1,415 5 – – 1,348
At 31 December 791,961 – – – 878,379

On 8 January 2013, Rexam PLC announced a return of cash to shareholders of 45p per existing ordinary share by way of one new B share for each existing 
ordinary share. In addition, the return of cash was accompanied by a consolidation of the existing ordinary shares in the ratio of nine new ordinary shares 
for every ten existing ordinary shares held. Following approval of the return of cash by shareholders on 24 January 2013, 878,384,470 B shares were issued. 
On 11 February 2013, a dividend of 45p per share was paid on 585,302,440 B shares at a cost of £263m and these shares were reclassified as deferred 
shares. On the same day a further 284,810,974 B shares were redeemed for 45p per share at a cost of £128m. The deferred shares were redeemed on 
7 February 2013. The remaining 8,271,056 B shares were redeemed on the final redemption date of 8 April 2013 at a cost of £4m. Costs incurred in relation 
to the return of cash were £1m. The Rexam Employee Share Trust received £3m from the return of cash, reducing the overall cost of the transaction to £393m.

The rights and restrictions attaching to the shares and the provisions relating to the transfer of shares are as governed by law and in accordance with the 
Company’s articles of association. Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive all shareholder documents, to attend, speak and exercise voting 
rights, either in person or by proxy, on resolutions proposed at general meetings and to participate in any distribution of income or capital. The directors 
may refuse to register a transfer of shares where such transfer documents are not lodged by acceptable means or proof of title is required. Shares are held 
by the Rexam Employee Share Trust for the satisfaction of certain share options (note 30). The independent trustee of the Rexam Employee Share Trust has 
the same rights as any other shareholder. Participants in option schemes do not hold any voting rights on the shares until the date of exercise. There are no 
restrictions on the voting rights of holders of shares nor any known agreements between holders of shares under which financial rights are held by any 
person other than the registered holder, or voting rights or the transfer of shares are restricted. 

29 OtheR ReseRves

Translation  
reserve  

£m

Net  
investment  

hedge  
reserve  

£m

Cash flow  
hedge  

reserve  
£m

Total  
£m

At 1 January 2013 147 (61) 7 93
Exchange differences before recognition of net investment hedges (37) – – (37)
Net investment hedges recognised – (1) – (1)
Cash flow hedges recognised – – (45) (45)
Cash flow hedges transferred to inventory – – 54 54
Cash flow hedges transferred to property, plant and equipment – – (1) (1)
Cash flow hedges transferred to the income statement – – (7) (7)
Tax on cash flow hedges – – (1) (1)
At 31 December 2013 110 (62) 7 55

At 1 January 2012 310 (90) (16) 204
Exchange differences before recognition of net investment hedges (86) – – (86)
Net investment hedges recognised – 24 – 24
Exchange differences recognised in the income statement on the  
disposal of businesses (77) 5 – (72)
Cash flow hedges recognised – – (35) (35)
Cash flow hedges transferred to inventory – – 66 66
Cash flow hedges transferred to the income statement – – 1 1
Tax on cash flow hedges – – (9) (9)
At 31 December 2012 147 (61) 7 93

notes to the consolidated financial statements 
continued
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30 shARe bAsed pAyment
(i) Summary of Rexam’s share based payment schemes

Scheme name Abbreviation Scheme status Settlement basis

Long Term Incentive Plan 2009 LTIP Open Equity and cash

Executive Share Option Scheme ESOS Closed Equity

Phantom Stock Plan Phantoms Closed Cash

Savings Related Share Option Schemes SAYE Open Equity

LTIP 
The LTIP is the primary long term incentive plan for Rexam’s executive directors, band 1 executives and other senior management. The LTIP measures 
performance targets over a three year period. Options will normally vest, subject to performance targets being achieved, on the third anniversary of the 
date of grant at a nominal cost to the employee. Employees who leave with a right to exercise options must normally wait until the end of the measurement 
period. If the option vests, the employee will receive an entitlement which normally will be time apportioned for the period from the start of the 
measurement period to the date on which employment ended.

Options granted in 2013 to executive directors and band 1 executives are subject to three performance conditions, compound annual growth in 
underlying earnings per share (EPS), return on capital employed (ROCE) and relative Total Shareholder Return (TSR), in the proportion 331⁄3%, 331⁄3% and 
331⁄3%, respectively. These options are equity settled. Options granted in 2013 to other senior management are subject to two performance conditions, 
EPS and ROCE, in the proportion 662⁄3% and 331⁄3% respectively. These options are either equity settled or cash settled depending on the seniority of the 
employee.

Options granted in 2011, 2012 and 2013 include a dividend equivalent element whereby employees will be entitled to receive, in cash, the notional 
dividends paid during the measurement period on any options that vest.

For further details of the LTIP refer to the directors’ remuneration report.

ESOS
Prior to 2009, annual grants of options over ordinary shares were made to certain senior management. For grants up to and including 2006, shares 
vested if a performance target (growth in economic profit) was met over the three year measurement period. No performance targets were set for the 
2007 and 2008 grants. Options are exercisable three years after grant date and expire ten years after grant date. The exercise price was set at market 
value using the market price of a Rexam share at the grant date.

Phantoms
This cash settled scheme operates in the same way as the ESOS scheme and relates to certain senior management located outside the UK and Europe.

SAYE
All employee SAYE schemes are open to eligible employees resident in the UK and Ireland. Annual grants of options over shares are currently made at an 
exercise price of 80% of the market value of Rexam shares at the invitation date. Options vest three, five or seven years after the commencement of the 
savings contract, depending on the term selected by the employee at grant and expire six months after vesting.

(ii) Employee benefit expense

2013  
Underlying 
operating 

profit 
£m

2012 
Underlying 
operating 

profit 
restated 

£m

2012 
Exceptional 

items 
£m

2012 
Total 

restated 
£m

Continuing operations

Equity settled 8 9 1 10

Cash settled 15 13 – 13

Total continuing operations 23 22 1 23

Discontinued operations

Equity settled – 1 – 1

Cash settled 2 5 – 5

Total discontinued operations 2 6 – 6

Total operations 25 28 1 29
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30 shARe bAsed pAyment CONTINUED
(iii) Key assumptions used in valuing options granted during the year

LTIP SAYE

Valuation models TSR – Monte Carlo Binomial

EPS/ROCE – Black Scholes

Expected dividend growth (%) – 3.14%

Expected historical volatility (%) TSR – 21 21 to 30

Risk free interest rate (%) TSR – 0.2 1.0 to 1.6

Expected life (years) 3 3.25 to 5.25

Weighted average share price (£) 5.00 to 5.39 5.03

Weighted average fair value (£) 3.19 to 5.39 0.97 to 1.37

The assumptions made to incorporate the effects of expected early exercise have been included by assuming an expected option life based on historical 
exercise patterns for each option scheme. Historical volatilities are arrived at using a period comparable with the expected life of the option. The 
correlation coefficient for LTIP is calculated using the correlation matrix for the TSR simulation using three year daily historical stock price series for each 
company in the comparator group, including Rexam, from the beginning of the measurement period. 

(iv) Number of options and weighted average exercise prices of all option schemes

2013  
Number of  

options  
Thousands

2013  
Weighted 

average  
exercise price  

£

2012  
Number of  

options  
Thousands

2012 
Weighted 

average  
exercise price  

£

Outstanding at 1 January 32,134 0.54 28,336 0.82

Granted 6,090 0.13 8,345 0.16

Exercised (12,108) 0.65 (1,926) 3.20

Lapsed (2,824) 0.16 (2,621) 0.47

Outstanding at 31 December 23,292 0.42 32,134 0.54

Exercisable at 31 December 1,404 4.12 3,351 4.04

(v) Exercise prices and average remaining contractual lives of options by scheme

2013  
Number of  

options  
 Thousands

2013  
Range of  

exercise prices  
 £

2013  
Weighted 

average 
remaining 

contractual life  
 Years

2012 
Number of  

options  
 Thousands

2012  
Range of  

exercise prices  
£

2012 
Weighted 

average  
remaining 

contractual life 
Years

LTIP 20,501 – 2.3 27,368 – 1.1

ESOS 830 3.61 to 4.58 3.8 2,056 2.71 to 4.58 4.7

Phantoms 553 3.60 to 4.57 3.9 1,238 2.71 to 4.57 4.7

SAYE 1,408 2.12 to 4.11 2.2 1,472 2.12 to 3.88 2.3

(vi) Rexam Employee Share Trust
The Group operates an employee share trust, the Rexam Employee Share Trust, that owns 5,828,757 ordinary shares of 713⁄7p in Rexam PLC at  
31 December 2013 (2012: 7,468,028 ordinary shares of 642⁄7p) acquired at an average cost per share of £4.91 (2012: £3.50) and included in the 
consolidated balance sheet within retained earnings at a cost of £29m (2012: £26m). These shares will be used to satisfy future LTIP exercises. 
The purchases are funded by cash contributions from participating companies. Dividends receivable during the year have been waived. The 
administration expenses of the Trust are borne by the Trust. Shares are allocated by the Trust when related LTIP options are exercised. The market value of 
the shares at 31 December 2013 was £31m (2012: £33m).

notes to the consolidated financial statements 
continued
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31 ReCOnCiliAtiOn Of pROfit/(lOss) befORe tAx tO CAsh GeneRAted fROm OpeRAtiOns 

2013 
Continuing 
operations 

£m

2013 
Discontinued 

operations 
£m

2013 
Total 

operations 
£m

2012 
Continuing 
operations 

restated 
£m

2012 
Discontinued 

operations 
restated 

£m

2012 
Total 

operations 
restated 

£m

Profit/(loss) before tax 339 (180) 159 319 (141) 178

Adjustments for:

Share of post tax profits of associates and joint ventures (9) – (9) (9) – (9)

Net interest expense 71 2 73 100 2 102

Impairment of assets and liabilities classified as held for sale 2 233 235 – – –

Impairment of goodwill – – – – 181 181

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 137 11 148 128 34 162

Amortisation of intangible assets 8 9 17 7 24 31

Movement in working capital (49) (2) (51) (7) (15) (22)

Movement in advance payments to customers 9 (2) 7 (1) – (1)

Movement in provisions (21) (15) (36) 22 3 25

Movement in retirement benefit obligations (16) 1 (15) (17) 1 (16)

Fair value changes on operating derivatives 22 – 22 (4) – (4)

Equity settled share options 8 – 8 10 1 11

Other adjustments 5 1 6 1 7 8

Cash generated from operations 506 58 564 549 97 646

32 COntinGent liAbilities
In an international group a variety of claims arise from time to time; some have little or no foundation in law or in fact and others cannot be quantified. The claims 
include litigation against Group companies, investigations by regulatory and fiscal authorities and obligations arising under environmental legislation. Provision 
has been made in these consolidated financial statements against those claims which the directors consider are likely to result in significant liabilities. There 
are no contingent liabilities at 31 December 2013 or 31 December 2012 that require disclosure. 

33 COmmitments
(i) Operating lease commitments
The Group leases offices, warehouses and plant and equipment under non cancellable operating leases. The leases have varying terms, purchase 
options, escalation clauses and renewal rights. The Group also leases plant and equipment under cancellable operating leases.

An analysis of the total future minimum lease payments under non cancellable operating leases for total operations is set out below.

2013  
Property  

£m

2013  
Plant and  

equipment  
£m

2012  
Property  

£m

2012 
Plant and  

equipment  
£m

Less than 1 year 18 3 17 5

Between 1 and 5 years 37 6 40 7

Over 5 years 36 – 38 –

Total 91 9 95 12

Total future minimum sublease receipts under non cancellable operating leases are £9m (2012: £9m).

(ii) Capital commitments

2013  
£m

2012  
£m

Contracts placed for future capital expenditure not provided in the consolidated financial statements:

Property, plant and equipment 73 58

34 pOst bAlAnCe sheet events
On 3 February 2014, Rexam announced the proposed sale of the pharmaceutical devices and prescription retail packaging divisions of its Healthcare business 
to Montagu Private Equity for $805m in cash. The transaction is subject to consultation with various European works councils and is conditional on the 
necessary regulatory approvals and subject to certain adjustments at completion. The transaction is expected to complete around the middle of 2014.

On 13 February 2014, Rexam announced that it had signed an agreement to acquire a 51% controlling interest in beverage can maker United Arab Can 
Manufacturing Limited (UAC) for $122m. The transaction is subject to regulatory approvals and is expected to complete in the third quarter of 2014. UAC 
makes beverage cans and can ends and is situated in Dammam, Saudi Arabia. The plant has an annual capacity of 1.8bn cans in both standard and 
specialty sizes. In 2012, the company generated EBITDA of circa $29m.
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For the year ended 31 December
2013  

£m

2012 
restated 

£m

2011 
restated 

£m

2010  
restated 

£m

2009  
restated 

£m
Consolidated income statement
Continuing operations
Sales 3,943 3,885 3,786 3,664 3,573
Underlying operating expenses (3,494) (3,437) (3,359) (3,297) (3,287)
Underlying operating profit 449 448 427 367 286
Underlying share of post tax profits of associates and joint ventures 9 9 9 5 2
Retirement benefit obligations net interest cost (16) (19) (21) (23) (36)
Underlying net interest expense (70) (80) (90) (111) (128)
Underlying profit before tax 372 358 325 238 124
Exceptional and other items1 (33) (39) 16 (23) (59)
Profit before tax 339 319 341 215 65
Tax (86) (77) (91) (56) (18)
Profit for the financial year from continuing operations 253 242 250 159 47
Discontinued operations
(Loss)/profit for the financial year from discontinued operations (158) (36) 117 (46) (85)
Total profit/(loss) for the financial year 95 206 367 113 (38)

As at 31 December
2013  

£m
2012  

£m
2011 

£m
2010  

£m
2009  

£m
Consolidated balance sheet
Goodwill and other intangible assets 1,266 1,813 2,177 2,231 2,481
Property, plant and equipment 1,257 1,459 1,590 1,571 1,723
Retirement benefit obligations (net of tax) (288) (355) (371) (317) (279)
Other net assets 805 151 235 524 225
Underlying net assets 3,040 3,068 3,631 4,009 4,150

Shareholders’ equity 1,869 2,287 2,319 2,322 2,320
Non controlling interests – – – 3 2
Total equity 1,869 2,287 2,319 2,325 2,322
Net borrowings 1,171 781 1,312 1,684 1,828
Capital employed 3,040 3,068 3,631 4,009 4,150

Statistics
Underlying return on sales2 % 11.4 11.5 11.3 10.0 8.0
Underlying earnings per share2 Pence 35.3 31.2 27.4 20.4 12.2
Basic earnings per share3 Pence 32.0 27.8 28.7 18.3 6.0
Dividends per ordinary share4 Pence 17.4 15.2 14.4 12.0 8.0
Interest cover5 Times 6.4 5.6 4.7 3.3 2.2
Free cash flow6 £m 185 193 245 316 290
Capital expenditure (gross)6 £m 232 291 240 206 184
Return on net assets7 % 30.4 30.8 29.1 26.6 21.7
Return on capital employed8 % 15.5 14.5 13.5 12.2 9.4
Gearing % 63 34 57 72 79
Average number of employees3 Number 8,000 7,800 7,700 7,600 8,000

1 Other items comprise the amortisation of certain acquired intangible assets and fair value changes on certain derivatives.
2 Based on continuing operations before exceptional and other items.
3 Based on continuing operations.
4 Includes proposed final dividends.
5 Based on underlying operating profit from continuing operations and underlying net interest expense from continuing operations.
6  Based on total operations.
7  Underlying operating profit from total operations plus share of post tax profits of associates and joint ventures divided by the average of opening and closing shareholders’ 

equity after adding back retirement benefit obligations (net of tax) and net borrowings and excluding goodwill and certain acquired intangible assets.
8  Underlying operating profit from total operations plus share of post tax profits of associates and joint ventures divided by the average of opening and closing shareholders’ 

equity after adding back retirement benefit obligations (net of tax) and net borrowings.

five year financial summary
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RepORt On the pARent COmpAny finAnCiAl stAtements

Our opinion
In our opinion the Parent Company financial statements, defined below:

•	give a true and fair view of the state of the Parent Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2013;

•	have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

•	have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

This opinion is to be read in the context of what we say in the remainder of this report.

What we have audited
The Parent Company financial statements, which are prepared by Rexam PLC, comprise:

•	the Parent Company balance sheet as at 31 December 2013; and

•	the notes to the Parent Company financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation comprises applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards 
(United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In applying the financial reporting framework, the directors have made a number of subjective judgements, for example in respect of significant 
accounting estimates. In making such estimates, they have made assumptions and considered future events.

Certain disclosures required by the financial reporting framework have been presented elsewhere in the annual report rather than in the notes to the 
financial statements. These are cross referenced from the financial statements and are identified as audited.

What an audit of financial statements involves 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK & Ireland) (‘ISAs (UK & Ireland)’). An audit involves obtaining 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of:

•	whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Parent Company’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed;

•	the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and 

•	the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

In addition, we read all the financial and non financial information in the annual report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited Parent 
Company financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the 
knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we 
consider the implications for our report.

OpiniOns On mAtteRs pResCRibed by the COmpAnies ACt 2006

in our opinion:
•	the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the Parent Company financial statements are 

prepared is consistent with the Parent Company financial statements.

•	the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

OtheR mAtteRs On WhiCh We ARe RequiRed tO RepORt by exCeptiOn

Adequacy of accounting records and information and explanations received
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

•	we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

•	adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not 
visited by us; or

•	the Parent Company financial statements and the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited are not in agreement with the accounting 
records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

directors’ remuneration
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law have not 
been made. We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

independent auditors’ report to the members of 
Rexam plC
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Other information in the annual report
Under ISAs (UK & Ireland), we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, information in the annual report is:

•	materially inconsistent with the information in the audited Parent Company financial statements; or

•	apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, our knowledge of the Parent Company acquired in the course of performing our 
audit; or

•	otherwise misleading.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

RespOnsibilities fOR the finAnCiAl stAtements And the Audit

Our responsibilities and those of the directors 
As explained more fully in the statement of directors’ responsibilities set out on page 80, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the Parent 
Company financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. 

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the Parent Company financial statements in accordance with applicable law and ISAs (UK & 
Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any 
other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

OtheR mAtteR
We have reported separately on the Group financial statements of Rexam PLC for the year ended 31 December 2013. 

Neil Grimes (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
London

20 February 2014
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As at 31 December notes
2013 

£m
2012 

£m

Fixed assets

Tangible assets 4 8 10

Investments in subsidiaries 5 5,275 5,022

Pension escrow investment 25 10

Derivative financial instruments 9 215 175

5,523 5,217

Current assets

Debtors receivable within one year 6 19 41

Derivative financial instruments 9 29 6

Cash at bank and in hand 102 935

150 982

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Borrowings 8 (271) (1,088)

Derivative financial instruments 9 (14) (2)

Other creditors 7 (394) (367)

(679) (1,457)

Net current liabilities (529) (475)

Total assets less current liabilities 4,994 4,742

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

Borrowings 8 (1,156) (1,077)

Derivative financial instruments 9 (133) (67)

Other creditors 7 (767) (729)

(2,056) (1,873)

Provisions for liabilities and charges (4) (6)

Net assets 2,934 2,863

Capital and reserves

Ordinary share capital 566 565

Share premium account 602 992

Capital redemption reserve 746 351

Profit and loss reserve 865 800

Other reserves 155 155

Total capital and reserves 12 2,934 2,863

The Company financial statements on pages 138 to 145 were authorised for issue by the board of directors on 20 February 2014

Graham Chipchase, chief executive David Robbie, finance director

Rexam plC balance sheet
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1 pRinCipAl ACCOuntinG pOliCies
The financial statements of Rexam PLC are prepared under UK GAAP on a going concern basis using the historical cost convention as modified by the 
revaluation of certain financial instruments and share based payment and in accordance with applicable accounting standards. As permitted by section 
408 of the Companies Act 2006, the profit and loss account is not presented.

foreign currencies
All exchange differences arising on foreign currencies are taken to the profit and loss account.

interest
Interest on cash and borrowings held at amortised cost is recognised in the profit and loss account using the effective interest method. Interest includes 
exchange differences arising on cash and borrowings, all fair value gains and losses on derivative financial instruments, and corresponding adjustments 
to hedged items under designated fair value hedging relationships, where they relate to financing activities and are recognised in the profit and loss 
account. 

Retirement benefits
The pension rights of Rexam PLC employees are dealt with through a self administered scheme, the assets of which are held independently of the Group. 
The scheme is a defined benefit scheme that is funded partly by contributions from members and partly by contributions from Rexam PLC and its 
subsidiaries at rates advised by independent professionally qualified actuaries. In accordance with FRS17, Rexam PLC accounts for its contributions as 
though it were a defined contribution scheme. This is because the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme cover Rexam PLC and a number of its 
subsidiaries and the deficit cannot be split between each subsidiary on a consistent and reasonable basis, as the scheme has a large number of members 
who were employed by companies which are no longer in existence or are no longer part of the Group. An actuarial valuation at a Group level on an 
FRS17 basis has not been performed, but a deficit at 31 December 2013 of £10m (2012: £20m) has been calculated in accordance with IAS19. Further 
details of the scheme and the deficit can be found in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

share based payment
Rexam PLC operates various equity settled share option schemes. The services received from employees are measured by reference to the fair value of the 
share options. The fair value is calculated at grant date and recognised in the profit and loss account, together with a corresponding increase in 
shareholders’ funds. Equity settled share options granted directly to subsidiary company employees are treated as a capital contribution to the subsidiary. 
The capital contribution is measured by reference to the fair value of the share options and recognised as an increase in the cost of investment with a 
corresponding increase in shareholders’ funds. The recognition of the fair value is based on a straight line basis over the vesting period, based on an 
estimate of the number of options that will eventually vest. Vesting conditions, which comprise service conditions and non market performance conditions, 
are not taken into account when estimating the fair value. All market and non vesting conditions are included in fair value. The Rexam Employee Share 
Trust holds shares in Rexam PLC which are presented in the balance sheet as a deduction from shareholders’ funds.

tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are stated in the balance sheet at cost less provision for depreciation. Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost, less estimated 
residual value, of tangible fixed assets over their expected lives by equal annual instalments. Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets. 
Assumed lives vary according to the class of asset as follows:

Computer hardware and software 2 to 7 years

Fixtures and fittings 4 to 10 years

investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less provisions for impairment where appropriate.

dividends
Under FRS21, final ordinary dividends payable to the shareholders of Rexam PLC are recognised in the period that they are approved by  
the shareholders. Interim ordinary dividends payable are recognised in the period that they are paid. Dividends receivable are recognised  
when the Company’s right to receive payment is established.

income taxes
The Company records a tax charge or credit in the profit and loss account calculated at the tax rates prevailing in the year for UK corporation tax and 
foreign taxes. Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the balance sheet date where 
transactions or events have occurred at that date that will result in an obligation to pay more tax, or a right to pay less tax, in the future. Timing differences 
arise from the inclusion of income and expenditure in tax computations in periods different to those in which they are included in the financial statements. 
Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is considered more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits from which 
the underlying timing differences can be deducted. Deferred tax is measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 
periods in which timing differences reverse, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

notes to the Company financial statements
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1 pRinCipAl ACCOuntinG pOliCies CONTINUED 

financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value. Derivative financial instruments used by the Company include interest rate swaps, cross 
currency swaps, forward foreign exchange contracts and forward aluminium commodity contracts.

Certain derivative financial instruments are designated as hedges in line with the Company’s risk management policies. Hedges are classified as follows:

(i) fair value hedges where they hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability.

(ii)  cash flow hedges where they hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or 
liability or a forecast transaction.

For fair value hedges, any gain or loss from remeasuring the hedging instrument at fair value is recognised in the profit and loss account.  
Any gain or loss on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk is adjusted against the carrying amount of the hedged item and similarly recognised in 
the profit and loss account.

For cash flow hedges, the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge is recognised  
in reserves, with any ineffective portion recognised in the profit and loss account. When hedged cash flows result in the recognition of a non financial 
asset or liability, the associated gains or losses previously recognised in reserves are included in the initial measurement of the asset or liability. For all 
other cash flow hedges, the gains or losses that are recognised in reserves are transferred to the profit and loss account in the same period in which the 
hedged cash flows affect the profit and loss account.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivative financial instruments not designated as hedges are recognised immediately in the profit 
and loss account.

Borrowings are measured at amortised cost except where they are hedged by an effective fair value hedge, in which case the carrying value is adjusted to 
reflect the fair value movements associated with the hedged risk.

Up front fees paid on the establishment of loan and bond facilities are initially capitalised as transaction costs of the loan and bond and amortised in 
interest over the expected term of the loan and bond. Ongoing commitment fees are expensed in interest as incurred.

Debtors are measured at amortised cost less any provision for impairment. Debtors are discounted when the time value of money is considered material.

2 emplOyee COsts And numbeRs

2013  
£m

2012  
£m

Employee costs including directors:

Wages and salaries 17 18

Social security 4 4

Retirement benefits 4 6

Share options 7 5

32 33

For details of directors’ remuneration see the remuneration report.

2013  
Number

2012  
Number

Average employee numbers 122 112

3 equity dividends
For details of equity dividends see note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

notes to the Company financial statements 
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4 tAnGible Assets

Computer  
hardware  

and software  
£m

Fixtures and 
 fittings  

£m
Total  

£m

Cost

At 1 January 2013 28 3 31

Additions 4 – 4

Disposals – (1) (1)

At 31 December 2013 32 2 34

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

At 1 January 2013 (20) (1) (21)

Depreciation for the year (3) – (3)

Impairment (2) – (2)

At 31 December 2013 (25) (1) (26)

Carrying value at 31 December 2013 7 1 8

Cost

At 1 January 2012 27 3 30

Additions 2 – 2

Disposals (1) – (1)

At 31 December 2012 28 3 31

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2012 (15) (1) (16)

Depreciation for the year (5) – (5)

At 31 December 2012 (20) (1) (21)

Carrying value at 31 December 2012 8 2 10

5 investments in subsidiARies

 Shares  
£m

 Loans  
£m

Total  
£m

At 1 January 2013 2,035 2,987 5,022

Exchange differences – (4) (4)

Advances – 582 582

Repayments – (293) (293)

Impairment – (29) (29)

Share options: cost of investment (3) – (3)

At 31 December 2013 2,032 3,243 5,275

At 1 January 2012 2,015 3,187 5,202

Exchange differences – (78) (78)

Advances – 293 293

Repayments – (415) (415)

Share options: cost of investment 20 – 20

At 31 December 2012 2,035 2,987 5,022

For details of the principal subsidiaries of Rexam PLC see note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

The directors believe that the underlying value of investments in subsidiaries is supported by the carrying value of the net assets.
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6 debtORs ReCeivAble Within One yeAR

2013  
£m

2012  
£m

Trade debtors 2 2

Due from subsidiaries 11 26

Prepayments 2 2

Tax 4 9

Other debtors – 2

19 41

7 OtheR CReditORs

2013 
£m

2012  
£m

Amounts falling due within one year

Trade creditors (5) (4)

Due to subsidiaries (376) (341)

Tax and social security (2) (2)

Accruals (7) (9)

Other creditors (4) (11)

(394) (367)

Amounts falling due after more than one year

Due to subsidiaries (767) (729)

8 bORROWinGs

2013 
£m

2012  
£m

Unsecured

Bank overdrafts – (51)

Bank loans net of capitalised financing fees (247) 5

US private placements (457) (510)

Subordinated bond (723) (731)

US public bond – (341)

Medium term notes – (537)

(1,427) (2,165)

Repayment analysis

Amounts falling due after more than one year:

In more than one year but not more than two years 2 1

In more than two years but not more than five years 4 (707)

In more than five years (1,162) (371)

(1,156) (1,077)

Amounts falling due within one year (271) (1,088)

(1,427) (2,165)

A fair value gain of £2m (2012: loss £18m) on the subordinated bond under designated fair value hedge relationships was included in retained profit for 
the year. In 2012 a fair value loss of £1m on medium term notes was also included in retained profit.

The subordinated bond has a maturity of 2067 and Rexam has an option to redeem it at par in 2017. For 2013 the above table assumes that the bond will 
be redeemed at maturity, which is Rexam’s current expectation. In previous years the early 2017 redemption date was assumed.

notes to the Company financial statements 
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9 deRivAtive finAnCiAl instRuments
For details of the financial risk management objectives and policies and principal financial risks see note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

2013  
£m

2012  
£m

Fair value of derivative financial instruments 

Cross currency swaps 105 117

Interest rate swaps (8) (3)

Forward foreign exchange contracts – (2)

97 112

The fair value of cross currency swaps and interest rate swaps has been determined by discounting cash flows at prevailing interest rates. The fair value of 
forward foreign exchange contracts has been determined by marking those contracts to market against prevailing forward foreign exchange rates.

2013  
£m

2012 
£m

Fair value gains/(losses) included in retained profit/loss for the year

Cross currency swaps 17 33

Interest rate swaps – (5)

Forward foreign exchange contracts – (2)

17 26

Cross currency swaps
At 31 December 2013, three cross currency swaps were outstanding. The first swapped €750m to £505m receiving fixed interest rates of 6.75% and 
paying floating interest rates. The second swapped £505m to $1,007m receiving and paying floating interest rates. The third swapped $302m to €233m 
receiving floating interest rates and paying fixed interest rates of 2.69%. All of these swaps mature in 2017.

Interest rate swaps
At 31 December 2013, three interest rate swaps were outstanding and one interest rate swap matured in 2013, as set out below.

Principal
Start 
date

Maturity 
date Receive Pay

€200m 2006 Matured 4.375% Floating + margin

€200m 2013 2015 Floating 1.24%

$350m 2013 2015 Floating 1.09%

$325m 2013 2015 Floating 0.97%

Forward foreign exchange contracts
At 31 December 2013, forward foreign exchange contracts had principal amounts equivalent to £203m (2012: £292m). The main currencies traded were 
the US dollar, euro and sterling. These contracts mature in 2014 (2012: 2013).

10 OpeRAtinG leAse COmmitments
Operating lease rentals payable in 2014 relating to contracts expiring after five years are £1m (2013: £1m).

11 COntinGent liAbilities

2013  
£m

2012  
£m

Guarantees 14 16
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12 CApitAl And ReseRves

Ordinary  
share  

capital  
£m

Share  
premium  
account  

£m

Capital  
redemption  

reserve  
£m

Profit  
and loss  
reserve  

£m

Other  
reserves 

£m

Total  
equity 

£m

At 1 January 2013 565 992 351 800 155 2,863

Retained profit for the year – – – 480 – 480

Share options: proceeds from shares issued 1 5 – – – 6

Share options: value of services provided – – – 4 – 4

Share options: cost of investment – – – (3) – (3)

Purchase of Rexam PLC shares by Employee Share Trust – – – (23) – (23)

Return of cash to shareholders – (395) 395 (393) – (393)

At 31 December 2013 566 602 746 865 155 2,934

At 1 January 2012 564 989 351 814 155 2,873

Retained loss for the year – – – (39) – (39)

Share options: proceeds from shares issued 1 3 – – – 4

Share options: value of services provided – – – 5 – 5

Share options: cost of investment – – – 20 – 20

At 31 December 2012 565 992 351 800 155 2,863

The profit after tax for the financial year dealt within the financial statements of Rexam PLC is £605m (2012: £89m). Other reserves reflect unrealised gains 
related to the transfer of investments between subsidiaries. The profit and loss reserve of £865m (2012: £800m) arose partly as a result of a provision of 
£214m against certain investments in subsidiaries in 2001 of which £156m was reversed in 2005. The directors consider the value of the remaining 
investments in subsidiaries is considerably more than their book value. Accordingly, the remaining provision of £58m does not impact the distributable 
reserves of Rexam PLC which were £876m at 31 December 2013 (2012: £808m) after deducting £47m (2012: £50m) in respect of share options 
capitalised in cost of investment.

For details of ordinary shares see note 28 to the consolidated financial statements. For details of the Rexam PLC Employee Share Trust see note 30 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

13 shARe bAsed pAyment
Rexam PLC’s share based payment schemes comprise LTIP, ESOS and SAYE. For further information on these schemes, including the valuation models, 
assumptions used and settlement basis, see note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

The number of options and weighted average exercise prices of share option schemes relating to Rexam PLC are set out below.

2013  
Number of  

options  
Thousands

2013  
Weighted 

average  
exercise price  

£

2012 
Number of  

options  
Thousands

2012  
Weighted 

average  
exercise price  

£

Outstanding at 1 January 8,884 0.53 6,558 0.72

Granted 2,216 0.09 2,869 0.45

Transfers (out)/in (530) 1.61 561 –

Exercised (3,041) 0.57 (379) 3.11

Lapsed (927) 0.12 (725) 0.18

Outstanding at 31 December 6,602 0.33 8,884 0.53

Exercisable at 31 December 315 4.18 712 4.05

notes to the Company financial statements 
continued
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13 shARe bAsed pAyment CONTINUED
The exercise prices and average remaining contractual lives of share options relating to Rexam PLC by scheme are set out below.

2013  
Number of  

options  
Thousands

2013  
Range of  
exercise 

prices  
 £

2013  
Weighted 

average 
remaining 

contractual 
life  

Years

2012  
Number of  

options  
Thousands

2012  
Range of  
exercise 

prices  
£

2012 
Weighted 

average  
remaining 

contractual 
life  

Years

LTIP 5,993 – 3.5 7,581 – 1.2

ESOS 311 3.84 to 4.58 3.8 712 2.71 to 4.58 4.5

SAYE 298 2.12 to 4.11 2.2 591 2.12 to 3.49 2.8

Rexam Annual Report 2013 145

O
verview

Stra
teg

ic rep
o
rt

G
overn

a
n
ce

Fin
a
n
cia

l sta
tem

en
ts



RexAm Website 
www.rexam.com
The Rexam website has a range of information on the Group. You can view 
online or download publications such as Rexam’s annual reports, half year 
results announcements, press releases and AGM related information and 
documents. There is practical information such as real time and historic Rexam 
shares price and, in the investor section, information on the return of cash 
2013, dividend payments and record dates, and choices as to how your 
dividend can be paid directly to your bank account or reinvested in shares 
through the dividend reinvestment plan.

stOCK exChAnGe listinG
The Company’s ordinary shares of 713⁄7p each are listed with the UK Listing 
Authority and trade on the London Stock Exchange under the code REX. In 
the US, shares are traded in the form of ADRs under the symbol REXMY on 
the Pink Sheets electronic trading market. 

finAnCiAl CAlendAR 2014
Please check the Rexam website nearer to the expected dates to ensure 
there have been no changes to them.

Event 2014

Announcement of 2013 final results 20 February

Announcement of 1st interim management statement 2 May

Annual General Meeting 2014 2 May

Ex dividend date for 2013 final dividend 7 May

Record date for 2013 final dividend 9 May

Proposed payment date for 2013 final dividend 3 June

Announcement of 2014 half year results 1 August

Proposed payment date for 2014 interim dividend 18 September

Announcement of 2nd interim management statement 13 November

Financial year end 31 December

hOldeRs Of ORdinARy shARes
Please write to our Registrar, Equiniti or contact their helpline to:

•	check your shareholding

•	register change of address or name

•	obtain a replacement dividend cheque or tax voucher

•	record the death of a shareholder

•	amalgamate multiple accounts

•	ask any other question about your shareholding.

shareholder helpline
Freephone: 0800 169 69461 overseas callers: +44 121 415 70082

Online
You can find information on how to manage your shareholding at:

www.shareview.co.uk

If your question is not answered by the information provided,  
you can send your enquiry via secure email from these pages.

post
Equiniti 
Aspect House 
Spencer Road 
Lancing 
West Sussex BN99 6DA 
United Kingdom

(Please include a daytime telephone number with your enquiry) 

1 Calls to this number are free of charge when dialled from a BT landline. 
Other telephone provider costs may vary. Lines open 8.30am to 5.30pm,  
Monday to Friday.

2 Calls from outside the UK. Lines open 8.30am to 5.30pm (GMT),  
Monday to Friday.

shareholder information
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hOldeRs Of AmeRiCAn depOsitARy ReCeipts (AdRs)
Please write to The Bank of New York Mellon or contact their helpline  
to ask any question about Rexam’s ADR programme.

telephone
Calls from the UK: +1 201 680 6825  
Toll free within the US: 1 888 BNY ADRS

Online
www.bnymellon.com/shareowner 
email: shrrelations@bnymellon.com

post
The Bank of New York Mellon 
PO Box 358516 
Pittsburgh, PA 15252-8516 
United States

fRAudulent tRAnsACtiOns
The FCA has issued a warning to all UK shareholders about unsolicited phone 
calls or correspondence concerning investment matters. If you receive such 
calls and are concerned, report the matter to the FCA either by calling them 
or visiting their website.

telephone
Freephone: 0800 111 67683 overseas callers: +44 20 7066 10004

Online
http://www.fca.org.uk/consumers 
email: consumer.queries@fca.org.uk

post
The Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) 
25 The North Colonnade 
Canary Wharf 
London  
E14 5HS 
United Kingdom 

3 Calls to this number are free of charge. Lines open 8am to 6pm, Monday to Friday 
(except public holidays) and 9am to 1pm, Saturday. 

4 Calls from outside the UK. Lines open 8am to 6pm (GMT), Monday to Friday 
(except public holidays) and 9am to 1pm, Saturday. 

shAReGift
ShareGift is an independent charity share donation scheme that provides 
a charitable solution to the problem of unwanted small holdings of shares. 
If you have shares that you wish to dispose of and whose value makes it 
uneconomic to sell, you may wish to consider donating them to charity 
through ShareGift.

telephone
+44 (0)20 7930 3737

Online
www.sharegift.org 
email: help@sharegift.org

post
ShareGift 
PO Box 72253 
London 
SW1P 9LQ
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ReGisteRed OffiCe And heAdquARteRs 
Rexam plC
4 Millbank 
London SW1P 3XR 
United Kingdom

Tel: +44 (0)20 7227 4100

OpeRAtiOnAl heAdquARteRs 
Rexam beverage Can europe
100 Capability Green 
Luton 
Bedfordshire LU1 3LG 
United Kingdom

Tel: +44 (0)1582 408999

Rexam beverage Can north America
8770 W Bryn Mawr Avenue 
Chicago 
IL 60631 
United States

Tel: +1 773 399 3000

Rexam beverage Can south America
Av. das Américas, 3434 Bloco2 
6º e 7º andar 
Barra da Tijuca  
Rio de Janeiro – RJ 
CEP: 22640-102 
Brazil

Tel: +55 21 2104 3300

Rexam beverage Can Africa, middle east & Asia
Office 2108A, 21st Floor 
Business Central Towers 
PO Box 500091 
Dubai Media City 
Dubai  
United Arab Emirates

Tel: +971 (0)4364 8900

Addresses
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